PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND



Dissertations in Health Sciences

LAURI WIHERSAARI

NEUROBIOMARKERS FOR PROGNOSTICATION AFTER OUT-OF-HOSPITAL CARDIAC ARREST

NEUROBIOMARKERS FOR PROGNOSTICATION AFTER OUT-OF-HOSPITAL CARDIAC ARREST

Lauri Wihersaari

NEUROBIOMARKERS FOR PROGNOSTICATION AFTER OUT-OF-HOSPITAL CARDIAC ARREST

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland for public examination in Kuopio University Hospital Auditorium, Kuopio, December 1st, 2023, at 12 o'clock noon

> Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences No 787

Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Institute of Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio

2023

Series Editors

Research Director Jari Halonen, M.D., Ph.D., M.A. (education) Institute of Clinical Medicine, Surgery Faculty of Health Sciences

> Professor Ville Leinonen, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Neurosurgery Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Tarja Malm, Ph.D. A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences

> Lecturer Veli-Pekka Ranta, Ph.D. School of Pharmacy Faculty of Health Sciences

Lecturer Tarja Välimäki, Ph.D. Department of Nursing Science Faculty of Health Sciences

Punamusta oy Joensuu, 2023 Distributor: University of Eastern Finland Kuopio Campus Library

ISBN: 978-952-61-5020-8 (print/nid.) ISBN: 978-952-61-5021-5 (PDF) ISSNL: 1798-5706 ISSN: 1798-5706 ISSN: 1798-5714 (PDF)

Author's address:	Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care Kuopio University Hospital University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Doctoral programme:	Doctoral Programme in Clinical Research
Supervisors:	Professor Matti Reinikainen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Kuopio University Hospital University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Professor Markus B. Skrifvars, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Emergency Care and Services, Helsinki University Hospital, University of Helsinki HELSINKI FINLAND

Reviewers:	Docent Riikka Takala, M.D., Ph.D. Perioperative Services, Intensive Care Medicine and Pain Management Turku University Hospital University of Turku
	TURKU
	FINLAND
	Docent Antti Kämäräinen, M.D., Ph.D.
	Emergency Department
	Hyvinkää Hospital
	University of Tampere
	TAMPERE
	FINLAND
Opponent:	Docent Susanna Melkas, M.D., Ph.D.
	Clinical Neurosciences
	University of Helsinki
	HELSINKI
	FINLAND

Wihersaari, Lauri Neurobiomarkers for prognostication after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest Kuopio: University of Eastern Finland Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences 787. 2023, 196 p. ISBN: 978-952-61-5020-8 (print) ISSNL: 1798-5706 ISSN: 1798-5706 ISBN: 978-952-61-5021-5 (PDF) ISSN: 1798-5714 (PDF)

ABSTRACT

Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury (HIBI) is the main cause of severe neurological disability and death after cardiac arrest (CA). The assessment of HIBI is critical in prognostication after CA, and it remains challenging. Neurobiomarkers are one part of the multimodal prognostication of neurological outcome. Current guidelines recommend using neuronspecific enolase (NSE) as a neurobiomarker, together with clinical examination, imaging, and neurophysiological studies. However, NSE levels can misleadingly increase because of haemolysis and after other brain injuries. NSE can also be released from extracerebral sources, altering its prognostic ability. Also, the predictive value of NSE in the oldest patients and in those with a short resuscitation time is unclear. Furthermore, sedative medications and muscle relaxants can confound the interpretation of clinical and neurophysiological examinations, even if they have no effect on blood biomarkers. Given these challenges, accurate prognostication after CA requires methods that can reliably detect or exclude severe HIBI. Ubiquitin c-terminal hydrose L1 (UCH-L1) and neufofilament light (NfL) are promising novel biomarkers that can have potential in prognostication after CA.

Aims

The aims of this study were to: 1) determine the ability of serum NSE to predict unfavourable long-term functional outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) in subgroups (divided into quartiles according to the patient's age and time from collapse to the return of spontaneous circulation [ROSC]); 2) determine the ability of serum UCH-L1 to predict long-term functional outcome after OHCA and compare it to that of NSE; and 3) determine the value of plasma NfL in predicting unfavourable long-term outcome after OHCA and compare it to NSE, and to assess the impact of two different arterial blood carbon dioxide tension (PaCO₂), arterial blood oxygen tension (PaO₂), and mean arterial pressure (MAP) targets on NfL concentrations.

Materials and methods

This study includes four post-hoc laboratory studies (numbered I–IV). The blood samples used were collected and stored during the original studies this work is based on. The patients for Studies I, II, and IV came from the FINNRESUSCI study, which included adult patients resuscitated from OHCA and treated in 21 Finnish intensive care units (ICUs) in 2010–2011. The patients in Study III came from the Carbon dioxide, Oxygen, and Mean arterial pressure After Cardiac Arrest and REsuscitation (COMACARE) study (NCT02698917). This randomised, controlled trial studied the effect of lownormal and high-normal PaCO₂, PaO₂, and MAP levels on the outcome of adult OHCA patients resuscitated from shockable initial rhythms.

The primary outcome was assessed at one year (Studies I, II, and IV) and at six months (Study III) based on the Cerebral Performance Category (CPC). A score of CPC 1–2 indicates favourable outcome, and CPC 3–5 is unfavourable outcome (death or severe disability). Hospital survival was used as a secondary outcome.

Blood samples for Studies I, II, and IV were obtained at 24 and 48 h after CA in a total of 249 patients. We analysed serum concentrations of NSE (Studies I and IV), serum concentrations of UCH-L1 (Study II), and plasma concentrations of NfL (Study IV) at 24 and 48 h. The blood samples for Study III were collected at the time of ICU admission and at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA, and we analysed the NfL and NSE concentrations of 112 patients at those time points. To assess all the biomarkers' ability to predict unfavourable outcome, we calculated the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC).

Main results

In total, 121 of 249 patients (48.6%) in Studies I and II, 39 of 112 patients (34.8%) in Study III, and 120 of 248 patients (48.4%) in Study IV had unfavourable outcome. In Study I, NSE had a satisfactory prognostic ability (AUROC 0.72). The prognostic ability of NSE was excellent in patients with young age (18-56 years; AUROC 0.91) and good in patients with long time from collapse to ROSC (\geq 29 min; AUROC 0.84). The prognostic ability of NSE was poor in patients with a high age (\geq 72 years; AUROC 0.53) and a short time from collapse to ROSC (\leq 13 min; AUROC 0.45). In Study II, UCH-L1 had a moderate prognostic ability (AUROC 0.66) and offered no benefit compared to NSE.

In Study III, NfL had an excellent ability to predict unfavourable outcome at 24–72 h after OHCA (AUROCs 0.98; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.95–1.00), superior to that of NSE. NfL concentrations were significantly lower in the higher blood pressure group (MAP 80-100 mmHg) than in the lower blood pressure group (MAP 65-75 mmHg) at 48 h (p=0.041) and 72 h (p=0.007). In Study IV, which included unselected OHCA patients, NfL at 24 and 48 h had a better prognostic value (AUROC 0.90 and 0.88, respectively) than NSE (AUROC 0.65 and 0.72, respectively).

Conclusion

NSE had poor prognostic value in the oldest patients and in those with the shortest time from collapse to ROSC, whereas the prognostic ability of NfL was satisfactory in those patients. UCH-L1 did not demonstrate any benefits in prognostication compared to NSE. NfL had an excellent ability to predict long-term functional outcome after OHCA in both a select population with only cardiogenic CA (COMACARE) and a larger population with various types of CA (FINNRESUSCI). The prognostic ability of NfL was superior to that of NSE. NfL levels were lower in the higher MAP group than in the lower MAP group.

Keywords: Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, OHCA, resuscitation, prognostication, neurological outcome, neurobiomarkers, neuron-specific enolase, NSE, ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase L1, UCH-L1, neurofilament light, NfL Wihersaari, Lauri Aivovaurion merkkiaineet sairaalan ulkopuolisen elvytyksen jälkeisessä ennustearviossa Kuopio: Itä-Suomen yliopisto Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences 787. 2023, 196 p. ISBN: 978-952-61-5020-8 (print) ISSNL: 1798-5706 ISSN: 1798-5706 ISBN: 978-952-61-5021-5 (PDF) ISSN: 1798-5714 (PDF)

TIIVISTELMÄ

Hapenpuutteesta johtuva aivovaurio (hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, HIBI) on yleisin elvytyksen jälkeinen kuolemaan ja vakavaan neurologiseen vammautumiseen johtava syy. Hapenpuutteesta johtuvan aivovaurion vaikeuden arvioiminen on keskeistä mutta haastavaa ennustearviossa. Aivovaurion merkkiaineet ovat osa useaan menetelmään perustuvaa neurologista ennustearviota. Nykyiset ohjeet suosittelevat neuronispesifisen enolaasin (NSE) käyttöä yhdessä kliinisen tutkimisen, kuvantamisen ja neurofysiologisten tutkimusten kanssa. NSE:n pitoisuudet veressä voivat kuitenkin virheellisesti nousta muiden aivovammojen tai hemolyysin seurauksena. Lisäksi muualta kuin aivoista voi vapautua NSE:a, mikä heikentää sen ennustekykyä. Lisäksi NSE:n ennustekyky iäkkäillä on epäselvä. Sedatoiva lääkitys ja lihasrelaksanttien käyttö voi vaikeuttaa kliinisen ja neurofysiologisen tutkimisen tulkintaa, mutta ne eivät vaikuta merkkiaineisiin. Hapenpuutteesta johtuvan aivovaurion tunnistamiseen kykeneviä menetelmiä tarvitaan elvytyksen jälkeiseen ennustearvion tekemiseen. Ubikitiinin hiilipään hydrolaasi L1 (UCH-L1) ja neurofilamentin kevytketju (NfL) ovat lupauksia herättäviä uusia merkkiaineita, jotka saattaisivat olla käyttökelpoisia sydänpysähdyksen ja elvytyksen jälkeisessä ennustearviossa.

Tavoitteet

Tutkimuksen tavoitteina olivat: 1) määrittää seerumin NSE:n kyky ennustaa sairaalan ulkopuolella elvytettyjen neurologista pitkäaikaisennustetta eri alaryhmissä (iän ja elvytysajan mukaisiin kvartiileihin jaettuna); 2) selvittää seerumin UCH-L1:n ennustekyky sairaalan ulkopuolisen sydänpysähdyksen jälkeen ja verrata sitä NSE:n ennustekykyyn; 3) määrittää plasman NfL:n ennustekyky sairaalan ulkopuolisen sydänpysähdyksen jälkeen ja verrata sitä NSE:n ennustekykyyn, ja määrittää kahden eri happi- ja hiilidioksiditavoitteen ja keskiverenpainetavoitteen vaikutus NfLpitoisuuksiin.

Aineisto ja menetelmät

Tutkimus koostuu neljästä jälkikäteisanalyysinä tehdystä laboratoriotutkimuksesta (tutkimukset I-IV). Verinäytteet kerättiin ja varastoitiin alkuperäisten tutkimusten aikana, tämä tutkimus perustuu näihin alkuperäistutkimuksiin. Potilaat tutkimuksiin I, II ja IV tulivat FINNRESUSCI-tutkimuksesta, jossa kerättiin tietoa 21:llä suomalaisella teho-osastolla vuosina 2010-2011 hoidetuista sairaalan ulkopuolella elvytetyistä aikuispotilaista. Tutkimuksen III potilaat ovat Carbon dioxide, Oxygen, and Mean arterial pressure After Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation (COMACARE) -tutkimuksesta (NCT02698917). Tämä satunnaistettu ja kontrolloitu tutkimus tutki normaalin matalan ja normaalin korkean happija hiilidioksidipitoisuuden ja verenpaineen vaikutuksia iskettävistä rytmeistä sairaalan ulkopuolella elvytetyillä.

Ensisijaiset päätemuuttujat määriteltiin vuoden kohdalla (tutkimukset I, II, IV) ja puolen vuoden (tutkimus III) kohdalla elvytyksestä Cerebral Performance Category:n (CPC) mukaisesti. CPC 1-2 tarkoittaa hyvää toipumista, CPC 3-5 huonoa lopputulosta (kuolema tai vaikea vammautuminen). Sairaalakuolleisuus valittiin toissijaiseksi päätemuuttujaksi.

Verinäytteet tutkimuksiin I, II ja IV kerättiin 24 ja 48 tuntia elvytyksestä 249 potilaalta. Analysoimme seerumin NSE-pitoisuudet (tutkimukset I ja IV), seerumin UCH-L1-pitoisuudet (tutkimus II) ja plasman NfL-pitoisuudet (tutkimus IV) 24 ja 48 tuntia elvytyksestä. Verinäytteet tutkimukseen III kerättiin teho-osastolle saapuessa ja 24, 48 ja 72 tuntia elottomuudesta, ja 112 potilaan NfL-pitoisuudet kyseisinä aikoina analysoitiin. Määritimme ROC-käyrän alle jäävän pinta-alan (the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve, AUROC) arvioidaksemme biomarkkerien ennustekykyä.

Tärkeimmät tulokset

Huono lopputulos todettiin 121:llä potilaalla 249:stä (48,6 %) tutkimuksessa I ja II, 39:llä potilaalla 112:sta (34,8 %) tutkimuksessa III ja 120:llä potilaalla 248:sta (48,4 %) tutkimuksessa IV. Tutkimuksessa I NSE:llä oli tyydyttävä ennustekyky (AUROC 0,72). läkkäillä (≥ 72 vuotta) ja lyhyen aikaa elvytetyillä (<13 minuuttia) NSE:n ennustekyky oli huono. Tutkimuksessa II UCH-L1:llä todettiin keskinkertainen ennustekyky (AUROC 0,66), joka ei tuo lisäarvoa NSE:iin verrattuna. Tutkimuksessa III 24–72 tuntia elottomuudesta mitatulla NfL:lla todettiin erinomainen kyky ennustaa huonoa lopputulosta (AUROC 0,98, 95 %:n luottamusväli 0,95-1,00). Tämä oli selvästi parempi kuin NSE:n ennustekyky. NfL-pitoisuudet olivat matalampia potilailla, jotka hoidettiin korkeammalla keskiverenpainetavoitteella (MAP 80-100 mmHg) kuin niillä, jotka hoidettiin matalammalla tavoitteella (MAP 65-75 mmHg) 48 tunnin kohdalla (p=0.041) ja 72 tunnin kohdalla (p=0.007). Tutkimuksessa IV, jonka aineistona oli valikoimaton joukko sairaalan ulkopuolella elvytettyjä potilaita, 24 tai 48 tunnin kohdalla mitattu NfL oli ennustekyvyltään parempi (AUROC 0,90 ja 0,88) kuin NSE (AUROC 0,65 ja 0,72).

Yhteenveto

NSE:n ennustekyky oli heikko iäkkäillä ja lyhytkestoisesta elottomuudesta elvytetyillä potilailla, kun taas NfL:n ennustekyky oli tyydyttävä näissäkin tapauksissa. UCH-L1 ei osoittautunut ennustekyvyltään NSE:a paremmaksi. NfL:lla todettiin erinomainen kyky ennustaa sairaalan ulkopuolella elvytettyjen toipumista sekä COMACARE-tutkimuksen sydänperäisistä elottomuuksista elvytettyjen kohdalla, että-laajemmassa FINNRESUSCIaineistossa, joka sisälsi erilaisia sydänpysähdyksen syitä. NfL:n ennustekyky oli parempi kuin NSE:n. NfL-pitoisuudet olivat matalampia korkeamman kuin matalamman keskiverenpainetavoitteen ryhmässä. **Avainsanat**: Sairaalan ulkopuolinen elottomuus, elvytys, ennustearvio, neurologinen ennuste, aivovaurion merkkiaineet, neuronispesifinen enolaasi, NSE, ubikitiinin hiilipään hydrolaasi L1, UCH-L1, neurofilamentin kevytketju, NfL

To my family

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The writing of my dissertation lasted almost a decade. There were times when I asked myself during the research and writing whether all this effort was worth of it. Fortunately, I received help from many wonderful people during these years, and they encouraged me to carry on. I am grateful for this support, and I want to thank all of you who collaborated with me.

I am deeply grateful to my exceptional supervisors: Professor Matti Reinikainen and Professor Markus B. Skrifvars.

Matti, in the beginning, I was impressed by your engaging enthusiasm, which makes the learning process enjoyable. I am even more impressed that your enthusiasm never wavered over the years. You have been not only the driving force behind my study but also my clinical mentor. You taught me a lot of about critical thinking and how to manage critically ill patients. You have a unique sense of detail and can clarify complex issues and explain their practical significance. Moreover, you find wisdom in people's words that they do not even notice themselves. You were always there when I needed guidance. Thank you for believing in me.

Markus, your efficiency and dedication are amazing. Despite your many ongoing projects as an international researcher, it was remarkable how promptly you responded to my questions. Your positivity and innovative ideas have inspired me a lot throughout this journey. Research funding was never an issue with you, and this played a remarkable role in making my dissertation a reality. It was a great honour to work with you.

I extend my sincere gratitude to Riikka Takala and Antti Kämäräinen, who sacrificed their valuable time in reviewing my dissertation. Riikka's many accurate observations and Antti's insightful comments significantly helped to clarify my dissertation. Warm thanks to both of you for your invaluable contributions. The original FINNRESUSCI and the COMACARE studies provided research material and blood samples for my own studies, making this dissertation possible. I am grateful for the FINNRESUSCI and the COMACARE study groups for their noteworthy work.

I want warmly to thank the co-authors who collaborated in my research. I am grateful for Jukka Vaahersalo for conducting the FINNRESUSCI study that provided research material for three of my studies. I express my appreciation to Pekka Jakkula for leading the COMACARE trial, which offered important research material for my study. Many thanks to Marjaana Tiainen for excellent comments and significant contributions to the evaluation of patients' neurological recovery. I am grateful for Maija Kaukonen for contributing to the studies and for the possibility to use her research grant in my own study. My warm thanks to Stepani Bendel for his significant contributions to the studies and for providing opportunities for research leaves. These times were essential in making the writing of this dissertation possible.

I also want to express my gratitude to Ville Pettilä, Tero Varpula, Jarkko Romppanen, Jouni Kurola, Johanna Hästbacka, Pekka Loisa, Nicholas J. Ashton, Hans Friberg, Tobias Cronberg, Kaj Blennow, Henrik Zetterberg, Roberto Furlan, Alessandra Mandelli, Roberto Latini and Giuseppe Ristagno. Your contributions to the studies have been invaluable.

I want to thank the statistician Tuomas Selander for his invaluable assistance with the statistical analyses.

My great colleagues in Kuopio and Joensuu, your companionship and interest in my studies throughout these years gave me motivation to carry on. Warm thanks to all of you.

My special gratitude goes to my colleagues at Kuopio University ICU for their encouragements and for providing me the to complete this dissertation. To Ari, Maarit, Timo, Anssi, Johanna, Christiane, Martti, Ville K and Ville I, I want to express my heartfelt thanks. I am very proud to work with you. I am profoundly grateful to my mother, Kaija, and to my father, Jari, for their understanding, for teaching me the importance of work hard and for having an inspiring library at my childhood home in Pekola. I also want to thank my friends, siblings, and relatives for your interest in my research and for supporting me during the more challenging times.

Last but certainly not least, I want to express my deepest gratitude to my family. My wonderful sons Joona, Paulus and Toivo, you have always reminded me of what is most important in life. I apologise for that time I had to spend writing instead of playing, fishing, or reading a book with you. It was often difficult to say, 'We will do it tomorrow'. Now that we have more time to spend together, I want to promise you that funnier games, bigger catches, and better stories are waiting for us. To my beloved wife, Kaisu, your unfaltering support, sacrifices and understanding have been the bedrock of my success. I could always trust in you. I thank you from the bottom of my heart.

Kuopio, October 2023

Ác

Lauri Wihersaari

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This dissertation is based on the following original publications:

- I Wihersaari L, Tiainen M, Skrifvars MB, Bendel S, Kaukonen KM, Vaahersalo J, Romppanen J, Pettilä V, Reinikainen M; FINNRESUSCI study group. Usefulness of neuron specific enolase in prognostication after cardiac arrest: Impact of age and time to ROSC. Resuscitation. 2019;139:214-221.
- II Wihersaari L, Reinikainen M, Tiainen M, Bendel S, Kaukonen KM, Vaahersalo J, JRomppanen J, Pettilä V, Skrifvars MB, the FINNRESUSCI study group. Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2023;67:964-971.
- III Wihersaari L, Ashton NJ, Reinikainen M, Jakkula P, Pettilä V, Hästbacka J, Tiainen M, Loisa P, Friberg H, Cronberg T, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Skrifvars MB; COMACARE STUDY GROUP. Neurofilament light as an outcome predictor after cardiac arrest: a post hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial. Intensive Care Med. 2021;47:39-48.
- IV Wihersaari L, Reinikainen M, Furlan R, Mandelli A, Vaahersalo J, Kurola J, Tiainen M, Pettilä V, Bendel S, Varpula T, Latini R, Ristagno G, Skrifvars MB. Neurofilament light compared to neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of unfavourable outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2022;174:1-8.

The publications were adapted with the permission of the copyright owners.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT7		
TIIVISTELMÄ	11	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	17	
1 INTRODUCTION	31	
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	33	
2.1 Overview of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest	33	
2.1.1 Incidence of OHCA	33	
2.1.2 Aetiologies of OHCA	33	
2.1.3 Survival		
2.2 Factors associated with outcome	35	
2.2.1 Factors related to resuscitation.	35	
2.2.2 Underlying diseases and comorbidities	36	
2.2.3 Age	37	
2.2.4 Time from collapse to ROSC		
2.3 treatment in intensive care units after cardiac arrest		
2.3.1 General principles		
2.3.2 The role of temperature management	40	
2.3.3 The roles of carbon dioxide, oxygen, and		
blood pressure	40	
2.4 Reasons for unfavourable outcome after cardiac arrest	41	
2.4.1 Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury (HIBI)	41	
2.4.2 Post-resuscitation syndrome	46	
2.4.3 Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies (WLST)	47	
2.5 Outcome prediction after Cardiac arrest	49	
2.5.1 Outcome definitions	49	
2.5.2 Accuracy of tests used in predicting unfavourable		
outcome	53	
2.5.3 Predicting favourable outcome	55	
2.6 Prognostication strategy and methods	57	
2.6.1 Multimodal prognostication	57	

 2.6.3 Imaging: MRI and CT 2.6.4 Electrophysiological studies: EEG and SSEP 2.7 neurobiomarkers in prognostication after cardiac arrest. 2.8 neuronal biomarkers: NSE and UCH-L1 2.8.1 NSE 2.8.2 UCH-L1 2.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP 	63 66 67 80 80 82 83 83
 2.6.4 Electrophysiological studies: EEG and SSEP 2.7 neurobiomarkers in prognostication after cardiac arrest. 2.8 neuronal biomarkers: NSE and UCH-L1 2.8.1 NSE 2.8.2 UCH-L1 2.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP 	66 67 80 80 82 83 83
 2.7 neurobiomarkers in prognostication after cardiac arrest. 2.8 neuronal biomarkers: NSE and UCH-L1 2.8.1 NSE 2.8.2 UCH-L1 2.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP 	67 80 82 82 83 83
 2.8 neuronal biomarkers: NSE and UCH-L1 2.8.1 NSE 2.8.2 UCH-L1 2.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP 	80 80 82 83 83
2.8.1 NSE2.8.2 UCH-L12.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP	80 82 83 83
2.8.2 UCH-L1 2.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP	82 83 83
2.9 Glial and astrocyte markers: S100B and GFAP	83 83
	83
2.9.1 S100B	
2.9.2 GFAP	85
2.10 Axonal markers: Tau and NfL	86
2.10.1 Tau	86
2.10.2 NfL	87
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	91
	02
4 1 study design and nationts	دو ده
4.1 Study design and patients	دو ده
4.1.1 FININESOSCI population: Study III	36 مە
4.1.2 COMACANE population. Study In	90 مع
4.2 data concettori	00 مع
4.2.1 Studies I, II, and IV	96 98
4 3 outcomes	98 98
4.4 Jaboratory methods	90 90
4 4 1 Study I	99
4 4 2 Study II	
4.4.3 Study III	
4.4.4 Study IV	100
4.5 statistical methods	101
4.6 ethics	103
4.7 PERMISSIONS	103
5 RESULTS	
5.1 Study patients and baseline characteristics	
5.1.1 Studies I. II. and IV	
5.1.2 Study III	

RE	EFERENCES	.161
7	CONCLUSIONS	.159
	6.6 Future perspectives	.157
	6.5 Limitations	.156
	6.4.3 Blood pressure in HIBI	.155
	6.4.2 Secondary HIBI	.154
	6.4.1 Axonal injury	.153
	6.4 HIBI and neurobiomarkers	.153
	6.3.3 Haemolysis	.152
	6.3.2 Other confounding factors	.151
	6.3.1 Age	.149
	6.3 Confounding aspects of biomarkers	.149
	6.2.3 Pitfalls in prognostication	.147
	6.2.2 Cutoff values	.145
	6.2.1 Comparison of the populations	1 <i>41</i>
	6.2 Assessing neurological prognosis with biomarkers	1 <u>/</u> 1
0	6.1 SLIMMARY OF Main findings	1 <u>4</u> 1
6		1/1
	5.7 biomarkers in predicting favourable outcome	.139
	5.6 cutoff values in predicting unfavourable outcome	.136
	oxygen, and blood pressure targets on nfl levels	.134
	5.5 Effect of low-normal and high-normal carbon dioxide,	
	5.4 Added value of biomarkers in prognostication models	.127
	5.3.2 Impact of ROSC	.124
	5 3.1 Impact of age	121
	nrognostic abilities of NSE and Nfl	121
	5.3 Impact of age and time to rosc ON the concentrations and	.119
	5.2.2 MiL, NSE, and STOOB IN the COMACARE population	.114 110
	5.2.1 NSE, UCH-L1, and NfL in the FINNRESUSCI population	.110 114
	5.2 Prognostic accuracy and concentrations of biomarkers	.110
	5.2 Prognostic accuracy and concentrations of hiomarkers	110

ABBREVIATIONS

ACNS American Clinical Neurophysiology Society's Apparent diffusion coefficient ADC APACHE II Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation Asystole ASY AUROC Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve Blood-brain barrier BBB ΒS **Burst suppression** CA Cardiac arrest CBF Cerebral blood flow CL Confidence interval Central nervous system CNS Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease COPD CPC **Cerebral Performance Category** Cerebral perfusion pressure CPP Cardiopulmonary resuscitation CPR Cerebrospinal fluid CSF

- CT Computed tomography
- DWI Diffusion-weighted imaging
- EEG Electroencephalography
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- ERC European Resuscitation Council
- ESICM European Society of Intensive Care Medicine
- FPR False positive rate
- GCS Glasgow Coma Scale
- GFAP Glial fibrillary acidic protein
- GM Grey matter
- GOS Glasgow Outcome Scale
- GWR Grey-white matter ratio
- HIBI Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury
- ICH Intracerebral haemorrhage
- ICP Intracranial pressure
- ICU Intensive care unit
- IDI Integrated discrimination improvement

- IHCA In-hospital cardiac arrest
- IL6 Interleukin 6
- kDa Kilodalton
- LR+ Positive likelihood ratio
- LR- Negative likelihood ratio
- MAP Mean arterial pressure
- MGOS Modified Glasgow Outcome Scale
- MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- mRS Modified Rankin Scale
- NfL Neurofilament light
- NPV Negative predictive value
- NRI Net reclassification improvement
- NSE Neuron-specific enolase
- OHCA Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest
- OR Odds ratio
- PbtO₂ Partial oxygen pressure of brain tissue
- PEA Pulseless electronic activity

- PPV Positive predictive value
- ROSC Return of spontaneous circulation
- SAH Subarachnoid haemorrhage
- SAPS II Simplified Acute Physiology Score
- SIMOA Single Molecule Array
- SM Status myoclonus
- SOFA Sequential Organ Failure Assessment
- SSEP Somatosensory evoked potential
- TBI Traumatic brain injury
- TH Therapeutic hypothermia
- TTM Targeted temperature management
- UCH-L1 Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1
- VF Ventricular fibrillation
- VT Ventricular tachycardia
- WM White matter
- WLST Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies

1 INTRODUCTION

Sudden out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) affects at least 500,000 people each year in Europe ¹. Mortality after OHCA remains high, over 90%, and it is the third most common cause of death in Europe ². In the early phase of treatment, resuscitated patients are typically unconscious, and prognostication is a challenge ^{3,4}. OHCA is already catastrophic for individuals with cardiac arrest (CA) and their loved ones, and an uncertain prognosis is an extra burden.

The main cause of unfavourable outcome after CA is the brain injury caused by circulatory arrest and tissue hypoxia—i.e., hypoxic-ischemic brain injury (HIBI), which causes two thirds of the resulting deaths ^{4,5}. For clinicians, it is important to carry out a multimodal prognostication process for patients who remain unconscious, since an accurate neurological prognosis is difficult to obtain in the first 1–3 days ⁶. Making the correct prognosis is crucial for avoiding futile care of individuals with a severe disability and no chance for meaningful recovery—and conversely, to prevent the termination of life-sustaining care for patients who may be able to have a satisfactory neurological recovery ⁶.

Prehospital patient- and resuscitation-related factors that can affect a patient's outcome include an unwitnessed collapse, a lack of bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), a nonshockable initial rhythm, a severe comorbidity, a very advanced age, and a long time from collapse to the return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC)⁷. Individual factors that can weaken the prognosis and probability of survival are not specific for unfavourable outcome, and multimodal prognostication is necessary ⁶.

As HIBI is the key factor for neurological outcome and death after CA, its assessment is the main issue in predicting long-term outcome⁸. In addition to predicting unfavourable outcome, is necessary to avoid incorrect withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies (WLST)⁹. The ability to predict the probability of favourable outcome by excluding the presence of severe HIBI is a rising topic in prognostication ¹⁰.

The latest guidelines of the European Resuscitation Council (ERC) and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) on prognostication after CA recommend multimodal prognostication ⁶. It should include several highly specific tests and should be performed after a length of time sufficient to minimise a falsely pessimistic prognosis ⁶. Multimodal prognostication includes a clinical neurological examination, brain imaging with computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), neurophysiological studies (e.g., somatosensory evoked potential [SSEP] and electroencephalography [EEG]), and the measurement of blood neurobiomarkers ⁶.

Neurobiomarkers have several benefits: their blood concentrations can be easily and inexpensively measured, and they are not confounded by sedative medications and muscle relaxants. The optimal neurobiomarker is brain-specific, is released within 1–3 days after CA due to brain injury, and has minimal confounding extracerebral sources. Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) is the most-studied and the only biomarker recommended in recent prognostication guidelines. However, NSE has some limitations, as haemolysis¹¹, small-cell lung carcinoma¹², and non-HIBI brain injuries^{13,14} can misleadingly increase its blood concentration. To minimise false positive results (FPR), the recommended cutoff level of NSE for predicting unfavourable outcome is high, but this can worsen the sensitivity of the test ⁶. Moreover, NSE is not a very sensitive biomarker for excluding severe HIBI¹⁵, and its prognostic accuracy in the oldest patients and in those with a short time from collapse to ROSC is unclear. To improve the accurate prognostication of resuscitated patients, it is necessary to investigate novel, easily obtained biomarkers that are better than NSE at discriminating patients regarding HIBI.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 OVERVIEW OF OUT-OF-HOSPITAL CARDIAC ARREST

2.1.1 Incidence of OHCA

OHCA is a major health issue worldwide; the exact incidence of OHCA is unknown because not all arrests are identified or registered with emergency medical services ^{16,17}. The global registered incidence from 1976–2019 was 55/100,000 people per year in a meta-analysis that included 4.6 million OHCA patients with the initiation of CPR ¹⁸. In Europe, the estimated annual incidence of OHCA is 67–170/100,000 ¹⁹. A large European register study (EuReCa TWO) included data from 28 countries covering 180 million inhabitants; it reported an annual incidence of 56/100,000 OHCAs with the initiation of CPR ¹.

The majority of OHCA patients die before hospital admission; only 30% of resuscitated individuals worldwide achieve ROSC, and only 22% survive until admitted to hospital ¹⁸. The number of patients resuscitated from both OHCA and in-hospital cardiac arrest (IHCA) and treated in ICUs has increased in recent years, as has the length of ICU treatment ². In Finland, the annual incidence of OHCA with attempted CPR, according to the FINNRESUSCI study, was 51/100,000 inhabitants in 2010–2011 ²⁰.

2.1.2 Aetiologies of OHCA

The underlying disease or condition that causes CA has a strong impact on achieving ROSC and on survival. Cardiac causes, especially coronary artery disease and acute myocardial infarction, are the most common causes of OHCA, and they typically result in shockable initial rhythms of ventricular fibrillation (VF) and ventricular tachycardia (VT) ^{7,21,22}. These cause blood pressure and cardiac output to collapse, leading to CA. VF is the most common arrythmia causing cardiogenic CA ²³. VF and VT are shockable rhythms because they can be returned to pulsative rhythms with defibrillation in optimal circumstances.

Other rhythms that cause CA are nonshockable, including pulseless electronic activity (PEA) and asystole (ASY). Conditions that can cause nonshockable rhythms include asphyxia, hypovolemia, sepsis and other distributive shocks, major trauma, and drug overdose, which are also defined as non-cardiac aetiologies ²⁴. When the treatment of the underlying condition is delayed, cell death and irreversible tissue damage can occur in many cases, finally leading to CA.

2.1.3 Survival

Overall survival did not improve between the 1980s and 2009^{18,25}, but short- and long-term survival trends improved after that from 2010–2019 ¹⁸. Survival rates of patients resuscitated from OHCA until hospital discharge remain low (8–9%), and one-year survival is below 8% ^{18,19}. In the register of the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR), favourable neurological recovery at hospital discharge or at 30 days after arrest varies between 2.8–18.2%¹⁷. In a recent Swedish register study including 55,000 OHCA patients, 4 out of 5 patients died before hospital admission, and a favourable one-year neurological outcome was seen in 7.4% of the resuscitated patients ⁷. In Finland, according to the FINNRESUSCI study in 2010–2011, one-year survival was 13%, and 91% of the survivors were independent in their basic activity of daily living ²⁶. The proportion of survivors who were able to live independently was comparable in a Swedish register study from 1990–2020²². Incidence and survival strongly vary among countries, partly explained by differences in emergency medical services, treatment in hospitals, and case mix ¹⁹. It is recommended that studies involving CA report outcome and definitions according to the Utstein criteria²⁷ to enable more precise comparisons.
2.2 FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH OUTCOME

2.2.1 Factors related to resuscitation.

Overall, patients with shockable initial rhythms have better survival rates than those with nonshockable initial rhythms ^{5,25}. In recent years, the incidence of nonshockable rhythms has increased, negating the improvement of survival rates ²². In a large meta-analysis of OHCA patients over 3 decades, the factors that had the greatest positive impact on survival were EMS-witnessed collapse, bystander CPR, and a shockable initial rhythm ²⁵.

The shockability of initial rhythm is a robust predictor of survival; the survival rate was 14.8–23% for individuals with a shockable rhythm but only 0.4–7.2% for those with nonshockable rhythms ²⁵. When the first detected rhythm is asystole, the survival rate decreases to 0.2–4.7% ²⁵. Survival is lowest in patients whose CA is caused by trauma (2.8%), drowning (5.4%), and asphyxia (5.6%); those typically lead to nonshockable rhythms ¹. However, some patients with nonshockable rhythms still survive. In a large analysis of 17,000 resuscitated patients in Japan, favourable overall neurological recovery was seen in 21.8%; for patients with shockable rhythms, the rate was 52.1%, and for those with ASY it was 4.5% ²⁸.

The large variation in survival in different register-based studies probably reflects differences throughout the whole "chain of survival", which means rapid recognition of CA, activation of emergency medical services, CPR, and defibrillation ²⁹. In the EuReCa study, there were significant variations among countries in the proportions of bystander CPR (13–82.6%), shockable initial rhythm (11.4–36.8%), and achievement of ROSC (6.9–43.3%) ¹. Other factors in addition to initial rhythm can decrease survival rates. Unwitnessed collapse and a lack of bystander CPR significantly decreases survival ²⁵. Unwitnessed collapse, nonshockable rhythms, duration of CPR and higher total dose of adrenaline (likely due to prolonged CPR and nonshockable rhythms) are also strongly associated with brain oedema, which dramatically decreases the probability of survival $^{\rm 30}.$

Shockability of the rhythm had also strong impact on survival in the FINNRESUSCI study, where 31% of the patients had a shockable initial rhythm ²⁰. Of these, 65% achieved ROSC, which was almost twice as many as patients with a nonshockable initial rhythm. The one-year survival difference was even greater: 33% of the patients with a shockable rhythm survived, compared to only 5% with a nonshockable rhythm ²⁰.

2.2.2 Underlying diseases and comorbidities

The worsening of an underlying disease can be a cause of CA. Moreover, in cases where the cause of CA is different from a significant underlying disease, the underlying disease can reduce the probability of survival. Cardiac diseases, including hypertension (the most common one), are the most frequent underlying diseases, followed by type 2 diabetes mellitus ⁷. Cardiac causes of CA typically lead to shockable rhythms, and survival can be more likely if the cause of OHCA is cardiogenic ²². However, the proportion of cardiogenic causes is decreasing in line with incidence of severe coronary artery disease, so the significance of other causes will increase in the future ²².

The accumulation of illnesses decreases the probability of survival ³¹. Existing liver cirrhosis and the development of severe acute-on-chronic liver failure significantly reduces survival after CA ³¹. In addition, malignancy and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease weakens the probability of survival after OHCA ^{31,32}. In a study by Terman et al. that included 588 OHCA patients, the presence of dementia, but not the overall comorbidity index, was independently associated with worse outcome ³³. A parallel result was found in a study by Beesems et al. looking at an older OHCA population, though with a nonsignificant trend toward worse outcome in individuals with more comorbidity reduce survival after OHCA.

2.2.3 Age

Aging of the population is a worldwide trend, so more elderly patients will be resuscitated from OHCA in the future. With increasing age, frailty increases and comorbidities accrue ³⁵, which can worsen survival after CA. In a large review of patients \geq 70 years old who were resuscitated from OHCA, the overall survival rate was low (4.1%) ³⁶. In that review, the older age was associated with worse survival, but comorbidities have not been separated from age itself in many studies. In a large register study by Hessulf et al., the patient's age was the most significant predictor of survival among patient-related factors ⁷. A later review focusing on resuscitated patients \geq 70 years old reported a survival after OHCA to hospital discharge ranging from 0–11% that declined with age ³⁷. However, this review demonstrated an improvement in the survival of elderly resuscitated patients over the last decade, and among those who survived to hospital discharge, 77–92% had favourable neurological outcome.

Many single studies have proven that increasing age reduces survival after CA. In a recent multi-centre observational study, a younger age was associated with favourable neurological outcome among patients with prolonged (>30 min) resuscitation ³⁸. In a retrospective cohort of OHCA patients, each decade of a patient's age decreased the odds of favourable neurological outcome (the Cerebral Performance Category [CPC] 1–2 at 6–12 months after CA) by 21% ³³. In a study of OHCA patients ≥70 years old, the overall long-term outcome was favourable in 10.6% ³⁴. When those patients were separated into two categories, favourable outcome occurred in 14.2% of the patients aged 70–79 years, and favourable outcome was less common (6.6%) in patients ≥80 years. In another study of OHCA patients, increasing age was associated with higher mortality and unfavourable long-term outcome ³⁹.

It is possible that a lower intensity of care has a worse impact on survival in the oldest resuscitated patients, perhaps revealing a selffulfilling prophecy. Roselló et al. studied outcome and treatment of elderly OHCA patients and found that interventions were used less frequently in elderly individuals (≥80 years) compared to younger individuals (<80 years), giving rise to a hypothesis that interventions were restricted due to old age ⁴⁰. Older age was an independent predictor of in-hospital mortality in that study but not a predictor of unfavourable neurological outcome. Though higher age worsens survival after CA, age itself should not be used as a justification to restrict therapies if a probability of sufficient recovery exists ³⁷.

2.2.4 Time from collapse to ROSC

Resuscitation time is a significant factor influencing survival. During CA and CPR, the blood and oxygen supplies to the brain and other vital organs are critically impaired. Björklund et al. found a clear correlation between resuscitation time and the severity of HIBI in autopsies of resuscitated individuals who died thereafter ⁴¹. Large analyses provide great impact on ROSC time to survival after CA. In a study of over 55,000 OHCA patients, the time from collapse to ROSC was the second most significant patient-related factor (after age) that had an impact on survival ⁷ and in a large analysis of 17,000 patients by Goto et al., a longer resuscitation time impaired survival ²⁸.

The optimal time to stop unsuccessful resuscitation is unclear. In a study of 64,000 patients who were resuscitated from in-hospital CA in 435 hospitals in the USA, the median resuscitation time was 12 min for those who achieved ROSC, whereas the median resuscitation time of those who did not achieve ROSC was 20 min ⁴². In those hospitals that continued resuscitation longer, compared to those with the shortest resuscitation attempts, the likelihood of survival to hospital discharge was higher and the neurological recovery among survivors was not statistically worse in those who had a longer time to ROSC. Less than 1% of the patients in a Japanese study had a good recovery when CPR lasted more than 35 min (for shockable rhythms and PEA) or 42 min (ASY) (28). A resuscitation time of 20 min or more indicates a higher probability of unfavourable outcome in several studies ^{31,40,43}.

A longer resuscitation time is strongly associated with unfavourable recovery, but some individuals can still achieve a meaningful functional recovery after a remarkably long resuscitation time. In Japan, EMS personnel are not allowed to terminate CPR, which is typically continued until the achievement of ROSC or until the decision of termination of CPR upon hospital arrival. In a nationwide observational study of OHCA patients in Japan, the number of patients with favourable outcome decreased with a longer CPR duration, especially when CPR lasted for longer than 20 minutes ³⁸. A small number of patients, after a prolonged resuscitation (over 30 min), can have favourable outcome; it is more likely in those with a shockable rhythm, a witnessed collapse, and a younger age ³⁸. The target of resuscitation is not only the achievement of ROSC but also a satisfactory neurological and functional recovery.

2.3 TREATMENT IN INTENSIVE CARE UNITS AFTER CARDIAC ARREST

2.3.1 General principles

The ERC–ESICM issued guidelines for post-resuscitation care in 2015⁴⁴, and the guidelines were updated in 2021⁶. After CA, several targets must be addressed in intensive care treatment to optimise the probability of survival. At the very beginning of care, it is important to prevent recurrent CA. Patients are typically unconscious, so they need to be intubated and mechanically ventilated to secure the airway and maintain sufficient oxygenation and normocapnia ⁶. After CA, many patients have low blood pressure that requires vasopressors (mainly noradrenaline) to maintain sufficient blood perfusion to the vital organs ⁶. The possible disease or condition related to CA should be treated, if possible. Overall, the most important aims in post-resuscitation care are: 1) ensuring sufficient oxygenation and circulation to provide oxygen to the vital organs; 2) definitive treatment of the underlying cause of CA (cardiac catheterisation in ST-elevation myocardial infarction as a top priority); and 3) multimodal neurological prognostication. Otherwise, the general principles for treating critically ill patients are to maintain homeostasis, preserve organ function, and prevent additional injuries. In CA patients, these practices include, for

example, maintaining normoglyceamia, normal gas exchange (normoxia and normocapnia), and normal blood pressure (mean arterial pressure >65 mmHg, systolic arterial pressure <140–180 mmHg); preventing fever; and treating electrolyte imbalances ⁶.

2.3.2 The role of temperature management

The first reports of hypothermia as a preventive treatment of brain damage after CA were published in 1950–60 ⁴⁵. The theory was that hypothermia could protect the brain from secondary damage in multiple ways, such as reducing brain metabolism and enabling neuronal recovery ⁴⁶. Later, hypothermia-based treatment (defined as 30–33°C) developed into mild therapeutic hypothermia, which seemed to increase the proportion of patients with favourable neurological outcome after CA ^{47,48}. Mild therapeutic hypothermia (32-36°C) held a firm place in postresuscitation care for years ^{44,49}. However, two targeted temperature management (TTM) studies ^{50,51} demonstrated that hypothermic treatment does not improve neurological recovery compared to normothermia (defined as ≤37.8°C). The ERC-ESICM guidelines were modified accordingly, now recommending to avoid fever (>37.7°C) during the first 72 h after CA ⁵².

2.3.3 The roles of carbon dioxide, oxygen, and blood pressure

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) has a substantial effect on the regulation of cerebral blood flow: low CO₂ tension in arterial blood (hypocapnia) causes vasoconstriction that decreases blood flow, and high tension (hypercapnia) causes vasodilation that increases blood flow ⁵³. In a study by Eastwood et al., the effect of mild hypercapnia (6.7-7.3 kPa) among resuscitated patients showed the attenuation of NSE release to be a possible indirect sign of milder hypoxic brain injury in those patients, compared to those with normocapnia ⁵⁴. Regarding oxygen, severe hyperoxia (defined as \geq 40 kPa) was associated to increased in-hospital mortality compared to hypoxia (<8 kPa) and normoxia (8.1-39.9 kPa) after CA in a large database analysis ⁵⁵. Low blood pressure is associated with unfavourable outcome after CA ⁵⁶, and elevated blood pressure was more common among survivors than non-survivors in a one observational study ³¹. The effect of higher blood pressure should be considered with caution, as most of the studies are observational, and the definitions of blood pressure vary between studies ⁵⁶. Two prospective studies of Ameloot et al. and Kjaergaard et al. have assessed the impact of different blood pressure targets to outcomes after CA, however they found no differences in outcomes⁵⁷.

To measure the effectiveness of the aforementioned factors, Jakkula et al. conducted a randomised, controlled Carbon dioxide, Oxygen, and Mean arterial pressure After Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation (COMACARE) pilot trial. It utilised a 2³ factorial design to assess the effectiveness of two different CO₂ and oxygen (O₂) tension targets in arterial blood and two different mean arterial blood pressure targets on outcome in 120 OHCA patients ^{58,59}. For CO₂, the groups were low-normal (PaCO₂ 4.5–4.7 kPa) and high-normal (PaCO₂ 5.8–6.0 kPa), and there were no differences in primary or secondary outcomes between the groups. Mild hyperoxia (arterial oxygen tension [PaO₂] 20–25 kPa), as compared to normoxia (PaO₂ 10–15 kPa), did not affect NSE concentrations or neurological outcome. Neither low-normal mean arterial pressure (65–75 mmHg) nor high-normal (80–100 mmHg) demonstrated any difference in outcome.

2.4 REASONS FOR UNFAVOURABLE OUTCOME AFTER CARDIAC ARREST

2.4.1 Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury (HIBI)

The human brain weighs only 2% of total body weight but has high oxygen and energy demands; at rest, it consumes 20% of all oxygen and glucose delivery ^{60,61}. High oxygen and energy demand make the brain vulnerable, and collapse of blood pressure and cardiac output during CA causes HIBI. HIBI causes most deaths in OHCA patients, showing its importance in postresuscitation care ^{5,62}.

Brain injury caused by CA can be described by a two-hit model that includes primary and secondary injuries ^{4,63}. The primary injury occurs

during CA because oxygen and energy delivery to the brain are interrupted simultaneously with the cessation of cerebral blood flow (CBF), leading to neuronal ischemia in minutes ⁴. The immediate initiation of CPR can restore some oxygen delivery to the brain ⁶⁴, partly attenuating the developing primary brain injury. Yet, CPR can sustain only half the minimal (approximately 40–50% of normal) CBF that is required to avoid ischemic injury ⁶⁵. Neurons in the brain have an inherent lack of energy stores, and they are not capable of withstanding a stoppage of energy delivery ⁶⁶. The result is the cessation of aerobic metabolism: adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production runs out and halts ion channel function ⁶⁷. Hence, huge amounts of Na⁺ ions shift into brain cells along with water, causing cytotoxic intracellular oedema ^{4,63}. The cell membranes shortly depolarise, causing an influx of Ca⁺⁺ ions that activates enzymatic lysis ⁶⁸, and finally, apoptosis begins with the activation of proteases and lipases ⁶⁹. The mechanism of HIBI is presented in Figure 1.



Abbreviations: ATP, adenosine triphosphate; ICP, intracranial pressure; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RNS, reactive nitrogen species. Reis C et al. Pathophysiology and the Monitoring Methods for Cardiac Arrest Associated Brain Figure 1. The cascade of effects after cardiac arrest that leads to hypoxic-ischaemic brain injury (HIBI). Injury. Int J Mol Sci. 2017 Jan 11;18(1):129. Adapted with the permission of MDPI.

The achievement of ROSC restores circulation and CBF, stopping the further generation of primary brain injury. However, the secondary reperfusion brain injury begins soon after ROSC ⁶³. In patients with HIBI, CBF becomes MAP-dependent because of impaired vascular autoregulation. Too low cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) can lead to ischaemia and too high CPP can lead to oedema ⁷⁰. The mechanisms that cause secondary injury after reperfusion are microvascular dysfunction, impaired vascular autoregulation, and cerebral oedema ^{4,63}. One possible mechanism beyond these is neuroinflammation, which is caused by cytokine release, the activation of neuroglia, and the migration of leucocytes to the neuronal tissue ^{4,71}. Endothelial dysfunction can also lead to the formation of microthrombi, disturbances in vascular autoregulation, and dysfunction of the blood-brain barrier (BBB)⁶³. Reperfusion causes free radical release and the accumulation of intracellular calcium ions ⁷², further activating proteases and phospholipases and causing mitochondrial dysfunction ⁴.

Cerebral oedema can be a consequence of cytotoxic and vasogenic mechanisms ⁴. Cytotoxic oedema occurs within hours, whereas vasogenic oedema appears in 1–2 days and is more uncommon. Cytotoxic oedema is a result of a metabolic crisis in neurons that is caused by a shortage of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and an influx of sodium and water. In vasogenic oedema, fluids shift from blood vessels into the interstitium. Aquaporin 4-protein has an important role in this phenomenon ⁷³. Leucocyte migration can cause endothelial disturbance, BBB breakdown, and further vasogenic oedema ⁷⁴.

Brain oedema as a part of HIBI after CA is not uncommon. When primary or secondary brain injury causes oedema, that can increase intracranial pressure (ICP), decrease CPP, and finally, cause brain death ⁷⁵. In a cohort of 1,340 resuscitated patients, the incidence of brain oedema on CT scans within 4 h after CA was 22% ³⁰. Massive oedema worsened survival significantly in that study; only 2% of those with massive oedema survived, whereas 36% of those without brain oedema survived. A nonshockable initial rhythm, a long low-flow time, a low sodium concentration, and a neurological cause of CA are associated with an increased number of brain deaths after CA ^{76,77}. Kang et al. found significantly higher ICP values in resuscitated patients with unfavourable outcome (16 mmHg) than in those with favourable outcome (11 mmHg) and found also more severe BBB disruption in those with unfavourable outcome ⁷⁸. In addition, cerebral autoregulation after CA is right-shifted (requiring a higher blood pressure to maintain CBF) or narrowed in approximately 30–50% of patients ^{79,80}.

HIBI can occur in many structures and cells in hypoxia-sensitive brain areas. The neurovascular unit contains neurons, axons, synapses, astrocytes, and glial cells that are surrounded by blood vessels, and the BBB is between neuronal and vascular structures ⁸¹. The neurovascular unit is presented in Figure 2, page 70.

HIBI causes widespread neuroglial injury in neurovascular unit structures that can be measured as the release of specific biomarkers after BBB damage; this was revealed in a small study by Hoiland et al. ⁸². Secondary brain injury was associated with inflammation in that study and was associated with permanently lower partial oxygen pressures of brain tissue (PbtO₂) ⁸². In another exploratory study that found low brain PbtO₂ caused by HIBI, the high oxygen gradient between brain tissue and venous blood (determined with a jugular bulb catheter) was a continuous phenomenon and not correlated with ICP, indicating a permanent oxygen diffusion deficit, and suggesting irreversible brain injury in those patients ⁸³.

In CA patients that remain unconscious after 7 days, the white matter (i.e., axon) lesions on MRI scans have demonstrated excellent discriminative ability, suggesting a crucial role of axonal injury in prognosis ⁸⁴. The same study also suggested that white matter injury may be involved in secondary HIBI. In an autopsy study of resuscitated individuals, axonal degeneration was the major underlying process in acute ischemic leucoencephalopathy ⁸⁵. That study also found microglial activation and astrocytosis in the deceased.

The brain structures related to secondary injury are the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, thalamus, corpus striatum, and cerebellar vermis—i.e., structures that are highly metabolically active ⁶³. The hippocampus is the

brain structure most sensitive to the damage caused by hypoxia ⁴¹. In autopsy studies of HIBI after CA, the hippocampus and cerebellum have been found to be the most vulnerable brain structures, followed by the cerebral cortex, whereas the brainstem is the structure most tolerant to ischemia ^{41,86}. After ischemia, injuries can occur in both grey and white brain matter. However, white matter is more resistant to irreversible injuries; this has been studied with positron emission tomography ⁸⁷.

The clinical manifestations of severe HIBI include coma, seizures, myoclonus, and—if massive oedema occurs—brain death ⁸⁸. In optimal circumstances, with effective CPR and a fast enough ROSC, HIBI will not occur. The severity of HIBI is a continuum rather than a dichotomous phenomenon, and less severe but still notable HIBI can result in problems with memory, executive function, and subtle motor function ⁸⁹.

2.4.2 Post-resuscitation syndrome

Post-resuscitation syndrome includes myocardial dysfunction and a global ischemia–reperfusion injury in addition to HIBI ⁸⁸. The causes of death can be divided into 1) post-CA brain injury and 2) post-CA injury to other parts of the body ⁵. The pathophysiology of post-resuscitation syndrome can be understood as a whole-body ischemia–reperfusion injury ⁸⁸, and in many individuals, pathologies in the brain and other organs happen simultaneously. Likewise, in secondary HIBI, the other organs can suffer additional ongoing injury after ROSC ⁹⁰. The timeline of possible ongoing extracerebral injuries starts immediately after ROSC. In the first two days, post-CA shock is the most prominent cause of death in resuscitated patients ⁵. HIBI, which is typically found in a prognostication process after 72 h, is the main cause of all deaths after CA ^{4,8}.

The most prominent clinical features of extracerebral post-resuscitation syndrome are haemodynamic instability, myocardial stunning, microvascular damage, and multiorgan failure ^{88,90,91}. Overlap with features of post-CA injury and underlying conditions related to CA, as well as baseline comorbidities, is common ⁸⁸. Persistent precipitating factors, such as acute myocardial infarction, pulmonary embolism, haemorrhage, sepsis,

and drug overdose confound the assessment of post-CA syndrome ⁸⁸ and can complicate its treatment. However, many of those conditions are treatable.

Cardiovascular instability ⁹² and low cardiac output are associated with multiorgan failure and are the most common causes of early death after CA ⁹¹. Among survivors, haemodynamic instability can be reversed and typically improves during the first 72 h after CA. The neurological outcome seems not to be affected by haemodynamic instability, possibly reflecting the different mechanisms of an ischemia–reperfusion injury in the brain as compared to other organs ⁹¹. Myocardial stunning is a typical finding and is different from irreversible lethal shock in that it appears as a reversible haemodynamic instability (low cardiac output) in ca. 7 h after CA and is typically attenuated within 24 h ⁹¹.

The ischemia–reperfusion injury mimics septic shock, comprising impaired vasoregulation ⁸⁸, activation of the inflammatory response ⁹³, and coagulopathy ⁹⁴. Higher concentrations of inflammatory markers are associated with increased mortality after CA, and inflammation is associated to shock, long CPR time and high lactate levels, reflecting more severe primary ischemic injury beyond severe post-CA inflammation ^{95,96}. Ischemia–reperfusion and post-CA shock can cause multiorgan failure just like sepsis, including ischemic hepatitis, acute kidney injury, and intestinal injury, which are associated with unfavourable outcome ^{97,98}.

2.4.3 Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies (WLST)

In countries where WLST decisions are less common (e.g., Japan and South Korea), survival with a poor neurological recovery is more common, and as many as one third of survivors are in a vegetative state ¹⁶, which is not a desirable result of resuscitation. Poor neurological recovery is also possible in countries where WLST decisions because of an unfavourable predicted outcome are made: in a Swedish register, 7.5% of OHCA survivors had poor neurological function ⁷. As expected, WLST increases mortality in those who are comatose, apnoeic, and dependent on ventilatory support. WLST due to an unfavourable expected neurological outcome is a common cause

of death after CA ^{4,5,9}. In a study on 16,875 OHCA patients, Elmer et al. found that early WLST (\leq 72 h after CA) occurred in one third of the patients who died in the hospital. Based on adjusted analyses, the authors estimated that 16% of these patients might have had a favourable neurological outcome if early WLST had not occurred ⁹. This estimated excess mortality can possibly be reduced by carrying out multimodal prognostication according to post-CA treatment guidelines.

In comatose OHCA individuals, making a correct prognosis of neurological recovery is challenging in the early phase, and recent guidelines instruct the implementation of prognostication no earlier than 72 h after CA ⁶. In a post-hoc analysis, 33% of the OHCA patients were comatose 72 h after CA and underwent multimodal prognostication; a WLST decision was made for 45% of them because of an unfavourable predicted prognosis ⁹⁹. A few patients who are comatose at 72 h after CA can still reach favourable neurological outcome ^{100–102}. However, when severe HIBI is defined according to guidelines, or the patient has a severe comorbidity or irreversible multiorgan failure, WLST can be justified.

To avoid futile care, reasonable arguments for early WLST include dementia, significant frailty, and severe comorbidity (e.g., terminal malignancy). In a study by Dumas et al., the proportion of patients who died after WLST was higher when comorbidity was more severe ⁴³. In a cohort including OHCA and IHCA individuals who died in hospital, WLST for presumed unfavourable neurological prognosis was more common among OHCA individuals (73% vs 27%), whereas WLST due to comorbidities was more common in the IHCA population (36% vs 4%) ¹⁰³. Mortality due to refractory haemodynamic shock and sudden cardiac death was also higher in IHCA patients than OHCA patients. This characterisation underlines the differences in the OHCA and IHCA populations, including shorter ROSC time in IHCA individuals, which is reflected as a lower percentage of neurological deaths. Parallel findings have been described earlier ¹⁰⁴.

In regions where WLST decisions are not typically used, the continuation of therapies when unfavourable outcome is likely can result in an increased number of neurological deficits in survivors. For example, in a Korean study, the percentage of brain deaths in resuscitated patients was 29% ¹⁰⁵. In case of brain death after CA, organ donation can be possible, and it is important to remember this possibility ⁶.

2.5 OUTCOME PREDICTION AFTER CARDIAC ARREST

2.5.1 Outcome definitions

The treatment target of patients resuscitated from CA, starting with CPR and ending with hospital discharge, is to maintain the functional ability that those individuals had before CA. Many patients have severe HIBI and/or post-CA syndrome that can cause death, obviously an unfavourable outcome. The opposite category of patients is those who survived without HIBI and can recover back to normal life. Between these two outcomes, there is a grey zone with varying levels of neurological deficits, weakness, memory loss, cognitive impairment, and need of assistance in daily living.

In resuscitated patients, several outcome definitions are used to define the neurological function. The Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) was published in 1975 to classify the neurological function of patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI), but the GOS has also been used to classify patients with other types of brain injuries ¹⁰⁶. The Pittsburgh Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) is the most used classification in resuscitated patients ¹⁰⁷. The Modified Glasgow Outcome Scale (MGOS) has been modified from the GOS to improve the classification of resuscitated patients ¹⁰⁸. The MGOS differs from other classifications by separately considering deaths that are caused by HIBI (MGOS 1) and deaths where brain status is unknown (MGOS 0). In the most recent guidelines, the modified Rankin Scale (mRS)¹⁰⁹ is recommended for use in classification after CA ¹¹⁰. The benefit of the mRS is that it includes three categories for good outcome, indicating at least independent living and only slight disability (mRS 0-2,). In other classifications, typically only two categories are offered for a favourable outcome definition—e.g., 1-2 in the CPC classification. However, there is variation between studies in the use of classifications and in the time of outcome assessments, making

comparisons somewhat difficult. Outcome definitions are compared in Table 1. according to original studies ¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁹.

Value	CPC	mRS	GOS	MGOS
0		No symptoms		Patient died with unknown cerebral status
~	Good cerebral performance. Conscious. Able to work and to live a normal life. May have minor neurological or psychological deficits	No significant disability, despite symptoms. Able to perform all usual duties and activities	Death	Patient died with documented hypoxic brain damage
7	Moderate cerebral disability. Conscious. Sufficient for part- time work in a sheltered environment or independent activity of daily life. May have hemiplegia, seizures, ataxia, dysartria, dysphasia of permanent memory or mental changes	Slight disability. Able to look after own affairs without assistance, but unable to perform all previous activities	Persistent vegetative state. Unable to interact with environment	Persistent vegetative state. Unable to interact with environment
m	Severe cerebral disability: conscious. Dependent for daily support on others because of impaired brain function. Has limited cognition	Moderate disability. Able to walk without assistance, but requires some help	Severe disability. Unable to live independently, but able to follow commands	Severe disability. Unable to live independently, but able to follow commands

Table 1. Outcome definitions according to original studies ¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁹.

4	Coma or vegetative state: unconscious. Unaware of surroundings, no cognition. No verbal or psychological interactions with environment	Moderately severe disability. Unable to walk without assistance and unable to attend to own bodily needs without assistance	Moderate disability. Able to live independently, but unable to return to work	Moderate disability. Able to live independently, but unable to return to work
ம	Brain death or death	Severe disability. Bedridden, incontinent, and requires constant nursing care and attention	Mild or no disability. Able to return to work	Mild or no disability. Able to return to work
9		Death		

Abbreviations: CPC, Cerebral Performance Category; mRS, modified Rankin Scale; GOS, the Glasgow Outcome Scale; MGOS, modified Glasgow Outcome Scale Neurological function can recover after hospital discharge in many patients, and it is reasonable to assess a long-term rather than a shortterm outcome ¹¹¹. On the other hand, a study by Taccone et al. showed that 4.2% of resuscitated individuals recovered consciousness but died thereafter for noncerebral reasons and were categorised into unfavourable outcome ¹¹². For patients who regain consciousness but die because of other reasons than HIBI, reporting the best cerebral status achieved in addition to the final long-term outcome is informative in studies focusing on neurological prognostication.

2.5.2 Accuracy of tests used in predicting unfavourable outcome

When predicting unfavourable outcome with prognostic tests, there is a risk of false positive results. The key point regarding diagnostic tests is to define their prognostic accuracy, typically done by calculating the areas under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUROC). For a given test, the ROC curve describes the sensitivities corresponding to different specificities. Generally, an AUROC value of 0.5 says that a test has no discriminative ability at all; for a 100% specific and sensitive test, the AUROC value is 1. No prognostic test can have a specificity of 100% in real life and still have a good sensitivity, but specificities of 100% can be assessed in clinical studies⁶.

When using a test to detect a likely unfavourable outcome in a resuscitated patient, a positive test result (i.e., an unfavourable predicted outcome) can lead to termination of life-sustaining care, and death will probably follow. Therefore, a prognostic test should have a high specificity. Specificity means the likelihood of a negative test result among those who are truly negative. In other words, specificity = (true negatives) / (true negatives + false positives)¹¹³. When a test has a specificity of 95%, the false positive rate (FPR) is 0.05, meaning that, on average, 5 of 100 individuals who do not have the tested condition will get a false positive test result. Many studies present different thresholds for continuous tests so that the most useful threshold for clinical decision-making can be chosen.

Demanding a very high specificity can result in low sensitivity when the discriminative ability of the test is not very good ¹¹⁴. Poor sensitivity means a lot of false negative results, and many individuals who truly have a poor prognosis are not identified ¹¹³. Tests that give a dichotomous answer (having or not having the condition) with a high specificity (for example, SSEP) typically have limited sensitivity ⁶². A continuous test or a test that can be divided into several categories offers more possibilities for optimal threshold selection. Moreover, such tests can offer the possibility of making a bidirectional prognostication, using higher cutoff levels for defining a negative test result.

A highly sensitive test can reliably find most individuals with the condition of interest, but there can be false positive test results if the specificity is low. Sensitivity means the likelihood of a positive test result among those who are truly positive. In other words, sensitivity = (true positives) / (true positives + false negatives) ¹¹³. If a test has a sensitivity of 100%, a negative result means that for the tested individual, the condition of interest has been ruled out with certainty. However, a very high sensitivity typically results in low specificity with a considerable number of false positive results ¹¹³. Prognostication strategies that utilise tests with high levels of sensitivity have still not been adopted into the post-resuscitation guidelines because so far few studies support this.

Many physicians think that a prognostic test used for resuscitated patients should have a very high specificity. According to a survey, the majority of respondents thought that when making decisions about WLST after CA, an acceptable FPR is $\leq 0.1\%$ ¹¹⁵. This would mean a specificity exceeding 99.9%, and these kinds of thresholds are not useful for single diagnostic tests, because the corresponding sensitivity would be so low that the test would be useless in clinical practice. High specificity is required for predicting unfavourable outcome, but finding tests with high discriminative ability is more important than only finding thresholds that give 100% specificity. This is because threshold values can be adjusted to achieve suitably high levels of both specificity and sensitivity.

Additionally, the prior probability (pre-test probability) of an outcome of interest has a key role in the use of diagnostic tests. When the pre-test probability of a condition is high, a positive result of a highly specific test reasonably indicates the outcome of interest. However, pre-test probabilities vary widely according to different resuscitation features⁷, and according to current guidelines prognostication tests are conducted without utilising pre-test probability.

2.5.3 Predicting favourable outcome

Almost all studies of prognostication methods after CA focus on finding HIBI and assessing unfavourable outcome, which is necessary to avoid futile care among those with severe HIBI and no reasonable chance of sufficient recovery ⁶. However, multimodal prognostication gives an indeterminate outcome prediction for many comatose individuals, and there is also a risk of false positive results ¹⁰. When predictive methods that are highly sensitive for finding HIBI are used, a negative test result with a high negative predictive value (NPV) can exclude severe brain injury, meaning that favourable outcome is probable. That would likely prevent an incorrect WLST in patients who remain comatose for a long time, among whom there may be individuals capable of reaching sufficient neurological function ^{102,116,117}.

Moseby-Knappe et al. studied the utility of biomarkers in the prognostication of unfavourable outcome according to ERC-ESICM guidelines, resulting in over 50% of patients with indeterminate outcome (e.g., patients who were comatose at day three and did not fulfil the criteria of unfavourable outcome) ¹⁵. Normal biomarker concentrations, especially for GFAP, Tau, and NfL, demonstrated very high sensitivities and NPVs with low levels of false negatives for all patients and for those with an indeterminate prognosis. When the upper limits of normal concentrations were used as cutoff levels, the sensitivities were 96–97%, with the highest specificities for NfL (39%) and GFAP (26%). The study demonstrates that favourable outcome can be reliably predicted with low/normal concentrations of sensitive neurobiomarkers, suggesting a wait-and-see

strategy instead of WLST if unfavourable outcome is not defined according to ERC-ESICM criteria.

Two different cutoff values for two-sided prognostication can be set for biomarkers because they are continuous variables. For clinical examination, electrophysiological studies, and imaging, this is not as straightforward because their cutoff settings are coarser. In a recent review focusing on the prognostication of favourable outcome after CA, Sandroni et al. assessed the abilities of various tests to predict favourable outcome ¹⁰. Continuous and normal voltage EEG can exclude severe HIBI, and in one study, the specificity for predicting favourable outcome was 91%¹¹⁸. In another recent EEG study, a modified classification of "benign EEG" characteristics resulted in high (97%) sensitivity in the prediction of unfavourable outcome ¹¹⁹. SSEP and other evoked potentials are not as sensitive as EEG in assessing probability to favourable outcome ¹⁰. Regarding imaging, in a study that used a semiguantitative assessment of ischemic areas in brain CTs, favourable outcome was predicted with 89% specificity and sufficient sensitivity ¹²⁰. In another study utilising diffusionweighted imaging (DWI) in MRI, the specificities for favourable outcome prediction were 92–95% for single or no lesions, with rather good sensitivities ¹²¹.

Although novel biomarkers, MRI, and EEG offer suitable accuracy for predicting favourable outcome, unfavourable outcome is still more likely in those patients who do not wake up during the first days, so prognostication and decision making in CA patients is challenging. In an observational study of 228 patients who woke up after CA, late awakening occurred in 34% of the patients, and the median time to awakening was 5 days after sedation withdrawal, ranging from 3–23 days ¹²². The delirium rate was nearly two-fold greater, and an unfavourable 3-month outcome was over two-fold greater when awakening was prolonged.

2.6 PROGNOSTICATION STRATEGY AND METHODS

2.6.1 Multimodal prognostication

Prognostication is an essential part in the recently published ERC-ESICM guidelines on post-resuscitation care, which contain the latest evidencebased knowledge ⁶. HIBI remains the most common cause of unfavourable outcome in OHCA patients. This is the rationale for prognostication that focuses on brain examinations to detect or rule out severe HIBI. Overall mortality after OHCA remains high, but pre-hospital factors (e.g., comorbidity, age) and features of CA are not yet able to give a sufficient estimation of outcome. Thus, there is a need for thorough prognostication algorithms. In the early phase of treatment, individuals are typically unconscious, and a lack of diagnostic evidence makes the situation uncertain for the treating physicians and the patient's family ⁸⁸. No currently used diagnostic test can give 100% specificity in real-life patient care. The rationale for using more than one prognostic test, even when the tests are robust, is that using several tests decreases the risk of an incorrect pessimistic prognosis.

The most significant changes from the 2015 guidelines ⁴⁴ to the 2021 prognostication guidelines are: 1) to use the motoric response to pain stimuli based on Glascow Coma Scale (GCS-M) \leq 3 (i.e., flexion, extension, or no response) to identify patients needing neurological prognostication, compared to the previous cutoff of GCS-M \leq 2 (extension or no response); 2) to interpret EEG waveforms according to the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society's (ACNS) guidelines ¹²³ and interpret suppression, burst suppression, and nonreactivity as malign signs; and 3) to use an NSE cutoff value of >60 µg/L at 48 and/or 72 h after CA as a sign of poor prognosis ⁶. Additional topics include paying attention to the follow-up time, being aware of the risk of a self-fulfilling prophecy, and remembering the possibility of organ donation in case brain death occurs.

The guidelines include five different tests and offer cutoffs for unfavourable outcome for continuous or nominal variables; they recommend using at least two examinations with high specificity to assess unfavourable outcome. Multimodal prognostication strategies have been demonstrated to predict unfavourable outcomes with 0% FPR, but in some studies, at least several individuals with unfavourable outcome went undetected because of limited sensitivity in the tests used ¹⁵.

Different prognostication methods are compared in Table 2.

	Advantages	Weaknesses	Specificity	Sensitivity
Motor response	Feasibility GCS-M≤3 ≥72 h after CA has high specificity	Residual sedation and relaxation confounds	62-96%	55-94%
Pupillary reflex	Feasibility High specificity ≥24 h after CA	Differences in examination standards Residual sedation confounds Limited sensitivity in several studies	90-100% (standard) 95-100 (automated)	17-63% (standard) 5-59% (automated)
Corneal reflex	Feasibility High specificity ≥24 h after CA Overall moderate sensitivity	Differences in examination standards Residual sedation can confound Limited sensitivity in several studies	89-100%	23-67%
Myoclonus	Very high specificity for status myoclonus (SM)	Difficulties in interpretation EEG needed to avoid falsely pessimistic prognosis	99-100% (SM) 78-100% (myoclonus)	6-49% (SM) 18-44 (myoclonus)
MRI	Good discriminative ability. Informative in mid-brain and brain stem pathologies. Promising accuracy in assessing white matter injury regarding HIBI	Variations in measurement techniques Not feasible in the early phase	66-100%	13-90%
CJ	Informative on underlying conditions Can assess cerebral oedema Fast, feasible	Limited sensitivity Variations in measurement techniques	85-100%	3-83%

Table 2. Prognostication methods.

EEG	Good discriminative ability at 12-24 h Extensively studied method Useful in assessment of probability to favourable outcome, assessment of myoclonies	Differences in interpretation Sedation confounds	98-100% (BS) 62-100% (Discont) 91-100% (Highly malignant) 83-100% (SE)	14-41 (BS) 4-33% (Discont) 9-97% (Highly malignant) 2-36% (SE)
N20 SSEP	Very high specificity in most studies	Electronical devices can confound. Limited sensitivity	50-100%	18-69%
NSE	Feasibility, inexpensive. High specificity for cut-off >60 µg/L Sedation and muscle relaxants have no effect	Extracerebral sources can confound Variations between laboratory methods Haemolysis affects results	88-95% (>33 µg/L) 95-96% (>40-50 µg/L) 100% (>50-120 µg/L)	30-69% (>33 µg/L) 60-74% (>40-50 µg/L) 27-52% (>50-120 µg/L)

sometosensory evoked potential; NSE, neuron-specific enolase; GCS-M, motoric Glasgow coma score; CA, cardiac arrest; SM, Abbreviations: MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; CT, computed tomography; EEG, electroencephalography; N20 SSEP, N20 status myoclonus; BS, burst suppression; Discont, discontinuous EEG, SE, status epilepti

2.6.2 Clinical examination

Evaluating the prognosis of a resuscitated patient always starts with clinical examination. It includes the motor response for pain stimulus, brainstem reflexes (pupillary light reaction and corneal reflex), and the evaluation of possible myoclonus ⁶. When a meaningful motor response is detected or the patient wakes up, HIBI is unlikely, and a prognostication of unfavourable neurological outcome is not necessary.

In the very early phase of treatment, resuscitated patients are typically unconscious and under sedation ³. Therefore, a clinical examination, especially for poor motor response, cannot be used in the early assessment of HIBI. Rather high FPR for early clinical examination to predict unfavourable outcome has been found: 38% for GCS-M \leq 2 and 32% for the absence of bilateral corneal reflexes at one day after CA ¹²⁴. This suggests against using early clinical examination in prognostication.

Sedative medications are often necessary to maintain ventilatory support and to enable and facilitate a patient's treatment in the ICU. The use of sedation confounds the prognostic ability of clinical examination, and patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia are more likely to receive sedatives ¹²⁵. Currently, the use of therapeutic hypothermia is not recommended ⁵², so the use of sedative medication has decreased but not stopped. Benzodiazepines can accumulate in the body and can prolong the time to awakening. Overall, the median awakening time after CA in patients with favourable outcome is 2–4 days ^{126,127}. In a study by Levito et al., the median awakening time was longer, 5 days, for patients who received high-dose benzodiazepines, compared to 3 days for those who did not ¹²⁶.

Muscle relaxants impair the function of skeletal muscles, and residual relaxation must be excluded before a correct response to pain stimulus can be assumed. In addition, severe liver failure or renal failure, either as underlying diseases or due to an ischemia–reperfusion injury, can confound the clinical examination, as hepatic encephalopathy and uraemia alter brain function ¹²⁸. Severe metabolic disorders should be treated before accurate clinical examination results can be obtained. Also,

definitions of "awakening" vary, confounding comparisons among studies ¹²⁷.

The earliest study of clinical examination after CA was conducted in 1985 by Levy et al.; it found the absence of pupillary light reflexes and a motor response of GCS-M \leq 3 after CA in almost all patients with unfavourable outcome ¹²⁹. Some individuals with GCS-M \leq 3 and \leq 2 at 72 h can still reach favourable outcome ¹³⁰. In a post-hoc analysis of a TTM population, GCS-M \leq 3 at \geq 72 h after CA demonstrated 93% specificity, but a Norwegian study focusing on WLST and outcome showed a high FPR of 27% ^{102,131}.

The absence of pupillary or corneal reflexes in the very early phase do not predict unfavourable outcome with reasonable specificity, probably because they are confounded by deeper sedation, sympathomimetic drugs, and TTM during this period ⁶². In the current guidelines, a brainstem examination should be performed \geq 72 h after CA ⁶. At 48–72 h after CA, absent pupillary or corneal reflexes can indicate HIBI with a low FPR ^{132,133}. In a TTM substudy, the bilateral absence of pupillary reflexes resulted in 97% specificity but poor sensitivity (24%), leading to a high number of false negative results ¹³⁴. Automatic pupillometry has been shown to be accurate in prognostication after CA ¹³⁵. Sedative medications, especially opioids, weaken pupil reactivity, and clinical interpretation of this reflex can be difficult.

In terms of testing the corneal reflex, techniques vary greatly, and suboptimal stimulation to activate the reflex has been noted, weakening its diagnostic credibility ¹³⁶. Overall, the accuracy of the corneal reflex seems comparable to that of the pupillary reflex ⁶². There are few studies on the prognostic value of absence of other brainstem reflexes ⁶². Admiraal et al. found a 0% FPR with 27% sensitivity for absent bilateral corneal and pupillary reflexes ¹³². In two small studies, absent oculocephalic or gag/cough reflexes showed 100% specificity and comparable sensitivity compared to pupillary and corneal reflexes ^{133,137}. As the brainstem can better resist ischemia than other brain structures ⁸⁶, it is likely that very severe HIBI occurs when the brainstem is injured as well. Thus, it is

reasonable that tests showing the absence of brainstem function would show high specificity.

Myoclonus is visible as sudden, short jerks and muscle contractions and thus is usually included in clinical examinations. Myoclonus can be focal, multifocal, or generalised, and the generalised form is mostly associated with unfavourable outcome ¹³⁸. Overall, myoclonus is strongly associated with unfavourable outcome ^{139,140}. However, false positives are detected in 4–22% of resuscitated patients with myoclonus ^{133,137,141}. Status myoclonus (SM) is the most severe form. Though there is no real consensus on the definition of SM, it can be defined as myoclonia that lasts more than 30 min ¹⁴². SM is strongly associated with unfavourable outcome ^{138,141,143}.

In very rare cases, patients with SM can reach favourable outcome ¹⁴¹. A study by Sivaraju et al. found that unfavourable outcome occurred in 85% of resuscitated patients who had myoclonus, and all of those with unfavourable outcome showed burst suppression or low voltage on an EEG ¹³³. Some patients with myoclonus or SM can still have a favourable outcome when EEG is continuous or presents normal voltage or background ¹⁴⁴. Most of the studies that reported outcome according to detected myoclonus did not define myoclonus exactly ⁶². These findings underline the importance of a precise definition and assessment of myoclonus and SM and suggest the use of EEG when estimating the relevance of myoclonus to prognosis ⁸.

2.6.3 Imaging: MRI and CT

Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain are the only methods that can give information on different brain areas and structures among resuscitated patients in addition to predicting HIBI and outcome. In particular, MRI has good discriminative ability, and it can quite reliably assess pathologies of the whole brain, including the middle brain and brainstem ¹⁴⁵. Another advantage of imaging is that sedation and relaxation have no effect on its interpretation, and it can also offer information on possible underlying neurological pathologies (e.g., intracranial haemorrhages or strokes) ¹⁴⁶. CT is easier to perform, whereas

MRI requires more resources. Also, MRI is often unsuitable in the early phase because patients are often haemodynamically unstable, and MRI takes longer than CT.

CT is often performed upon hospital admission to find the possible intracranial cause of CA¹⁴⁷. Possible intracranial pathologies that can cause CA include subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) and other types of intracranial bleeding and ischaemic stroke. Somewhat later, CT can reveal cerebral oedema. Cytotoxic oedema is rather rare, but the most relevant finding related to severe HIBI in CT imaging ¹⁴⁸. Vasogenic oedema is even rarer ¹⁴⁸. Cytotoxic oedema occurs within highly metabolically active neurons of grey matter (GM) within hours. Oedema can be seen in CT as a loss of density and blurring in the GM/white matter (WM) interface ¹⁴⁸. The GM/WM density ratio (GWR) can be assessed, and a lower GWR is associated with unfavourable outcome ¹⁴⁹. GM density can be assessed within the basal ganglia and cerebrum and WM density within the corpus callosum, capsula interna, centrum semiovale, and high convexity. Using the GWR, unfavourable outcome can be found with high specificity and moderate sensitivity ¹⁵⁰. However, in OHCA patients with a cardiac cause of CA, the prognostic ability is worse, probably because of the lower incidence of severe brain swelling ^{151,152}. The GWR threshold that can predict unfavourable outcome with a 0% FPR differs among studies, affecting its sensitivity ⁶².

In a TTM substudy, generalised brain oedema was found in 10% of patients who underwent CT within the first 24 h, and in 46% when imaging was performed between 1–7 days ¹⁴⁶. Generalised oedema predicted unfavourable outcome overall with 98% specificity and 34% sensitivity, with increasing prognostic ability when performed after 24 h ¹⁴⁶. Abnormalities found in early brain CT can result in early WLST, and therefore, may predispose self-fulfilling prophecies ¹⁵³. Early brain CT can still predict unfavourable outcome with a low FPR, and when HIBI occurs within the first two hours, the brain injury is more severe. Brain death was detected in one third of those individuals ¹⁵².

The baseline MRI technique for detecting ischemic brain injury is diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI), which investigates changes in diffusion

of water in the brain. The diffusion of water is reduced in cells compared to the extracellular space. In brain ischemia, diffusion in the ischemic area first decreases due to cytotoxic oedema, which causes the intracellular water volume to increase (158). After that, starting at 2–3 days after reperfusion and lasting for few days, vasogenic oedema can occur and can cause a pseudonormalisation in diffusion ¹⁵⁴. Hypoxic-ischemic injuries can be seen as strong signal changes in DWI with good sensitivity, even 1–3 days after CA ¹⁴⁵. In a study by Ryoo et al., the most common brain areas with pathological DWI were the parietal (81%) and occipital (77%) cortex and the basal ganglia and thalamus area (47%), whereas DWI detected brainstem injury in only 3% of the patients ¹⁴⁵. When using one DWI high-signal area as a cutoff for unfavourable outcome, the sensitivity is excellent, but specificity decreases significantly ¹⁵⁵.

The weakness of using DWI is that its definition is somewhat subjective and can result in differences in prognostic ability across radiologists. The apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) is a more quantitative method calculated using DWI and provides information on the severity and extent of the injury ¹⁵⁶. Regarding HIBI, ADC values are different for cytotoxic and vasogenic oedemas that are potentially found in different time windows ¹⁵⁶. In two small studies, brain injury assessment with ADC demonstrated 20–90% sensitivity (depending on the definition method) with a threshold of a 0% FPR to predict unfavourable outcome ^{157,158}. Although there is variation in MRI timing and HIBI definition between studies, MRI using DWI in the assessment of HIBI at 3–7 days after CA has been found to be an accurate prognostic tool ^{62,159,160}.

The role of WM (i.e., axons) has not been so well studied in HIBI as the role of GM. Velly et al. studied whole-brain MRI with WM anisotropy in CA patients who were comatose after 7 days, and this method provided 90% sensitivity without false positives ⁸⁴. This finding suggests a remarkable role of WM injury in individuals who remain comatose after a long following period, possibly reflecting secondary HIBI in some individuals that had unfavourable outcome.

2.6.4 Electrophysiological studies: EEG and SSEP

Electroencephalography (EEG) can measure brain electrical activity and waveforms with electrodes placed on the scalp. It is especially useful in unconscious individuals ¹⁶¹. In addition to use in epileptic seizures, EEG is recommended for use in prognostication for comatose resuscitated patients ⁶. Currently, EEG findings are recommended to be interpreted according to ACNS terminology for critical care in order to standardise the findings ¹²³. Highly malignant EEG contains suppression, suppression with periodic discharges, and burst suppression ^{123,162} and is a robust predictor of unfavourable outcome after CA with a 0–3% FPR ¹⁶². Some individuals with EEG interpretation of burst suppression or low voltage during the first 12 h can still have a favourable outcome ¹³³. Regarding different interpretations of EEG findings, discontinuous EEG has a worse ability to predict unfavourable outcome with an FPR of 10–38% ^{163,164} whereas epileptiformic EEG is a reliable sign of unfavourable outcome ^{139,164}.

The absence of EEG reactivity can discriminate outcomes of OHCA patients with good accuracy. In a study by Admiraal et al., the sensitivity was 73% and the specificity 82% for a prediction of unfavourable outcome, leading to an opportunity for favourable outcome prediction using reactivity as a positive signal ¹³². Similar sensitivities for EEG reactivity in predicting unfavourable outcome have been found by others ^{133,165}. However, the specificity of absent EEG reactivity for ruling out false positive results is not high enough for decision making. In a large cohort of 850 OHCA patients, continuous EEG patterns during the first 12 h predicted favourable outcome with a specificity of 91% ¹⁶⁴. Overall, the predictive value of EEG is high at 12–24 h after CA ^{163–165}.

Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) can present information on the function of thalamocortical connections ¹⁶⁶. Thalamic relay neurons and their interactions in somatosensory tracks are vulnerable during global ischemia, which can lead to thalamocortical dissociation ¹⁶⁷. In a severe thalamocortical injury, consciousness may remain impaired. The shortterm latency N20 peak is the most studied method among evoked potentials ⁶². The N20 peak can be detected at the contralateral brain cortex with a scalp sensor 20 ms after the median nerve stimulus ¹⁶⁸.

If the thalamocortical track or brainstem is injured, or a large cortical injury exists, the N20 wave will not proceed to the sensor. An absent N20 SSEP after brainstem injury is strongly associated with severe injury ¹⁶⁹. The brainstem is the brain structure most resistant to hypoxic-ischemic injury, ⁴¹ and unfavourable outcome is very likely when a brainstem injury is caused by hypoxic-ischemic insult. As the absence of bilateral N20 SSEP indicates severe thalamocortical and/or brainstem injury, those patients are not likely to reach consciousness. Hence, it is reasonable that bilateral absent N20 SSEP is a robust predictor of unfavourable outcome after CA, as proven in studies with FPRs near 0% ^{135,163,164}. Only in one small study did N20 SSEP demonstrate a clearly worse predictive ability ¹⁷⁰.

As a confounder, electrical or technical artefacts may disturb the interpretation of SSEP and, in very rare cases, can give false positive results ¹⁷¹. N20 SSEP can still be normal in milder brain injuries that may lead to significant functional deficits, however, and this can be seen as a limitation of the sensitivity of SSEP. Other less-studied evoked potentials involved in unfavourable outcome after CA are pain-related middle-latency SSEP, brainstem auditory-evoked potential, and visual-evoked potential, and their prognostic ability is comparable to N20 SSEP ¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁴.

2.7 NEUROBIOMARKERS IN PROGNOSTICATION AFTER CARDIAC ARREST

Biomarkers are parts of structures (e.g., proteins) that can be measured in body fluids or secretions and can give information about the condition or disease being sought ¹⁷⁵. Neurobiomarkers are parts of the injured central nervous system that are released into the circulation, where their concentrations can be measured. In the earliest studies, biomarkers were measured from cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) ¹⁷⁶. Obtaining CSF is, however, a laborious and invasive procedure, and blood neurobiomarkers are currently being investigated and used in prognostication ^{6,62}. As HIBI remains the cause of most unfavourable outcomes after CA, neurobiomarkers that are potentially able to predict unfavourable outcome should be brain specific. The optimal biomarker can reliably distinguish individuals with severe HIBI from those without HIBI and have only minimal sources of error. Moreover, early biomarker release (within 1–3 days) into the blood as a mark of severe HIBI is beneficial for avoiding prolonged futile care. Depending on the biokinetics of each biomarker, elevated concentrations in patients with HIBI can be found in the blood even within the first hours after CA, whereas maximal concentrations are typically found 24–72 h after CA ¹⁷⁷, which is also time when other prognostic tests are mainly conducted ⁶.

As biomarker concentrations are continuous variables, the definition of cutoff levels with suitable false positive and false negative thresholds is very important in clinical decision making. Different discriminative abilities and cutoff concentrations of neurobiomarkers have been studied, and variation among studies is prominent. The differences can be caused by differences in laboratory methods, outcome definitions, WLST practices, and patient case mix ⁶². As the predicted event is severe HIBI that may lead to termination of life-sustaining therapies, it is necessary for the biomarkers used to have high specificity with a minimal number of false positive results ⁶². Cutoffs with a 100% specificity are mainly chosen, but slightly lower specificities of 95–99% are also suggested to improve the sensitivity using the selected cutoff concentration ¹¹⁴. High concentrations of neurobiomarkers that are not related to HIBI alter test specificity and result in false positives. Optimal cutoff values have been most widely studied for NSE because it is used in clinical prognostication across the world ⁶. Comparison between features of neurobiomarkers are presented in Table 3.

In addition to neurons (GM), the brain contains glial cells, including astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells, and axons, which make up the WM ¹⁷⁷. The area of the brain containing all the structures that have been found to be related to HIBI is called the neurovascular unit ¹⁷⁷. Hypoxic-ischemic injury and subsequent reperfusion injury can damage parts of neurovascular units, causing parts of neurons, axons, and glial

cells to be released. Because swelling and ischemia alter BBB function, the injured parts can leak into the circulation and can be measured in blood samples. The neurovascular unit and release of biomarkers after HIBI are presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. The Neurovascular Unit and Brain Injury Biomarker Release.
The neurovascular unit represents the principal anatomical and functional unit of the brain parenchyma where complex interplay occurs among neurons, the cerebral microvasculature, and surrounding glial cells to maintain homeostasis. The microvasculature is composed of the bloodbrain barrier, which is partially formed by adjoining projections from astrocytes. Surrounding neuron cell bodies give rise to myelinated axons, which conduct signal transduction and facilitate communication with distinct anatomical locations in the brain. Following return of spontaneous circulation, ischemia-reperfusion injury pathophysiology occurs, and widespread injury across the neurovascular unit is reflected in the release of brain injury biomarkers into the bloodstream, which is facilitated by blood-brain barrier breakdown. Biomarkers reflecting astrocyte injury include glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and serum 100 calcium-binding protein β (S100 β). Neuron cell body injury is reflected by release of neuronspecific enolase (NSE) and ubiquitin carboxyl hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1). In addition, axonal injury is reflected by release of neurofilament light (Nf-L) and tau. As such, the relative concentrations of the various biomarkers seen in the bloodstream can allude to signatures of damage to the neurovascular unit and its specific components.

Hoiland RL et al. Neurologic Prognostication After Cardiac Arrest Using Brain Biomarkers: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol. 2022 Apr 1;79(4):390-398. Adapted with the permission of American Medical Association (license 5640770957287) Thus far, the neuronal biomarker NSE has been used as a "standard" marker of HIBI. Recent studies suggest that injury to WM is also a significant factor in HIBI, making axonal/WM neurobiomarkers promising prognostic factors ^{82,178}.

The evaluation of ongoing secondary HIBI is a novel issue, whereas assessing the neurological prognosis by evaluating the severity of HIBI according to guidelines is a fundamental practice in the use of neurobiomarkers ¹⁰. Secondary HIBI is clinically important and may be an independent process that is not related to the severe primary brain injury ⁸², potentially offering opportunities to attenuate the developing injury and improve outcome. Thus far, specific therapies for this purpose have not been found. Neurobiomarkers may have potential in the assessment of secondary brain injury, but this area is still unclear.

	NSE	S100B	UCH-L1	GFAP	Tau	NfL
Origin	Grey matter: neurons	White and grey matter	Mostly grey matter:	White matter: astrocytes	White matter: microtubules in	White matter: myelinated neuronal
		Astrocytes, glial cells, choroid plexus	neurons		neuronal axons	axons and synapses
Half-life	24-72 h	0.5-24h	6-13 h	24-48 h	~10 h	Days-weeks
Molecular size	45-78 kDa	10-21 kDa	25-27 kDa	50 kDa	33-67 kDa	68-70 kDa
Prognostic	0.63-94	0.77-0.85	0.85-0.94	0.67-0.89	0.85-0.91	0.79-0.99
Time to best	48-72 h	(3-)24-48 h	24-72 h	48-72 h	72-96 h	24-72 h
predictive ability						
Sources of error Advantages	Haemolysis, small-cell lung carcinoma, neuroendocrine tumour, other brain injuries Extensively studied accuracy and cut-offs. Recommended in guidelines. Clinical experience in	Many extracerebral tissues, other brain injuries Fast release after CA. Short half-life may be beneficial in secondary HIBI assessment. Commercial laboratory method.	Neuroendocrine cells, pancreas, endothelial and smooth muscles, many tumors, lupus nephritis, other brain injuries. Promising prognostic accuracy at 24-72 h. Short half-life may be beneficial in secondary HIBI assessment.	Glioblastoma. Peripherally Schwann cells, chondrocytes, chordrocytes, osteocytes, Leydig cells (testis). Many acute brain injuries Very brain-specific. Good prognostic accuracy. Normal values can reliably exclude HIBI	Neurodegenerative diseases, peripheral axons. Many acute brain injuries High prognostic accuracy. Widely already used in diagnostics among neurodegenerative diseases.	Neurodegenerative diseases, peripheral axons. Aging and renal dyscunction increases. Many increases. Many increases. Many acute brain injuries Fast release after injury. Best prognostic accuracy (stabile over 1-3 days). Normal values can reliably exclude HIBI
	prognostication.					

Table 3. Features of different neurobiomarkers.

Mechanisms	Accuracy to	The role in astroglial	Prognostic	The role in astroglial	The role of axonal	Widely studied in
under	predict	activation,	accuracy after CA	activation,	biomarkers in	many neurological
investigation	favourable	neurionflammation	as neuronal	neurionflammation	prognostication after	disorders. Feasible
	outcome	and BBB injury	biomarker	and BBB injury.	CA.	cut-offs for
				Potential to exclude		prognostication.
				severe HIBI.		
hbrowintions.		andress 51000	nrotoin C100B-1		l osclosbyd Icaimae	וכוש מעשטיו

Abbreviations: NSE, neuron-specific enolase; S100B, protein S100B; UCH-L1, ubiquitin c-terminai nyaroiase L1; كו المرابع fibrillary acidic protein; NfL, neurofilament light; AUROC, the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; HIBI, hypoxic-ischemic brain injury; CA, cardiac arrest; BBB, blood-brain barrier Several neurobiomarkers have been studied in prognostication after CA. The most studied are NSE, calcium-binding protein S100B (S100B), ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1), neurofilament light (NfL), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and Tau ⁶². NSE and S100B are the older and most widely studied neurobiomarkers, and UCH-L1, GFAP, Tau, and NfL are more novel biomarkers. Of these, NSE and UCH-L1 are mostly located in neurons, and high concentrations of them after CA reflects mainly neuronal injury in GM ¹⁷⁷. S100B and GFAP can reflect injury of astrocytes and glial cells, and Tau and NfL are more likely to signify white matter injury as axonal biomarkers ¹⁷⁷.

Hoiland et al. studied neurobiomarkers in prognostication after CA in a recent meta-analysis including 10,567 individuals in 86 studies and created summaries of receiver operating characteristic curves to assess the prognostic values of neurobiomarkers ¹⁷⁷. The best prognostic abilities belonged to NfL, Tau, and UCH-L1, but the number of studies demonstrating the superiority of those novel biomarkers over NSE remains limited. Studies focusing on prognostication after CA using neurobiomarkers are presented in Table 4.

Table 4. Characteristics of studies focusing on neurobiomarkers inprognostication after cardiac arrest.

	Number of patients, location of CA	Assessment of unfavourable outcome	Cut-off (definition time). False positive rate, FPR (%)	Discriminativ e ability: AUROC	Main findings
NSE			Cut-off µg/L		
Tiainen 2003 (190)	70, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	25 (48 h), TH+ 9 (48 h), TH- FPR 0 for both	0.80-0.89 (48 h)	Decreasing NSE associated to favourable outcome in therapeutic hypothermia (TH) patients
Zandbergen 2006 (188)	231, OHCA and IHCA	Unconsciousnes s at 1 mth	33 (24–72 h) FPR 0	Not specified	NSE and SSEP were robust predictors of outcome
Oksanen 2009 (189)	90, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	33 (48 h) FPR 0	0.82 (48 h) 0.84 (48–24 h)	Increasing NSE >6 µg/L 24-48h predicted unfavourable outcome (100% spec)
Pfeifer 2014 (219)	201, OCHA and IHCA	1 mth CPC 4-5	40 (72 h) FPR 5	0.60 (24 h) 0.83 (48 h) 0.89 (3–5 days)	Best prognostic ability in 3-5 days. TH had no effect
Huntgeburth 2014 (173)	73, OHCA	2 mth CPC 4-5	112 (48 h) 65 (72 h) FPR 0 for both	0.63 (24 h) 0.87 (48 h) 0.94 (72 h)	Increasing NSE >4 µg/L 24-48h predicted unfavourable outcome (100% spec)
Stammet 2015 (179)	686, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	76 (48 h) 53 (72 h) FPR 0	0.75 (24 h) 0.85 (48 h) 0.86 (72 h)	High prognostic ability at 48-72 h, TH did not influence NSE
Streitberger 2017 (184)	1053, OHCA and IHCA	CPC 4-5 at ICU discharge	90 (72 h) FPR 0.5	0.85–0.9 (72 h, OHCA) 0.79 (72 h, IHCA)	High ability to predict outcome at ICU discharge, better for OHCA vs IHCA patients

Helwig 2017 (186)	100, OHCA	4-week MGOS 0- 3	34 (48 h) FPR 0	0.63 (48 h)	Moderate prognostic ability, better for TH
Nakstad 2020 (102)	259, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	80 (≥24 h) FPR 0	Not reported	Median awakening time 6 days in patients with favourable outcome, high NSE a strong predictor of unfavourable outcome
Lissner Östlund 2021 (185)	368, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	112 (48 h) 83 (72 h) FPR 0 for both	0.90	NSE cut-off 60 µg/L resulted in 4% of FPR
S100B			Cut-off µg/L		
Zandbergen 2006 (188)	231, OHCA and IHCA	Unconsciousnes s at 1 mth	0.7 (24 h) FPR 3 0.7 (48 h) FPR 2 0.7 (72 h) FPR 0	Not specified	S100B had inferior prognostic ability than NSE
Pfeifer 2014 (219)	201, OCHA and IHCA	1 mth CPC 4-5	1.03 (72 h) FPR 7	0.77 (24 h) 0.85 (48 h) 0.88 (72 h)	Best prognostic ability at 72 h, higher FPR vs NSE.
Stammet 2017 (114)	687, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	2.6 (24 h) FPR 0 3.7 (48 h) FPR 0 1.8 (72 h) FPR 0	0.80 (24 h) 0.79 (48 h) 0.77 (72 h)	Best prognostic ability at 24 h, ovarell worse vs NSE
Duez 2018 (218)	115, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	16.6 (0 h) FPR 0 1.1 (24 h) FPR 0 0.95 (48 h) FPR 0 0.7 (72 h) FPR 0	0.66 (0 h) 0.81 (24–48 h) 0.74 (72 h)	Prognostic ability worse vs NSE, prolonged TH had no effect
Deye 2020 (215)	330, OHCA	3 mth CPC 3-5	0.5 (3.5h) FPR 21 0.3 (24 h) FPR 36 0.1 (48 h) FPR 24	0.83 (0 h) 0.83 (24 h) 0.82 (48 h)	Best prognostic ability at admission, decreasing concentrations in all patients at 24-48 h
UCH-L1			Cut-off pg/mL		

Ahn 2020 (205)	38, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	40 (0 h) FPR 50 40 (24-48 h) FPR 9 50 (72 h) FPR 4	0.71 (0 h) 0.85 (24 h) 0.90 (48 h) 0.94 (72 h)	Excellent prognostic ability at 48-72 h, measurement in CSF had better ability
Ebner 2020 (206)	717, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	12175 (24 h) 7945 (48 h) 9170 (72 h) FPR 0 for all	0.85 (24 h) 0.87 (48 h) 0.86 (72 h)	Good prognostic ability 24-72 h, better vs NSE at 24-48 h but nor at 72 h
Huesgen 2021 (207)	22, OHCA	CPC 3-5 at hospital discharce	4670 (0 h) FPR 0 1031 (6 h) FPR 0 2488 (24 h) FPR 0 3214 (48 h) FPR 0 1228 (72 h) FPR 0	Not specified	Good sensitivities with FPR 0% starting at 12- 18 h
GFAP			Cut-off ng/mL		
Kaneko 2009 (231)	44, OHCA	6 mth GOS 1-3	0.1 (12–48 h) FPR 0	Not specified	Best predictive ability at 24-48 h
Larsson 2014 (232)	125, location of CA not identified	6 mth CPC 3-5	1.1 (24 h) FPR 0 0.3 (48 h) FPR 0 0.5 (72 h) FPR 0 0.04 (96 h) FPR0	0.59 (24 h) 0.63 (48 h) 0.67 (72 h) 0.65 (96 h)	Not sufficient prognostic ability, poor sensitivity
Helwig 2017 (186)	100, ОНСА	4 week MGOS 0- 3	0.08 (48 h) FPR 0	0.65 (48 h)	Moderate prognostic ability, comparable vs NSE
Ebner 2020 (206)	717, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	3.4 (24 h) FPR 0 3.0 (48 h) FPR 0 3.6 (72 h) FPR 0	0.88 (24–48 h) 0.89 (72 h)	Good prognostic ability 24-72 h, significantly better vs NSE
Humaloja 2022 (234)	112, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	3.3 (0h) FPR 1 8 (24h) FPR 1 6.3 (48h) FPR 1	0.65 (0 h) 0.87 (24 h) 0.91 (48–72 h)	Excellent prognostic accuracy at 48- 72 h

			4.2 (72 h) EPR 1		
Tau			Cut-off		
			pg/mL		
Randall 2013 (247)	25, location of CA not identified	6 mth CPC 3-5	500 (sum across all time points) FPR 0	0.67 (24 h) 0.86 (for sum across all time points)	FPR 0% and 90% of sensitivity for cut-off 500 mg/mL (sum of all)
Mattsson 2017 (237)	689, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	875 (24 h) FPR 0 149 (48 h) FPR 0 73 (72 h) FPR 0	0.81 (24 h) 0.90 (48 h) 0.91 (72 h)	Excellent prognostic ability at 48-72 h. Good sensitivity for FPR 1-2%
Hasslacher 2020 (248)	132, OHCA	CPC 3-5 at hospital discharge	1274 (0-24 h) 1102 (24- 48h) 1443 (48- 72h) 1218 (72- 96h) FPR 0 for all	0.65 (0–24 h) 0.78 (24–48 h) 0.78 (48–72 h) 0.85 (72–96 h)	Good prognostic ability at 72- 96h. Stabile cut-offs for FPR 0%
Huesgen 2021 (207)	22, OHCA	C 3–5 at hospital discharce	1479 (0h) FPR 0 32 (6h) FPR 0 148 (12h) FPR 0 34 (24h) FPR 0 88 (48h) FPR 0 399 (72 h) FPR 0	Not specified	Good sensitivity at 24-48 h. Small pilot study, not focused on prognostic ability.
Humaloja 2022 (234)	112, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	206 (0h) FPR 1 40 (24h) FPR 1 16 (48h) FPR 1 10 (72 h) FPR 1	0.58 (0 h) 0.82 (24 h) 0.93 (48 h) 0.95 (72 h)	Excellent prognostic ability at 48-72 h
NfL			Cut-off		
Rana 2014 (267)	85, OHCA	6 mth MGOS 1-2	323 (24 h) FPR 0 405 (48 h) 309 (72 h) 383 (5 d) 252 (7 d)	0.93 (24 h) 0.85 (48 h) 0.92 (72 h) 0.97 (5 d) 0.99 (7 d)	Excellent prognostic accuracy, best at 5-7 days. High 75-94 sensitivities

					(FPR 0%) at 3-7 days
Moseby- Knappe 2019 (134)	717, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5 mRS (secondary)	12317 (24h) 1539 (48h) 1756 (72h) FPR 0 for all	0.94 (24 ,48, 72 h)	Excellent prognostic ability at 24- 72h. 64-65% of sensitivity for FPR 0% at 48- 72h.
Hunziker 2021 (268)	164, ОНСА	CPC 3-5 at hospital discharge	75 (0–24 h) FPR 11	0.82 (0–24 h)	Single measurement within 24h, good prognostic ability
Wurm 2022 (269)	70, OHCA	6 mth CPC 3-5	Not specified	0.79 (48 h)	Single measurement at 48 h. Moderate prognostic ability, better for NfL vs NSE
Pouplet 2022 (270)	49, OHCA	90 d CPC 3-5	500 (48 h) FPR 0	0.87 (48 h)	Sensitivity of ERC-ESICM- guided prognosticatio n improved with NfL

Abbreviations: Spec, specificity; CA, cardiac arrest; OHCA, out-of-hospital cardiac arrest; IHCA, in-hospital cardiac arrest; AUROC, the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; TH, therapeutic hypothermia; TH+, therapeutic hypothermia treatmen was given; TH-, therapeutic hypothermia treatment was not given; FPR, false positive rate; CPC, cerebral performance category, GOS, the Glasgow Coma Scale, MGOS, modified Glasgow Coma Scale; mRS, modified Rankin Scale; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; NSE, neuron-specific enolase; S100B, protein S100B; UCH-L1, ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase L1, GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; NfL, neurofilament light; ERC, European Resuscitation Council, ESICM, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine.

2.8 NEURONAL BIOMARKERS: NSE AND UCH-L1

2.8.1 NSE

Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) is the most extensively studied neurobiomarker in prognostication after CA and also the biomarker included in current prognostication guidelines ^{6,177}. NSE is a glycolytic enzyme with a molecular weight of 78 kDa and is located mostly in GM (i.e., in neurons of the brain cortex); it is a biomarker of neuronal injury ¹⁷⁹. It can also be found in neuroendocrine cells, peripheral nerves, and smallcell lung carcinoma ^{12,180}. Red blood cells and thrombocytes contain NSE, and elevated serum concentrations can be found in cases of haemolysis ¹¹. Other conditions can misleadingly raise NSE serum concentrations and confound their interpretation. TBI, ischemic stroke, and other brain cerebrovascular diseases such as SAH, can increase blood NSE concentrations and confound the assessment of HIBI ^{13,14,181,182}. Moreover, NSE values can vary widely between different types of assays, and this has an impact on differences in cutoff values ¹⁸³. However, NSE is a stable enzyme when frozen, so freezing does not affect the reliability of post-hoc analyses ¹⁸³.

NSE is released into the circulation after CA within 24–48 h after neuronal injury, and overall, it can predict unfavourable outcome after CA at 48–72 h⁶². In two largest NSE studies of almost 2000 patients by Streitberger et al.¹⁸⁴ and Stammet et al., ¹⁷⁹ the prognostic abilities were good to excellent with AUROCs of 0.85-0.90. In contrast to other studies, the unfavourable outcome definition in the study by Streitberger et al. was CPC 4–5 at ICU discharge; it is more often defined as CPC 3–5 at 6 months ^{131,179}. Many other studies have presented comparable prognostic abilities ^{173,185}. A significantly worse discriminative ability of NSE was reported in one study, where the prognostic ability was remarkably higher in patients treated with TH than in those who were not, possibly reflecting some level of bias ¹⁸⁶. In a meta-analysis by Hoiland et al., when emphasising specificity (97%), the optimal cutoff for NSE was close to that recommended in the guidelines, and the AUROC was 0.84¹⁸⁷. The overall prognostic value of NSE is good, but its sensitivity in clinically relevant threshold values remains only moderate.

An NSE cutoff >33 μ g/L demonstrated 100% specificity for predicting unfavourable outcome after CA in studies conducted in 2006 and 2009 ^{188,189}. This cutoff has been widely used to predict unfavourable outcome thereafter. Increasing NSE concentrations have been found to predict unfavourable outcome; likewise, decreasing NSE levels have been found to predict favourable outcome ^{173,189,190}. In a later study, the use of NSE >33 µg/L to predict unfavourable outcome after OHCA in a post-hoc analysis clearly resulted in a worse specificity of 90% ¹³¹. The cutoff value has been updated in current ERC-ESICM guidelines to >60µg/L at 48–72 h ⁶. Favourable neurological outcome has also been detected in individuals who exceeded this cutoff ^{173,179,184,185}. In a validation of the latest ERC-ESICM guidelines, the cutoff of 60 µg/L demonstrated a 4% FPR, and to achieve a 2% FPR, the cutoff demand for NSE rose to 101 µg/L ¹⁸⁵.

In predicting favourable outcome (i.e., by excluding severe HIBI), Streitberger et al. found that only 14 patients with NSE < 17 μ g/L had unfavourable outcome, and that was mostly caused by extracerebral factors ¹⁸⁴. Moseby-Knappe et al. used the same cutoff for patients whose prognostication according to ERC-ESICM guidelines resulted in indeterminate outcome and found a sensitivity of 90% and an NPV of 79%, demonstrating that some individuals with normal NSE can still have unfavourable outcome ¹⁵.

2.8.2 UCH-L1

Ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) is a novel biomarker of neuronal injury. It is a small protein whose molecular weight is 27 kDa, and it is rather brain-specific, mostly located in the cytoplasm of neurons in the brain cortex ^{191,192}. Additionally, smaller amounts of UCH-L1 have been found in axons, neuroendocrine cells, and endothelial and smooth muscle cells ^{191,192}. UCH-L1 can also be found in the pancreas and in some kidney diseases, and it is involved in many cancers and neurodegenerative disorders ^{193–196}. UCH-L1 has been studied in TBI patients and can accurately discriminate patients according to severity of injury ^{197,198}. In one study comparing UCH-L1, S100B, and GFAP in TBI patients, UCH-L1 was the most robust marker in discriminating according to injury and reached the highest sensitivity ¹⁹⁹, and in a cohort of 2283 TBI patients, UCH-L1 demonstrated the best incremental prognostic value among all studied biomarkers, when added to the prediction model ²⁰⁰. Elevated UCH-L1

concentrations can also be found after SAH, intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH), and stroke ^{201,202}.

The half-life of UCH-L1 is 6–13 h, and in newborns with hypoxic brain injury, the highest concentrations were measured at 0–6 h after delivery ^{198,203}. There is only a small number of studies regarding UCH-L1 in prognostication after CA ¹⁸⁷. In a small 2016 study that included paediatric CA patients, UCH-L1 showed good accuracy in predicting unfavourable outcome ²⁰⁴. The first study in adults in 2020 included 38 OHCA patients; it found that serum UCH-L1 predicted unfavourable outcome with good-to-excellent accuracy (AUROCs of 0.85–0.94 at 24–72 h) ²⁰⁵.

In a study of 717 OHCA patients by Ebner et al., UCH-L1 predicted unfavourable outcome with good ability (AUROCs of 0.85–0.87) ²⁰⁶. The prognostic ability of UCH-L1 was superior to that of NSE at 24–48 h, but at 72 h, the prognostic abilities were not different. The sensitivities of UCH-L1 in using cutoff values for a 0% FPR were worse than those of other studied biomarkers (NSE and GFAP). However, sensitivities of all biomarkers were low, and for specificities of 95–99% at 24 h, UCH-L1 demonstrated better sensitivities than NSE. This is probably reflected by the poorer prognostic accuracy of NSE at the 24 h time point. In a small pilot study, UCH-L1 demonstrated good sensitivities at 12–18 h after CA and at 72 h, even with 100% of specificity ²⁰⁷. Overall, UCH-L1 has demonstrated sufficient prognostic accuracy at 24–72 h after CA, but the number of studies is very small.

2.9 GLIAL AND ASTROCYTE MARKERS: S100B AND GFAP

2.9.1 S100B

Calcium-binding protein S100B (S100B) is a traditional and widely studied neurobiomarker like NSE. It is a small (21 kDa) molecular weight calciumbinding protein involved in many functions, such as neuronal differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis ²⁰⁸. It can induce neuronal cell death through nitric oxide release from astrocytes ²⁰⁹. S100B is located mostly in neurons, astrocytes, and dendrites, but is also widely found in peripheral Schwann cells, other neural cells, and the choroid plexus ²¹⁰. Moreover, S100B can be found in neuroectodermal tumour cells, cardiomyocytes, adipocytes, muscle cells, and chondrocytes, thus confounding its interpretation regarding prognostication after CA ²¹¹. High blood concentrations of S100B can be also found after TBI and ICH ^{212,213}.

Stammet et al., in the largest study of S100B in prognostication after CA, examined 687 patients; the best ability to predict unfavourable outcome was noted at 24 h with an AUROC of 0.80 ¹¹⁴. The prognostic ability of S100B was better than that of NSE at 24 h, but NSE overcame S100B at later time points. In one study, S100B at 24 h predicted unfavourable outcome after CA with an excellent AUROC of 0.92 ²¹⁴.

S100B has a very short half-life of <2 h, which could explain its rapidly falling concentration, but which also offers the opportunity for use in very early predictions after CA. In a study by Deye et al., S100B that was obtained at a median time of 3.5 h after CA in 330 patients showed a good ability to predict unfavourable outcome, with an AUROC of 0.83—clearly better than NSE ²¹⁵. At later time points, the prognostic ability slightly decreased, and the concentrations of S100B decrease greatly. The fast release of S100B is hypothesised to reflect glial activation and injury to the BBB rather than the brain itself, and in TBI patients, S100B is associated with disruption of the BBB and increased vascular permeability ^{216,217}.

Regarding ultra-early sampling time, in another study, S100B had a clearly inferior prognostic ability at ICU admission compared to later time points ²¹⁸. That study, together with other studies, demonstrated that concentrations of S100B are high in the early phase of treatment in all resuscitated patients but decrease over 24 h. Contrary to the findings of Stammet et al. and Deye et al., Pfeifer et al. found that the prognostic ability of S100B was better at 48–72 h than at 24 h, perhaps confounded by different definitions of unfavourable outcome ²¹⁹. Overall, high S100B concentrations in the early phase (24 h) offer sufficient but not excellent prognostic value, being somewhat comparable to NSE ¹⁸⁷.

2.9.2 GFAP

Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a 50 kDa cytoskeletal protein of astrocytes and is highly brain-specific ²²⁰. GFAP is involved in the normal structure of GM and WM as part of astrocytes and neuroglia ²²¹. Unlike another glial protein, S100B, it is more astrocyte-specific ²¹⁰. It has a half-life of 24–48 h. Elevated GFAP serum concentrations are found in the brain cancer glioblastoma multiforme but not in other brain tumours ²²². Peripherally, GFAP is expressed in Schwann cells, chondrocytes, osteocytes, and Leydig cells of the testes ²²⁰. Astrocytes execute many important functions in the brain, including ionic homeostasis and the prevention of excitotoxicity, and they interact with microglia and endothelial cells. In multiple sclerosis (MS) patients, higher serum GFAP concentrations are associated with a loss of GM volume, but this association has not been found in WM, suggesting that GFAP is more involved in GM inflammation and injury ²²³.

GFAP is a robust predictor of outcome after TBI ^{224,225}. Elevated concentrations can be also found after ICH, SAH, and ischemic stroke ²²⁶⁻²²⁸. The reactivity of astrocytes increases together with BBB breakdown after TBI ²²⁹, and it is likely that GFAP as an astrocyte-specific structure is involved in BBB disturbances. In addition, GFAP is upregulated in astrocytes after ischemia, suggesting a remarkable role in the reactivity of astrocytes, and probably in oedema due to BBB breakdown when secondary HIBI occurs ²³⁰. One study suggests that higher GFAP concentrations reflect disruption of the BBB ²³¹.

The predictive ability of GFAP in CA patients is not unequivocal, however. In one small study, GFAP had a poor predictive ability after CA, and in another study of 125 CA patients, its sensitivity and overall prognostic ability was inferior to that of NSE and S100B ^{232,233}. Only moderate prognostic accuracy (AUROC 0.65 at 48 h) was found in another study, though that study also found a moderate prognostic ability of NSE ¹⁸⁶. In a meta-analysis by Hoiland et al. summarising prognostic abilities of neurobiomarkers, the AUROC was also moderate 0.77 ¹⁸⁷. However, in the largest study of GFAP in prognostication after CA, Ebner et al. found good prognostic accuracy ²⁰⁶. The AUROCs were 0.88-0.89, significantly better than those of NSE. In contrast to other studies, Ebner et al. utilised a commercial laboratory method in GFAP assessment, which may explain the remarkable prognostic differences when compared to previous studies. In a post-hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial, GFAP predicted unfavourable outcome at 48–72 h with AUROCs of 0.91; however, the ability of GFAP was not significantly better than that of NSE ²³⁴.

GFAP has also been studied in a CA population with secondary HIBI, and significant ongoing GFAP release (defined by the concentration gradient across arterial and jugular vein blood) was found, suggesting ongoing astroglial injury ⁸². Astroglial injury has been hypothesised to be a mechanism of GFAP release after CA, as is true for another neuroglial marker, S100B ²¹⁶.

2.10 AXONAL MARKERS: TAU AND NFL

2.10.1 Tau

Tau is a structural protein of 33–67 kDa molecular weight that stabilises microtubules in axons of the CNS ²³⁵. It can be found in unmyelinated axons and astrocytes and is mostly located in WM ²³⁶. Tau is also expressed in the muscles, kidneys, liver, testes, and peripheral nerves. Haemolysis does not increase its blood levels ²³⁷. Tau is involved in many brain diseases and has been extensively studied in the past. Tauopathies are a result of abnormal Tau phosphorylation or levels, or gene mutations ²³⁵. Hyperphosphorylation and accumulation of Tau can disturb axonal functions and can cause neurodegeneration ²³⁸. Higher concentrations of Tau measured in cerebrospinal fluid are associated with neurodegenerative disorders (e.g., cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease) ^{239–241}. Elevated plasma Tau concentrations can be found in Alzheimer's disease, which is the most studied tauopathy, and can be used to discriminate ill from healthy individuals ^{239,242}.

Tau can cross the normal BBB, so it is reasonable that elevated blood concentrations can be measured in brain injuries ²⁴³. Blood concentrations

of Tau increase rapidly after ischemic stroke and TBI ^{244,245}. After CA, Tau fragments are associated with inflammatory markers, suggesting that axonal inflammation is one mechanism in secondary HIBI ²⁴⁶. Overall, Tau has not been studied as extensively in acute brain injuries as other neuronal biomarkers.

There have not been many studies of Tau in prognostication after CA, either. Randall et al. conducted a pilot study in 2013 of 25 CA patients and found significantly higher Tau concentrations in patients with unfavourable outcome ²⁴⁷. In a TTM substudy of 689 patients, Tau predicted unfavourable outcome with AUROCs of 0.90-0.91 at 48-72 h, demonstrating excellent prognostic ability, better than that of NSE ²³⁷. That study also demonstrated good sensitivity (66%) achieving a low FPR of 2%. Tau concentrations also demonstrated such linear association with outcome scales (CPC and mRS), indicating that Tau could predict the grade of HIBI in addition to discriminating according to a dichotomic outcome. In another TTM substudy based on the same population, but focusing on NfL, another axonal marker, Tau presented the second-best prognostic ability ¹³⁴. In another study, Tau measured at 72–96 h had a slightly worse but still good prognostic accuracy (AUROC 0.85)²⁴⁸. In a post-hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial, the prognostic ability of Tau was excellent at 48–72 h with AUROCs of 0.93-0.95²³⁴.

The studies focusing on Tau after CA indicate a later timeline (\geq 72 h) for the best prognostication ²⁴⁸. Randall et al. found a delayed peak of Tau to be a strong predictor of unfavourable outcome, and as Tau has a short biological half-life of <10 h, a new or continuing rise of blood Tau levels may be a signal of ongoing secondary HIBI ^{234,247}.

2.10.2 NfL

Neurofilament light (NfL) is one subunit of three intermediate filaments containing light, medium, and heavy chains of neurofilaments ²⁴⁹. It is a cytoskeletal protein of neurons that is abundant in myelinated axons and is mainly white matter-specific. NfL has a molecular weight of 70 kDa, like albumin ²⁵⁰. The function of NfL is to be a structural support for axons and

maintain their size and shape ²⁵¹. In addition to the CNS, NfL is also expressed in peripheral nerves ²⁵². Renal dysfunction and ageing increase NfL blood concentration and can confound its interpretation ²⁵³. NfL is a marker of axonal injury, and elevated concentrations can be found in CSF and serum in patients with demyelinating MS ^{251,254}.

NfL concentrations that can be measured in plasma are very low, defined as picograms/mL, so a highly sensitive and stable assay is needed. Novel single molecular array (SIMOA) offers the possibility of a highly sensitive analysis of NfL in plasma ²⁵⁵. Elevated plasma NfL concentrations can be found in many neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, all cortical dementias, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and Down's syndrome; however, the concentrations are not remarkably higher than in healthy individuals ^{256–258}. NfL concentrations also rise after spinal cord injury and in CNS injury caused by HIV ^{259,260}.

As NfL is mostly expressed in myelinated axons, it is a marker of WM injury. In a recent study of MS patients, increasing NfL was associated with a loss of WM volume on MRI, but NfL did not reflect GM loss ²²³. In addition to neurodegenerative diseases, NfL has been increasingly studied in many acute brain diseases. After acute ischemic stroke, ICH, and SAH, NfL concentrations rise significantly and can predict long-term outcome ²⁶¹. In a study of TBI patients, NfL concentrations measured in plasma and in damaged WM tissue using microdialysis correlated significantly, and NfL concentrations also correlated with WM injury on MRI scans ²⁶². The study also found that plasma NfL concentrations predicted long-term outcome and WM degeneration, and interestingly, elevated NfL concentrations were measured in a majority of TBI patients after a 6–12 month follow-up. In another study of TBI patients, elevated NfL concentrations at 8 months after trauma were associated with a loss of WM during a 5-year follow-up, suggesting that ongoing axonal damage was causing NfL release ²⁶³. The biological half-life of NfL is unknown, but it seems to be the longest among neurobiomarkers, and half-lives of several days or weeks have been suggested ^{264,265}.

The first study of NfL in prognostication after CA was conducted by Rosén et al. in 2004; it assessed NfL concentrations in CSF at 12 days after CA and found NfL to be a significant predictor of unfavourable outcome with high specificity and sensitivity ²⁶⁶. The first study of plasma NfL after CA was conducted in 2014 by Rana et al. ²⁶⁷. The predictive ability was excellent: AUROCs were 0.93 at 24 h and 0.92–0.99 at 3–7 days after CA. The laboratory method in this study was enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)-based. A comparable prognostic ability was found in a TTM substudy by Moseby-Knappe et al. It measured the NfL concentrations of 717 OHCA patients using the novel ultrasensitive SIMOA platform ¹³⁴. The concentration differences between patients with unfavourable and favourable outcome were greater than in the earlier study, and the AUROCs were 0.94-0.95. NfL demonstrated the best predictive accuracy among all the neurobiomarkers and had 29-49% better sensitivities (with similar specificities) than EEG, SSEP, CT, and pupillary and corneal reflexes ¹³⁴. Importantly, NfL levels were not affected by haemolysis. Overall, the study suggests that NfL is the best prognostic test among biomarkers, imaging, and neurophysiological studies.

In two other studies on OHCA patients, the prognostic ability of NfL was lower (AUROCs of 0.82 and 0.79), but still clearly better than that of NSE ^{268,269}. Those studies included only single NfL measurements, and in one of those studies, the outcome was defined at hospital discharge. In a third study, NfL had good prognostic accuracy, and after adding NfL to the prognostication model that was made according to ERC-ESICM guidelines, the sensitivity of the model improved significantly without false positives ²⁷⁰. Even though those three studies presented good but not excellent accuracy, NfL demonstrated benefits compared to NSE and to clinical model. Together with excellent ability that was found in the TTM study ¹³⁴ and in study by Rana et al. ²⁶⁷, NfL seems to be very promising in prognostication after CA.

In a study that measured biomarker release during secondary HIBI, the release of NfL and Tau from brain to circulation was more significant than the release of NSE, UCH-L1, GFAP, suggesting the superiority of axonal markers in the assessment of secondary HIBI⁸². The importance of WM in the assessment of HIBI and neurological prognosis was also suggested in an MRI study⁸⁴. Taken together, axonal neurobiomarkers have

demonstrated the best ability among all neurobiomarkers to predict unfavourable outcome after CA, and NfL is the most promising biomarker overall. However, the evidence on NfL in prognostication after CA and importance of axonal injury in HIBI is still limited.

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of this study were:

- To assess the ability of NSE to predict unfavourable long-term outcome after OHCA in subgroups divided into quartiles according to patient's age and time from collapse to ROSC (Study I).
- 2) To assess the ability of UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable long-term outcome after OHCA and compare it to that of NSE (Study II).
- To assess the ability of NfL to predict unfavourable long-term outcome after OHCA and compare it to that of NSE (Studies III and IV), and to assess the impact of two different PaO₂, PaCO₂, and mean arterial pressure (MAP) targets on NfL concentrations (Study III).

4 SUBJECTS AND METHODS

4.1 STUDY DESIGN AND PATIENTS

4.1.1 FINNRESUSCI population: Studies I, II, and IV

Studies I, II, and IV are post-hoc laboratory analyses of the FINNRESUSCI study, which was a nationwide observational prospective study conducted between 1 March 2010 and 28 February 2011 in 21 Finnish ICUs ⁴⁸. All 5 university hospitals and 14 of 15 central hospitals in Finland participated in the study, and over 98% of Finnish people live in the referral area of these ICUs. The FINNRESUSCI initially included 548 adult (≥18 years) individuals who were resuscitated from OHCA and treated in ICUs and finally included those 504 patients who were unconscious. The study included individuals with shockable (VF and VT) and nonshockable (ASY and PEA) initial rhythms, and with various causes of cardiac arrest. The FINNRESUSCI evaluated the post-resuscitation care of OHCA patients and examined the effect of TH on 12-month outcome. The patients were not treated according to any study-specific protocols; they were treated according to the prevailing guidelines and the local protocols of each ICU⁸⁸. TH treatment was recommended in patients whose arrest was witnessed, whose initial rhythm was shockable, and who were comatose at ICU admission. Informed consent was obtained from the patients' next-of-kin. NSE analyses were available in 6 of the participating hospitals that treated 35.3% of the study patients, and NSE was used in prognostication in some of those patients. Blood samples were collected, frozen, and stored during the original study for later use. All those patients whose blood samples were available were included in Studies I, II, and IV. The flowchart is presented in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Flowchart of the FINNRESUSCI population (studies I, II and IV). Abbreviations: OHCA, out-of-hospital cardiac arrest; NfL, neurofilament light; NSE, neuron-specific enolase; UCH-L1, ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase L1; CPC, Cerebral Performance Category. Studies I and II included 249 of 504 comatose OHCA patients of the FINNRESUSCI study that were treated in ICUs. We analysed NSE and UCH-L1 concentrations of those patients at 24 and 48 h after CA. We excluded 255 patients whose blood samples were not available. At 24 h, written consent was not available for seven patients, so those NSE and UCH-L1 samples are missing.

In Study I, we defined the prognostic value of NSE at 24 and 48 h after CA to predict unfavourable long-term neurological outcome. We defined the prognostic ability of NSE and assessed the additional value of NSE to the clinical prognostic model in all patients pooled together and separately in age and ROSC quartiles. To separate the possible effect of NSE values previously used in prognostication on the current analysis, we performed a sensitivity analysis on the predictive value of NSE separately in patients treated in hospitals where NSE measurement was available and in patients treated in hospitals where it was not. We did not use the same NSE samples that were used during the FINNRESUSCI study; all the biomarkers in this study were analysed post hoc from stored blood samples.

In Study II, we measured the prognostic ability of UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable long-term neurological outcome at 24 h and 48 h after CA. We compared the prognostic ability of UCH-L1 to that of NSE. We assessed the ability of UCH-L1 to find patients with a high probability of favourable outcome by using cutoff values with high sensitivities.

In study IV, we included a total of 248 patients for whom blood samples were available for NSE and NfL analysis at 24 or 48 h after CA. Overall, the patient cohort was almost the same as in Studies I and II (one patient with CPC 3–5 at 12 months is missing). We examined the prognostic ability of NfL to predict unfavourable neurological outcome at 24 and 48 h after CA and compared it to that of NSE. Moreover, we assessed the additional value that NSE and NfL give to the clinical prognostic model in all patients. We assessed the prognostic value of NfL in age and ROSC quartiles. We evaluated the ability of NfL and NSE to find patients with a high probability of favourable outcome by using cutoffs with high sensitivities, and the highest normal biomarker concentrations as cutoff values.

4.1.2 COMACARE population: Study III

Study III was a post-hoc laboratory analysis of the randomised, controlled pilot trial Carbon dioxide, Oxygen and Mean arterial pressure After Cardiac Arrest and REsuscitation (COMACARE) (NCT02698917) that included 120 comatose adult OHCA individuals ^{58,59}. The COMACARE study was conducted in six Finnish and one Danish ICUs between March 2016 and November 2017. COMACARE examined the effect of low-normal and highnormal arterial oxygen (PaO₂ 10–15 kPa or 20–25 kPa) and carbon dioxide (PaCO₂ 4.5–4.7 kPa or 5.8–6.0 kPa) tensions and mean arterial pressures (MAP 65–75 mmHg or 80–100 mmHg) within the first 36 h in ICU on outcome. The primary outcome definition was NSE concentration at 48 h, and secondary outcome included NSE, S100B, and cardiac troponin (at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA); cerebral oxygenation; and epileptic activity and neurological outcome (at 6 months). The interventions were conducted using a 2³ factorial design. All the patients were treated with TTM (33°C or 36°C). Laboratory samples for later analyses were collected, frozen, and stored only in Finnish hospitals that were participating in the current study. COMACARE included only comatose (GCS-M < 5) patients 18–80 years old with a shockable (VF or VT) initial rhythm, with a suspected or confirmed cardiac origin of arrest, and a time from collapse to ROSC of 10-45 min. Individuals who were pregnant or had assumed or confirmed intracranial pathology (e.g., haemorrhage), severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), or severe hypoxaemia ($PaO_2/FiO_2 < 100 \text{ mmHg}$), were excluded. Informed consent from the patients' next-of-kin was obtained as soon as possible, and consent was also obtained afterwards from those patients who recovered sufficient neurological function. Neurological prognostication was performed according to current guidelines, including the assessment of NSE ^{44,49}.

Study III focused on NfL neurobiomarker concentrations and their ability to predict unfavourable long-term outcome at ICU admission and at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA. An additional subject of interest was the possible effect of low-normal and high-normal PaO₂, PaCO₂, and MAP on NfL levels. We compared the prognostic ability of NfL to NSE and S100B, as they are widely studied and NSE is included in the current guidelines. To find patients with a high probability of favourable outcome, we defined the cutoff values for NfL to predict unfavourable outcome with high sensitivity. We included all the patients whose blood samples were available; study III included a total of 112 patients out of the original 120 COMACARE patients from whom blood samples were available. The blood samples from all four time points were available in 103 (94.5%) of the patientsThe flofchart of study population is presented in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Flowchart of the COMACARE population (study III). Abbreviations: ICU, intensive care unit

4.2 DATA COLLECTION

4.2.1 Studies I, II, and IV

Patient data from the FINNRESUSCI study were collected using Internetbased case report forms. Data on previous health status and diseases were obtained from patients' medical history. The aetiology of CA (cardiogenic or other) was defined according to the Utstein criteria ²⁷. The patient data recorded during hospital treatment, including hospital mortality, were collected to the Finnish Intensive Care Consortium (FICC) database. Mortality data were obtained from Statistic Finland. Blood samples in the FINNRESUSCI study were collected at 24 and 48 h after CA from patients whose next-of-kin had provided written consent.

4.2.2 Study III

Patient data from COMACARE study patients (including age and previous health status) were collected in an electronic database (Absolute Imaginary Software, Finland). Patient data during the first 48 h (including arterial blood pressure, EtCO₂, and SpO₂) were added every 10 min to a medical tablet computer connected to a patient monitor. The blood samples for biomarker analysis were taken at ICU admission (0 h) and at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA from patients whose next-of-kin had provided by written consent.

4.3 OUTCOMES

In Studies I, II, and IV, neurological outcome was assessed at 12 months after CA via phone contact between the patient and a specialist in neurology, who was blinded to patient care and laboratory results. The neurological outcome was defined according to CPC classification (Table 1.), and a structured interview was used in its assessment. In all studies, we defined favourable outcome as CPC 1–2 and unfavourable outcome as CPC 3–5. We chose death in hospital as a secondary outcome (Studies I and II). In Study III, a specialist in neurology who was blinded to study treatments and biomarker results made phone contact with patients 6 months after CA and defined their neurological outcome according to CPC criteria. We chose CPC 1–2 as favourable outcome and CPC 3–5 as unfavourable (Table 1).

4.4 LABORATORY METHODS

In Studies I, II, and IV, the blood samples were obtained at 24 and 48 h after CA. They were allowed to clot at room temperature for 60 min. Then, the blood samples were centrifuged and frozen at -70°C for later analysis. In Study III, the blood samples were obtained at the time of ICU admission and at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA. The blood samples were centrifuged for 10 min at 2000 G and frozen at -70°C for later analysis. All blood samples were thawed immediately before analysis.

4.4.1 Study I

Serum NSE concentrations were measured with a commercial electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). All analyses were conducted in the same laboratory in April 2015. The laboratory staff were blinded to clinical patient data. The measurement range of NSE was 0.05–740 µg/L, and the samples were diluted two-fold if necessary. The inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were <3.9% and <3.2%. Significant haemolysis was defined by assessing the amount of free haemoglobin and considered values above 500mg/L to be significant ¹⁷⁹. In case of significant haemolysis, we decided to analyse NSE concentrations in a way that imitated a real-life clinical situation in Finland where laboratories typically do not report haemolysis. We reported NSE results and outcomes of each individual whose blood sample was significantly haemolysed.

4.4.2 Study II

Serum UCH-L1 concentrations were measured using a commercial ELISA kit (USCN, Wuhan, China) in March 2015. All analyses were conducted in the same laboratory with the staff blinded to clinical patient data. All samples were analysed in duplicate, and the intra- and inter-assay CVs were <7.5% and <11.5%. The samples were diluted 4-fold, or if necessary, 20-fold.

4.4.3 Study III

Plasma NfL concentrations were measured using a commercial SIMOA Nf-Light immunoassay (Quanterix, Billerica, MA, USA). The analyses were performed in September 2019 at the Clinical Neurochemistry Laboratory of the University of Gothenburg, whose staff were blinded to clinical data and outcomes. All blood samples were diluted four-fold, and to complete the analysis, a single batch of reagents was utilised for eight analytical runs. In the low-concentration control sample, NfL was 6.9 ng/L and inter- and intra-assay CVs were 8.9% and 7.4%, respectively. For the highconcentration control sample (NfL 55.1 ng/L), the corresponding CVs were 10.4% and 7.1%.

Serum NSE and S100B concentrations were measured using a COBAS e601 line (Hitachi High Technology Co, Tokyo, Japan) with an electrochemiluminescent immunoassay kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). Analyses were conducted in January 2018 in one laboratory (ISLAB, Kuopio, Finland). The laboratory staff were blinded to clinical patient data and outcomes. Possible haemolysis was tested for in all the samples using the Roche haemolysis index. We considered a haemolysis level of >500mg of free haemoglobin per litre to be significant, and we excluded those samples from the calculation of prognostic ability.

4.4.4 Study IV

Plasma NfL concentrations were measured using a commercial two-step digital immunoassay using the single-molecule array Quanterix SIMOA[™]

NF-Light[®] Kit and SIMOA[™] HD-1 analyser (SIMOA[™], Quanterix Corporation, Lexington, MA, USA). Analyses were conducted Milan, Italy, in January 2020. Laboratory staff were blinded to clinical patient data and outcomes. Serum NSE concentrations for comparison were the same as in Study I.

4.5 STATISTICAL METHODS

We present all categorical patient data as absolute numbers with percentages (95% CIs) and all continuous data (e.g., biomarker concentrations) as medians (with interquartile ranges [IQRs]). For categorical data, we used Pearson's Chi test or Fisher's exact test (as appropriate) for comparison. We tested the normality of distribution with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For a comparison of normally distributed variables, we used an independent sample *t*-test, and for variables that were not normally distributed, we used a Mann-Whitney *U* test or Kruskall-Wallis test as appropriate. We considered *p* < 0.05 as significant for Studies I–IV. We conducted statistical analyses with SPSS (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) version 21 (Study I), version 25 (Study III), and version 27 (Studies II and IV); and R (R Foundation, Vienna, Austria) version 3.1.1 (Study I), version 4.0.4 (Study II), version 3.5.1 (Study III), and 4.0.0 (Study IV).

To determine the ability of the biomarkers to predict unfavourable outcome, we calculated the AUROCs ²⁷¹ with 95% CIs. We compared the AUROCs with the bootstrap method, which is within the roc.test function (R program, https://www.rdocumentation.org). We assessed the cutoff values for biomarkers from the ROCs. In Studies I–IV, we defined the optimal cutoffs to predict unfavourable outcome using the Youden method, which maximises specificity and sensitivity ^{272,273}.

In Studies I and IV, we divided patients into quartiles according to their age and time to ROSC. We determined the prognostic ability of NSE (Study I) and NfL (Study IV) in those quartiles by calculating the AUROCs to predict unfavourable outcome, then compared them with the bootstrap method.

We assessed cutoff values for high (95–100%) specificities to minimise the number of patients incorrectly categorised into the unfavourable outcome category (targeting a low FPR; Studies I–IV). For the cutoffs targeting a low FPR with high specificities, we also calculated sensitivities, specificities, positive and negative predictive values (PPVs and NPVs), and positive likelihood ratios (LR+). To find patients with a high probability of favourable neurological outcome, we defined the cutoffs corresponding to high sensitivities to minimise the number of false negative results (Studies II–IV). In Study IV, we used the highest normal biomarker concentrations, 17 µg/mL for NSE ¹⁸⁴ and 55 pg/mL for NfL ¹⁵, to assess their ability to identify patients with a high probability of favourable outcome. For the cutoffs of low/normal biomarker concentrations, we calculated specificities, sensitivities, and NPVs.

We created baseline multivariable models with logistic regression to predict unfavourable outcome by using clinical variables such as age, initial rhythm, time to ROSC, and witnessed collapse. We calculated the odds ratios (ORs) for each variable, then added the biomarkers to the model, and then calculated the ORs for the biomarkers if they were significant variables in the model as defined by backward stepping in logistic regression (Studies I–IV). To find whether the addition of a biomarker could improve the predictive ability of the clinical multivariable model, we separately calculated the AUROCs for the model alone and the model with the biomarker, and then compared the AUROCs (Studies I and III).

We also assessed the net reclassification improvement (NRI) by adding biomarkers (NSE and NfL) to the model (Studies I and III). We defined event NRI (NRIe) and non-event NRI (NRIne). NRIe is ([the number of patients with the predicted event given a higher risk after the addition of a biomarker] – [the number of patients with the event given a lower risk]) / (the number of patients with the event). NRIne is the net proportion of patients without the event given a lower risk. The sum of the NRIe and the NRIne is the overall NRI. The range of values for NRIe and NRIne is –1 to +1, and accordingly, for overall NRI it is –2 to +2 274,275 .

In Studies I and III, we calculated the integrated discrimination improvements (IDI) reached by adding biomarkers (NSE and NfL) to the multivariable models. We calculated event IDI (IDIe) for patients with unfavourable outcome as (mean probability of unfavourable outcome with baseline model + biomarker) – (mean probability of unfavourable outcome with baseline model) and non-event IDI (IDIne) for individuals with favourable outcome as (mean probability of unfavourable outcome with baseline model) – (mean probability of unfavourable outcome with baseline model + biomarker). IDI is the sum of IDIe and IDIne. The range of IDIe and IDIne is –1 to +1, and for IDI the range is –2 to +2 275,276 .

4.6 ETHICS

In Studies I, II, and IV, the FINNRESUSCI study protocol (5070210) was approved by the ethics committee of each participating hospital (decision no. 137/2009). The first amendment to permit the collection of blood samples for later use was approved by the Ethics Committee of HUS in October 2010. The amendment for Studies I and II was accepted by Siun Sote/North Karelian Central Hospital (decision no. 2141/12.00.01.01/2017). The amendment for Study IV was accepted by Kuopio University Hospital in November 2020 (decision no. 148/2020).

The original COMACARE study protocol was accepted by the Ethics Committee of Northern Savo Hospital District, Finland (decision no. 295/2015). The first amendment, including the plan for the current analysis of Study III, was approved in December 2017, and the second amendment, including post-hoc analysis of NfL, was approved in February 2019 by the Ethics Committee of Northern Savo Hospital District.

4.7 PERMISSIONS

This study has permissions to reuse and modify tables and pictures from the original publication copyright owners.

5 RESULTS

5.1 STUDY PATIENTS AND BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

5.1.1 Studies I, II, and IV

Unfavourable outcome, defined as CPC 3–5 at 12 months, occurred in 121 patients (48.6%). In Study II, the secondary outcome was hospital survival, and in total, 86 patients (34.5%) died during hospital treatment. The flowchart of the study population is presented in Figure 3. in the Subjects and Methods section.

The aetiology of CA was assessed as cardiogenic in 79.1% of the patients, being slightly more common in patients with favourable outcome (82.8%) than in those with unfavourable outcome (75.0%). The initial rhythm was shockable in 71% of the patients.

Based on the availability of NSE during the FINNRESUSCI study, NSE was available in 88 of the study patients (35.3%) in 9 of 21 hospitals. In those individuals who were treated in hospitals that utilised NSE in prognostication, the numbers of witnessed collapses, bystander CPR, and shockable initial rhythms were higher, the median Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS II) points were higher, and the percentage of patients with unfavourable outcome lower (38.6% vs 54 %, p = 0.020).

The study population significantly differed from the other FINNRESUSCI study patients in number of male patients (84% vs 69%, p < 0.001), shockable rhythms (71.4% vs 44.7%, p < 0.001), and TTM (77.4% vs 39.7%, p < 0.001). The baseline characteristics of the patients in Studies I, II, and IV are presented in Table 5.

Table 5. Baseline characteristics of the FINNRESUSCI patients (studies I, II and IV).

	All	Hospital mortality		12 mth outcome			
		Suminore	Non-		СРС	СРС	
	n=249	Survivors	survivors	р	1-2	3-5	р
		n=163	n=86	_	n=128	n=121	-
	63.0	62.0	66.0		61.5	67.0	
Age, years	(56.5-	(56.0-	(59.0-	0.019	(55.3-	(59.0-	0.001
	71)	70.0)	72.0)		67.0)	72.0)	
Sex, males, n	209	120 (95 2)	70 (91 4)	0 420	107	102	0 00
(%)	(83.9)	159 (65.5)	70 (81.4)	0.420	(83.6)	(84.3)	0.00
Witnessed	227	152 (02 2)	75 (97 2)	0.11	123	104	0.005
CA, n (%)	(91.2)	152 (95.5)	75(87.2)	0.11	(96.1)	(86.0)	0.005
Bystander	146	02 (56 4)	51 (62 8)	0 222	78	68	0 1 1 9
CPR, n (%)	(58.6)	92 (30.4)	54 (02.8)	0.555	(60.9)	(56.2)	0.440
Shockable	177				106	71	
rhythm, n	(71.1)	128 (78.5)	49 (60.0)	<0.001	(82.8)	(58.7)	<0.001
(%)	(71.1)				(02.0)	(30.7)	
Time to	20.0	17.0	26.0		16.0	24.0	
ROSC, min	(13.5-	(11.0-	(20.0-	<0.001	(11.0-	(19.0-	<0.001
(IQR)	28.0)	23.0)	31.3)		23.0)	31.0)	
TTM n (%)	193	126 (77.3)	67 (77.9)	0.913	100	93	0.811
	(77.5)		01 (110)	0.0.0	(78.1)	(76.9)	
SAPS II score	58.0	52.0	67.0		47.0	65.0	
(IOR)	(42.0-	(36.0-	(58.8-	<0.001	(34.0-	(55.5-	<0.001
	69.0)	63.0)	73.0)		60.8)	71.0)	
SOFA score	9	8	11	<0.001	8	10	0.004
(IQR)	(7-11)	(6-10)	(9-11)		(6-10)	(8-11)	
CA aetiology,				0.111			0.556
n (%)							
Cardiogenic		134	63 (106	91	
		(82.2)	/3.3)		(82.8)	(75.0)	
Нурохіа		6 (3.7)	5 (5.8)		4 (3.1)	/ (5.8)	
Drowning		2 (1.2)	3 (3.5)		2 (1.6)	3 (2.5)	
Hypothermia		1 (0.6)	0 (0)		1 (0.8)	0 (0)	
Intoxication		4 (2.5)	2 (2.3)		3 (2.3)	3 (2.5)	
Trauma		1 (0.6)	0 (0)		1 (0.8)	0 (0)	
Other		2 (1.2)	6 (7.0)		2 (1.6)	6 (5.0)	
etiologies		= (··-)	- (3.0)		= ()	- (2.0)	
Unknown		8 (4.9)	1 (1.2)		5 (3.9)	4 (3.3)	
Missing		5 (3.1)	6 (7.0)		4 (3.1)	7 (5.8)	
Abbreviations: CPC, Cerebral Performance Category; VF, ventricular fibrillation; VT, ventricular tachycardia, PEA, pulseless electronic activity; ASY, asystole; CPR, cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation; IQR, interquartile range; CA, cardiac arrest, SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score; SOFA, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (based on the first 24 h in the intensive care unit); TTM, targeted temperature management.

The baseline characteristics of the patients in Studies I and IV according to age and time to ROSC are presented in Table 6.

cardiopulmor	ary resusci	tation; SAPS	s II, Simplifie	ed Acute Pl	hysiolog	gy Score; CF	C, Cerebra	l Performar	nce Catego	ıry.
	Age, years					Time to ROSC, min				
	18-56	57-63	64-71	≥72 years	þ	1-13 min	14-20 min	21-28 min	≥29 min	d
Number of patients, n	62	69	59	59		62	69	58	60	
Age, median	48.0	60.0	67.0	77.0		63.0	63.0	64.5	62.0	0.608
(IQR), years	(42.0-54.0)	(59.0- 62.0)	(66.0- 70.0)	(73.0-81.0)		(57.0-74.3)	(55.5-70.5)	(57.0-71.0)	(54.0-69.0)	
Gender,	50 (80.6)	60 (87.0)	52 (88.1)	47 (79.7)	0.469	53 (85.5)	55 (79.7)	50 (86.2)	51 (85.0)	0.730
males, n, (%)										
Witnessed, n (%)*	56 (90.3)	68 (98.6)	51 (86.4)	52 (88.1)	0.071	58 (93.5)	63 (91.3)	51 (87.9)	55 (91.7)	0.750
Bystander	34 (54.8)	43 (62.3)	41 (69.5)	28 (47.5)	0.084	31 (50.0)	40 (58.0)	40 (69.0)	35 (58.3)	0.215
CPR, n (%)										
Cardiogenic	41 (66.5)	57 (82.6)	50 (84.7)	51 (86.4)	0.018	50 (80.6)	56 (81.2)	47 (81.0)	46 (76.7)	0.913
reason of arrest. n (%)										
Time to ROSC,	20.0	21.0	23.0	19.0	0.138	10.0	17.0	24.0	34.0	
median (IQR),	(14.0-29.3)	(13.0- 30.0)	(16.0- 28.0)	(10.0-24.0)		(6.0- 11.0)	(15.0-19.5)	(22.8-26.0)	(30.3-40.0)	
min										
Shockable	42 (67.7)	49 (71.0)	45 (76.3)	41 (69.5)	0.757	43 (69.4)	50 (72.5)	40 (69.0)	44 (73.3)	0.934
rhythm, n (%)										
SAPS II,	52.0	57.0	60.0	67.0	<0.001	47.5	56.0	60.5	64.5	<0.001
median (IQR),	(32.0-61.0)	(40.0- 64.0)	(42.0- 72.0)	(52.0-73.0)		(33.0-60.8)	(37.5-65.5)	(45.8-69.0)	(52.3-71.8)	
CBC 2 E n (07)	JE (40 2)	12 201 20	24 (E7 6)	101212	100	16 175 01	10 101 10	20 (GE E)	17 171 CV	100.07
CPL 3-3, n (50)	(5.04) 22	(1.15) 02	(a. / c) 75	(U.10) 05	0.014	(2.02) 01	24 (34.8)	(c.ca) 85	43 (/ 1./) 4	<0.001

Table 6. Baseline characteristic of FINNRESUSCI patients according to age and ROSC quartiles. Abbreviations: ROSC. return of spontaneous circulation: IOR. interguartile range: Witnessed. witnessed collapse: CPR.

5.1.2 Study III

The 6 months outcome was unfavourable in 39 patients (35%). Of the patients with unfavourable outcome, two were classified to CPC 3, and 37 died. The flowchart of Study III is presented in Figure 4. in the Subjects and Methods section.

HIBI was the cause of death in 86% of those who died. WLST occurred for 32 of the patients during ICU treatment. In the prognostication for those patients, EEG was used in 25 cases (78.1%), SSEP in 5 (15.6%), brain CT in 20 (62.5%), and brain MRI in 7 (21.9%); at least one method was used in 100% of patients with WLST. Baseline characteristics of the patients in Study III are presented in Table 7.

	All patients	CPC 1-2	CPC 3-5	р
	n=112	n=73	n=39	
Age, median (IQR), y	62 (53-68)	58 (51-66)	66 (58-75)	0.004
Male sex, n (%)	92 (82.1)	61 (83.6)	31 (79.5)	0.592
Weight, median (IQR), kg	85.0	85.0	83.0	0.646
	(72.3-93)	(72.5-94)	(70.0-90.0)	
Neurological function				1
before cardiac arrest				
Normal, CPC 1, n (%)	103 (92)	67 (91.8)	36 (92.3)	
Some disability, CPC 2, n	9 (8)	6 (8.2)	3 (7.7)	
(%)				
Medical history				
Hypertension, n (%)	56 (50)	33 (45.2)	23 (59)	0.165
Chronic heart failure	9 (8)	4 (5.5)	5 (12.8)	0.151
(NYHA 3 or 4), n (%)ª				
smoker, n (%) ^b	35 (31.3)	22 (30.1)	13 (33.3)	0.235
Resuscitation factors				
Bystander life support, n	93 (83)	66 (90.4)	27 (69.2)	0.004
(%)				

Table 7. Baseline characteristics of the study patients.

Time to ROSC, median	21.1	17.2	25.0	<0.001
(IQR), min	(16.2-26)	(14.9-22.3)	(22-31.6)	
Clinical status on ICU				
admission				
GCS, median, (IQR) ^c	3 (3-3)	3 (3-5)	3 (3-3)	<0.001
APACHE II score, median	28 (24-31)	27 (24-29)	31 (26-35)	<0.001
(IQR)				
TTM				0.003
33°C, n (%)	75 (67)	56 (76.7)	19 (48.7)	
36°C, n (%)	37 (33)	17 (23.3)	20 (51.3)	

Abbreviations: CPC, Cerebral Performance Category; IQR, interquartile range; NYHA, New York Heart Association; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation; ICU, intensive care unit; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; SD, standard deviation; APACHE II; Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation.

^a data missing for 2 patients; ^b data missing for 13 patients; ^c data missing for 9 patients

5.2 PROGNOSTIC ACCURACY AND CONCENTRATIONS OF BIOMARKERS

5.2.1 NSE, UCH-L1, and NfL in the FINNRESUSCI population

In Study I, NSE concentrations were significantly higher for patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome at 24 and 48 h (p < 0.001 at both time points). At 24 h, the median NSE concentration was 12.9 µg/L (IQR 7.6–23.6) in patients with unfavourable outcome and 8.9 µg/L (5.9–13.4) in those with favourable outcome. At 48 h, the concentrations were 17.9 µg/L (8.1–56.4) and 8.2 µg/L (5.9–12.1), respectively.

The AUROCs to predict unfavourable outcome were 0.65 (0.58–0.72) at 24 h and 0.72 (0.65–0.80) at 48 h. Prognostic ability was better at 48 h than at 24 h (p = 0.005). For the change in NSE between 24 and 48 h, the AUROC to predict unfavourable outcome was 0.70 (0.63–0.78), not significantly different from the single NSE measurement at 48 h (p = 0.489). We found

significant haemolysis (\geq 500mg/L) in three patients that were included in the NSE analysis; two of them had CPC 1–2 (48 h NSE 36 µg/L and 37 µg/L), and one patient with an NSE at 48 h of 6.8 µg/L died (CPC 5). After excluding those individuals, the prognostic ability of NSE did not change (AUROC 0.73 [0.66–0.81] at 48 h).

In Study II, concentrations of UCH-L1 were significantly higher at 24 and 48 h in patients with unfavourable outcome compared to those that reached favourable outcome (p < 0.001 at both time points). At 24 h, the median concentration of UCH-L1 was 10.8 ng/mL (IQR 7.5–18.5) in patients with unfavourable outcome and 7.8 (5.9–11.8) in those with favourable outcome. At 48 h, the concentrations were 16.2 ng/mL (12.2–27.7) and 11.5 ng/mL (9.0–17.2), respectively. The AUROC to predict unfavourable outcome was 0.66 (0.60–0.73) at 24 h and 0.66 (0.59-0.74) at 48 h. The prognostic ability of UCH-L1 was not significantly different from that of NSE at 24 h (p = 0.82) or at 48 h (p = 0.827).

Regarding secondary outcome (death in hospital), the UCH-L1 concentrations were higher in those who died than in those who survived (p < 0.001 at 24 h and 48 h). At 24 h, the median UCH-L1 concentration was 12.6 ng/mL (IQR 8.5–20.6) in patients who died and 7.9 ng/mL (6.1–12.1) for those who survived. The concentrations were 17.1 ng/mL (12.6–30.0) and 12.1 (9.1–18.4), respectively, at 48 h. The AUROC for UCH-L1 to predict death in hospital was 0.69 (0.62–0.76) at 24 h and 0.68 (0.60–0.78) at 48 h. For NSE, the corresponding AUROCs were 0.70 (0.63–0.77) and 0.76 (0.68–0.83).

In Study IV, the NfL concentrations were up to 20-fold higher for patients with unfavourable outcome compared to those that reached favourable outcome. At 24 h, the median NfL concentration was 688.9 pg/mL (IQR 146.1–1803.8) for individuals with unfavourable outcome and 30.9 pg/mL (16.9–61.2) for those with favourable outcome (p < 0.001). At 48 h, the concentrations were 1162.4 pg/mL (146.8–4360.5) and 35.6 pg/mL (21.3–86.7), respectively (p < 0.001). The aetiology of CA (cardiogenic vs others) had no effect on NfL levels according to outcome. NfL had a good/excellent ability to predict unfavourable outcome; at 24 h, the AUROC was 0.90 (0.86–0.94), and at 48 h, the AUROC was 0.88 (0.83–0.94). The prognostic

ability of NfL was significantly better than that of NSE at 24 h and 48 h (p < 0.001 for both).

Concentrations of NSE, UCH-L1, and NfL at 24 and 48 h according to outcome definition at 12 months are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Concentrations of NSE, UCH-L1 and NfL at 24 h and 48 h according to 12-month neurological outcome (CPC 1-2 indicating favourable outcome and CPC 3-5 unfavourable outcome). The scale is logarithmic. Each and the whiskers show minimal and maximal concentrations. Circles, triangles, and squares presents box represents the interquartile range, the line inside the box shows the median value concentrations of each individual.

Abbreviations: NSE, neuron-specific enolase; UCH-L1, ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase L1; NfL, neurofilament light; CPC, Cerebral Performance Category. The AUROCs for NfL to predict unfavourable outcome were higher than those of UCH-L1 and NSE. The AUROCs for UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable outcome were slightly (not significantly) lower than those of NSE, which were lower than those of NfL. A condensed comparison of the prognostic abilities of biomarkers, AUROCs (95% CIs), and ROC curves for the biomarkers studied in the FINNRESUSCI patients is presented in Figure 6.



Figure 6. AUROCs (with 95% confidence intervals) for NfL, UCH-L1 and NSE at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest as predictors of unfavourable neurological outcome at 12 months.

Abbreviations: AUROC, the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; NfL, neurofilament light; UCH-L1, ubiquitin c-terminal hydrolase L1; NSE, neuron-specific enolase.

5.2.2 NfL, NSE, and S100B in the COMACARE population

This study contained a highly selected cohort of OHCA patients with shockable initial rhythms. NfL concentrations were significantly higher for patients with unfavourable outcome at 6 months than for those with favourable outcome at ICU admission and at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA. At 48 h, the difference in NfL concentration between patients with unfavourable and favourable outcome was 100-fold. The ability of NfL to predict unfavourable outcome was excellent and stable at 24–72 h: the AUROC was 0.98 (0.97–1.00) at 24 and 48 h and 0.98 (0.95–1.00) at 72 h. Moreover, NfL had an excellent ability to discriminate patients with HIBI, with the highest AUROC of 0.97 (0.95–1.00) at 48 h. The TTM target had no impact on the prognostic ability of NfL: the AUROCs at 24–72 h were 0.97–0.98 (95% CI 0.93–1.00) in the group that targeted 33°C and 0.99 (0.96–1.00) in the group that targeted 36°C. The NfL concentrations at all time points according to outcome are presented in Figure 7.



Figure 7. NfL concentrations at ICU admission and 24, 48 and 72 h after cardiac arrest for patients with favourable (CPC 1-2) and unfavourable (CPC 3-5) outcome. The scale is logarithmic. Each box represents the interguartile range, the line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show minimal and maximal Abbreviations: NfL, neurofilament light; CPC, Cerebral Performance Category. concentrations and dots show concentrations of each individual.

116

NSE presented a good and S100B a satisfactory ability to predict unfavourable outcome. For NSE, the best predictive ability was at 72 h (AUROC 0.89 [IQR 0.81–0.96]). For S100B, the best accuracy was at 24 h (AUROC 0.77 [0.67–0.88]). The AUROCs for NfL to predict unfavourable outcome were significantly higher than those of NSE (p < 0.001 at 24 and 48 h; p = 0.012 at 72 h) and S100B (p < 0.001 at 24–72 h). At ICU admission, all biomarkers showed unfavourable prognostic ability. The ROC curves and corresponding AUROCs are presented in Figure 8.



confidence intervals (Cl) for NfL, NSE and S100B at time of intensive care unit admission and at 24 h, 48 h and 72 h Abbreviations: NfL, neurofilament light; NSE, neuron-specific enolase; S100B, protein S100B; ICU, intensive care Figure 8. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves and areas under the ROC curves (AUROC) with 95% after cardiac arrest as predictors of unfavourable outcome (CPC 3-5) at six months. unit.

118

5.2.3 Impact of haemolysis

Haemolysis can significantly affect NSE concentrations. We measured the amount of free haemoglobin in all blood samples and assessed haemolysis indices. Significant haemolysis (\geq 500 mg/L) was scarce and was detected in totally seven samples at all time points. Detectable haemolysis (\geq 100mg/L) was more common and was found in 153 (35%) of the samples. NfL and NSE concentrations at different time points in relation to haemolysis are presented in Table 8.

Table 8. Numbers (with percentages) of haemolysed samples at ICU admission (0 h) and 24, 48 and 72 h after cardiac arrest for detectable (≥100mg of free haemoglobin per litre) and for significant (≥500mg of free haemoglobin per litre) haemolysis (**A**). Concentrations (median, IQR) of NfL and NSE at ICU admission (0h) and at 24, 48 and 72 h after cardiac arrest for samples with detectable haemolysis and for those without (**B**).

Α		0h	24h	48h	72h
	Haemolysis	71	36	23	27
	index ≥100, n (%)	(63.4)	(32.1)	(20.5)	(24.1)
	Haemolysis	4 (3.6)	0 (0)	2 (1.8)	1 (0.9)
	index ≥500, n (%)				
	Haemolysis	170	145	140	150
	index, median	(120-260)	(120-228)	(120-280)	(110-250)
	(IQR)				

В			No haemolysis	Haemolysis	р
	0h	NfL	12.9 (8.9-18.3)	11.4 (7.2-16.9)	0.199
		NSE	19.2 (16.2-24.7)	27.2 (21.8-33.5)	<0.001
	24h	NfL	34.5 (11.5-644.2)	16.2 (6.9-66.4)	0.019
		NSE	22.7 (18.2-34.2)	30.9 (25.3-36.7)	0.003
	48h	NfL	28.8 (15.5-586.9)	43.8 (13.8-680.9)	0.614
		NSE	18.7 (13.5-33.2)	28.2 (24.7-36.6)	0.002
	72h	NfL	48.0 (16.1-912.3)	25.0 (14.3-62.0)	0.115
		NSE	16.5 (11.4-25.5)	21.4 (15.1-27.5)	0.08

Abbreviations: ICU, intensive care unit; IQR, interquartile range; NfL, neurofilament light; NSE, neuron-specific enolase.

NSE levels were significantly higher in samples with detectable haemolysis at ICU admission and at 24 and 48 h, whereas NfL was not affected by haemolysis. Moreover, NSE and free haemoglobin were significantly correlated (Spearman's Rho 0.354, p < 0.001). NfL had no correlation with free haemoglobin (Spearman's Rho 0.007, p = 0.93).

5.3 IMPACT OF AGE AND TIME TO ROSC ON THE CONCENTRATIONS AND PROGNOSTIC ABILITIES OF NSE AND NFL

5.3.1 Impact of age

We divided patients into quartiles according to age. For NSE at 48 h (Study I), the concentrations were significantly affected by higher age. In the oldest age quartile (\geq 72 years), the NSE concentrations did not differ between patients with unfavourable and favourable outcome (*p* = 0.687). In other age groups, NSE was higher for patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome. The distribution of NSE concentrations in age quartiles was different for patients with unfavourable outcome (*p* = 0.033) but not for those with favourable outcome (*p* = 0.858). The AUROC to predict unfavourable outcome was poor for the oldest patients at 0.53 (0.37–0.70). For the youngest patients (18–56 years), NSE had excellent prognostic accuracy with an AUROC of 0.91 (0.81–1.00). The availability of NSE during the original study did not affect the impact of age on the prognostic ability of NSE. NSE concentrations at 48 h in different age quartiles according to outcome are presented in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Distribution of NSE concentrations at 48 h for the patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcome in quartiles according to age. Boxplot figures; each box showing the interquartile range, with a horizontal line inside the box showing the median value; bars showing the range of values except outliers (circles and stars), defined as values more than 1.5 box lengths from the edge of the box. Abbreviations: NSE, neuron-specific enolase; CPC, cerebral performance category.

In Study IV, we assessed the concentrations and prognostic ability of NfL in corresponding age quartiles. NfL was significantly higher at 24 and 48 h for patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome in all age groups (24h: p<0.001 in all groups; 48h: p=0.005 for \geq 72 years, p<0.001 for others). For patients with favourable outcome, NfL concentration increased with increasing age, and concentrations were different across age groups at 24 h (p < 0.001) and 48 h (p = 0.001). For patients with unfavourable outcome, NfL concentrations in different age quartiles were not different (p = 0.132 at 24 h, p = 0.363 at 48 h). NfL concentrations at 24 h and 48 h in different age quartiles relative to outcome are presented in Figure 10.



Figure 10. Boxplots for NfL concentrations at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest for patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcomes, according to different age quartiles. The scale is logarithmic. Each box presents the interquartile range, the line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show the lowest and the highest concentrations, and the dots show the concentrations for each individual. Age intervals (years) with p values (for differences in concentrations for patients with favourable [CPC 1–2] and unfavourable [CPC 3–5] outcomes in each quartile) are presented above each figure. Abbreviations: NFL, neurofilament light; CPC, Cerebral Performance Category.

The AUROCs for NfL to predict unfavourable outcome were significantly higher in all age groups compared to those of NSE at 24 h. At 48 h, NfL had better prognostic ability in patients aged 57–63 years and in the oldest group (\geq 72 years). AUROCs according to different age groups are presented in Table 9.

	NfL AUROC (95% CI)	NSE AUROC (95% CI)	p for difference
24 h			
18-56	0.96 (0.90-1.00)	0.66 (0.50-0.81)	<0.001
years			
57-63	0.90 (0.82-0.99)	0.75 (0.62-0.87)	0.005
years			
64-71	0.91 (0.83-0.98)	0.70 (0.56-0.84)	0.002
years			
≥72 years	0.79 (0.67-0.91)	0.53 (0.37-0.68)	0.002
48 h			
18-56	0.93 (0.85-1.00)	0.91 (0.81-1-00)	0.791
years			
57-63	0.94 (0.87-1.00)	0.75 (0.61-0.89)	0.005
years			
64-71	0.87 (0.75-0.99)	0.77 (0.63-0.92)	0.143
years			
≥72 years	0.75 (0.61-0.89)	0.56 (0.40-0.73)	0.020

Table 9. AUROCs (with 95% CIs) for NfL and NSE at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest to predict unfavourable outcome, according to age quartiles.

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; NfL, neurofilament light; NSE, neuron specific enolase; AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

5.3.2 Impact of ROSC

In Study I, NSE levels and their prognostic ability at 48 h were significantly different in different ROSC quartiles. For patients with the shortest time to ROSC (1–13 min), the AUROC to predict unfavourable outcome was 0.45 (0.30–0.61). The AUROC was highest (0.84 [0.74–0.95]) for those with the longest resuscitation time (≥29 min). The availability of NSE during the original study did not affect the prognostic ability of NSE according to time to ROSC. NSE concentrations at 48 h in different ROSC quartiles according to outcome are presented in Figure 11.



Figure 11. Distribution of NSE concentrations at 48 h for the patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcome in quartiles according to time from collapse to ROSC. Boxplot figures; each box showing the interquartile range, with a horizontal line inside the box showing the median value; bars showing the range of values except outliers (circles and stars), defined as values more than1.5 box lengths from the edge of the box.

Abbreviations: NSE, neuron speficif enolase; CPC, Cerebral Performance Category.

In Study IV, we assessed NfL levels and their prognostic ability in ROSC quartiles. NfL concentration was significantly higher for patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome at 24 h and 48 h in all ROSC groups. Moreover, the AUROCs for NfL were significantly higher at 24 and 48 h compared to those of NSE in all ROSC groups. The AUROCs according to different ROSC time groups are presented in Table 10.

Table 10. AUROCs (with 95% CIs) for NSE and NfL at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest to predict unfavourable outcome, according to ROSC quartiles.

	Time to ROSC	NfL AUROC (95% Cl)	NSE AUROC (95% CI)	p for difference
24 h				
	≤13 min	0.70 (0.52-0.87)	0.43 (0.26-0.59)	0.010
	14-20 min	0.86 (0.77-0.95)	0.49 (0.32-0.66)	0.001
	21-28 min	0.93 (0.86-1.00)	0.70 (0.56-0.85)	0.002
	≥29 min	0.93 (0.87-1.00)	0.65 (0.50-0.80)	<0.001
48 h				
	≤13 min	0.72 (0.53-0.91)	0.46 (0.29-0.62)	0.042
	14-20 min	0.84 (0.73-0.94)	0.62 (0.44-0.80)	0.031
	21-28 min	0.89 (0.78-0.99)	0.75 (0.61-0.89)	0.042
	≥29 min	0.97 (0.92-1.00)	0.86 (0.75-0.96)	0.028

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; NfL, neurofilament light; NSE, neuron specific enolase; AUROC, the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

NfL levels rose in both patients with favourable (p = 0.034 at 24 h; p = 0.004 at 48 h) and unfavourable (p < 0.001) outcome together with resuscitation time. NfL levels in different ROSC groups according to outcome are presented in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Boxplots for NfL concentrations at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest for patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcomes, according to different ROSC quartiles. The scale is logarithmic. Each box presents the interquartile range, the line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show the lowest and the highest concentrations, and the dots show the concentrations for each individual. ROSC intervals (minutes) with p values (for differences in concentrations for patients with favourable [CPC 1–2] and unfavourable [CPC 3–5] outcomes in each quartile) are presented above each figure. Abbreviations: NfL, neurofilament light; CPC, Cerebral Performance Category.

5.4 ADDED VALUE OF BIOMARKERS IN PROGNOSTICATION MODELS

In Study I, we constructed a baseline clinical model including age, time to ROSC, initial rhythm, and SAPS II points to predict unfavourable outcome. The model had an AUROC of 0.81 (0.75–0.86). NSE was a significant predictor of unfavourable outcome in the model, with an OR of 1.055 (1.025–1.085, p < 0.001). After adding NSE at 48 h to the model, the AUROC increased to 0.84 (0.79–0.89; p = 0.021). As Study I focuses on the

prognostic value of NSE in age and ROSC groups, the addition of NSE to the baseline model improved the AUROC only in the youngest patients (p = 0.013) and in those with the longest time to ROSC (p < 0.001). Also, continuous NRI and IDI were highest in those patients. For individuals with the highest age and shortest time to ROSC, the addition of NSE worsened the predictive ability of model, demonstrated as negative NRI and IDI. Table 11.

Table 11. Multivariable model to predict unfavourable 12-months outcome. AUROC, IDI and NRI for all patients and stratified according to age and time to ROSC.

(95% p	.045 0.001	.076 <0.001	.319 0.052	.309 0.001	.041 <0.001	.055 <0.001
CI)	3-1.074)	2-1.112)	1-1.011)	2-0.627)	9-1.064)	5-1.085)
-1. OR	Age ^a 1.018 (1.018	ROSC^a 1.043	Witnessed ^a 0.	Shockable ^a 0.15, (0.15)	*SAPSII ^a 1.	NSE48 ^b 1.

			Age				Rosc			
5		ALL	18-56	57-63	64-71	≥72	1-13	14-20	21-28	≥29
AUROC (95% CI)	Baseline model	0.81 (0.75-0.86)	0.82 (0.71-0.93)	0.84 (0.74-0.95)	0.82 (0.71-0.94)	0.68 (0.52-0.84)	0.72 (0.58-0.86)	0.80 (0.68-0.91)	0.83 (0.71- 0.95)	0.71 (0.54-0.87)
	Baseline model + NSE 48h	0.84 (0.79-0.89)	0.88 (0.79-0.97)	0.88 (0.79-0.97)	0.84 (0.73-0.95)	0.67 (0.52-0.82)	0.68 (0.54-0.83)	0.82 (0.71-0.93)	0.85 (0.75- 0.96)	0.90 (0.82-0.99)
	P value for difference	0.021	0.013	0.226	0.665	0.819	0.100	0.453	0.561	0.001
NRI	Continuous	0.394	0.773	0.516	0.457	-0.332	-0.491	0.244	0.628	1.140

129

0.444 -0.067 0.25	.688 0.695 0.883	.000 0.039 0.228).046 -0.013 0.03(.047 0.051 0.192
-0.467 -0	-0.024 0	-0.059 0	-0.039	-0.020 0
0.040 -0.379	0.417 0.047	0.017 -0.077	-0.035 -0.041	0.051 -0.035
-0.143	0.659	0.035	-0.017	0.052
2 0.217	0.556	0.141	0.078	0.063
-0.082	0.476	0.032	-0.010	0.041
NRI	NRI		IDI	IDI

Abbreviations: AUROC, the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement; NRI, net reclassification improvement; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation; SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score; NSE, neuron-specific enolase.

^a Variables in baseline model. ^b NSE 48 h added to baseline model. *SAPS II without age points

In Study II, we constructed a multivariable prognostication model and added UCH-L1 to it. At 24 h, UCH-L1 was a significant predictor of hospital mortality and CPC 3–5 at 12 months. At 48 h, UCH-L1 predicted hospital mortality but not unfavourable outcome at 12 months. Table 12.

Table 12. Logistic regression model for clinical variables and serum UCH-L1 to predict hospital mortality and unfavourable outcome (CPC 3-5) at 12 months.

	Hospital mortality		12-mth CPC 3-5	
Variable	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р
Age (years)	1.037 (1.011-1.064)	0.005	1.050 (1.022-1.078)	<0.001
Unwitnessed	-	-	3.574 (1.169-10.925)	0.025
collapse				
Nonshockable	3.688 (1.946-6.989)	<0.001	4.609 (2.354-9.022)	<0.001
rhythm				
ROSC	1.092 (1.060-1.126)	<0.001	1.095 (1.062-1.129)	<0.001
(minutes)				
UCH-L1 24 h	1.035 (1.010-1.059)	0.005	1.024 (1.000-1.047)	0.047
UCH-L1 48 h	1.020 (1.002-1.038)	0.029	-	-

Abbreviations: CPC, Cerebral Performance Category; OR, odds ratio; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation.

In Study III, we made a multivariable clinical model using age, time to ROSC, and lack of basic life support that had an AUROC of 0.86 (0.79–0.93) to predict unfavourable outcome. The predictive accuracy of the model improved significantly after adding NfL to it; the achieved AUROC was 0.98 (0.97–1.00) at 24 h and 0.99 (0.98–1.00) at 48 and 72 h. NRI and IDI were highest for NfL addition at 48 h; NRI was 1.78 (95% CI 1.58–1.97) and IDI was 0.45. Table 13.

Table 13. Net reclassification improvement (NRI) and integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) for the improvement of prognostic value (B) in baseline model (A) achieved with the addition of NfL.

Α	Variables in baseline model (BM)	OR	CI (95%)	р
	^a ROSC, min	1.201	1.108-1.301	<0.001
	Åge, years	1.059	1.011-1.109	0.016
	^a BLS, no (-)	5.018	1.370-18.377	0.015

В		AUROC BM		NRI	NRIe	NRIne	IDI	IDIe	IDIne
			BM+NfL						
	24h	0.860	0.983	1.514	0.514	1.000	0.405	0.285	0.120
		(0.792-	(0.965-	(1.237-					
		0.928)	1.000)	1.790)					
	48h	0.860	0.992	1.779	0.833	0.945	0.448	0.345	0.104
		(0.792-	(0.982-	(1.583-					
		0.928)	1.000)	1.974)					
	72h	0.859	0.992	1.736	0.879	0.857	0.447	0.359	0.089
		(0.790-	(0.981-	(1.533-					
		0.927)	1.000)	1.939)					

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation; BLS, basic life support; AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; BM, baseline model, NfL, neurofilament light; NRI, net reclassification improvement; NRIe, NRI event; NRIne, NRI non-event; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement; IDIe, IDI event; IDIne, IDI non-event. ^a Variables with OR:s for baseline clinical predicting model (BM) achieved by logistic regression with backward stepping method.

^b NfL data was added to baseline model (BM) with logistic regression Enter method

In Study IV, we made a clinical multivariable model to predict unfavourable outcome with age, time to ROSC, nonshockability of initial rhythm, and unwitnessed collapse. We separately added NfL at 24 h and NSE at 48 h to the model, and both were significant predictors of unfavourable outcome (p < 0.001). After backward stepping, only age, shockability, and 24 h NfL were significant variables in the model. Table 14.

Table 14. Multivariable model to predict unfavorable outcome (CPC 3-5) at 12 months. Clinical information¹ was added with the enter method, then we separately added NfL at 24 h and NSE at 48 h to the model with the enter method² (A). Significant variables were obtained to the final model with backward stepping³ (B).

Α	OR	95% CI	р
ROSC delay, minutes ¹	1.096	1.063-1.131	<0.001
Age, years ¹	1.052	1.025-1.080	<0.001
Unwitnessed ¹	3.682	1.199-11.308	0.023
Nonshockable ¹	4.648	2.359-9.156	<0.001
NSE 48 h, µg/L²	1.070	1.034-1.107	<0.001
NfL 24 h, pg/mL ²	1.007	1.004-1.010	<0.001
В			
Age, years ³	1.063	1.021-1.107	0.003
Nonshockable ³	2.181	0.902-5.274	0.083
NfL 24 h, pg/mL ³	1.007	1.004-1.010	<0.001

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation; unwitnessed, unwitnessed collapse; nonshockable, nonshockable initial rhythm; NfL, neurofilament light; NSE, neuron-specific enolase

5.5 EFFECT OF LOW-NORMAL AND HIGH-NORMAL CARBON DIOXIDE, OXYGEN, AND BLOOD PRESSURE TARGETS ON NFL LEVELS

In the original COMACARE study, NSE levels were not affected by different PaCO₂, PaO₂, and MAP levels. We examined NfL concentrations in those intervention groups, as NfL is more accurate in identifying individuals with HIBI. NfL concentrations did not differ between low-normal and high-normal PaCO₂ groups or between normoxia and moderate hyperoxia groups. Regarding MAP targets, NfL was significantly lower in patients with high-normal MAP than in those with low-normal MAP at 48 h (23 pg/mL [11–251] vs 43 pg/mL [19–1066]; p = 0.041) and at 72 h (23 pg/mL [13–152] vs 63 pg/mL [21–1609], p = 0.007). NfL concentrations according to intervention targets are presented in Table 15.

Table 15. NfL concentrations (median IQR) at ICU admission (baseline) and 24, 48 and 72h after cardiac arrest, according to whether patients were treated with high/low normal arterial blood carbon dioxide tension (PaCO₂), arterial blood oxygen tension (PaO₂) and mean arterial pressures (MAP).

		Lower target	Higher target	р
PaCO ₂	Baseline	12.2	11.6	0.972
		(8.0-17.0)	(7.4-20.0)	
	24h	22.2	34.5	0.695
		(11.2-96.7)	(8.9-665.9)	
	48h	28.8	39.3	0.521
		(15.6-133.3)	(14.6-1221.5)	
	72h	25.4	55.4	0.203
		(15.5-152.1)	(15.9-1209.4)	
PaO ₂	Baseline	11.7	11.7	0.660
		(7.1-17.8)	(8.4-17.2)	
	24h	20.1	44.9	0.176
		(9.1-129.8)	(11.1-549.8)	
	48h	27.9	47.2	0.260
		(14.6-272.2)	(15.5-1298.5)	
	72h	26.8	57.6	0.233
		(25.8-225.1)	(15.4-1375.9)	
MAP	Baseline	11.9	11.0	0.303
		(9.1-17.0)	(6.6-18.5)	
	24h	31.6	20.1	0.143
		(11.6-323.5)	(8.9-157.2)	
	48h	43.2	23.1	0.041
		(18.9-1066.2)	(10.8-250.7)	
	72h	63.0	22.9	0.007
		(20.6-1608.9)	(12.8-152.1)	

5.6 CUTOFF VALUES IN PREDICTING UNFAVOURABLE OUTCOME

We calculated cutoffs for biomarkers by targeting high (95–99%) specificities to minimise false positive results. To facilitate comparability across biomarkers, we calculated Youden-based cutoff values. For NSE at 48 h, the cutoff by targeting 99% specificity was 37 µg/L in the FINNRESUSCI study population (Studies I and IV) and almost the same (36.5 µg/L) in the COMACARE study population (Study III). However, the corresponding sensitivity was better in Study III than Study IV: 51% (95% CI 35–68%) vs 36% (26–45%).

For UCH-L1 at 48 h, a cutoff of 46 ng/mL resulted in a specificity of 98% (96–100) and a low sensitivity of 7% (2–12), with a PPV of 78% (51–100; p = 0.041).

For NfL at 24 h and 48 h, the cutoffs for 99% specificity were higher in Study IV (FINNRESUSCI) compared to those of Study III (COMACARE). At 24 h, the cutoff for 99% specificity was 589 pg/mL in Study IV and 127 pg/mL in Study III, and at 48 h, the cutoffs were 721 pg/mL and 263 pg/mL, respectively. For 99% specificity, the sensitivities of NfL at 24 and 48 h were higher than the sensitivity for NSE at 48 h in the FINNRESUSCI population (54–60% for NfL vs 36% for NSE) and in the COMACARE population (78–83% vs 51%). The cutoffs for UCH-L1, NSE, and NfL across studies are presented in Table 16.

	Target	Cut off	Specificity	Sensitivity	РРV	NPV	LR+	5
	l al Ber		(95% CI)	ב				
11111111111	200	U F	0.98	0.07	0.78	0.57	4.4	
UCH-L1 48 N	22%	40	(0.96-1.00)	(0.02-0.12)	(0.51-1.00)	(0.50-0.64)	(0.9-20.5)	0.041
FINN-		ç	0.95	0.18	0.75	0.59	3.7	
RESUSCI	%CA	32	(0.91-0.99)	(0.11-0.26)	(0.58-0.92)	(0.52-0.66)	(1.5-9.0)	0.001
		(0.53	0.78	0.57	0.75	1.7	
	Youden	7	(0.44-0.62)	(0.69-0.86)	(0.49-0.66)	(0.66-0.84)	(1.3-2.1)	<0.001
NCT 40 6	2000	Г (0.99	0.36	0.97	0.66	43.6	100.01
NDE 48 N	22%	3/	(0.98-1.00)	(0.26-0.45)	(0.92-1.00)	(0.59-73)	(6.1-312.4)	<0.001
FINN-		, C	0.95	0.44	0.88	0.68	8.9	
RESUSCI	0%CA	24	(0.91-0.99)	(0.34-0.54)	(0.79-0.97)	(0.60-0.75)	(4.0-20.1)	<0.001
		Ċ	0.93	0.50	0.85	0.70	6.8	
	Yougen	70	(0.88-0.97)	(0.40-0.60)	(0.75-0.94)	(0.63-0.77)	(3.5-13.1)	<0.001
	2000	1 7 5	0.97	0.51	0.00	0.80	18.5	100.01
	97%0	C.05	(0.93-1.00)	(0.35-0.68)	(0.77-1.00)	(0.72-0.89)	(4.5-75.4)	>0.001
COMA-		Ľ	0.94	0.54	0.83	0.81	9.8	
CARE	0%CA	C S	(0.89-99.7)	(0.38-0.71)	(0.67-0.98)	(0.72-0.89)	(3.6-26.6	<0.001
		С с с	0.93	0.66	0.82	0.85	9.5	
	Youuen	C C	(0.87-0.99)	(0.50-0.81)	(0.68-0.96)	(0.77-0.93)	(3.9-22.8)	<0.001

Table 16. Cut-off values with sensitivities, PPVs, NPVs and LR+ for UCH-L1 (ng/mL), NSE (µg/L) and NfL (pg/mL) to predict unfavourable outcome, defined by targetin specificities of 95% and 99%, and by the Youden method.

							1	
NFI 24 h	000%	580	0.99	0.54	0.98	0.69	61.5	100.02
			(0.97-1.00)	(0.45-0.63)	(0.95-1.00)	(0.61-0.76)	(8.7-436.4)	
FINN-			0.96	0.66	0.94	0.74	14.9	
RESUSCI	%CA	232	(0.92-0.99)	(0.57-0.74)	(0.88-0.99)	(0.67-0.81)	(6.3-25.5)	<0.001
		ľ	0.87	0.82	0.86	0.83	6.2	
	Yougen	4/	(0.81-0.93)	(0.74-0.89)	(0.79-0.93)	(0.76-0.89)	(3.8-10.0)	<0.001
	2000	LC 4	0.99	0.78	0.97	0.90	54.9	100.01
	22%	171	(0.96-1.00)	(0.65-0.92)	(0.90-1.00)	(0.83-0.96)	(7.8-386.9)	<0.001
COMA-		CO	0.93	0.86	0.86	0.93	12.1	
CARE	0/CA	72	(0.87-0.99)	(0.75-0.98)	(0.75-0.98)	(0.87-0.99)	(5.2-28.5)	>0.001
	and on the second secon		0.93	0.92	0.87	0.96	12.9	
	rougen	07	(0.87-0.99)	(0.83-1.00)	(0.77-0.98)	(0.91-1.00)	(5.5-30.1)	>0.001
	200		0.99	0.60	0.98	0.76	60.1	100.07
NTL 48 N	22%	171	(0.97-1.00)	(0.49-0.70)	(0.94-1.00)	(0.68-0.83)	(8.5-426.0)	<0.001
FINN-	OFOR	7.45	0.95	0.66	0.91	0.78	13.3	
RESUSCI	0/CA	044	(0.91-0.99)	(0.55-0.76)	(0.84-0.99)	(0.71-0.85)	(5.6-31.7)	-00.04
	Norden ov	, c c	0.92	0.72	0.88	0.81	9.1	
	Iondell	162	(0.87-0.97)	(0.62-0.82)	(0.80-0.96)	(0.74-0.88)	(5.6-18.0)	-00.04
	7000	636	0.99	0.83	0.97	0.92	60.8	100.07
	0/A	C07	(0.96-1.00)	(0.71-0.96)	(0.91-1.00)	(0.86-0.98)	(8.6-428.4)	-00.04
COMA-		0	0.95	0.92	0.89	0.96	16.7	
CARE	0/C/	07	(0.89-1.00)	(0.83-1.00)	(0.79-0.99)	(0.91-1.00)	(6.4-43.6)	-00.04
	Norden ov	001	0.97	0.92	0.94	0.96	33.5	
	Iondell	601	(0.94-1.00)	(0.83-1.00)	(0.87-1.00)	(0.91-1.00)	(8.5-131.7)	-00.02
Abbreviations: Cl, 5	95% condif	ence interv	al; PPV, positive	e predictive valu	ue; NPV, negativ	e predictive valu	ue; LR+, positive	
likelihood ratio; UC	CH-L1, ubia	uitin c-term	inal hvdrolase	L1: NSE. neuro	n-specific enola	se: NfL. neurofil	ament light.	

5.7 BIOMARKERS IN PREDICTING FAVOURABLE OUTCOME

We evaluated cutoffs corresponding to very high sensitivity in identifying unfavourable outcome. When a very sensitive test is used, a negative test result (i.e. a biomarker concentration below the cutoff level) has a high negative predictive value. Thus, these cutoffs can be used to identify patients with a high likelihood of favourable outcome.

In Study II, when targeting 99% sensitivity for UCH-L1, the cutoff was 4.1 ng/mL at 24 h (p = 0.063) and 6.4 ng/mL at 48 h (p = 0.039). The corresponding specificities were 7% (95% CI 2–11%) at both time points, and the NPVs were 80% (55–100 %) at 24 h and 89% (68–100 %) at 48 h.

In the COMACARE population (Study III), an NfL cutoff of 30 pg/mL at 24–48 h and 27 pg/mL at 72 h resulted in 100% sensitivity, meaning that no individual below those cutoffs had unfavourable outcome (p < 0.001 for all time points). The corresponding specificities were 79% (69–88%) at 24 h, 74% (64–84%) at 48 h, and 69% (58–79%) at 72 h, and the NPVs were 100% at 24–72h.

In the FINNRESUSCI population (Study IV), NfL cutoff of 18.5 pg/mL at 24 h and 14 pg/mL at 48 h resulted in 99% sensitivity (p<0.001 at 24h, p=0.006 at 48h). The corresponding specificities were 32% (23-40%) and 12% (6-18%), and the NPVs were 97% (92-100%) and 92% (78-100%), respectively. For NSE at 48 h, the cutoff for 99% sensitivity was 2.7 μ g/L, with a resulting specificity of 6% (2-10%) and a NPV of 88% (65-100%) (p=0.062). When using the highest normal biomarker values (55 pg/mL for NfL; 17 μ g/L for NSE), the sensitivity for NfL was 86% at 24 h and 87% at 48 h, and for NSE, it was 54% (p<0.001 for all). The corresponding specifities were 74% (66-82%) and 67% (58-76%) for NfL and 90% (85-95%) for NSE.

6 DISCUSSION

6.1 SUMMARY OF MAIN FINDINGS

In the FINNRESUSCI patients, we found that the ability of NSE to predict unfavourable 12-month outcome after OHCA was dependent on the patient's age and time from collapse to ROSC. NSE had an excellent prognostic ability in the youngest patients and in those with the longest resuscitation time. However, for the oldest patients and for those with shortest ROSC time, the prognostic ability of NSE was poor. UCH-L1 demonstrated only moderate prognostic ability in the same population and did not present any benefits compared to NSE. In the third study of the same population, NfL had superior prognostic ability compared to that of NSE and UCH-L1. The prognostic ability of NfL was satisfactory even for the oldest patients and for those with the shortest time from collapse to ROSC; it was also superior to that of NSE.

In the COMACARE population, NfL predicted unfavourable 6-month neurological outcome with excellent accuracy. The AUROCs were 0.98 at 24-72 h, significantly better than those of NSE and S100B. The median NfL concentrations were 100-fold greater for patients with unfavourable outcome compared to those with favourable outcome. Moreover, NfL levels were unaffected by haemolysis, whereas NSE concentrations were significantly higher in haemolysed samples. Interestingly, NfL levels were significantly lower in the higher MAP group than in the lower MAP group at 48 and 72 h. NfL demonstrated sufficient ability in predicting favourable outcome in both study populations.

6.2 ASSESSING NEUROLOGICAL PROGNOSIS WITH BIOMARKERS

Several studies have provided evidence that the neuronal injury biomarker NSE is suitable for predicting neurological outcome after CA ^{179,184,188-190}, as recommended in the ERC-ESICM guidelines ⁶. Overall, the prognostic ability of NSE in the largest studies was good to excellent, with AUROCs of 0.85–

0.90 ^{179,184}. We found a clearly worse AUROC of 0.72 at 48 h for NSE in the FINNRESUSCI patients. In one previous study, NSE had even poorer prognostic ability than that found in our study, but different outcome definitions confound the comparability ¹⁸⁶. In the highly selected COMACARE population that included only patients with shockable rhythms, NSE predicted unfavourable outcome with a higher AUROC of 0.89 at 72 h. This is comparable to the prognostic accuracy of NSE in the FINNRESUSCI patients in the youngest age quartile (18–53 years) and in those with the longest resuscitation time (\geq 29 min; i.e., in the patients we assume to be less likely to have restricted treatments and whose cause of death was more likely to be HIBI than extracerebral causes). Our findings are in line with other studies, suggesting good prognostic ability for NSE, however with some caution in the oldest patients and in those with short resuscitation time.

For UCH-L1, we found only limited prognostic value that was not significantly different to that of NSE. Contrary to our findings, some previous studies have reported good to excellent prognostic accuracy for UCH-L1.^{205,206}. In a recent study of OHCA patients, where analyses were made in both CSF and serum, UCH-L1 had an excellent ability to predict sixmont outcome ²⁷⁷. We used ELISA for UCH-L1 analyses unlike two of these studies that used the novel SIMOA platform ²⁰⁵. In addition, the commercial ELISA kit in the study by Ebner et al. was different than in our study ²⁰⁶. This may reduce the comparability of studies. The worse prognostic ability of UCH-L1 in the FINNRESUSCI population compared to that of the TTM population is, however, in line with the worse ability of NSE in the current study ¹⁷⁹. Studies suggesting the usefulness of UCH-L1 in prognostication after CA are few, and our results do not support the use of UCH-L1 in prognostication after OHCA.

In comparison to the traditional biomarker NSE, S100B in the COMACARE population had satisfactory prognostic ability (AUROC 0.77). That prognostic ability is poorer than what has been found in some other studies ^{114,214}. Several features do not support the use of S100B. Firstly, S100B may reflect glial activation and BBB disruption rather than HIBI ^{216,217}. Secondly, it is expressed in cardiomyocytes, muscle cells, and
chondrocytes, which can be extracerebral sources of error after CPR ²¹¹. Thirdly, its overall prognostic ability is not superior to that of NSE. Hence, our findings do not support the use of S100B in assessing long-term outcome after OHCA.

Among the biomarkers in the current study, the axonal marker NfL clearly had the best prognostic accuracy in both study populations. In the FINNRESUSCI study, the AUROCs were 0.88–0.90, and in the COMACARE study, the AUROCs were 0.98 between 24–72 h, which means close to optimal discriminative ability. The prognostic accuracy of NfL in the FINNRESUSCI population was slightly poorer than in the TTM population ¹³⁴, however. Our results in both study populations support the superiority of NfL over other biomarkers in assessing neurological prognosis after OHCA and strengthen the evidence in line with findings of the TTM study. ¹³⁴. Moreover, we found excellent prognostic accuracy of NfL in the unselected FINNRESUSCI population, which is an important addition to the findings of the TTM substudy and the current COMACARE substudy that both included selected OHCA patients.

Some recent studies on NfL have also demonstrated excellent prognostic ability. In a study by Levin et al., NfL predicted unfavourable outcome with an AUROCs of 0.93 at 12 h and 0.97 at 48 h for OHCA patients ²⁷⁸. In another study in Korea by Song et al. on OHCA patients whose life-sustaining therapies were not restricted, decreasing the risk of self-fulfilling prophecy, NfL had the best prognostic accuracy compared to NSE, S100B, GFAP, Tau, and UCH-L1, with AUROCs of 0.90–0.95 at 24–72 h ²⁷⁷. Ultra-early measurement of NfL presented worse prognostic ability in both of those studies, in accordance with our findings. The kinetics of NfL seem to be that significant release into the circulation starts about 12 h after CA and continues to 24–48 h until the stable phase.

As a comparison between axonal biomarkers, Tau had an AUROCs of 0.93–0.95 at 48–72 h in the same COMACARE population than in the current study ²³⁴, also inferior to what we assessed for NfL. In accordance, a meta-analysis by Hoiland et al. on neurobiomarkers after CA summarised that the prognostic ability of NfL was superior to that of Tau ¹⁸⁷.

Accordingly, NfL had better prognostic ability than Tau in the TTM patients ^{134,237}, and so far, has presented superior accuracy among axonal markers.

In the TTM substudy, brainstem reflexes, N20 SSEP, EEG, and brain CT were compared to NfL with cutoff values with similarly high specificities ¹³⁴. NfL was the most robust predictor of unfavourable outcome, with 29–49% higher sensitivity than other methods. High specificities can be defined for almost all methods, but simultaneous high sensitivity is possible only for the methods that have high discriminative ability. The AUROCs near 1.00 at three time points in the current COMACARE substudy and the significantly better prognostic accuracy of NfL compared to NSE in the FINNRESUSCI patients are consistent with the TTM results suggesting that NfL has great potential to complement prognostication of CA patients when used alongside recommended methods.

6.2.1 Comparison of the populations

For the biomarkers evaluated in this study, the prognostic abilities were weaker in the FINNRESUSCI population than in the COMACARE population. Likewise, the prognostic abilities in the FINNRESUSCI population were weaker than those in the TTM population ¹³⁴, whereas the prognostic abilities in the COMACARE population were comparable to those in the TTM population. The worse prognostic ability of neurobiomarkers in the FINNRESUSCI population probably reflects differences in the study populations, as FINNRESUSCI included patients with all types of OHCA, while COMACARE and TTM included only those with a presumed cardiac cause of OHCA. The proportion of patients with unfavourable outcome was 39% in the COMACARE study, which included a highly selected OHCA population of adult patients \leq 80 years with shockable rhythms, a confirmed or suspected cardiac cause of CA, and a resuscitation time between 10-45 min. FINNRESUSCI included OHCA patients with shockable and nonshockable rhythms and all types of CA. In the current analysis that included 249 of the 504 FINNRESUSCI patients, the percentage of patients with unfavourable outcome was higher than in the COMACARE study (49%). However, in the original FINNRESUSCI study, the proportion of

patients with unfavourable outcome was even greater (69%), probably due to the lower percentage of shockable rhythms (56% in the whole population compared to 71% in the current post hoc analysis) ⁴⁸. This selection was necessitated by the greater availability of blood samples from patients with shockable rhythms, making our population somewhat different than a real-life population. Another possible explanation for lower prognostic abilities of biomarkers in the FINNRESUSCI study compared to the COMACARE and some other studies is the time of outcome assessment: in many other studies ^{102,179,185,189} and in the COMACARE study, outcome was assessed at six months, whereas in FINNRESUSCI, outcome was assessed at 12 months.

6.2.2 Cutoff values

For use in clinical decision making, a cutoff value must have high specificity so that false positive results (i.e., incorrect conclusions of an unfavourable prognosis) are avoided. However, clinical usefulness also necessitates a reasonably good sensitivity, and the requirement of a very high specificity tends to lead to low sensitivities. The variation among the optimal cutoffs of NSE in a wide variety of studies is high ^{179,184,185,188,190}. Extensive information on NSE and its cutoffs exists, and it is clear that optimal cutoffs can vary widely among studies and populations; also, the validation of cutoffs may be necessary in different countries.

In the FINNRESUSCI analysis, by targeting 99% specificity, we defined an NSE cutoff of 37 µg/L at 48 h to predict unfavourable outcome, which had 36% sensitivity. This cutoff is close to that described earlier ^{188,189} but lower than that in the ERC-ESICM guidelines ⁶ and some other studies ^{184,185}. In the COMACARE analysis, the NSE cutoff for 100% specificity was 40 µg/L with a sensitivity of 51% (data not published before). When we used a demand of 0% FPR (i.e., 100% specificity) in the FINNRESUSCI study, the cutoff rose to 68 µg/L, and the sensitivity decreased to 17% (data not published before). Very few patients with an NSE level over 40 µg/L survived in both studies, but when we targeted an FPR of 0%, the sensitivity of NSE decreased significantly, and this cutoff could identify only some of

the patients with favourable outcome. Furthermore, this cutoff resulted in a high number of false negatives. Thus, some patients whose NSE was between 40–67 μ g/L had favourable outcome (false positives), but many of those with NSE under 68 μ g/L had unfavourable outcome (false negatives).

When increasing the cutoff by targeting 100% specificity, the sensitivity deteriorates, and cutoffs of even 80–112 µg/L have been defined for NSE ^{102,184,185}. Our study also demonstrates how requiring a specificity of 100% instead of 99% increases the cutoff level remarkably. Moreover, as previously shown, too high a specificity requirement for a method with limited accuracy results in limited sensitivity, and slightly lower (98–99%) specificity thresholds can be more useful from a clinical aspect ¹¹⁴, especially when the method in question is part of multimodal prognostication. The recommended NSE cutoff of 60 µg/L in the ERC-ESICM guidelines corresponds to 99–100% specificity in unfavourable outcome prediction in both populations of the study, though with rather low sensitivity. In Study II, UCH-L1 showed how a method with limited discriminative ability can have a 95–99% specificity for a cutoff but an unusable 9–18% sensitivity.

The superior discriminative ability of NfL over NSE offers the possibility of utilising a cutoff with a very high specificity (99–100%) and a simultaneously high sensitivity. Few studies offer cutoff values for NfL in prognostication after CA, and the TTM study is the best one to compare our results with. For cutoffs defined with a specificity of 99%, we assessed sensitivities of 54-60% in the FINNRESUSCI study and even 78-85% in the COMACARE study, showing that NfL can identify many of the true positive cases with a minimal number of false positive results. We defined much lower cutoffs for 99% specificity in the COMACARE study (127-344 pg/mL) than in the corresponding levels in the FINNRESUSCI study (589-721 pg/mL); the FINNRESUSCI levels are more comparable to those in the TTM study (641–1,122 pg/mL) 134 and a recent study by Song et al. (521–690 pg/mL) ²⁷⁷. In two small studies, the cutoffs with 100% specificity were 323– 405 pg/mL ²⁶⁷ and 500 pg/mL ²⁷⁰. Lowering the target specificity to 95% enabled the cutoffs to be 154-590 pg/mL in the TTM study. The COMACARE population was highly selected and rather small, lowering the possibility of

outliers and probably resulting in better discriminative ability, that can be seen as lower cutoffs for a high specificity.

To date, the use of NfL is not recommended in the current guidelines because of a lack of evidence, and useful cutoffs with very high specificities have been not provided. According to our findings and current knowledge, it appears that levels above 600–700 pg/mL can find many true positive individuals (high NfL and unfavourable outcome) with only a minimal number of false positives (high NfL and favourable outcome). When using NfL, the cutoff can be set at a level corresponding to very high specificity, and the sensitivity is still rather good. However, the number of published studies about the association of NfL with prognosis of resuscitated patients is still limited, and more research is needed before decisions about adequate cutoffs can be made.

6.2.3 Pitfalls in prognostication

The prognostication guidelines do not suggest using pre-hospital parameters (e.g., shockability of the rhythm and resuscitation time) in the assessment of outcome ^{6,49}. Clinical models could help in assessing pre-test probability ⁷ but this kind of prognostication model has not been adopted in prognostication after CA and is not suggested in the guidelines. However, pre-hospital resuscitation and patient features can be used intuitively, though this creates a risk of care restriction and self-fulfilling prophecy when the "gut feeling" indicates unfavourable outcome. For as many as 21–25% of resuscitated patients, life support may be withdrawn early, and these patients have a very high mortality. However, matched cohorts with similar resuscitation and comorbidity features suggest probabilities of 16-21% for favourable functional outcome in this kind of patient ^{9,117}.

Another problem is deviation from the guideline-recommended multimodal prognostication, as demonstrated in a recent study of IHCA patients in the United States by Elmer et al. They found that adequate neurological prognostication was performed for only a minority of the patients ²⁷⁹. In the European TTM study, contrary to the findings of Elmer et al., protocol-driven prognostication was significantly more common ⁹⁹. Moreover, all the COMACARE patients in the current study that had WLST because of a presumed unfavourable outcome had been examined utilising at least one imaging or electrophysiological exam, and the interquartile range of time to death among these patients was 3–7 days, suggesting that early WLST was not common in our study. This is likely decreasing the risk of self-fulfilling prophecy and biased results.

However, the weakness of the ERC-ESICM guidelines that gives indeterminate outcome predictions occurs in Europe, too. One problem with prognostication performed according to the ERC-ESICM guidelines is the high number of patients who do not wake up but who do not fulfil the criteria of unfavourable outcome; they are categorised into indeterminate outcome ¹⁵. This obviously reflects the limited sensitivity of recommended methods, and the indeterminate prognosis in comatose patients is likely to increase the risk of WLST. However, highly sensitive NfL has potential to reduce proportion of indeterminate prognoses if adopted to clinical prognostication strategies.

An additional area of uncertainty is the optimal follow-up time for patients who do not wake up until day 3. The avoidance of WLST can result in a considerable number of patients who survived with unfavourable neurological function, but severe neurological deficits are not uncommon in countries that make WLST decisions ⁷. The balance between avoiding unnecessary WLST and futilely continuing care in patients with indeterminate outcome is difficult.

An early, highly sensitive method could facilitate decision making regarding the continuation of the care until multimodal prognostication at day 3 if test results indicate some probability of favourable outcome. In the TTM analysis, NfL had a very high sensitivity and the lowest false negative rate among all neurobiomarkers (including NSE) for normal values in prediction of unfavourable outcome ¹⁵. Similarly, we found that NfL as a sensitive marker with early release into the circulation after HIBI can predict favourable outcome. In the COMACARE analysis, NfL levels below 27–30 pg/mL had 100% sensitivity and NPV in predicting unfavourable outcome).

In the FINNRESUSCI analysis, NfL below 18.5 pg/mL at 24 h and 24 pg/mL at 48 h resulted in a sensitivity of 99%, and when using the highest normal NfL level (55 pg/mL) as the cutoff, the sensitivities were still useful at 86–87%. Targeting a high sensitivity of NSE resulted in a very low cutoff level and low specificity, making the test useless for this purpose. Our findings suggests that NfL is capable to detect individuals with a high probability of favourable outcome, whereas NSE seems not to be sensitive enough.

Interestingly, we found a rising trend of NfL levels with increasing resuscitation time among patients with favourable outcome in the FINNRESUSCI group. Moreover, NfL levels were two-fold greater in patients with CPC 2 than those with CPC 1 in the COMACARE study (data not shown) and three- to four-fold greater in the FINNRESUSCI study (data not shown). Higher NfL levels in CPC 2 patients and in those with a long resuscitation time suggest that NfL is a sensitive enough biomarker to separate asymptomatic individuals from those with mild HIBI. Mildly elevated NfL may be a way to detect patients who survive but are likely to suffer neurological and psychiatric symptoms and need rehabilitation. A novel strategy with two-dimensional prognostication utilising sensitive methods could narrow the gap between certainty and uncertainty of prognosis ¹⁰. So far, the NfL analyses are not yet available in daily clinical practice, but in the future NfL will probably improve the prognostication of CA patients, and it may also become cost-saving if the lengths of ICU stay of patients with hopeless prognosis become shorter. However, our findings on NfL predicting favourable outcome need further validation, as does the role of NfL in assessing milder neurological deficits.

6.3 CONFOUNDING ASPECTS OF BIOMARKERS

6.3.1 Age

We found NSE to be a poor predictor of neurological outcome in patients who were ≥72 years old. To date and to the best of our knowledge, no other studies focusing on the impact of age on NSE levels after CA exist. The studies examining NSE in different ages is controversial, however with a trend towards increasing levels with aging ²⁸⁰. In the current study, as NfL levels in the same population presented similar age-dependence for prognostic ability, it is possible that the phenomenon merely reflects the FINNRESUSCI study population. Because neurobiomarkers can reliably discriminate individuals according to HIBI ¹⁸⁷ but not according to extracerebral reasons for unfavourable outcome, we can hypothesise that some of the oldest patients died for reasons other than HIBI. Unfortunately, data on causes of death were not collected from the FINNRESUSCI patients. Nonetheless, our findings suggest in some caution when using NSE in prognostication among the oldest.

We found no differences in ROSC time or proportion of cardiac causes of CA in different age quartiles. In the oldest patient quartile (median age 77 years), unfavourable outcome was more common: 61% compared to 38–40% in two younger quartiles. This probably reflects the poorer overall capacity of the elderly to maintain homeostasis after CA. In the oldest old (≥85 years) patients that were treated in ICUs in Finland, Pietiläinen et al. found that premorbid poor functional status almost doubled the one-year mortality ²⁸¹, which likely increased the proportion of unfavourable outcome in the oldest age group in our study. We did not report comorbidities that can worsen survival after CA ⁴³, but elderly individuals are more likely to have a greater accumulation of severe underlying diseases ³⁵, which possibly affected our results, presented as weaker discriminative ability of the biomarkers that release into the circulation after HIBI.

Like NSE, NfL had worse discriminative ability in the oldest patients. Aging is a quite well-known factor that increases NfL blood concentrations by about 2% per year ^{253,282}. This is supposedly associated with brain degeneration during aging. However, the differences in NfL concentrations between younger (20–40 years) and older (70–80 years) people were not very prominent in a study by Fitzgerald et al. that included individuals without neurological disorders. For younger individuals, the concentrations were about 10 pg/mL, and for older, the concentrations were 20–30 pg/mL ²⁵³. This difference was significant but clearly not as great as what we found between OHCA patients with unfavourable and favourable outcome. The median NfL concentrations in both study populations were 10–35 pg/mL in patients with favourable neurological outcome, which is comparable to concentrations in individuals with no neurological disorders.

Many neurodegenerative disorders slightly increase NfL concentrations ^{256–258}, and dementia is more common in the elderly. Dementia also worsens survival after OHCA ³³. Thus, dementia provides an additional explanation for worse survival in the oldest patients and worse discriminative ability of neurobiomarkers in the oldest individuals. We hypothesise that the narrow difference in NfL of the oldest patients according to outcome reflects the increasing effect of age on NfL levels and the assumed greater burden of comorbidities and frailty that results in an increased number of deaths caused by reasons other than HIBI. However, NfL had moderate prognostic value in the oldest patients contrary to NSE, making those confounders less significant for NfL than for NSE.

One novel, clinically relevant finding in OHCA patients in the current study was the significantly greater NfL level together with greater age in patients with favourable neurological outcome. Our findings on the impact of age on NfL levels supports earlier studies and suggests caution in interpreting mildly/moderately elevated NfL concentrations when assessing HIBI after CA in elderly patients. Age correction may be helpful when using NfL in prognostication, but this topic needs more investigation.

6.3.2 Other confounding factors

Many other brain injuries cause blood concentrations of brain-specific biomarkers to rise ^{13,14,181,182,201,202,262}, and UCH-L1 is used as a marker of TBI ^{197,199}. Hence, previous brain injury can possibly affect concentrations of neurobiomarkers. NfL seems to have a very long biological half-time, and significantly elevated concentrations after TBI have been measured several months after trauma ^{262,263}. NfL levels decrease between 1–3- and 6-month measurement times after TBI and HIBI, being still five-fold greater than in healthy controls ²⁸³. Previous brain injury within weeks—or, in the case of NfL, within months—before CA can probably affect biomarker levels and

possibly weaken their prognostic accuracy. However, no studies so far have reported data about this.

Chronic renal failure can increase concentrations of both NSE and NfL and is an additional source of error in prognostication after CA ^{253,284}. This is probably caused by the large molecular weight of NSE and NfL (about 70 kDa). Biomarkers that are released into the blood may be eliminated mostly via the kidneys, but hepatic and intravascular clearance may also occur ²⁶⁵. The clearance rate of blood protein biomarkers depends on their molecular weight—faster for smaller molecular weights and slower for higher molecular weights; up to 70 kDa, the slowing is linear ²⁶⁵. For molecules larger than 70 kDa, the clearance rate decreases more rapidly, likely because this is the molecular weight of plasma proteins (albumin), and kidney glomeruli retain those larger molecules in the blood ²⁸⁵. UCH-L1 has a low molecular weight (25–27 kDa) which means rapid renal clearance. However, it is expressed in the podocytes in kidneys, making higher concentrations possible in patients with kidney disorders ¹⁹³. UCH-L1 concentrations in the FINNRESUSCI patients was correlated with creatinine levels and urine output (results not published), supporting the impact of kidney diseases on UCH-L1 levels as potential confounders.

In addition to age and kidney diseases, other factors that can increase NfL levels and confound the assessment of HIBI after CA are higher blood haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) and overall comorbidity burden ²⁵³. Diabetic polyneuropathy also increases NfL levels ²⁸⁶ and is likely associated with higher HbA1c.

6.3.3 Haemolysis

Red blood cells and thrombocytes contain NSE, and haemolysis is a significant confounder of NSE, causing its blood levels to rise. Mechanical stress on red blood cells and thrombocytes in haemodialysis and mechanical circulatory support causes haemolysis ^{287,288}. Elevated NSE levels have been found in patients treated with mechanical circulatory support ^{219,289} and haemodialysis ^{290,291} due to haemolysis. Many other conditions, transfusion ²⁹², and even blood sampling technique can cause

haemolysis ²⁹³. Thus, the risk of misleadingly elevated NSE levels due to haemolysis in resuscitated patients remains real, likely affecting its prognostic reliability. We found a significant correlation between haemolysis and higher NSE levels in the COMACARE patients ¹¹. Detectable haemolysis was common (35% of the samples), but significant haemolysis was rare. Importantly, NfL was not altered by haemolysis, confirming the findings of the TTM substudy ¹³⁴. It is unknown how haemodialysis or circulatory support affects NfL concentrations. However, as NfL is not sensitive to haemolysis, it is likely that those treatments have no effect on NfL.

6.4 HIBI AND NEUROBIOMARKERS

6.4.1 Axonal injury

In addition to neuronal injury, axonal injury markers can be released into the circulation after HIBI ¹⁸⁷. Neurons use three-fold more energy per unit weight than WM (mainly axons), and it is understandable that the neurons, as structures consuming more energy and being highly metabolically active, are less tolerant to ischemia than WM ⁶¹. The difference in energy consumption can be explained by an 80-fold greater amount of synapses, which are responsible for the majority of energy consumption ⁶¹. Neurofilaments are involved in neuronal synapses ²⁹⁴ and of them, NfL is expressed in the GABAergic and glutaminergic synapses in the brain cortex and more likely in postsynaptic axons ²⁹⁵. The elimination of neurofilaments disturbs synaptic plasticity ²⁹⁶.

NfL levels after TBI and HIBI can be elevated months after injury, and levels are higher in those with HIBI ²⁸³. The mechanism of prolonged NfL release and suspected WM neurodegeneration after HIBI is unclear. Traumatic diffuse axonal injury can cause secondary neurodegeneration and WM loss ²⁹⁷, and it is possible that HIBI can similarly trigger neurodegeneration, thus explaining long-standing highly elevated NfL levels. A 5-year follow-up of older adults demonstrated a clear association between NfL and degeneration of WM on brain MRI ²⁹⁸. In CA patients, WM anisotropy of the brain on MRI shows excellent prognostic ability at 7–21 days after CA, supporting the importance of WM injury in prognosis ⁸⁴. The findings of the current study on high release of NfL after HIBI, in accordance with other studies ^{134,270,277,278}, support the impact of axonal injury in HIBI. Moreover, great release of NfL in patients with HIBI, together with previous physiological knowledge regarding NfL expression in metabolically active synapses, suggest the hypothesis that synaptic injury can occur in HIBI. This may be an additional explanation for the superior discriminative ability of the axonal marker NfL.

6.4.2 Secondary HIBI

Hoiland et al. studied the arterial and jugular vein gradients of several neuroglial biomarkers of patients with ongoing (secondary) HIBI, which was defined with low PbtO₂ ⁸². Neuroglial biomarkers and the inflammatory marker Interleukin 6 (IL6) were high in patients with low PbtO₂ and secondary HIBI compared to those with normal PbtO₂ and HIBI, whereas global ischemic markers were not different, suggesting that neuroinflammation participates in a process that can cause secondary HIBI ⁸². In the COMACARE population, inflammatory markers were associated with a disturbed 48 h continuous EEG, suggesting some level of association between neuroinflammation and secondary HIBI; however, those markers were not significantly associated with unfavourable outcome when compared to NfL ²⁹⁹. In the current study, S100B, which can reflect neuroinflammation and BBB injury, did not have a good prognostic ability, whereas the highly predictive nature of NfL makes it more likely that axonal injury plays a significant role in HIBI.

The exact mechanism of secondary HIBI, its impact on neurological prognosis, and the role of inflammation remain somewhat unclear. Regarding different oxygen and carbon dioxide targets, COMACARE did not find any differences in outcome ⁵⁸. The recent analysis of the TTM2 trial also demonstrated no impact of carbon dioxide on outcome, whereas hypo- and hyperoxaemia increased mortality ^{300,301}. Similarly, NfL levels did

not differ in the current study in patients with different oxygen and carbon dioxide targets.

6.4.3 Blood pressure in HIBI

Interestingly, we found a possible indirect demonstration of the effects of blood pressure on secondary HIBI in the COMACARE analysis, as there were lower NfL levels at 48–72 h after CA in patients who were treated with higher blood pressure targets. The median NfL concentration was 63 pg/mL at 72 h in patients who were treated with lower blood pressure targets (65–75 mmHg), whereas the median NfL concentration was 23 pg/mL when higher blood pressure (80–100 mmHg) was targeted. The increase of NfL levels from baseline (ICU admission) to 72 h was two-fold in the higher blood pressure group and almost six-fold in those with lower blood pressure. Although NSE levels in the original study did not differ in those groups, and neurological outcome was similar ⁵⁹, NfL as a very sensitive marker may reflect milder HIBI in the higher blood pressure group, suggesting that higher blood pressure may be beneficial.

The association between higher MAP and lower NfL concentrations must be understood as a hypothesis-generating finding that is also clinically important. The differences between NfL and NSE according to MAP targets can be explained by the superiority of NfL over NSE in discriminating patients according to neurological outcome. Moreover, NfL is a more sensitive marker of neurological injury than NSE and has demonstrated a high capacity to exclude severe HIBI.

Other studies that have examined the effect of higher blood pressure after CA have not demonstrated differences in outcomes. In a study by Ameloot et al., no differences in brain injuries on MRI were detected; however, they did not assess WM injuries ³⁰². In a large study by Kjaergaard et al., the MAP targets of 63 mmHg and 77 mmHg had no impact on either neurological outcome or NSE levels ⁵⁷. A notable issue in this study was the small MAP difference between groups, making significant differences in the outcomes more difficult to detect.

6.5 LIMITATIONS

This study has some limitations. Firstly, post-hoc studies on resuscitated patients run a risk of self-fulfilling prophecy if the clinicians responsible for decision making are aware of the results of the biomarker analyses. The prognostication methods examined here focus on detecting unfavourable neurological outcome, and there is always a risk that findings from secondary analyses will repeat the errors in the primary analyses, as prognostication methods typically correlate strongly. However, NSE analyses were not available in prognostication during the FINNRESUSCI in 12 of 21 participating hospitals, which treated 64.7% of the patients.

Moreover, all NfL analyses in the FINNRESUSCI and COMACARE have been made post hoc, and these data were not available during the prognostication of the patients. Secondly, the FINNRESUSCI study was conducted in 2010–2011, and both post-CA treatment and prognostication have changed since then, possibly having some impact on generalisability of the results to the current practice. However, this is not affecting the observed differences between prognostic abilities of biomarkers. Thirdly, we did not have data on the cause of death of the FINNRESUSCI patients, and we did not know the exact prognostication methods used for each patient. Fourth, we had blood samples from about half the FINNRESUSCI patients, and Studies I, II, and IV include more patients with a shockable initial rhythm compared to other FINNRESUSCI patients, affecting other characteristics and causing a risk of bias. Fifth, the blood samples after the FINNRESUSCI study were thawed and analysed several years after freezing. However, the studied biomarkers are stable ^{303–305}. Sixth, the age and ROSC subgroups were rather small. Seventh, the number of patients in Study III was small, especially in the intervention groups. However, the outcomes were reliably assessed, strengthening the results of biomarker use in assessing HIBI and making comparison to other studies meaningful.

6.6 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The main finding of this study is the strong prognostic accuracy and potential of NfL in the assessment of neurological prognosis after OHCA. NSE is an established part of multimodal prognostication. NfL demonstrated superior prognostic ability in this study, as it has done in some other studies, but the identification of optimal cutoff values needs more research before NfL can be recommended in guidelines. Additionally, prognostication according to the current ERC-ESICM results in several individuals being assessed as having indeterminate prognosis, as prognostication focuses on finding unfavourable outcome with highly specific methods and their cutoffs. As the prediction of favourable outcome is a novel approach, it needs validation, but it would narrow the gap between certainty and uncertainty of prognosis if adapted to the prognostication guidelines in the future. In addition, clinical models utilising prehospital resuscitation and patient-related features and machine learning have the potential to complement prognostication ⁷. So far, there is little evidence about the usefulness of artificial intelligence (AI) in decision-making concerning patients resuscitated from CA, but the prospects are fascinating ³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁸. As NfL improved the prognostic ability of clinical models in this study and has great prognostic accuracy, its additional value could be beneficial in other models. A recent study suggests that combining clinical and and biomarker data (including NfL as the most promising biomarker) with AI may be useful ³⁰⁹. In the near future, the pre-planned biomarker analysis of the TTM2 trial will be published, offering more results with NfL in addition to other biomarkers 310

One interesting aspect was the effect of higher blood pressure on NfL levels, which is still a single observation. In the future, the multi-centre factorial Sedation, Temperature, and Pressure after Cardiac Arrest and REsuscitation (STEPCARE) trial (NCT05564754) is planned to recruit over 3,000 resuscitated participants and will investigate the effects of sedation, temperature, and blood pressure on outcome. This large study will hopefully give conclusive answers on blood pressure targets. Moreover, it will utilise NfL levels. When the results of STEPCARE and the TTM-2 are completed, our knowledge of NfL as a potential neurobiomarker will be much greater.

7 CONCLUSIONS

The four studies in this work assessed the usefulness of three neurobiomarkers (NSE, UCH-L1, and NfL) in prognostication in two different OHCA populations (the FINNRESUSCI and the COMACARE). According to our findings, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- NSE predicted unfavourable long-term outcome with excellent accuracy in the youngest patients (18–53 years) and with good accuracy in those with the longest time from collapse to ROSC (≥ 29 min). NSE had a poor ability to predict outcome after OHCA in the oldest patients (≥ 72 years) and in those with the shortest time from collapse to ROSC (≤ 13 min; Study I).
- 2) UCH-L1 had a moderate ability to predict unfavourable long-term outcome after OHCA and did not offer any benefits in prognostication compared to NSE (Study II).
- 3) NfL predicted unfavourable long-term outcome with excellent accuracy, which was significantly better than that of NSE (Studies III and IV). Neither low-normal PaO₂ or PaCO₂ targets had an impact on NfL concentrations. NfL concentrations were significantly lower in the higher MAP group (80–100 mmHg) than in the lower MAP group (65–75 mmHg; Study III).

REFERENCES

- Gräsner JT, Wnent J, Herlitz J, et al. Survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Europe - Results of the EuReCa TWO study. Resuscitation 2020;148:218–226; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2019.12.042.
- Nolan JP, Ferrando P, Soar J, et al. Increasing survival after admission to UK critical care units following cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Crit Care 2016;20(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-016-1390-6.
- Thomassen A, Wernberg M. Prevalence and prognostic significance of coma after cardiac arrest outside intensive care and coronary units. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1979;23(2):143–148; doi: 10.1111/J.1399-6576.1979.TB01434.X.
- 4. Sandroni C, Cronberg T, Sekhon M. Brain injury after cardiac arrest: pathophysiology, treatment, and prognosis. Intensive Care Med 2021;47(12):1393–1414; doi: 10.1007/S00134-021-06548-2.
- Lemiale V, Dumas F, Mongardon N, et al. Intensive care unit mortality after cardiac arrest: the relative contribution of shock and brain injury in a large cohort. Intensive Care Med 2013;39(11):1972–1980; doi: 10.1007/S00134-013-3043-4.
- Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Böttiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine Guidelines 2021: Post-resuscitation care. Resuscitation 2021;161:220–269; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.02.012.
- Hessulf F, Bhatt DL, Engdahl J, et al. Predicting survival and neurological outcome in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest using machine learning: the SCARS model. EBioMedicine 2023;89; doi: 10.1016/J.EBIOM.2023.104464.
- Rossetti AO, Rabinstein AA, Oddo M. Neurological prognostication of outcome in patients in coma after cardiac arrest. Lancet Neurol 2016;15(6):597–609; doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00015-6.
- 9. Elmer J, Torres C, Aufderheide TP, et al. Association of early withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy for perceived neurological

prognosis with mortality after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2016;102:127–135; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2016.01.016.

- Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Cacciola S, et al. Prediction of Good Neurological Outcome in Comatose Survivors of Cardiac Arrest: A Systematic Review. Intensive Care Med 2022;48(4):389–413; doi: 10.1007/s00134-022-06618-z.
- Pfeifer R, Ferrari M, Börner A, et al. Serum concentration of NSE and S-100b during LVAD in non-resuscitated patients. Resuscitation 2008;79(1):46–53; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2008.04.016.
- 12. Esscher T, Steinholtz L, Bergh J, et al. Neurone specific enolase: a useful diagnostic serum marker for small cell carcinoma of the lung. Thorax 1985;40(2):85–90; doi: 10.1136/THX.40.2.85.
- Schaarschmidt H, Prange HW, Reiber H. Neuron-specific enolase concentrations in blood as a prognostic parameter in cerebrovascular diseases. Stroke 1994;25(3):558–565; doi: 10.1161/01.STR.25.3.558.
- Skogseid IM, Nordby HK, Urdal P, et al. Increased serum creatine kinase BB and neuron specific enolase following head injury indicates brain damage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1992;115(3–4):106– 111; doi: 10.1007/BF01406367.
- 15. Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson-Carlgren N, Stammet P, et al. Serum markers of brain injury can predict good neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:984–994; doi: 10.1007/s00134-021-06481-4.
- Gräsner JT, Herlitz J, Tjelmeland IBM, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Epidemiology of cardiac arrest in Europe. Resuscitation 2021;161:61–79; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.02.007.
- Kiguchi T, Okubo M, Nishiyama C, et al. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest across the World: First report from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR). Resuscitation 2020;152:39–49; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.02.044.
- 18. Yan S, Gan Y, Jiang N, et al. The global survival rate among adult outof-hospital cardiac arrest patients who received cardiopulmonary

resuscitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care 2020;24(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-020-2773-2.

- Gräsner JT, Herlitz J, Tjelmeland IBM, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Epidemiology of cardiac arrest in Europe. Resuscitation 2021;161:61–79; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.02.007.
- Hiltunen P, Kuisma M, Silfvast T, et al. Regional variation and outcome of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (ohca) in Finland - the Finnresusci study. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2012;20; doi: 10.1186/1757-7241-20-80.
- Spaulding CM, Joly L-M, Rosenberg A, et al. Immediate coronary angiography in survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 1997;336(23):1629–1633; doi: 10.1056/NEJM199706053362302.
- 22. Jerkeman M, Sultanian P, Lundgren P, et al. Trends in survival after cardiac arrest: a Swedish nationwide study over 30 years. Eur Heart J 2022;43(46):4817–4829; doi: 10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHAC414.
- 23. Engdahl J, Holmberg M, Karlson BW, et al. The epidemiology of outof-hospital "sudden" cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2002;52(3):235– 245; doi: 10.1016/S0300-9572(01)00464-6.
- 24. Chen N, Callaway CW, Guyette FX, et al. Arrest etiology among patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2018;130:33–40; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.06.024.
- Sasson C, Rogers MAM, Dahl J, et al. Predictors of survival from outof-hospital cardiac arrest: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2010;3(1):63–81; doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.109.889576.
- Tiainen M, Vaahersalo J, Skrifvars MB, et al. Surviving out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: The neurological and functional outcome and healthrelated quality of life one year later. Resuscitation 2018;129:19–23; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.05.011.
- 27. Cummins RO, Chamberlain DA, Abramson NS, et al. Recommended guidelines for uniform reporting of data from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: the Utstein Style. A statement for health professionals from a task force of the American Heart Association, the European

Resuscitation Council, the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, and the Australian Resuscitation Council. Circulation 1991;84(2):960– 975; doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.84.2.960.

- Goto Y, Funada A, Goto Y. Relationship Between the Duration of Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Favorable Neurological Outcomes After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Prospective, Nationwide, Population-Based Cohort Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5(3); doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002819.
- 29. Gullo A. Cardiac arrest, chain of survival and Utstein style. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2002;19(9):624; doi: 10.1017/S0265021502001035.
- 30. Esdaille CJ, Coppler PJ, Faro JW, et al. Duration and clinical features of cardiac arrest predict early severe cerebral edema. Resuscitation 2020;153:111–118; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.05.049.
- Lee CC, Tsai MS, Fang CC, et al. Effects of pre-arrest comorbidities on 90-day survival of patients resuscitated from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Emerg Med J 2011;28(5):432–436; doi: 10.1136/EMJ.2009.087593.
- Blom MT, Warnier MJ, Bardai A, et al. Reduced in-hospital survival rates of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest victims with obstructive pulmonary disease. Resuscitation 2013;84(5):569–574; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2012.10.009.
- Terman SW, Shields TA, Hume B, et al. The influence of age and chronic medical conditions on neurological outcomes in out of hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2015;89(C):169–176; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.01.006.
- Beesems SG, Blom MT, van der Pas MHA, et al. Comorbidity and favorable neurologic outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in patients of 70 years and older. Resuscitation 2015;94:33–39; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.06.017.
- 35. Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, et al. Aging with multimorbidity: a systematic review of the literature. Ageing Res Rev 2011;10(4):430–439; doi: 10.1016/J.ARR.2011.03.003.
- 36. Van De Glind EM, Van Munster BC, Van De Wetering FT, et al. Prearrest predictors of survival after resuscitation from out-of-hospital

cardiac arrest in the elderly a systematic review. BMC Geriatr 2013;13(1); doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-13-68.

- Zanders R, Druwé P, Van Den Noortgate N, et al. The outcome of inand out-hospital cardiopulmonary arrest in the older population: a scoping review. Eur Geriatr Med 2021;12(4):695–723; doi: 10.1007/S41999-021-00454-Y.
- Matsuyama T, Ohta B, Kiyohara K, et al. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation duration and favorable neurological outcome after outof-hospital cardiac arrest: a nationwide multicenter observational study in Japan (the JAAM-OHCA registry). Crit Care 2022;26(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-022-03994-2.
- Winther-Jensen M, Pellis T, Kuiper M, et al. Mortality and neurological outcome in the elderly after target temperature management for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2015;91:92–98; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2014.12.030.
- Sans Roselló J, Vidal-Burdeus M, Loma-Osorio P, et al. "Impact of age on management and prognosis of resuscitated sudden cardiac death patients." Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc 2022;40; doi: 10.1016/J.IJCHA.2022.101036.
- 41. Björklund E, Lindberg E, Rundgren M, et al. Ischaemic brain damage after cardiac arrest and induced hypothermia--a systematic description of selective eosinophilic neuronal death. A neuropathologic study of 23 patients. Resuscitation 2014;85(4):527– 532; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2013.11.022.
- 42. Goldberger ZD, Chan PS, Berg RA, et al. Duration of resuscitation efforts and survival after in-hospital cardiac arrest: an observational study. Lancet 2012;380(9852):1473–1481; doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60862-9.
- Dumas F, Paoli A, Paul M, et al. Association between previous health condition and outcome after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2021;167:267–273; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.06.017.
- 44. Nolan JP, Cariou A. Post-resuscitation care: ERC–ESICM guidelines
 2015. Intensive Care Med 2015;41(12):2204–2206; doi:
 10.1007/S00134-015-4094-5.

- 45. WILLIAMS GR, SPENCER FC. The clinical use of hypothermia following cardiac arrest. Ann Surg 1958;148(3):462–468; doi: 10.1097/00000658-195809000-00014.
- 46. Mezrow CK, Sadeghi AM, Gandsas A, et al. Cerebral blood flow and metabolism in hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg 1992;54(4):609–616; doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(92)91002-Q.
- 47. Anonymous. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 2002;346(8):549–556; doi: 10.1056/NEJMOA012689.
- Vaahersalo J, Hiltunen P, Tiainen M, et al. Therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Finnish intensive care units: the FINNRESUSCI study. Intensive Care Med 2013;39(5):826–837; doi: 10.1007/S00134-013-2868-1.
- Callaway CW, Donnino MW, Fink EL, et al. Part 8: Post-cardiac arrest care: 2015 American Heart Association guidelines update for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care. Circulation 2015;132(18):S465–S482; doi: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000262.
- 50. Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 2013;369(23):2197–2206; doi: 10.1056/NEJMOA1310519.
- 51. Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, et al. Hypothermia versus Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. N Engl J Med 2021;384(24):2283–2294; doi: 10.1056/NEJMOA2100591.
- 52. Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Andersen LW, et al. ERC-ESICM guidelines on temperature control after cardiac arrest in adults. Resuscitation 2022;172:229–236; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2022.01.009.
- Battisti-Charbonney A, Fisher J, Duffin J. The cerebrovascular response to carbon dioxide in humans. J Physiol 2011;589(Pt 12):3039–3048; doi: 10.1113/JPHYSIOL.2011.206052.
- 54. Eastwood GM, Schneider AG, Suzuki S, et al. Targeted therapeutic mild hypercapnia after cardiac arrest: A phase II multi-centre randomised controlled trial (the CCC trial). Resuscitation 2016;104:83–90; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2016.03.023.

- Kilgannon JH, Jones AE, Shapiro NI, et al. Association between arterial hyperoxia following resuscitation from cardiac arrest and in-hospital mortality. JAMA 2010;303(21):2165–2171; doi: 10.1001/JAMA.2010.707.
- Bhate TD, McDonald B, Sekhon MS, et al. Association between blood pressure and outcomes in patients after cardiac arrest: A systematic review. Resuscitation 2015;97:1–6; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.08.023.
- Kjaergaard J, Møller JE, Schmidt H, et al. Blood-Pressure Targets in Comatose Survivors of Cardiac Arrest. N Engl J Med 2022;387(16):1456–1466; doi: 10.1056/NEJMOA2208687.
- 58. Jakkula P, Reinikainen M, Hästbacka J, et al. Targeting two different levels of both arterial carbon dioxide and arterial oxygen after cardiac arrest and resuscitation: a randomised pilot trial. Intensive Care Med 2018;44(12):2112–2121; doi: 10.1007/S00134-018-5453-9.
- 59. Jakkula P, Pettilä V, Skrifvars MB, et al. Targeting low-normal or highnormal mean arterial pressure after cardiac arrest and resuscitation: a randomised pilot trial. Intensive Care Med 2018;44(12):2091–2101; doi: 10.1007/S00134-018-5446-8.
- Shulman RG, Rothman DL, Behar KL, et al. Energetic basis of brain activity: implications for neuroimaging. Trends Neurosci 2004;27(8):489–495; doi: 10.1016/J.TINS.2004.06.005.
- 61. Harris JJ, Jolivet R, Attwell D. Synaptic energy use and supply. Neuron 2012;75(5):762–777; doi: 10.1016/J.NEURON.2012.08.019.
- Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Cacciola S, et al. Prediction of poor neurological outcome in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med 2020;46(10):1803–1851; doi: 10.1007/S00134-020-06198-W.
- 63. Sekhon MS, Ainslie PN, Griesdale DE. Clinical pathophysiology of hypoxic ischemic brain injury after cardiac arrest: a "two-hit" model. Crit Care 2017;21(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-017-1670-9.
- 64. Imberti R, Bellinzona G, Riccardi F, et al. Cerebral perfusion pressure and cerebral tissue oxygen tension in a patient during

cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Intensive Care Med 2003;29(6):1016–1019; doi: 10.1007/S00134-003-1719-X.

- 65. Buunk G, Van Der Hoeven JG, Meinders AE. Cerebral blood flow after cardiac arrest. Netherlands Journal of Medicine 2000;57(3):106–112; doi: 10.1016/S0300-2977(00)00059-0.
- 66. Wagner IV SR, Lanier WL. Metabolism of glucose, glycogen, and highenergy phosphates during complete cerebral ischemia. A comparison of normoglycemic, chronically hyperglycemic diabetic, and acutely hyperglycemic nondiabetic rats. Anesthesiology 1994;81(6):1516–1526; doi: 10.1097/00000542-199412000-00028.
- Hoxworth JM, Xu K, Zhou Y, et al. Cerebral metabolic profile, selective neuron loss, and survival of acute and chronic hyperglycemic rats following cardiac arrest and resuscitation. Brain Res 1999;821(2):467–479; doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(98)01332-8.
- Goldberg MP, Choi DW. Combined oxygen and glucose deprivation in cortical cell culture: calcium-dependent and calcium-independent mechanisms of neuronal injury. J Neurosci 1993;13(8):3510–3524; doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-08-03510.1993.
- 69. Kiessling M, Stumm G, Xie Y, et al. Differential transcription and translation of immediate early genes in the gerbil hippocampus after transient global ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 1993;13(6):914–924; doi: 10.1038/JCBFM.1993.114.
- Czosnyka M, Brady K, Reinhard M, et al. Monitoring of cerebrovascular autoregulation: facts, myths, and missing links. Neurocrit Care 2009;10(3):373–86; doi: 10.1007/s12028-008-9175-7.
- Bhalala US, Koehler RC, Kannan S. Neuroinflammation and neuroimmune dysregulation after acute hypoxic-ischemic injury of developing brain. Front Pediatr 2015;2(JAN); doi: 10.3389/FPED.2014.00144.
- Jean WC, Spellman SR, Nussbaum ES, et al. Reperfusion injury after focal cerebral ischemia: the role of inflammation and the therapeutic horizon. Neurosurgery 1998;43(6):1382–1397; doi: 10.1097/00006123-199812000-00076.

- Nakayama S, Migliati E, Amiry-Moghaddam M, et al. Osmotherapy With Hypertonic Saline Attenuates Global Cerebral Edema Following Experimental Cardiac Arrest via Perivascular Pool of Aquaporin-4. Crit Care Med 2016;44(8):e702–e710; doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001671.
- Bro-Jeppesen J, Johansson PI, Hassager C, et al. Endothelial activation/injury and associations with severity of post-cardiac arrest syndrome and mortality after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2016;107:71–79; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2016.08.006.
- Gueugniaud PY, Garcia-Darennes F, Gaussorgues P, et al. Prognostic significance of early intracranial and cerebral perfusion pressures in post-cardiac arrest anoxic coma. Intensive Care Med 1991;17(7):392– 398; doi: 10.1007/BF01720676.
- 76. Itagaki Y, Hayakawa M, Maekawa K, et al. Early prediction model of brain death in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients: a single-center retrospective and internal validation analysis. BMC Emerg Med 2022;22(1); doi: 10.1186/S12873-022-00734-1.
- 77. Madelaine T, Cour M, Roy P, et al. Prediction of Brain Death After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: Development and Validation of the Brain Death After Cardiac Arrest Score. Chest 2021;160(1):139–147; doi: 10.1016/J.CHEST.2021.01.056.
- 78. Kang C, Jeong W, Park JS, et al. Different Stratification of Physiological Factors Affecting Cerebral Perfusion Pressure in Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury after Cardiac Arrest According to Visible or Non-Visible Primary Brain Injury: A Retrospective Observational Study. J Clin Med 2021;10(22); doi: 10.3390/JCM10225385.
- 79. Sekhon MS, Gooderham P, Menon DK, et al. The Burden of Brain Hypoxia and Optimal Mean Arterial Pressure in Patients With Hypoxic Ischemic Brain Injury After Cardiac Arrest. Crit Care Med 2019;47(7):960–969; doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003745.
- 80. Ameloot K, Genbrugge C, Meex I, et al. An observational nearinfrared spectroscopy study on cerebral autoregulation in postcardiac arrest patients: time to drop "one-size-fits-all" hemodynamic

targets? Resuscitation 2015;90:121–126; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.03.001.

- Iadecola C. The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: A Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. Neuron 2017;96(1):17–42; doi: 10.1016/J.NEURON.2017.07.030.
- Hoiland RL, Ainslie PN, Wellington CL, et al. Brain Hypoxia Is Associated With Neuroglial Injury in Humans Post-Cardiac Arrest. Circ Res 2021;129(5):583–597; doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319157.
- Sekhon MS, Ainslie PN, Menon DK, et al. Brain Hypoxia Secondary to Diffusion Limitation in Hypoxic Ischemic Brain Injury Postcardiac Arrest. Crit Care Med 2020;48(3):378–384; doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004138.
- 84. Velly L, Perlbarg V, Boulier T, et al. Use of brain diffusion tensor imaging for the prediction of long-term neurological outcomes in patients after cardiac arrest: a multicentre, international, prospective, observational, cohort study. Lancet Neurol 2018;17(4):317–326; doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30027-9.
- 85. Alturkustani M, Ang LC. Acute hypoxic-ischemia in cardiac arrest encephalopathy causes only minimal demyelination. Neuropathology 2016;36(5):413–420; doi: 10.1111/NEUP.12287.
- Endisch C, Westhall E, Kenda M, et al. Hypoxic-Ischemic
 Encephalopathy Evaluated by Brain Autopsy and
 Neuroprognostication After Cardiac Arrest. JAMA Neurol
 2020;77(11):1430–1439; doi: 10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2020.2340.
- 87. Falcao ALE, Reutens DC, Markus R, et al. The resistance to ischemia of white and gray matter after stroke. Ann Neurol 2004;56(5):695–701; doi: 10.1002/ANA.20265.
- 88. Nolan JP, Neumar RW, Adrie C, et al. Post-cardiac arrest syndrome: epidemiology, pathophysiology, treatment, and prognostication. A Scientific Statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation; the American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee; the Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; the Council on Cardiopulmonary, Perioperative, and Critical Care; the Council on Clinical Cardiology;

the Council on Stroke. Resuscitation 2008;79(3):350–379; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2008.09.017.

- Lim C, Alexander MP, LaFleche G, et al. The neurological and cognitive sequelae of cardiac arrest. Neurology 2004;63(10):1774– 1778; doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000144189.83077.8E.
- 90. Opie LH. Reperfusion injury and its pharmacologic modification. Circulation 1989;80(4):1049–1062; doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.80.4.1049.
- 91. Laurent I, Monchi M, Chiche JD, et al. Reversible myocardial dysfunction in survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;40(12):2110–2116; doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(02)02594-9.
- 92. Wittwer MR, Armstrong T, Conway J, et al. In-hospital mode of death after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resusc Plus 2022;10; doi: 10.1016/J.RESPLU.2022.100229.
- 93. Adrie C, Adib-Conquy M, Laurent I, et al. Successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation after cardiac arrest as a "sepsis-like" syndrome. Circulation 2002;106(5):562–568; doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000023891.80661.AD.
- 94. Adrie C, Monchi M, Laurent I, et al. Coagulopathy after successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation following cardiac arrest: implication of the protein C anticoagulant pathway. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46(1):21–28; doi: 10.1016/J.JACC.2005.03.046.
- Bro-Jeppesen J, Kjaergaard J, Wanscher M, et al. Systemic Inflammatory Response and Potential Prognostic Implications After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Substudy of the Target Temperature Management Trial. Crit Care Med 2015;43(6):1223– 1232; doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000937.
- 96. Weiser C, Schwameis M, Sterz F, et al. Mortality in patients resuscitated from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest based on automated blood cell count and neutrophil lymphocyte ratio at admission. Resuscitation 2017;116:49–55; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2017.05.006.
- lesu E, Franchi F, Cavicchi FZ, et al. Acute liver dysfunction after cardiac arrest. PLoS One 2018;13(11); doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0206655.

- Hoftun Farbu B, Langeland H, Ueland T, et al. Intestinal injury in cardiac arrest is associated with multiple organ dysfunction: A prospective cohort study. Resuscitation 2023;185; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2023.109748.
- 99. Dragancea I, Wise MP, Al-Subaie N, et al. Protocol-driven neurological prognostication and withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management. Resuscitation 2017;117:50–57; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2017.05.014.
- 100. Paul M, Bougouin W, Geri G, et al. Delayed awakening after cardiac arrest: prevalence and risk factors in the Parisian registry. Intensive Care Med 2016;42(7):1128–1136; doi: 10.1007/S00134-016-4349-9.
- 101. Gold B, Puertas L, Davis SP, et al. Awakening after cardiac arrest and post resuscitation hypothermia: are we pulling the plug too early? Resuscitation 2014;85(2):211–214; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2013.10.030.
- 102. Nakstad ER, Stær-Jensen H, Wimmer H, et al. Late awakening, prognostic factors and long-term outcome in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest - results of the prospective Norwegian Cardio-Respiratory Arrest Study (NORCAST). Resuscitation 2020;149:170–179; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2019.12.031.
- Witten L, Gardner R, Holmberg MJ, et al. Reasons for death in patients successfully resuscitated from out-of-hospital and inhospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2019;136:93–99; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2019.01.031.
- 104. Laver S, Farrow C, Turner D, et al. Mode of death after admission to an intensive care unit following cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 2004;30(11):2126–2128; doi: 10.1007/S00134-004-2425-Z.
- Lee BK, Min JH, Park JS, et al. Early identified risk factors and their predictive performance of brain death in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors. Am J Emerg Med 2022;56:117–123; doi: 10.1016/J.AJEM.2022.03.054.
- 106. Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 1975;1(7905):480–484; doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(75)92830-5.

- Edgren E, Hedstrand U, Kelsey S, et al. Assessment of neurological prognosis in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. BRCT I Study Group. Lancet 1994;343(8905):1055–1059; doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)90179-1.
- 108. Rana OR, Schröder JW, Kühnen JS, et al. The Modified Glasgow Outcome Score for the prediction of outcome in patients after cardiac arrest: a prospective clinical proof of concept study. Clin Res Cardiol 2012;101(7):533–543; doi: 10.1007/S00392-012-0423-7.
- 109. Rankin J. Cerebral vascular accidents in patients over the age of 60. II.
 Prognosis. Scott Med J 1957;2(5):200–215; doi:
 10.1177/003693305700200504.
- 110. Haywood K, Whitehead L, Nadkarni VM, et al. COSCA (Core Outcome Set for Cardiac Arrest) in Adults: An Advisory Statement From the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Resuscitation 2018;127:147–163; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.03.022.
- 111. Arrich J, Zeiner A, Sterz F, et al. Factors associated with a change in functional outcome between one month and six months after cardiac arrest: a retrospective cohort study. Resuscitation 2009;80(8):876–880; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2009.04.045.
- Taccone FS, Horn J, Storm C, et al. Death after awakening from postanoxic coma: the "Best CPC" project. Crit Care 2019;23(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-019-2405-X.
- Parikh R, Mathai A, Parikh S, et al. Understanding and using sensitivity, specificity and predictive values. Indian J Ophthalmol 2008;56(1):45; doi: 10.4103/0301-4738.37595.
- 114. Stammet P, Dankiewicz J, Nielsen N, et al. Protein S100 as outcome predictor after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management at 33 °C and 36 °C. Crit Care 2017;21(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-017-1729-7.
- Steinberg A, Callaway CW, Arnold RM, et al. Prognostication after cardiac arrest: Results of an international, multi-professional survey. Resuscitation 2019;138:190–197; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2019.03.016.

- 116. Gold B, Puertas L, Davis SP, et al. Awakening after cardiac arrest and post resuscitation hypothermia: are we pulling the plug too early? Resuscitation 2014;85(2):211–214; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2013.10.030.
- May TL, Ruthazer R, Riker RR, et al. Early withdrawal of life support after resuscitation from cardiac arrest is common and may result in additional deaths. Resuscitation 2019;139:308–313; doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.02.031.
- 118. Oh SH, Park KN, Shon YM, et al. Continuous Amplitude-Integrated Electroencephalographic Monitoring Is a Useful Prognostic Tool for Hypothermia-Treated Cardiac Arrest Patients. Circulation 2015;132(12):1094–1103; doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.015754.
- Fenter H, Ben-Hamouda N, Novy J, et al. Benign EEG for prognostication of favorable outcome after cardiac arrest: A reappraisal. Resuscitation 2023;182; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2022.11.003.
- Lee KS, Lee SE, Choi JY, et al. Useful Computed Tomography Score for Estimation of Early Neurologic Outcome in Post-Cardiac Arrest Patients With Therapeutic Hypothermia. Circ J 2017;81(11):1628– 1635; doi: 10.1253/CIRCJ.CJ-16-1327.
- 121. Oh SH, Park KN, Choi SP, et al. Beyond dichotomy: patterns and amplitudes of SSEPs and neurological outcomes after cardiac arrest. Crit Care 2019;23(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-019-2510-X.
- 122. Rey A, Rossetti AO, Miroz JP, et al. Late Awakening in Survivors of Postanoxic Coma: Early Neurophysiologic Predictors and Association With ICU and Long-Term Neurologic Recovery. Crit Care Med 2019;47(1):85–92; doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000003470.
- Hirsch LJ, Fong MWK, Leitinger M, et al. American Clinical Neurophysiology Society's Standardized Critical Care EEG Terminology: 2021 Version. J Clin Neurophysiol 2021;38(1):1–29; doi: 10.1097/WNP.000000000000806.
- 124. Matthews EA, Bernstein JM, Sobczak E, et al. Prognostic Value of the Neurological Examination in Cardiac Arrest Patients After

Therapeutic Hypothermia. Neurohospitalist 2018;8(2):66–73; doi: 10.1177/1941874417733217.

- 125. Samaniego EA, Mlynash M, Caulfield AF, et al. Sedation confounds outcome prediction in cardiac arrest survivors treated with hypothermia. Neurocrit Care 2011;15(1):113–119; doi: 10.1007/S12028-010-9412-8.
- Levito MN, McGinnis CB, Groetzinger LM, et al. Impact of benzodiazepines on time to awakening in post cardiac arrest patients. Resuscitation 2021;165:45–49; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.05.026.
- 127. Eid SM, Albaeni A, Vaidya D, et al. Awakening following cardiac arrest: Determined by the definitions used or the therapies delivered? Resuscitation 2016;100:38–44; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.12.017.
- 128. Wijdicks EFM, Hijdra A, Young GB, et al. Practice parameter: prediction of outcome in comatose survivors after cardiopulmonary resuscitation (an evidence-based review): report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology 2006;67(2):203–210; doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000227183.21314.CD.
- Levy DE, Caronna JJ, Singer BH, et al. Predicting outcome from hypoxic-ischemic coma. JAMA 1985;253(10):1420–1426; doi: 10.1001/jama.1985.03350340072020.
- Rittenberger JC, Sangl J, Wheeler M, et al. Association between clinical examination and outcome after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2010;81(9):1128–1132; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2010.05.011.
- Moseby-Knappe M, Westhall E, Backman S, et al. Performance of a guideline-recommended algorithm for prognostication of poor neurological outcome after cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 2020;46(10):1852–1862; doi: 10.1007/S00134-020-06080-9.
- Admiraal MM, van Rootselaar AF, Hofmeijer J, et al.
 Electroencephalographic reactivity as predictor of neurological outcome in postanoxic coma: A multicenter prospective cohort study. Ann Neurol 2019;86(1):17–27; doi: 10.1002/ANA.25507.

- Sivaraju A, Gilmore EJ, Wira CR, et al. Prognostication of post-cardiac arrest coma: early clinical and electroencephalographic predictors of outcome. Intensive Care Med 2015;41(7):1264–1272; doi: 10.1007/S00134-015-3834-X.
- Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson N, Nielsen N, et al. Serum Neurofilament Light Chain for Prognosis of Outcome After Cardiac Arrest. JAMA Neurol 2019;76(1):64–71; doi: 10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2018.3223.
- 135. Oddo M, Sandroni C, Citerio G, et al. Quantitative versus standard pupillary light reflex for early prognostication in comatose cardiac arrest patients: an international prospective multicenter doubleblinded study. Intensive Care Med 2018;44(12):2102–2111; doi: 10.1007/S00134-018-5448-6.
- 136. Maciel CB, Youn TS, Barden MM, et al. Corneal Reflex Testing in the Evaluation of a Comatose Patient: An Ode to Precise Semiology and Examination Skills. Neurocrit Care 2020;33(2):399–404; doi: 10.1007/S12028-019-00896-0.
- Kongpolprom N, Cholkraisuwat J. Neurological Prognostications for the Therapeutic Hypothermia among Comatose Survivors of Cardiac Arrest. Indian J Crit Care Med 2018;22(7):509–518; doi: 10.4103/IJCCM.IJCCM_500_17.
- Van Zijl JC, Beudel M, Vd Hoeven HJ, et al. Electroencephalographic Findings in Posthypoxic Myoclonus. J Intensive Care Med 2016;31(4):270–275; doi: 10.1177/0885066615571533.
- 139. Sadaka F, Doerr D, Hindia J, et al. Continuous Electroencephalogram in Comatose Postcardiac Arrest Syndrome Patients Treated With Therapeutic Hypothermia: Outcome Prediction Study. J Intensive Care Med 2015;30(5):292–296; doi: 10.1177/0885066613517214.
- 140. Fatuzzo D, Beuchat I, Alvarez V, et al. Does continuous EEG influence prognosis in patients after cardiac arrest? Resuscitation 2018;132:29–32; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.08.023.
- 141. Lybeck A, Friberg H, Aneman A, et al. Prognostic significance of clinical seizures after cardiac arrest and target temperature

management. Resuscitation 2017;114:146–151; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2017.01.017.

- 142. Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, et al. Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med 2014;40(12):1816–1831; doi: 10.1007/S00134-014-3470-X.
- 143. Ruknuddeen MI, Ramadoss R, Rajajee V, et al. Early clinical prediction of neurological outcome following out of hospital cardiac arrest managed with therapeutic hypothermia. Indian J Crit Care Med 2015;19(6):304–310; doi: 10.4103/0972-5229.158256.
- 144. Elmer J, Rittenberger JC, Faro J, et al. Clinically distinct electroencephalographic phenotypes of early myoclonus after cardiac arrest. Ann Neurol 2016;80(2):175–184; doi: 10.1002/ANA.24697.
- 145. Ryoo SM, Jeon SB, Sohn CH, et al. Predicting Outcome With Diffusion-Weighted Imaging in Cardiac Arrest Patients Receiving Hypothermia Therapy: Multicenter Retrospective Cohort Study. Crit Care Med 2015;43(11):2370–2377; doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001263.
- 146. Moseby-Knappe M, Pellis T, Dragancea I, et al. Head computed tomography for prognostication of poor outcome in comatose patients after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management. Resuscitation 2017;119:89–94; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2017.06.027.
- 147. Skrifvars MB, Parr MJ. Incidence, predisposing factors, management and survival following cardiac arrest due to subarachnoid haemorrhage: a review of the literature. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2012;20; doi: 10.1186/1757-7241-20-75.
- Keijzer HM, Hoedemaekers CWE, Meijer FJA, et al. Brain imaging in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: Pathophysiological correlates and prognostic properties. Resuscitation 2018;133:124–136; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.09.012.
- 149. Metter RB, Rittenberger JC, Guyette FX, et al. Association between a quantitative CT scan measure of brain edema and outcome after

cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2011;82(9):1180–1185; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2011.04.001.

- 150. Scarpino M, Lolli F, Lanzo G, et al. Neurophysiological and neuroradiological test for early poor outcome (Cerebral Performance Categories 3-5) prediction after cardiac arrest: Prospective multicentre prognostication data. Data Brief 2019;27; doi: 10.1016/J.DIB.2019.104755.
- 151. Lee BK, Jeung KW, Song KH, et al. Prognostic values of gray matter to white matter ratios on early brain computed tomography in adult comatose patients after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest of cardiac etiology. Resuscitation 2015;96:46–52; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.07.027.
- 152. Schick A, Prekker ME, Kempainen RR, et al. Association of hypoxic ischemic brain injury on early CT after out of hospital cardiac arrest with neurologic outcome. Am J Emerg Med 2022;54:257–262; doi: 10.1016/J.AJEM.2022.02.003.
- 153. Beekman R, Maciel CB, Ormseth CH, et al. Early head CT in postcardiac arrest patients: A helpful tool or contributor to self-fulfilling prophecy? Resuscitation 2021;165:68–76; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.06.004.
- 154. Osa García A, Brambati SM, Desautels A, et al. Timing stroke: A review on stroke pathophysiology and its influence over time on diffusion measures. J Neurol Sci 2022;441; doi: 10.1016/J.JNS.2022.120377.
- 155. Kim JH, Kim MJ, You JS, et al. Multimodal approach for neurologic prognostication of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients undergoing targeted temperature management. Resuscitation 2019;134:33–40; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.11.007.
- Sener RN. Diffusion MRI: apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) values in the normal brain and a classification of brain disorders based on ADC values. Comput Med Imaging Graph 2001;25(4):299–326; doi: 10.1016/S0895-6111(00)00083-5.
- 157. Moon HK, Jang J, Park KN, et al. Quantitative analysis of relative volume of low apparent diffusion coefficient value can predict
neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2018;126:36–42; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2018.02.020.

- 158. Kim J, Kim K, Hong S, et al. Low apparent diffusion coefficient clusterbased analysis of diffusion-weighted MRI for prognostication of outof-hospital cardiac arrest survivors. Resuscitation 2013;84(10):1393– 1399; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2013.04.011.
- 159. An C, You Y, Park JS, et al. The cut-off value of a qualitative brain diffusion-weighted image (DWI) scoring system to predict poor neurologic outcome in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) patients after target temperature management. Resuscitation 2020;157:202–210; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.08.130.
- Hirsch KG, Fischbein N, Mlynash M, et al. Prognostic value of diffusion-weighted MRI for post-cardiac arrest coma. Neurology 2020;94(16):E1684–E1692; doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000009289.
- 161. Claassen J, Taccone FS, Horn P, et al. Recommendations on the use of EEG monitoring in critically ill patients: consensus statement from the neurointensive care section of the ESICM. Intensive Care Med 2013;39(8):1337–1351; doi: 10.1007/S00134-013-2938-4.
- Westhall E, Rossetti AO, Van Rootselaar AF, et al. Standardized EEG interpretation accurately predicts prognosis after cardiac arrest. Neurology 2016;86(16):1482–1490; doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002462.
- 163. Scarpino M, Carrai R, Lolli F, et al. Neurophysiology for predicting good and poor neurological outcome at 12 and 72 h after cardiac arrest: The ProNeCA multicentre prospective study. Resuscitation 2020;147:95–103; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2019.11.014.
- 164. Ruijter BJ, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, Tromp SC, et al. Early electroencephalography for outcome prediction of postanoxic coma: A prospective cohort study. Ann Neurol 2019;86(2):203–214; doi: 10.1002/ANA.25518.
- Rossetti AO, Tovar Quiroga DF, Juan E, et al. Electroencephalography Predicts Poor and Good Outcomes After Cardiac Arrest: A Two-Center Study. Crit Care Med 2017;45(7):e674–e682; doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000002337.

- Madhok J, Maybhate A, Xiong W, et al. Quantitative assessment of somatosensory-evoked potentials after cardiac arrest in rats: prognostication of functional outcomes. Crit Care Med 2010;38(8):1709–1717; doi: 10.1097/CCM.0B013E3181E7DD29.
- Muthuswamy J, Kimura T, Ding MC, et al. Vulnerability of the thalamic somatosensory pathway after prolonged global hypoxic-ischemic injury. Neuroscience 2002;115(3):917–929; doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(02)00369-X.
- Moshayedi P, Elmer J, Habeych M, et al. Evoked potentials improve multimodal prognostication after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2019;139:92–98; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2019.04.011.
- 169. Christophis P. The prognostic value of somatosensory evoked potentials in traumatic primary and secondary brain stem lesions. Zentralbl Neurochir 2004;65(1):25–31; doi: 10.1055/S-2004-44885.
- Leão RN, Ávila P, Cavaco R, et al. Therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: outcome predictors. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva 2015;27(4):322–332; doi: 10.5935/0103-507X.20150056.
- 171. Dragancea I, Horn J, Kuiper M, et al. Neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management 33°C versus 36°C: Results from a randomised controlled clinical trial. Resuscitation 2015;93:164–170; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2015.04.013.
- 172. Zanatta P, Linassi F, Mazzarolo AP, et al. Pain-related Somato Sensory Evoked Potentials: a potential new tool to improve the prognostic prediction of coma after cardiac arrest. Crit Care 2015;19(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-015-1119-Y.
- 173. Huntgeburth M, Adler C, Rosenkranz S, et al. Changes in neuronspecific enolase are more suitable than its absolute serum levels for the prediction of neurologic outcome in hypothermia-treated patients with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Neurocrit Care 2014;20(3):358–366; doi: 10.1007/S12028-013-9848-8.
- 174. Choi SP, Park KN, Wee JH, et al. Can somatosensory and visual evoked potentials predict neurological outcome during targeted temperature management in post cardiac arrest patients?

Resuscitation 2017;119:70–75; doi: 10.1016/I.RESUSCITATION.2017.06.022.

- 175. Aronson JK, Ferner RE. Biomarkers-A General Review. Curr Protoc Pharmacol 2017;76:9.23.1-9.23.17; doi: 10.1002/CPPH.19.
- 176. Kärkelä J, Bock E, Kaukinen S. CSF and serum brain-specific creatine kinase isoenzyme (CK-BB), neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) as prognostic markers for hypoxic brain injury after cardiac arrest in man. J Neurol Sci 1993;116(1):100– 109; doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(93)90095-G.
- Hoiland RL, Rikhraj KJK, Thiara S, et al. Neurologic Prognostication After Cardiac Arrest Using Brain Biomarkers: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol 2022;79(4):390–398; doi: 10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2021.5598.
- 178. Velly L, Perlbarg V, Boulier T, et al. Use of brain diffusion tensor imaging for the prediction of long-term neurological outcomes in patients after cardiac arrest: a multicentre, international, prospective, observational, cohort study. Lancet Neurol 2018;17(4):317–326; doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30027-9.
- 179. Stammet P, Collignon O, Hassager C, et al. Neuron-Specific Enolase as a Predictor of Death or Poor Neurological Outcome After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest and Targeted Temperature Management at 33°C and 36°C. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65(19):2104–2114; doi: 10.1016/J.JACC.2015.03.538.
- Bishop AE, Polak JM, Facer P, et al. Neuron specific enolase: a common marker for the endocrine cells and innervation of the gut and pancreas. Gastroenterology 1982;83(4):902–915; doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(82)80023-1.
- RT C, M W, J W, et al. Serum neurone-specific enolase as an indicator of stroke volume. Eur J Clin Invest 1996;26(4):298–303; doi: 10.1046/J.1365-2362.1996.129282.X.
- 182. Tawk RG, Grewal SS, Heckman MG, et al. The Relationship Between Serum Neuron-Specific Enolase Levels and Severity of Bleeding and Functional Outcomes in Patients With Nontraumatic Subarachnoid

Hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 2016;78(4):487–491; doi: 10.1227/NEU.0000000000001140.

- Rundgren M, Cronberg T, Friberg H, et al. Serum neuron specific enolase - impact of storage and measuring method. BMC Res Notes 2014;7(1); doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-7-726.
- 184. Streitberger KJ, Leithner C, Wattenberg M, et al. Neuron-Specific Enolase Predicts Poor Outcome After Cardiac Arrest and Targeted Temperature Management: A Multicenter Study on 1,053 Patients. Crit Care Med 2017;45(7):1145–1151; doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000002335.
- 185. Lissner Östlund E, Levin H, Nielsen N, et al. Neuron-specific enolase and long-term neurological outcome after OHCA – A validation study. Resuscitation 2021;168:206–213; doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.09.001.
- 186. Helwig K, Seeger F, Hölschermann H, et al. Elevated Serum Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) is Associated with Poor Functional Outcome After Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Neurocrit Care 2017;27(1):68–74; doi: 10.1007/S12028-016-0371-6.
- Hoiland RL, Rikhraj KJK, Thiara S, et al. Neurologic Prognostication After Cardiac Arrest Using Brain Biomarkers: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol 2022;79(4):390–398; doi: 10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2021.5598.
- Zandbergen EGJ, Hijdra A, Koelman JHTM, et al. Prediction of poor outcome within the first 3 days of postanoxic coma. Neurology 2006;66(1):62–68; doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000191308.22233.88.
- 189. Oksanen T, Tiainen M, Skrifvars MB, et al. Predictive power of serum NSE and OHCA score regarding 6-month neurologic outcome after out-of-hospital ventricular fibrillation and therapeutic hypothermia. Resuscitation 2009;80(2):165–170; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2008.08.017.
- Tiainen M, Roine RO, Pettilä V, et al. Serum neuron-specific enolase and S-100B protein in cardiac arrest patients treated with hypothermia. Stroke 2003;34(12):2881–2886; doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000103320.90706.35.

- 191. Doran JF, Jackson P, Kynoch PAM, et al. Isolation of PGP 9.5, a new human neurone-specific protein detected by high-resolution twodimensional electrophoresis. J Neurochem 1983;40(6):1542–1547; doi: 10.1111/J.1471-4159.1983.TB08124.X.
- 192. Jackson P, Thompson RJ. The demonstration of new human brainspecific proteins by high-resolution two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. J Neurol Sci 1981;49(3):429–438; doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(81)90032-0.
- Cui J hong, Xie X. UCH-L1 Expressed by Podocytes: a Potentially Therapeutic Target for Lupus Nephritis? Inflammation 2017;40(2):657–665; doi: 10.1007/S10753-017-0512-X.
- 194. Costes S, Huang CJ, Gurlo T, et al. β-cell dysfunctional ERAD/ubiquitin/proteasome system in type 2 diabetes mediated by islet amyloid polypeptide-induced UCH-L1 deficiency. Diabetes 2011;60(1):227–238; doi: 10.2337/DB10-0522.
- Bishop P, Rocca D, Henley JM. Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1): structure, distribution and roles in brain function and dysfunction. Biochem J 2016;473(16):2453–2462; doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160082.
- 196. Fang Y, Shen X. Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolases: involvement in cancer progression and clinical implications. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2017;36(4):669–682; doi: 10.1007/S10555-017-9702-0.
- S M, A L, A B, et al. Clinical utility of serum levels of ubiquitin Cterminal hydrolase as a biomarker for severe traumatic brain injury. Neurosurgery 2012;70(3):846; doi: 10.1227/NEU.0B013E318236A809.
- Brophy GM, Mondello S, Papa L, et al. Biokinetic analysis of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 (UCH-L1) in severe traumatic brain injury patient biofluids. J Neurotrauma 2011;28(6):861–870; doi: 10.1089/NEU.2010.1564.
- 199. Welch RD, Ayaz SI, Lewis LM, et al. Ability of Serum Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein, Ubiquitin C-Terminal Hydrolase-L1, and S100B To Differentiate Normal and Abnormal Head Computed Tomography Findings in Patients with Suspected Mild or Moderate Traumatic

Brain Injury. J Neurotrauma 2016;33(2):203–214; doi: 10.1089/NEU.2015.4149.

- 200. Helmrich IRAR, Czeiter E, Amrein K, et al. Incremental prognostic value of acute serum biomarkers for functional outcome after traumatic brain injury (CENTER-TBI): an observational cohort study. Lancet Neurol 2022;21(9):792–802; doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00218-6.
- 201. Yigit I, Atescelik M, Yilmaz M, et al. Investigation of UCH-L1 levels in ischemic stroke, intracranial hemorrhage and metabolic disorder induced impaired consciousness. Am J Emerg Med 2017;35(12):1895– 1898; doi: 10.1016/J.AJEM.2017.06.032.
- 202. Kiiski H, Tenhunen J, Ala-Peijari M, et al. Increased plasma UCH-L1 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is associated with unfavorable neurological outcome. J Neurol Sci 2016;361:144–149; doi: 10.1016/J.JNS.2015.12.046.
- 203. Douglas-Escobar M V., Heaton SC, Bennett J, et al. UCH-L1 and GFAP Serum Levels in Neonates with Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy: A Single Center Pilot Study. Front Neurol 2014;5(DEC); doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2014.00273.
- 204. Fink EL, Berger RP, Clark RSB, et al. Exploratory study of serum ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal esterase L1 and glial fibrillary acidic protein for outcome prognostication after pediatric cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2016;101:65–70; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2016.01.024.
- 205. Ahn HJ, Jung S, You Y, et al. The value of cerebrospinal fluid ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 protein as a prognostic predictor of neurologic outcome in post-cardiac arrest patients treated with targeted temperature management. Resuscitation 2020;151:50–58; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.03.022.
- 206. Ebner F, Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson-Carlgren N, et al. Serum GFAP and UCH-L1 for the prediction of neurological outcome in comatose cardiac arrest patients. Resuscitation 2020;154:61–68; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.05.016.

- 207. Huesgen KW, Elmelige YO, Yang Z, et al. Ultra-early serum concentrations of neuronal and astroglial biomarkers predict poor neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest-a pilot neuroprognostic study. Resusc Plus 2021;7; doi: 10.1016/J.RESPLU.2021.100133.
- 208. Donato R. Functional roles of S100 proteins, calcium-binding proteins of the EF-hand type. Biochim Biophys Acta 1999;1450(3):191–231; doi: 10.1016/S0167-4889(99)00058-0.
- 209. Hu J, Ferreira A, Van Eldik LJ. S100beta induces neuronal cell death through nitric oxide release from astrocytes. J Neurochem 1997;69(6):2294–2301; doi: 10.1046/J.1471-4159.1997.69062294.X.
- 210. Steiner J, Bernstein HG, Bielau H, et al. Evidence for a wide extraastrocytic distribution of S100B in human brain. BMC Neurosci 2007;8; doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-8-2.
- 211. Donato R, R. Cannon B, Sorci G, et al. Functions of S100 proteins. Curr Mol Med 2013;13(1):24–57; doi: 10.2174/156652413804486214.
- 212. Ercole A, Thelin EP, Holst A, et al. Kinetic modelling of serum S100b after traumatic brain injury. BMC Neurol 2016;16(1); doi: 10.1186/S12883-016-0614-3.
- Delgado P, Sabin JA, Santamarina E, et al. Plasma S100B level after acute spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. Stroke 2006;37(11):2837–2839; doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000245085.58807.AD.
- 214. Choi S, Park K, Ryu S, et al. Use of S-100B, NSE, CRP and ESR to predict neurological outcomes in patients with return of spontaneous circulation and treated with hypothermia. Emerg Med J 2016;33(10):690–695; doi: 10.1136/EMERMED-2015-205423.
- Deye N, Nguyen P, Vodovar N, et al. Protein S100B as a reliable tool for early prognostication after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2020;156:251–259; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.08.010.
- Moseby-Knappe M, Cronberg T. Blood biomarkers of brain injury after cardiac arrest - A dynamic field. Resuscitation 2020;156:273– 276; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.09.004.
- 217. Zou Z, Li L, Li Q, et al. The role of S100B/RAGE-enhanced ADAM17 activation in endothelial glycocalyx shedding after traumatic brain

injury. J Neuroinflammation 2022;19(1); doi: 10.1186/S12974-022-02412-2.

- 218. Duez CHV, Grejs AM, Jeppesen AN, et al. Neuron-specific enolase and S-100b in prolonged targeted temperature management after cardiac arrest: A randomised study. Resuscitation 2018;122:79–86; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2017.11.052.
- Pfeifer R, Franz M, Figulla HR. Hypothermia after cardiac arrest does not affect serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and protein S-100b. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2014;58(9):1093–1100; doi: 10.1111/AAS.12386.
- 220. Eng LF, Ghirnikar RS, Lee YL. Glial fibrillary acidic protein: GFAPthirty-one years (1969-2000). Neurochem Res 2000;25(9–10):1439– 1451; doi: 10.1023/A:1007677003387.
- 221. Liedtke W, Edelmann W, Bieri PL, et al. GFAP is necessary for the integrity of CNS white matter architecture and long-term maintenance of myelination. Neuron 1996;17(4):607–615; doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80194-4.
- 222. Jung CS, Foerch C, Schänzer A, et al. Serum GFAP is a diagnostic marker for glioblastoma multiforme. Brain 2007;130(Pt 12):3336–3341; doi: 10.1093/BRAIN/AWM263.
- 223. Meier S, Willemse EAJ, Schaedelin S, et al. Serum Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein Compared With Neurofilament Light Chain as a Biomarker for Disease Progression in Multiple Sclerosis. JAMA Neurol 2023; doi: 10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2022.5250.
- 224. Lei J, Gao G, Feng J, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein as a biomarker in severe traumatic brain injury patients: a prospective cohort study. Crit Care 2015;19(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-015-1081-8.
- 225. Vos PE, Jacobs B, Andriessen TMJC, et al. GFAP and S100B are biomarkers of traumatic brain injury: an observational cohort study. Neurology 2010;75(20):1786–1793; doi: 10.1212/WNL.0B013E3181FD62D2.
- 226. Vos PE, Van Gils M, Beems T, et al. Increased GFAP and S100beta but not NSE serum levels after subarachnoid haemorrhage are

associated with clinical severity. Eur J Neurol 2006;13(6):632–638; doi: 10.1111/J.1468-1331.2006.01332.X.

- 227. Bustamante A, Penalba A, Orset C, et al. Blood Biomarkers to Differentiate Ischemic and Hemorrhagic Strokes. Neurology 2021;96(15):e1928–e1939; doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000011742.
- 228. Amalia L. Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP): Neuroinflammation Biomarker in Acute Ischemic Stroke. J Inflamm Res 2021;14:7501– 7506; doi: 10.2147/JIR.S342097.
- 229. Dunn C, Sturdivant N, Venier S, et al. Blood-Brain Barrier Breakdown and Astrocyte Reactivity Evident in the Absence of Behavioral Changes after Repeated Traumatic Brain Injury. Neurotrauma Rep 2021;2(1):399–410; doi: 10.1089/NEUR.2021.0017.
- 230. Panickar KS, Noremberg MD. Astrocytes in cerebral ischemic injury: morphological and general considerations. Glia 2005;50(4):287–298; doi: 10.1002/GLIA.20181.
- Kaneko T, Kasaoka S, Miyauchi T, et al. Serum glial fibrillary acidic protein as a predictive biomarker of neurological outcome after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2009;80(7):790–794; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2009.04.003.
- Larsson IM, Wallin E, Kristofferzon ML, et al. Post-cardiac arrest serum levels of glial fibrillary acidic protein for predicting neurological outcome. Resuscitation 2014;85(12):1654–1661; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2014.09.007.
- 233. Mörtberg E, Zetterberg H, Nordmark J, et al. S-100B is superior to NSE, BDNF and GFAP in predicting outcome of resuscitation from cardiac arrest with hypothermia treatment. Resuscitation 2011;82(1):26–31; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2010.10.011.
- 234. Humaloja J, Lähde M, Ashton NJ, et al. GFAp and tau protein as predictors of neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A post hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial. Resuscitation 2022;170:141–149; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.11.033.
- Avila J, Lucas JJ, Pérez M, et al. Role of tau protein in both physiological and pathological conditions. Physiol Rev 2004;84(2):361–384; doi: 10.1152/PHYSREV.00024.2003.

- 236. Binder LI, Frankfurter A, Rebhun LI. The distribution of tau in the mammalian central nervous system. J Cell Biol 1985;101(4):1371–1378; doi: 10.1083/JCB.101.4.1371.
- Mattsson N, Zetterberg H, Nielsen N, et al. Serum tau and neurological outcome in cardiac arrest. Ann Neurol 2017;82(5):665– 675; doi: 10.1002/ANA.25067.
- Pluta R, Ułamek-Kozioł M, Januszewski S, et al. Tau Protein
 Dysfunction after Brain Ischemia. J Alzheimers Dis 2018;66(2):429–433; doi: 10.3233/JAD-180772.
- Olsson B, Lautner R, Andreasson U, et al. CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol 2016;15(7):673–684; doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00070-3.
- 240. Gong Z, Gao L, Lu Y, et al. CSF p-tau as a potential cognition impairment biomarker in ALS. Front Neurol 2022;13; doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2022.991143.
- 241. Schirinzi T, Zenuni H, Grillo P, et al. Tau and Amyloid-β Peptides in Serum of Patients With Parkinson's Disease: Correlations With CSF Levels and Clinical Parameters. Front Neurol 2022;13:748599; doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2022.748599.
- 242. Karikari TK, Pascoal TA, Ashton NJ, et al. Blood phosphorylated tau 181 as a biomarker for Alzheimer's disease: a diagnostic performance and prediction modelling study using data from four prospective cohorts. Lancet Neurol 2020;19(5):422–433; doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30071-5.
- 243. Banks WA, Kovac A, Majerova P, et al. Tau Proteins Cross the Blood-Brain Barrier. J Alzheimers Dis 2017;55(1):411–419; doi: 10.3233/JAD-160542.
- 244. Wunderlich MT, Lins H, Skalej M, et al. Neuron-specific enolase and tau protein as neurobiochemical markers of neuronal damage are related to early clinical course and long-term outcome in acute ischemic stroke. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2006;108(6):558–563; doi: 10.1016/J.CLINEURO.2005.12.006.

- 245. Czeiter E, Amrein K, Gravesteijn BY, et al. Blood biomarkers on admission in acute traumatic brain injury: Relations to severity, CT findings and care path in the CENTER-TBI study. EBioMedicine 2020;56; doi: 10.1016/J.EBIOM.2020.102785.
- 246. Grand J, Kjaergaard J, Nielsen N, et al. Serum tau fragments as predictors of death or poor neurological outcome after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest. Biomarkers 2019;24(6):584–591; doi: 10.1080/1354750X.2019.1609580.
- 247. Randall J, Mörtberg E, Provuncher GK, et al. Tau proteins in serum predict neurological outcome after hypoxic brain injury from cardiac arrest: results of a pilot study. Resuscitation 2013;84(3):351–356; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2012.07.027.
- 248. Hasslacher J, Rass V, Beer R, et al. Serum tau as a predictor for neurological outcome after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Resuscitation 2020;148:207–214; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2020.01.022.
- 249. Lee MK, Xu Z, Wong PC, et al. Neurofilaments are obligate heteropolymers in vivo. J Cell Biol 1993;122(6):1337–1350; doi: 10.1083/JCB.122.6.1337.
- Varhaug KN, Torkildsen Ø, Myhr KM, et al. Neurofilament Light Chain as a Biomarker in Multiple Sclerosis. Front Neurol 2019;10(APR); doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2019.00338.
- Lycke JN, Karlsson JE, Andersen O, et al. Neurofilament protein in cerebrospinal fluid: a potential marker of activity in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1998;64(3):402–404; doi: 10.1136/JNNP.64.3.402.
- 252. Sandelius Å, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, et al. Plasma neurofilament light chain concentration in the inherited peripheral neuropathies. Neurology 2018;90(6):e518–e524; doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004932.
- 253. Fitzgerald KC, Sotirchos ES, Smith MD, et al. Contributors to Serum NfL Levels in People without Neurologic Disease. Ann Neurol 2022;92(4); doi: 10.1002/ANA.26446.

- 254. Loonstra FC, de Ruiter LRJ, Koel-Simmelink MJA, et al. Neuroaxonal and Glial Markers in Patients of the Same Age With Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology(R) neuroimmunology & neuroinflammation 2022;10(2); doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000200078.
- 255. Kuhle J, Barro C, Andreasson U, et al. Comparison of three analytical platforms for quantification of the neurofilament light chain in blood samples: ELISA, electrochemiluminescence immunoassay and Simoa. Clin Chem Lab Med 2016;54(10):1655–1661; doi: 10.1515/CCLM-2015-1195.
- Mollenhauer B, Dakna M, Kruse N, et al. Validation of Serum Neurofilament Light Chain as a Biomarker of Parkinson's Disease Progression. Mov Disord 2020;35(11):1999–2008; doi: 10.1002/MDS.28206.
- 257. Chatterjee P, Pedrini S, Ashton NJ, et al. Diagnostic and prognostic plasma biomarkers for preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 2022;18(6):1141–1154; doi: 10.1002/ALZ.12447.
- 258. Ashton NJ, Janelidze S, Al Khleifat A, et al. A multicentre validation study of the diagnostic value of plasma neurofilament light. Nat Commun 2021;12(1); doi: 10.1038/S41467-021-23620-Z.
- Kuhle J, Gaiottino J, Leppert D, et al. Serum neurofilament light chain is a biomarker of human spinal cord injury severity and outcome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2015;86(3):273–279; doi: 10.1136/JNNP-2013-307454.
- 260. Gisslén M, Price RW, Andreasson U, et al. Plasma Concentration of the Neurofilament Light Protein (NFL) is a Biomarker of CNS Injury in HIV Infection: A Cross-Sectional Study. EBioMedicine 2015;3:135–140; doi: 10.1016/J.EBIOM.2015.11.036.
- 261. Gendron TF, Badi MK, Heckman MG, et al. Plasma neurofilament light predicts mortality in patients with stroke. Sci Transl Med 2020;12(569); doi: 10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.AAY1913.
- 262. Graham NSN, Zimmerman KA, Moro F, et al. Axonal marker neurofilament light predicts long-term outcomes and progressive neurodegeneration after traumatic brain injury. Sci Transl Med 2021;13(613); doi: 10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.ABG9922.

- Newcombe VFJ, Ashton NJ, Posti JP, et al. Post-acute blood biomarkers and disease progression in traumatic brain injury. Brain 2022;145(6):2064–2076; doi: 10.1093/BRAIN/AWAC126.
- 264. Thelin EP, Zeiler FA, Ercole A, et al. Serial Sampling of Serum Protein Biomarkers for Monitoring Human Traumatic Brain Injury Dynamics: A Systematic Review. Front Neurol 2017;8(JUL); doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2017.00300.
- 265. Hier DB, Obafemi-Ajayi T, Thimgan MS, et al. Blood biomarkers for mild traumatic brain injury: a selective review of unresolved issues. Biomark Res 2021;9(1); doi: 10.1186/S40364-021-00325-5.
- 266. Rosén H, Karlsson JE, Rosengren L. CSF levels of neurofilament is a valuable predictor of long-term outcome after cardiac arrest. J Neurol Sci 2004;221(1–2):19–24; doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2004.03.003.
- 267. Rana OR, Schröder JW, Baukloh JK, et al. Neurofilament light chain as an early and sensitive predictor of long-term neurological outcome in patients after cardiac arrest. Int J Cardiol 2013;168(2):1322–1327; doi: 10.1016/J.IJCARD.2012.12.016.
- 268. Hunziker S, Quinto A, Ramin-Wright M, et al. Serum neurofilament measurement improves clinical risk scores for outcome prediction after cardiac arrest: results of a prospective study. Crit Care 2021;25(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-021-03459-Y.
- 269. Wurm R, Arfsten H, Muqaku B, et al. Prediction of Neurological Recovery After Cardiac Arrest Using Neurofilament Light Chain is Improved by a Proteomics-Based Multimarker Panel. Neurocrit Care 2022;36(2):434–440; doi: 10.1007/S12028-021-01321-1.
- 270. Pouplet C, Colin G, Guichard E, et al. The accuracy of various neuroprognostication algorithms and the added value of neurofilament light chain dosage for patients resuscitated from shockable cardiac arrest: An ancillary analysis of the ISOCRATE study. Resuscitation 2022;171:1–7; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2021.12.009.
- 271. Hanley JA, McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Radiology 1982;143(1):29–36; doi: 10.1148/RADIOLOGY.143.1.7063747.

- 272. Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer 1950;3(1):32–35;
 doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(1950)3:1<32::aid-cncr2820030106>3.0.co;2-3.
- 273. Greiner M, Pfeiffer D, Smith RD. Principles and practical application of the receiver-operating characteristic analysis for diagnostic tests. Prev Vet Med 2000;45(1–2):23–41; doi: 10.1016/S0167-5877(00)00115-X.
- 274. Leening MJG, Vedder MM, Witteman JCM, et al. Net reclassification improvement: computation, interpretation, and controversies: a literature review and clinician's guide. Ann Intern Med 2014;160(2):122–131; doi: 10.7326/M13-1522.
- 275. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, D'Agostino RB, et al. Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 2008;27(2):157–172; doi: 10.1002/SIM.2929.
- Pickering JW, Endre ZH. New metrics for assessing diagnostic potential of candidate biomarkers. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;7(8):1355–1364; doi: 10.2215/CJN.09590911.
- 277. Song H, Bang HJ, You Y, et al. Novel serum biomarkers for predicting neurological outcomes in postcardiac arrest patients treated with targeted temperature management. Crit Care 2023;27(1):113; doi: 10.1186/S13054-023-04400-1.
- 278. Levin H, Lybeck A, Frigyesi A, et al. Plasma neurofilament light is a predictor of neurological outcome 12 h after cardiac arrest. Crit Care 2023;27(1):74; doi: 10.1186/S13054-023-04355-3.
- 279. Elmer J, Steinberg A, Callaway CW. Paucity of neuroprognostic testing after cardiac arrest in the United States. Resuscitation 2023;109762; doi: 10.1016/J.RESUSCITATION.2023.109762.
- 280. Koch MW, George S, Wall W, et al. Serum NSE level and disability progression in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci 2015;350(1–2):46–50; doi: 10.1016/J.JNS.2015.02.009.
- Pietiläinen L, Bäcklund M, Hästbacka J, et al. Premorbid functional status as an outcome predictor in intensive care patients aged over 85 years. BMC Geriatr 2022;22(1); doi: 10.1186/S12877-021-02746-1.

- 282. Khalil M, Pirpamer L, Hofer E, et al. Serum neurofilament light levels in normal aging and their association with morphologic brain changes. Nat Commun 2020;11(1); doi: 10.1038/S41467-020-14612-6.
- 283. Bagnato S, D'Ippolito ME, Boccagni C, et al. Sustained Axonal Degeneration in Prolonged Disorders of Consciousness. Brain Sci 2021;11(8); doi: 10.3390/BRAINSCI11081068.
- 284. Nomura F, Koyama A, Ishijima M, et al. Serum levels of five tumor markers for lung cancer in patients with chronic renal failure. Oncol Rep 1998;5(2):389–392; doi: 10.3892/OR.5.2.389.
- 285. Knauf MJ, Bell DP, Hirtzer P, et al. Relationship of effective molecular size to systemic clearance in rats of recombinant interleukin-2 chemically modified with water-soluble polymers. J Biol Chem 1988;263(29):15064–70.
- 286. Maalmi H, Strom A, Petrera A, et al. Serum neurofilament light chain: a novel biomarker for early diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy. Diabetologia 2023;66(3):579–589; doi: 10.1007/S00125-022-05846-8.
- 287. Bartoli CR, Zhang D, Kang J, et al. Clinical and In Vitro Evidence That Subclinical Hemolysis Contributes to LVAD Thrombosis. Ann Thorac Surg 2018;105(3):807–814; doi: 10.1016/J.ATHORACSUR.2017.05.060.
- 288. Tharmaraj D, Kerr PG. Haemolysis in haemodialysis. Nephrology (Carlton) 2017;22(11):838–847; doi: 10.1111/NEP.13119.
- Geisen U, Benk C, Beyersdorf F, et al. Neuron-specific enolase correlates to laboratory markers of haemolysis in patients on longterm circulatory support. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;48(3):416– 420; doi: 10.1093/EJCTS/EZU513.
- 290. Odagiri E, Jibiki K, Takeda M, et al. Effect of hemodialysis on the concentration of the seven tumor markers carcinoembryonic antigen, alpha-fetoprotein, squamous cell carcinoma-related antigen, neuron-specific enolase, CA 125, CA 19-9 and CA 15-3 in uremic patients. Am J Nephrol 1991;11(5):363–368; doi: 10.1159/000168339.
- 291. Yu X, Xu X, Ye Z. Effect of renal function and hemodialysis on the serum tumor markers in patients with chronic kidney disease. Front Med China 2007;1(3):308–311; doi: 10.1007/S11684-007-0059-6.

- 292. L'Acqua C, Hod E. New perspectives on the thrombotic complications of haemolysis. Br J Haematol 2015;168(2):175–185; doi: 10.1111/BJH.13183.
- 293. Gyldenholm T, Stengaard C, Sørensen JT, et al. Haemolysis in prehospital blood samples. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2021;81(6):508– 510; doi: 10.1080/00365513.2021.1941234.
- Yuan A, Nixon RA. Specialized roles of neurofilament proteins in synapses: Relevance to neuropsychiatric disorders. Brain Res Bull 2016;126(Pt 3):334–346; doi: 10.1016/J.BRAINRESBULL.2016.09.002.
- 295. Bragina L, Conti F. Expression of Neurofilament Subunits at Neocortical Glutamatergic and GABAergic Synapses. Front Neuroanat 2018;12; doi: 10.3389/FNANA.2018.00074.
- 296. Yuan A, Sershen H, Veeranna, et al. Neurofilament subunits are integral components of synapses and modulate neurotransmission and behavior in vivo. Mol Psychiatry 2015;20(8):986–994; doi: 10.1038/MP.2015.45.
- 297. Graham NSN, Jolly A, Zimmerman K, et al. Diffuse axonal injury predicts neurodegeneration after moderate-severe traumatic brain injury. Brain 2020;143(12):3685–3698; doi: 10.1093/BRAIN/AWAA316.
- Fohner AE, Bartz TM, Tracy RP, et al. Association of Serum Neurofilament Light Chain Concentration and MRI Findings in Older Adults: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Neurology 2022;98(9):E903– E911; doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000013229.
- 299. Pekkarinen PT, Carbone F, Minetti S, et al. Markers of neutrophil mediated inflammation associate with disturbed continuous electroencephalogram after out of hospital cardiac arrest. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2023;67(1):94–103; doi: 10.1111/AAS.14145.
- 300. Robba C, Badenes R, Battaglini D, et al. Oxygen targets and 6-month outcome after out of hospital cardiac arrest: a pre-planned subanalysis of the targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest (TTM2) trial. Crit Care 2022;26(1); doi: 10.1186/S13054-022-04186-8.
- 301. Robba C, Badenes R, Battaglini D, et al. Ventilatory settings in the initial 72 h and their association with outcome in out-of-hospital

cardiac arrest patients: a preplanned secondary analysis of the targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2) trial. Intensive Care Med 2022;48(8):1024–1038; doi: 10.1007/S00134-022-06756-4.

- 302. Ameloot K, De Deyne C, Eertmans W, et al. Early goal-directed haemodynamic optimization of cerebral oxygenation in comatose survivors after cardiac arrest: the Neuroprotect post-cardiac arrest trial. Eur Heart J 2019;40(22):1804–1814; doi: 10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHZ120.
- 303. van der Horn HJ, Visser K, Bijzet J, et al. Long-Term Stability of Blood Serum Biomarkers in Traumatic Brain Injury: A Feasibility Study. Front Neurol 2022;13; doi: 10.3389/FNEUR.2022.877050.
- 304. Rundgren M, Cronberg T, Friberg H, et al. Serum neuron specific enolase impact of storage and measuring method. BMC Res Notes 2014;7(1); doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-7-726.
- 305. Keshavan A, Heslegrave A, Zetterberg H, et al. Stability of bloodbased biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease over multiple freeze-thaw cycles. Alzheimers Dement (Amst) 2018;10:448–451; doi: 10.1016/J.DADM.2018.06.001.
- 306. Johnsson J, Björnsson O, Andersson P, et al. Artificial neural networks improve early outcome prediction and risk classification in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients admitted to intensive care. Crit Care 2020;24(1):474; doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03103-1.
- 307. Kwon J-M, Jeon K-H, Kim HM, et al. Deep-learning-based out-ofhospital cardiac arrest prognostic system to predict clinical outcomes. Resuscitation 2019;139:84–91; doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.04.007.
- 308. Chou S-Y, Bamodu OA, Chiu W-T, et al. Artificial neural networkboosted Cardiac Arrest Survival Post-Resuscitation In-hospital (CASPRI) score accurately predicts outcome in cardiac arrest patients treated with targeted temperature management. Sci Rep 2022;12(1):7254; doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-11201-z.
- 309. Andersson P, Johnsson J, Björnsson O, et al. Predicting neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with cumulative

information; development and internal validation of an artificial neural network algorithm. Crit Care 2021;25(1):83; doi: 10.1186/s13054-021-03505-9.

 Moseby-Knappe M, Levin H, Blennow K, et al. Biomarkers of brain injury after cardiac arrest; a statistical analysis plan from the TTM2 trial biobank investigators. Resusc Plus 2022;10; doi: 10.1016/J.RESPLU.2022.100258. ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS (I – IV)

L

Usefulness of neuron specific enolase in prognostication after cardiac arrest: Impact of age and time to ROSC

Wihersaari L, Tiainen M, Skrifvars MB, Bendel S, Kaukonen KM, Vaahersalo J, Romppanen J, Pettilä V, Reinikainen M; FINNRESUSCI study group.

Resuscitation. 2019;139:214-221.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

Resuscitation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/resuscitation

EUROPEAN RESUSCITATION COUNCIL

Clinical paper

Usefulness of neuron specific enolase in prognostication after cardiac arrest: Impact of age and time to ROSC*



Lauri Wihersaari^{a,b,*}, Marjaana Tiainen^c, Markus B. Skrifvars^d, Stepani Bendel^e, Kirsi-Maija Kaukonen^f, Jukka Vaahersalo^g, Jarkko Romppanen^h, Ville Pettilä^g, Matti Reinikainen^{a,b,i}, the FINNRESUSCI study group

- ^a Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, North Karelia Central Hospital, Joensuu, Finland
- ^b Department of Anaesthesiology, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland
- ^c Department of Neurology, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland
- ^d Department of Emergency Care and Services, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland
- ^e Department of Intensive Care, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland
- ^f Finnish Medicines Agency, Helsinki, Finland
- ⁹ Department of Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Medicine, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland
- ^h Eastern Finland Laboratory Centre, Kuopio, Finland
- ⁱ University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

Abstract

Aim of the study: We evaluated the impact of patient age and time from collapse to return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) on the prognostic accuracy of neuron specific enolase (NSE) after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA).

Methods: Using electrochemiluminescence immunoassay, we measured serum concentrations of NSE in 249 patients who were admitted to intensive care units after resuscitation from OHCA. In each quartile according to age and time to ROSC, we evaluated the ability of NSE at 48 h after OHCA to predict poor outcome (Cerebral Performance Category 3–5) at 12 months.

Results: The outcome at 12 months was poor in 121 (49%) patients. The prognostic performance of NSE was excellent (area under the receiver operating characteristic curve, AUROC, 0.91 [95% confidence interval, 0.81–1.00]) in the youngest quartile (18–56 years), but worsened with increasing age, and was poor (AUROC 0.53 [0.37–0.70]) in the oldest quartile (72 years or more). The prognostic performance of NSE was worthless (AUROC 0.45 [0.30–0.61]) in the quartile with the shortest time to ROSC (1–13 min), but improved with increasing time to ROSC, and was good (AUROC 0.84 [0.74–0.95]) in the quartile with the longest time to ROSC (29 min or over).

Conclusion: NSE at 48 h after OHCA is a useful predictor of 12-month-prognosis in young patients and in patients with a long time from collapse to ROSC, but not in old patients or patients with a short time to ROSC.

Keywords: Neuron specific enolase (NSE), OHCA, Resuscitation, Cardiac arrest, Neurological outcome, Biomarkers

E-mail address: lauri.wihersaari@kuh.fi (L. Wihersaari).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.04.021

Available online xxx

^{*} Some of the results were presented as an abstract at the 37th International Symposium on Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine, 21–24 March 2017, Brussels, Belgium.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Anaesthesiology, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland.

Received 25 November 2018; Received in revised form 5 April 2019; Accepted 10 April 2019

^{0300-9572/© 2019} Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Introduction

After cardiac arrest and resuscitation, prognostication is challenging.^{1,2} In addition to clinical neurological examination, imaging and neurophysiological studies, certain biomarkers, particularly neuron specific enolase (NSE), are considered useful.³⁻⁷ Sedative medications affect clinical examination and electroencephalography (EEG) but not biomarkers.⁷ Hypoxic brain injury increases blood NSE concentrations⁸ and international guidelines recommend the use of NSE as one part of multimodal prognostication.⁶

However, also other factors than hypoxic brain damage may elevate the NSE concentration^{4,8-14} and a good outcome is possible despite high concentrations.^{8,15-17} In addition, NSE concentrations can remain low despite severe brain damage.¹⁵

It is not known whether age affects the prognostic ability of NSE after cardiac arrest. Moreover, the time from collapse to the return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) probably affects the severity of hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, a typical cause of death after cardiac arrest,¹⁸ but it is unknown if this affects the prognostic value of NSE.

We aimed to evaluate the impact of the patient's age and time from collapse to ROSC on the ability of NSE to predict poor long-term outcome in patients resuscitated from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA).

Methods

Study population

This study is a sub-study of the FINNRESUSCI study.¹⁹ In brief, the FINNRESUSCI study prospectively collected data on 504 adult patients who were treated in 21 Finnish intensive care units (ICUs) after OHCA between March 1st, 2010, and February 28th, 2011. In the current study we included 249 unconscious patients, for whom blood samples were available. The FINNRESUSCI study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Helsinki University Hospital and by each participating hospital.

We assessed neurological outcome according to the Cerebral Performance Category (CPC)²⁰ at 12 months after cardiac arrest. We determined good outcome as sufficient neurological function for managing activities of daily living independently (CPC 1–2) and poor outcome as severe neurological deficits or death (CPC 3–5). The cause of cardiac arrest (cardiogenic or other) was determined with clinical criteria. We chose death in hospital as a secondary outcome.

Data collection

Patient data were collected by using Internet-based case report forms. Data on previous state of health was collected from the patient's medical history and mortality data were obtained from Statistics Finland. Neurological status of all patients at 12 months after cardiac arrest was assessed by phone contact between the patient and a specialist in neurology who was blinded to treatment details. A structured interview to determine the Pittsburgh Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) was used.

Blood sampling and biomarker analysis

Blood samples were taken at 24 and 48 h after cardiac arrest. The blood sample was allowed to clot at room temperature for 60 min, after which it was centrifuged and the obtained serum stored at -70 °C. Serum concentrations of NSE were measured with a commercially available electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany)

in April 2015. All analyses were made in the same laboratory. The range of measurements was 0.05-370 µg/l (or up to 740 µg/l for 2-fold diluted samples) and the range of normal values was 0–16.3 µg/l. The intra and inter assay coefficients of variation were < 3.9% and < 3.2%, respectively. We considered a concentration of 500 mg/l or higher of free haemoglobin as an indicator of significant haemolysis.³ In line with a real-life situation in Finland, we included all blood samples to the study regardless of the amount of haemolysis.

Statistical analysis

We present continuous data as medians with interquartile ranges (IQRs) and categorical data as absolute numbers with percentages (95% confidence intervals [CIs]). We tested normality of distribution with the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. We used the independent samples t test to compare continuous data with normal distributions. When the distribution was not normal, we used the Mann–Whitney U test or the Kruskal–Wallis test, as appropriate. We compared categorical variables by using Pearson's Chi test or Fisher's exact test, as appropriate.

To assess the ability of NSE to discriminate between patients with poor outcome (CPC 3–5) and those with good outcome (CPC 1–2), we calculated areas under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUROCs)²¹ with 95% CIs. We defined values <0.7 as poor, values of 0.7–0.8 as satisfactory, 0.8–0.9 as good and values >0.9 as excellent. In addition to NSE levels at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest, we also studied the change in NSE between 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest. We determined IQRs for patient' ages and the times from collapse to ROSC, and for every quartile we calculated the AUROC for NSE at 48 h. We compared AUROCs by using the bootstrap method. Based on the sensitivity and specificity for different cut-off values, we selected cut-off suing the Youden index.^{22,23} We also determined the cutoff value for 99% specificity. We calculated the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV) and positive likelihood ratio (LR+) for these cut-off values.

We used logistic regression analysis to create a baseline multivariate model to predict poor outcome. We evaluated the predictive value of this model by determining the AUROC. We also assessed the continuous Net Reclassification Improvement (NRI) achieved by the addition of NSE into the baseline model. We assessed event NRI (NRIe) and non-event NRI (NRIne). NRIe is calculated as [(the number of individuals with the predicted event, i.e. poor outcome, given a higher risk after addition of NSE) — (the number of individuals with the event]. Likewise, NRIne is the net proportion of individuals with the event]. Likewise, NRIne is the net proportion of individuals with the event given a lower risk. The overall NRI is the sum of NRIe and NRIne. The theoretical range of values for both NRIe and NRIne is -1 to +1, and that of the overall NRI is-2 to +2. ^{24,25}

In addition, we determined the Integrated Discrimination Improvement (IDI) achieved by the addition of NSE into the baseline multivariate model. IDI measures not only the direction of the change in probability with the addition of new information, but also the magnitude of the change. We calculated event IDI (IDIe) for patients with poor outcome as [(mean probability of poor outcome with baseline model + NSE)– (mean probability of poor outcome as [(mean probability of poor outcome with baseline model] and non-event IDI (IDIe) for patients with good outcome as [(mean probability of poor outcome with baseline model] – (mean probability of poor outcome with baseline model

We considered p values <0.05 as significant. We made the analyses with SPSS version 21 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) and R version 3.1.1.

Results

In total, 249 OHCA patients were included in the study (Fig. 1). Blood samples at 48 h were available for 220 patients. Because the consent was not available for all patients at 24 h, samples from this time point are missing for seven patients. The initial rhythm was shockable in 177 (71%) patients. The actiology of the arrest was cardiac in 199 (79.9%) patients. Targeted temperature management was used in 193 (77.5%) patients. The baseline characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1.

Patient outcomes and prognostic ability of NSE

Overall, 121 patients (49%) had a poor outcome at 12 months. The median NSE concentration at 24 h was 12.9 μ g/l (IQR, 7.6-23.6) in patients with poor outcome and 8.7 μ g/l (5.9-13.4) in those with good outcome (p < 0.001). The median NSE concentration at 48 h was 17.9 μ g/l (8.1-56.4) in patients with poor outcome and 8.2 μ g/l (5.9-12.1) in those with good outcome (p < 0.001). The ability to predict poor outcome was better for NSE at 48 h (AUROC 0.72 [0.65-0.80)]) than NSE at 24 h (AUROC 0.65 [0.58-0.72]), p = 0.005.

The AUROC for the change in NSE concentration between 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest was 0.70 (0.63-0.78[p < 0.001]), which was not significantly different from the AUROC of NSE at 48 h (p = 0.489).

Among those 29 patients, for whom blood samples at 48 h were not available, poor outcome occurred in 23 patients (79.3%), 13 of whom died before the 48 h time point. For these 29 patients, the concentrations of NSE at 24 h were 15.3 μ g/l (4.8-47.9) for patients with poor outcome and 6.3 μ g/l (2.9-12.5) for those with good outcome.

For three patients, significant haemolysis was found. For two of those patients, with NSE concentrations $36.0 \,\mu g/l$ and $37.0 \,\mu g/l$, respectively, at 48 h, CPC was I–2. For one patient, with an NSE concentration of $6.8 \,\mu g/l$ at 48 h, CPC at 12 months was 5 (death).

Cut-off values

Based on the Youden index, the cut-off value for NSE at 48 h as a predictor of poor outcome at 12 months was 20 μ g/l. With this cut-off, sensitivity was 50%, specificity 92.6%, PPV 84.5% and LR+6.8 (3.5–13.1) (p < 0.001). When we required a 99% threshold for specificity, we obtained the cut-off 37 μ g/l (with sensitivity 35.7%, PPV 97.2%, LR+43.6 [6.1–312.4])



Fig. 1 - Flowchart of the study population.

	All	Age					Time to ROSC				
		18-56 years	57-63 years	64-71 years	≥72 years	Ь	11–13 min	14-20 min	21–28 min	≥29 min	р
Number of patients, n	249	62	69	59	59		62	69	58	60	
Age, median (IQR), years	63 (56.5-71.0)	48.0 (42.0-54.0)	60.0 (59.0-62.0)	67.0 (66.0-70.0)	77.0 (73.0-81.0)		63.0 (57.0-74.3)	63.0 (55.5-70.5)	64.5 (57.0-71.0)	62.0 (54.0-69.0)	0.608
Gender, males, n, (%)	209 (83.9)	50 (80.6)	60 (87.0)	52 (88.1)	47 (79.7)	0.469	53 (85.5)	55 (79.7)	50 (86.2)	51 (85.0)	0.730
Witnessed, n (%)*	227 (91.2)	56 (90.3)	68 (98.6)	51 (86.4)	52 (88.1)	0.071	58 (93.5)	63 (91.3)	51 (87.9)	55 (91.7)	0.750
Bystander CPR, n (%)	146 (58.6)	34 (54.8)	43 (62.3)	41 (69.5)	28 (47.5)	0.084	31 (50.0)	40 (58.0)	40 (69.0)	35 (58.3)	0.215
Cardiogenic reason of arrest, n (%)	(6.67) (200)	41 (66.5)	57 (82.6)	50 (84.7)	51 (86.4)	0.018	50 (80.6)	56 (81.2)	47 (81.0)	46 (76.7)	0.913
Time to ROSC, median (IQR), min	20.0 (13.5-28.0)	20.0 (14.0-29.3)	21.0 (13.0-30.0)	23.0 (16.0-28.0)	19.0 (10.0-24.0)	0.138	10.0 (6.0-11.0)	17.0 (15.0-19.5)	24.0 (22.8-26.0)	34.0 (30.3-40.0)	
Shockable rhythm, n (%)	177 (71.1)	42 (67.7)	49 (71.0)	45 (76.3)	41 (69.5)	0.757	43 (69.4)	50 (72.5)	40 (69.0)	44 (73.3)	0.934
SAPS II, median (IQR), points	58.0 (42.0-69.0)	52.0 (32.0-61.0)	57.0 (40.0- 64.0)	60.0 (42.0-72.0)	67.0 (52.0-73.0)	< 0.001	47.5 (33.0-60.8)	56.0 (37.5- 65.5)	60.5 (45.8-69.0)	64.5 (52.3–71.8)	< 0.001
Poor outcome (CPC 3-5), n (%)	121 (48.6)	25 (40.3)	26 (37.7)	34 (57.6)	36 (61.0)	0.014	16 (25.8)	24 (34.8)	38 (65.5)	43 (71.7)	< 0.001
IQR, interquartile range; Witnessed, v Score, CPC, Cerebral Performance C	ritness for collapse; (ategory.	CPR, cardiopulmona	ry resuscitation; ROS	C, return of spontane	ous circulation; Sho	ckable rhyt	hm, ventricular fibril	lation or ventricular t	achycardia; SAPSII,	Simplified Acute Ph	ysiolog

(p < 0.001). A specificity of 100% was obtained with the cut-off value 68 µg/l (corresponding sensitivity 17%). Cut-off values for specificities 95-100% for NSE at 48 h are presented in Supplementary material, Table S1.

The Youden index-based cut-off values for NSE 48 h according to age and time to ROSC are presented in Supplementary material, Table S2.

The value of NSE in different age groups

The difference in NSE concentrations between patients with poor outcome and those with good outcome was most remarkable in the youngest quartile, whereas there was no statistically significant difference in the oldest quartile. Distributions of NSE concentrations at 48 h for patients with poor outcome and for those with good outcome, stratified according to age quartiles, are presented in Fig. 2.

The ability of NSE at 48 h to predict poor outcome in different age groups is presented in Table 2. The ability of NSE at 48 h to predict death in hospital is presented in the Supplementary material, Table S3.

The value of NSE in different groups according to time to ROSC

Distributions of NSE concentrations at 48 h for patients with poor and for those with good outcome, stratified according to time to ROSC quartiles, are presented in Fig. 3. The ability of NSE at 48 h to predict poor outcome in different groups according to time to ROSC is presented in Table 2. The prognostic value was poor in the first quartile (1-13 min), but improved with increasing time to ROSC, and was good for patients with the longest time to ROSC ($\geq 29 \min$).

The ability of NSE at 48 h to predict death in hospital in different quartiles according to time to ROSC is presented in the Supplementary material, Table S3.

The main results remained essentially unchanged after exclusion of the patients with haemolytic blood samples (Supplementary material, Table S4).



Fig. 2 – Distribution of NSE concentrations (μ g/l) at 48 h for the patients with good (Cerebral Performance Category, CPC 1-2) and poor (CPC 3-5) outcome in quartiles according to age.

Boxplot figures; each box showing the interquartile range, with a horizontal line inside the box showing the median value; bars showing the range of values except outliers (circles and stars), defined as values more than 1.5 box lengths from the edge of the box.

		All	Age				Time to ROSC			
			18-56 years	57–63 years	64-71 years	\geq 72 years	1–13 min	14-20 min	21–28 min	≥29 min
NSE 48 h	AUROC	0.72	16.0	0.74	0.76	0.53	0.45	0.62	0.75	0.84
	CI (95%)	0.65-0.80	0.8 ± 1.00	0.60-0.88	0.62 - 0.90	0.37-0.70	0.30-0.61	0.44 - 0.80	0.6 ± 0.89	0.74-0.95
	d	<0.001	<0.001	0.002	0.002	0.687	0.598	0.132	0.004	< 0.001
$NSE48 h > 20 \mu g/l$	Sensitivity	50.0	69.6	47.6	56.0	31.0	6.7	27.8	56.7	74.3
	Specificity	92.6	100	90.2	91.7	85.7	95.1	97.8	89.5	76.5
	PPV	84.5	100	71.4	87.5	75.0	33.3	83.3	89.5	86.7
	LR+ (95% CI)	6.8 (3.5-13.1)	8	4.9 (1.7–13.7)	6.7 (1.7–26.5)	2.2 (0.7-7.1)	1.4 (0.1 - 14.0)	12.5 (1.6-99.7)	5.4 (1.4-20.7)	3.2 (1.3-7.6)
	d	<0.001	<0.001	0,003	0,001	0,201	1.00	0.006	0.002	0.001
NSE 48 $h > 37 \mu g/l$	Sensitivity	35.7	47.8	33.3	40.0	24.1	6.7	11.1	36.7	60.0
	Specificity	99.2	100	100	100	95.2	97.6	100	100	100
	PPV	97.2	100	100	100	87.5	50.0	100	100	100
	LR+ (95% CI)	43.6 (6.1–312.4)	8	8	8	5.1 (0.7-38.2)	2.7 (0.2-41.0)	8	8	8
	d	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.117	0.468	0.078	0.003	< 0.001



Fig. 3 – Distribution of NSE concentrations (μg/l) at 48 h for the patients with good (Cerebral Performance Category, CPC 1–2) and poor (CPC 3–5) outcome in quartiles according to time from collapse to ROSC. Boxplot figures; each box showing the interquartile range, with a horizontal line inside the box showing the median value; bars showing the range of values except outliers (circles and stars), defined as values more than 1.5 box lengths from the edge of the box.

The value of NSE in addition to other prognostic data

Our baseline risk prediction model including age, time to ROSC, initial rhythm and Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS) II points²⁷ without age points had an AUROC of 0.81 (0.75–0.86) for predicting poor outcome at 12 months. When 48 h NSE was added to this model, the AUROC increased to 0.84 (0.79–0.89) (p = 0.021).

Regarding different age groups, adding NSE to the baseline risk prediction model improved the AUROC only for the youngest patients (18–56 years) (p=0.013).

Considering different times to ROSC, adding NSE to the baseline model improved the AUROC only for patients with longest time to ROSC (29 min or more) (p < 0.001).

AUROC, NRI and IDI data for all patients and according to age and time to ROSC quartiles are presented in Table 3.

NSE analyses were available in 9 of 21 participating hospitals at the time of the FINNRESUSCI study. These hospitals treated 35.3% of the study patients. The prognostic ability of NSE was dependent on age and time to ROSC in both hospital groups (Supplementary Tables S5 and S6).

Discussion

The main finding of our study is that the ability of NSE to predict one-year outcome was dependent on both the patient's age and the time from collapse to ROSC. In young patients, NSE at 48 h had an excellent predictive value, whereas the predictive value was poor in the oldest patients. For patients with a short time from collapse to ROSC, NSE at 48 h was not able to predict outcome, but it showed a good predictive ability for patients with a long time to ROSC. These findings are important as NSE is one of the parameters commonly used in prognostication of patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. Further refinement of the use of NSE by identifying appropriate and inappropriate patient groups is of great importance.

We suggest that there may be a plausible explanation for our findings: NSE is a marker of neurological injury, but it may not be able to predict a poor long-term prognosis that is caused by other factors than hypoxic brain injury. For young patients, poor outcome after cardiac arrest is often associated with hypoxic brain damage, whereas poor long-term outcome in elderly patients may often be influenced by other factors (e.g. heart failure, pulmonary or renal disease, infirmity), i.e. factors that may not be reflected by post-resuscitation NSE levels. For patients who die after initially successful resuscitation, hypoxic brain injury is the most common cause of death, but deaths because of circulatory failure also occur frequently.²⁸

In the normal population, NSE levels do not vary significantly in different ages.²⁹ However, in patients with Alzheimer's disease, NSE concentrations in serum tend to decrease with increasing severity of brain atrophy.³⁰ It might be possible that Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders that are more common among the old than in younger people may cause loss of neuronal tissue, which might decrease the response of increasing NSE concentrations after hypoxic brain injury.

In addition to age, the time from collapse to ROSC influenced the ability of NSE to predict poor outcome. NSE at 48 h showed good predictive ability for patients with a long time to ROSC, but not for those with a short time to ROSC. A possible explanation is that for cardiac arrest patients with a long time to ROSC, the cause of poor outcome is often hypoxic brain injury that typically causes high NSE concentrations, whereas a poor outcome despite a short time to ROSC may not be caused by hypoxic encephalopathy, but rather the underlying conditions responsible for the cardiac arrest. In the study by Streitberger et al. on 1053 resuscitated patients, the cause of death was other than hypoxic brain injury for the majority of patients who died even though the NSE concentration was 17 μ g/l or lower.⁴

In our study, the cut-off obtained with the Youden method was 20 μ g/l, whereas it was 29 μ g/l in the study by Stammet et al. For a 99% threshold of specificity, the cut-off was 37 μ g/l, as compared to 68 μ g/l in the study by Stammet et al. Requiring 100% specificity results in low sensitivity, which limits the clinical use of biomarkers, and a lower specificity for cut-off values has been proposed by Stammet et al.³¹

Optimal cut-off values for NSE at 48 h to predict poor neurological outcome have varied between 25 and 97 $\mu g/l$ in different studies.^{4,11,15} There are several possible explanations for the large variation: there are differences in laboratory methods,³² in patient case-mix,^{4,15} in definitions of poor outcome¹⁵ and in the time between the cardiac arrest and the assessment of neurological outcome.^{3-4,16,33-36} Commonly, outcome has been determined at six months after cardiac arrest, ^{3,16,36} whereas we assessed outcome at 12 months.

tio	
ica	
ssif	
cla	
Re	
et	÷
, N	5
ö	õ
۳.	8
A	ē
ž	Ē
ರ	P
stic	ea
eri	ag
act	5
har	lin
0	ő
ţ	acc
era	ed
8	ţ
ver	itra
Gei	ğ
5	sar
dei	ant s
5	atie
rea	ä
A .	ra
۲ ۲	5
ţ	ē
- De	Ţ
2	me
at 1	ove
ne	pr
- S	Ę
Ť	tio
ē	ina
å	Ē
lict	isc
rec	Ð
5	ate
S	ba
po	Į
E	Pu
iate	I) a
var	R.
ulti	ť
ž	me
e	ove
ble	pre
Ta	Ε

				0	R (95% CI)					b
Age ^a ROSC ^a				1	045 (1.018-1.074) 076 (1.042-1.112)					0.001
Witnessed ^a				0	319 (0.101-1.011)					0.052
Shockable ^a				0.	309 (0.152-0.627)					0.001
*SAPSII ^a				1.	041 (1.019-1.064)					<0.001
NSE48 ^b				1.	055 (1.025-1.085)					< 0.001
		ALL	18-56	57-63	AGE, years 64-71	≥72	1-13	Time to ROSC, min 14-20	21–28	≥29
AUROC (95% CI)	Baseline model	0.81 (0.75-0.86)	0.82 (0.71-0.93)	0.84 (0.74-0.95)	0.82 (0.71–0.94)	0.68 (0.52-0.84)	0.72 (0.58-0.86)	0.80 (0.68-0.91)	0.83 (0.71-0.95)	0.71 (0.54-0.87)
	Baseline model + NSE 48 h	0.84 (0.79-0.89)	0.88 (0.79-0.97)	0.88 (0.79-0.97)	0.84 (0.73-0.95)	0.67 (0.52-0.82)	0.68(0.54 - 0.83)	0.82 (0.71–0.93)	0.85 (0.75-0.96)	0.90 (0.82-0.99)
	p value for difference	0.021	0.013	0.226	0.665	0.819	0.100	0.453	0.561	0.001
NRI	Continuous	0.394	0.773	0.516	0.457	-0.332	-0.491	0.244	0.628	1.140
	NRI _e	-0.082	0.217	-0.143	0.040	-0.379	-0.467	-0.444	-0.067	0.257
	NRI _{ne}	0.476	0.556	0.659	0.417	0.047	-0.024	0.688	0.695	0.883
IDI	IDI	0.032	0.141	0.035	0.017	-0.077	-0.059	0.000	0.039	0.228
	IDI _e	-0.010	0.078	-0.017	-0.035	-0.041	-0.039	-0.046	-0.013	0.036
	IDI _{ne}	0.041	0.063	0.052	0.051	-0.035	-0.020	0.047	0.051	0.192
ROSC, return of spon	taneous circulation; Witnessed,	, witnessed cardiac arr	est, Shockable, shoch	able initial rhythm (ventricular fibrillatio	on or ventricular tach	vcardia); SAPSII, Sin	nplified Acute Physiology	Score II; NSE48, NS	E concentration at
48 h after cardiac arre event IDI.	st; AUKOC, the area under the I	receiver operating cha	racteristic curve; NKJ	, net reclassification	improvement; NKI _e	, event NKI; NKI _{ne} , n	on-event NK1; ID1, in	tegrated discrimination im	provement; IDI _e , eve	nt IDI; IDI _{ne} , non-
*SAPSII without age	points.									
^a Variables in baselin	te model. Calculated with logis	stic regression for 220) patients for whom]	VSE at 48 h was ava	ailable.					
^b NSE at 48 h added	to the baseline model.									

For some individuals, NSE concentrations after cardiac arrest and resuscitation may be high although their prognosis is good.^{8,15-17} Also, ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke or traumatic intracerebral bleeding increase the serum NSE values, but high levels do not exclude the possibility of a good outcome.¹²⁻¹⁴ In addition, extracerebral sources of NSE may cause bias: high NSE concentrations have been found in association with several diseases, including small cell lung cancer⁹ and many neuroendocrine tumors.³⁷ Therefore, it is advisable to avoid decisions about futility of care on the basis of NSE concentrations alone. Nevertheless, NSE is a useful part of multimodal prognostication based on repeated clinical examination, electrophysiological studies and brain imaging.⁶⁻⁷ However, it is important to realise that haemolysis may increase NSE concentrations,^{4,10} and NSE measurements from haemolytic blood samples must not be used for prognostication.

Strengths and limitations

Our study has a number of strengths. This was a nationwide multicentre study with 249 patients. All blood samples were analysed in the same laboratory at one time and long-term neurological outcome was defined by an experienced neurologist blinded to the NSE results.

There are also limitations. Firstly, we did not have blood samples from all FINNRESUSCI study patients. In fact, there was a difference in the proportion of shockable rhythms between our study (71.1%) and the original FINNRESUSCI study (56.8%) and in the proportion of cardiac aetiology of CA (79.9% vs. 66.3). Accordingly, the proportion of patients with good outcome was higher in our study (51%) than in the original FINNRESUSCI study (38.5%), indicating some degree of selection bias. Secondly, we do not know the best CPC or the cause of death of our study patients. Third, the number of patients in the subgroups was rather small.

Conclusions

In this observational study, we found that the ability of NSE at 48 h to predict long-term outcome after resuscitation from OHCA was good for young patients and for patients with a long time from collapse to ROSC, but poor for the oldest patients and for those with a short time to ROSC. If these findings are confirmed in other studies, they should be taken into account when prognostication guidelines are updated.

The FINNRESUSCI Study Group: Satakunta Central Hospital, Dr. Vesa Lund, Päivi Tuominen, Satu Johansson, Pauliina Perkola, Elina Kumpulainen; East Savo Central Hospital, Dr. Markku Suvela, Sari Hirvonen, Sirpa Kauppinen; Central Finland Central Hospital, Dr. Raili Laru-Sompa, Mikko Reilama; South Savo Central Hospital, Dr. Heikki Laine, Pekka Kettunen, Iina Smolander; North Karelia Central Hospital, Dr. Matti Reinikainen, Tero Surakka; Seinäjoki Central Hospital, Dr. Kari Saarinen, Pauliina Lähdeaho, Johanna Soini; South Carelia Central Hospital, Dr. Seppo Hovilehto; Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Dr. Pekka Loisa, Alli Parviainen, Pirjo Tuomi; Vaasa Central Hospital, Dr. Simo-Pekka Koivisto, Dr. Raku Hautamäki; Kanta-Häme Central Hospital, Dr. Ari Alaspää, Tarja Heikkilä; Lappi Central Hospital, Dr. Outi Kiviniemi, Esa Lintula; Keski-Pohjanmaa Central Hospital, Dr. Tadeusz Kaminski, Jane Roiko; Kymenlaakso Central Hospital, Dr. Seija Alila, Dr. Jussi Pentti, Reija Koskinen; Länsi-Pohja Central Hospital, Dr. Jorma Heikkinen; Helsinki University Hospital, Jorvi Hospital, Dr. Jukka Vaahersalo, Dr. Tuomas Oksanen, Dr. Tero Varpula, Anne Eronen, Teemu Hult, Taina Nieminen; Meilahti Hospital Medical ICU, Dr. Tom Bäcklund, Leevi Kauhanen; Meilahti Hospital ICU, Dr. Kirsi-Maija Kaukonen, Dr. Ville Pettilä, Leena Pettilä, Sari Sutinen; Turku University

Hospital, Dr. Juha Perttilä, Keijo Leivo; Tampere University Hospital, Dr. Sanna Hoppu, Dr. Jyrki Tenhunen, Dr. Sari Karlsson, Atte Kukkurainen, Simo Varila, Samuli Kortelainen, Minna-Liisa Peltola; Kuopio University Hospital, Dr. Pamela Hiltunen, Dr. Jouni Kurola, Dr. Esko Ruokonen, Elina Halonen, Saija Rissanen, Sari Rahikainen; Oulu University Hospital, Dr. Risto Ahola, Dr. Tero Ala-Kokko, Sinikka Sälkiö.

Conflicts of interests

None.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by Dr. Kaukonen's Clinical Researcher Grant from the Academy of Finland. Writing of the manuscript was funded by a grant from Maire Jokinen's foundation to Dr. Wihersaari.

The authors thank biostatistician Tuomas Selander, MSc, for help with the statistical analyses.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.04.021.

REFERENCES

- Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, et al. Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Resuscitation 2014;85:1779-89.
- Booth CM, Boone RH, Tomlinson G, Detsky AS. Is this patient dead, vegetative, or severely neurologically impaired? Assessing outcome for comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. JAMA 2004;291:870–9.
- Stammet P, Collignon O, Hassager C, et al. Neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of death or poor neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management at 33°C and 36°C. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65:2104-14.
- Streitberger KJ, Leithner C, Wattenberg M, et al. Neuron-specific enolase predicts poor outcome after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management: a multicenter study on 1,053 patients. Crit Care Med 2017;45:1145-51.
- Oddo M, Rossetti AO. Early multimodal outcome prediction after cardiac arrest in patients treated with hypothermia. Crit Care Med 2014;42:1340-7.
- Nolan JP, Soar J, Cariou A, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine 2015 guidelines for postresuscitation care. Intensive Care Med 2015;41:2039-56.
- Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Nolan JP. Prognostication after cardiac arrest. Crit Care 201822:.
- Tiainen M, Roine RO, Pettila V, Takkunen O. Serum neuron-specific enolase and S-100B protein in cardiac arrest patients treated with hypothermia. Stroke 2003;34:2881–6.
- Esscher T, Steinholtz L, Bergh J, Nou E, Nilsson K, Pahlman S. Neurone specific enolase: a useful diagnostic serum marker for small cell carcinoma of the lung. Thorax 1985;40:85–90.
- Pfeifer R, Ferrari M, Borner A, Deufel T, Figulla HR. Serum concentration of NSE and S-100b during LVAD in non-resuscitated patients. Resuscitation 2008;79:46-53.
- Sandroni C, Cavallaro F, Callaway CW, et al. Predictors of poor neurological outcome in adult comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review

and meta-analysis. Part 2: patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia Resuscitation 2013;84:1324-38.

- Cunningham R, Young ISWJ, O'Kane MJMS, et al. Serum neurone specific enolase (NSE) levels as an indicator of neuronal damage in patients with cerebral infarction. Eur J Clin Investig 1991;21:497–500.
- Skogseid IM, Nordby HK, Urdal P, Paus E, Lilleaas F. Increased serum creatine kinase BB and neuron specific enolase following head injury indicates brain damage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1992;115:106–11.
- Schaarschmidt H, Prange HW, Reiber H. Neuron-specific enolase concentrations in blood as a prognostic parameter in cerebrovascular diseases. Stroke 1994;25:558-65.
- Daubin C, Quentin C, Allouche S, et al. Serum neuron-specific enolase as predictor of outcome in comatose cardiac-arrest survivors: a prospective cohort study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 201111:.
- Zellner T, Gartner R, Schopohl J, Angstwurm M. NSE and S-100B are not sufficiently predictive of neurologic outcome after therapeutic hypothermia for cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2013;84:1382–6.
- Stammet P, Wagner DR, Gilson G, Devaux Y. Modeling serum level of s100beta and bispectral index to predict outcome after cardiac arrest. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;62:851–8.
- Laver S, Farrow C, Turner D, Nolan J. Mode of death after admission to an intensive care unit following cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 2004;30:2126-8.
- Vaahersalo J, Hiltunen P, Tiainen M, et al. Therapeutic hypothermia after outof-hospital cardiac arrest in Finnish intensive care units: the FINNRESUSCI study. Intensive Care Med 2013;39:826-37.
- Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 1975;1:480-4.
- Hanley JA, McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Radiology 1982;143:29–36.
- 22. Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer 1950;3:32-5.
- Greiner M, Pfeiffer D, Smith RD. Principles and practical application of the receiver-operating characteristic analysis for diagnostic tests. Prev Vet Med 2000;45:23-41.
- Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RBS, D'Agostino Jr. RB, Vasan RS. Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 200827:.

- Leening MJ, Vedder MM, Witteman JC, Pencina MJ, Steyerberg EW. Net reclassification improvement: computation, interpretation, and controversies: a literature review and clinician's guide. Ann Intern Med 2014;160:122–31.
- Pickering JW, Endre ZH. New metrics for assessing diagnostic potential of candidate biomarkers. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;7:1355-64.
- Le Gall JR, Lemeshow S, Saulnier F. A new Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS II) based on a European/North American multicenter study. JAMA 1993;270:2957–63.
- Lemiale V, Dumas F, Mongardon N, et al. Intensive care unit mortality after cardiac arrest: the relative contribution of shock and brain injury in a large cohort. Intensive Care Med 2013;39:1972–80.
- Casmiro M, Maitan S, De Pasquale F, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid and serum neuron-specific enolase concentrations in a normal population. Eur J Neurol 2005;12:369–74.
- Chaves ML, Camozzato AL, Ferreira ED, et al. Serum levels of S100B and NSE proteins in Alzheimer's disease patients. J Neuroinflammation 20107:.
- 31. Stammet P, Dankiewicz J, Nielsen N, et al. Protein S100 as outcome predictor after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management at 33 degrees C and 36 degrees C. Crit Care 201721:.
- Stern P, Bartos V, Uhrova J, et al. Performance characteristics of seven neuron-specific enolase assays. Tumour Biol 2007;28:84-92.
- 33. Choi S, Park K, Ryu S, et al. Use of S-100B, NSE, CRP and ESR to predict neurological outcomes in patients with return of spontaneous circulation and treated with hypothermia. Emerg Med J 2016;33:690-5.
- 34. Vondrakova D, Kruger A, Janotka M, et al. Association of neuron-specific enolase values with outcomes in cardiac arrest survivors is dependent on the time of sample collection. Crit Care 201721:.
- Pfeifer R, Franz M, Figulla HR. Hypothermia after cardiac arrest does not affect serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and protein S-100b. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2014;58:1093-100.
- 36. Roger C, Palmier L, Louart B, et al. Neuron specific enolase and Glasgow motor score remain useful tools for assessing neurological prognosis after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest treated with therapeutic hypothermia. Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med 2015;34:231–7.
- Mjones P, Sagatun L, Nordrum IS, Waldum HL. Neuron-specific enolase as an immunohistochemical marker is better than its reputation. J Histochem Cytochem 2017;65:687–703 22155417733676.

25.

Ш

Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest

Wihersaari L, Reinikainen M, Tiainen M, Bendel S, Kaukonen KM, Vaahersalo J, JRomppanen J, Pettilä V, Skrifvars MB, the FINNRESUSCI study group.

Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2023;67:964-971.

DOI: 10.1111/aas.14257

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Anaesthesiologica

Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest

Lauri Wihersaari^{1,2} Matti Reinikainen^{1,2} Marjaana Tiainen³ Stepani Bendel¹ Kirsi-Maija Kaukonen^{4,5} Jukka Vaahersalo⁶ Jarkko Romppanen⁷ Ville Pettilä⁸ Markus B. Skrifvars⁹ The FINNRESUSCI Study Group

¹Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland

²University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

³Department of Neurology, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

⁴University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

⁵Medbase Developments LTD, Turku, Finland

⁶Center for Emergency, Perioperative and Intensive Care Medicine, Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

⁷Eastern Finland Laboratory Centre, Kuopio, Finland

⁸Department of Perioperative and Intensive Care, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

⁹Department of Emergency Care and Services, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

Correspondence

Lauri Wihersaari, Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Kuopio University Hospital, Puijonlaaksontie 2, Kuopio 70210, Finland. Email: Jauri, wihersaari@pshyvinyointialue.fi

Email: laun.winersaan@pshyvinvointialue.n

Funding information

Academy of Finland; Finska Läkaresällskapet; Kuopion Yliopistollinen Sairaala

Abstract

Background: We studied the prognostic ability of serum ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA), compared to that of neuron-specific enolase (NSE).

Methods: In this post-hoc analysis of the FINNRESUSCI study, we measured serum concentrations of UCH-L1 in 249 OHCA patients treated in 21 Finnish intensive care units in 2010–2011. We evaluated the ability of UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable outcome at 12 months (defined as cerebral performance category 3–5) by assessing the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC), in comparison with NSE.

Results: The concentrations of UCH-L1 were higher in patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome: median concentration 10.8 ng/mL (interquartile range, 7.5–18.5 ng/mL) versus 7.8 ng/mL (5.9–11.8 ng/mL) at 24 h (p < .001), and 16.2 ng/mL (12.2–27.7 ng/mL) versus 11.5 ng/mL (9.0–17.2 ng/mL) (p < .001) at 48 h after OHCA. For UCH-L1 as a 12-month outcome predictor, the AUROC was 0.66 (95% confidence interval, 0.60–0.73) at 24 h and 0.66 (0.59–0.74) at 48 h. For NSE, the AUROC was 0.66 (0.59–0.73) at 24 h and 0.72 (0.65–0.80) at 48 h. The prognostic ability of UCH-L1 was not different from that of NSE at 24 h (p = .82) and at 48 h (p = .23).

Conclusion: Concentrations of UCH-L1 in serum were higher in patients with unfavourable outcome than in those with favourable outcome. However, the ability of UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable outcome after OHCA was only moderate and not superior to that of NSE.

KEYWORDS

biomarkers, cardiac arrest, neurological outcome, OHCA, prognostication, resuscitation, ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1

The FINNRESUSCI Study Group members listed in the Acknowledgements section.

Some of the results were presented as an abstract at the 37th International Symposium on Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine, 28-31 March 2017, Brussels, Belgium.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2023 The Authors. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica Foundation.

1

Editorial Comment

In this post-hoc analysis of the FINNRESUSCI study, serum ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1), an enzyme mostly located in neurons of the cerebral cortex, was measured at 24 and 48 h following out-of-hospital cardiac arrest of any cause in 249 patients. The levels of UCH-L1 showed moderate predictive performance for unfavourable neurological outcome (cerebral performance category 3–5) at 12 months follow up and was not superior to the more commonly used neuron-specific enolase assay.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury (HIBI) is the most common reason for severe disability and death after cardiac arrest (CA).^{1,2} Identifying imminent severe HIBI that results in poor prognosis is an essential part of patient management.³ Biomarkers are one part of multimodal prognostication along with imaging and clinical and neurophysiological examinations.⁴ Biomarkers have some special benefits: they are non-invasive and inexpensive, and the results are not confounded by sedative medications.³

Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) is the biomarker recommended in the latest ERC-ESICM guideline.⁴ However, when high NSE cut-off values are used to minimize the risk of falsely pessimistic prognosis, the sensitivity of NSE remains rather low, and many individuals with poor prognosis are not identified correctly.^{5,6} In addition, haemolysis,^{7,8} extracerebral sources,^{9,10} stroke and traumatic brain injury (TBI)¹¹⁻¹³ may increase NSE concentrations. Moreover, we have previously shown that the prognostic value of NSE is dependent on the patient's age and the duration of CA.¹⁴

Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) is an enzyme mostly located in neurons of the cerebral cortex.^{15,16} After TBI, UCH-L1 concentrations are associated with severity of injury.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ Results from a previous study suggested that UCH-L1 may be a rather good predictor of unfavourable outcome in OHCA patients with a presumably cardiac cause of arrest.²⁰

To assess the prognostic ability of UCH-L1 in an unselected OHCA population, we analysed UCH-L1 concentrations in serum of patients included in the FINNRESUSCI study.²¹

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Patient selection and data collection

Patients for this post-hoc study were included in the prospective FINNRESUSCI study²¹ that collected data on adult patients who were resuscitated from OHCA, irrespective of aetiology of CA. The study was performed in 21 Finnish intensive care units (ICUs) between 2010 and 2011. Blood samples from 249 of the original 548 FINNRE-SUSCI study patients were available, and we included all of them to the study (Figure 1). Clinical criteria were used to determine the cause (cardiogenic or other) of CA.

The study protocol of the FINNRESUSCI study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Helsinki University Hospital and by each participating hospital.

Internet-based case report forms were used to record patient data. Data on previous health and diseases were collected from the patient's medical history. Mortality data were obtained from Statistics Finland. A structured interview was used to define the neurological recovery at 12 months after CA. A specialist in neurology, who was blinded to the treatment of the patients and test results, performed all assessments of patient's neurological status by phone contacts.

2.2 | Outcome definitions

We defined favourable outcome as cerebral performance category (CPC) 1–2 and unfavourable outcome as CPC 3–5 at 12 months after CA. CPC 1–2 means sufficient neurological function for at least independently managing basic activities of daily living, whereas CPC 3–5 describes severe disability, persistent vegetative state or death.²² As short-term outcome, we used death during index hospital treatment.

2.3 | Laboratory analyses

Blood samples were drawn from FINNRESUSCI study patients, for whom written consent was provided by a next of kin. The samples were allowed to clot at room temperature for 60 min, after which they were centrifuged, and serum was stored at -70° C. We analysed serum concentrations of UCH-L1 in March 2015 by a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit (USCN, Wuhan, China). We analysed all samples in duplicate. The intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were <7.5% and <11.5%, respectively, for UCH-L1. Intra-assay CVs were determined in 16 aliquots of two serum pools analysed in the same run and inter-assay CVs were determined in 10 aliquots of two serum pools analysed in the consecutive runs. The calibrators covered the range 0.16–10 ng/mL for UCH-L1. Serum samples were diluted 4-fold or up to 20-fold when needed prior to assay of UCH-L1.

We have previously published the concentrations and prognostic ability of NSE in this same study population.^{14,23} In the current study, we measured the UCH-L1 concentrations and additionally compared the prognostic ability of UCH-L1 to that of NSE. **FIGURE 1** Flowchart of the study population. CPC, cerebral performance category.



2.4 | Statistical analysis

We present categorical data as absolute numbers with percentages (95% confidence intervals [CIs]). For continuous data, like biomarker concentrations, we present medians with interquartile ranges. We tested normality of distribution with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For categorical data, we used a chi-square test or Fisher's exact test, as appropriate. For continuous variables, we used the independent samples *t*-test for data with normal distribution and the Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis test for data that were not normally distributed.

To assess prognostic ability, we determined the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC)²⁴ with 95% CI for UCH-L1 and compared it with the previously determined AUROC of NSE. We used the bootstrap method to compare AUROCs.

We determined cut-off values for UCH-L1 at 24 and 48 h after CA to predict unfavourable outcome. We used the Youden method²⁵ to determine the optimal cut-off. To minimize the number of patients with false positive results, we determined cut-off values with high specificities (95% and 99%). We also calculated positive predictive values (PPVs), negative predictive values (NPVs) and positive likelihood ratios (LR+) with 95% Cls for those cut-off values.

We also evaluated the ability of UCH-L1 to identify patients with a high probability of favourable outcome. For this, we determined cut-off values with high (90%–99%) sensitivities. We calculated PPVs, NPVs and negative likelihood ratios (LR–) with 95% CIs for these cut-offs.

We used multivariable logistic regression analysis to analyse the independent association of UCH-L1 with unfavourable 12-month outcome and with risk of in-hospital death. We selected significant clinical variables to the models. To predict unfavourable outcome at 12 months, the variables included were patient's age, time from collapse to return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC), witnessed collapse and initial rhythm (shockable or non-shockable). Data on whether the arrest was witnessed were non-significant in the model predicting death in hospital and thus were not included. We calculated odd ratios (OR) (with 95% Cls) for these variables. Then we separately added UCH-L1 at 24 and 48 h to the models and calculated ORs.

We used SPSS version 27 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) and R (version 4.0.4) for the statistical analyses and GraphPad Prism (version 9.4.1) for drawing figures.

3 | RESULTS

Of 249 patients, 177 (71.1%) had a shockable initial rhythm. The cause of CA was assessed as cardiogenic in 199 (79.9%) patients. During hospital treatment, 86 (35.5%) patients died. Twelve-month outcome was unfavourable for 121 (48.6%) patients. Data on patient characteristics are presented in Table 1.

Concentrations of UCH-L1 were significantly higher for patients with unfavourable 12-month outcome than for those with favourable outcome: the median UCH-L1 concentration was 10.8 ng/mL (IQR 7.5-18.5 ng/mL) versus 7.8 ng/mL (5.9-11.8 ng/mL), p < .001, at 24 h, and 16.2 ng/mL (12.2-27.7 ng/mL) versus 11.5 ng/mL (9.0-17.2 ng/mL), p < .001, at 48 h. The UCH-L1 concentrations were also higher for those who died during hospital treatment than for those who survived: 12.6 ng/mL (8.5-20.6 ng/mL) versus 7.9 ng/mL (6.1-12.1 ng/mL) at 24 h (p < .001) and 17.1 ng/mL (12.6-30.0 ng/mL) versus 12.1 ng/mL (9.1-18.4 ng/mL) at 48 h (p < .001). The UCH-L1 concentrations are presented in Figure 2.

3.1 | Prognostic ability

For UCH-L1 at 24 h as a predictor of unfavourable 12-month outcome, the AUROC was 0.66 (0.60–0.73). For UCH-L1 at 48 h, the AUROC was 0.66 (0.59–0.74), p < .001.

Anaesthesiologica

		Hospital mortality			12-month outcome	e	
	All (n = 249)	Survivors <i>n</i> = 163	Non-survivors n = 86	р	CPC 1-2 n = 128	CPC 3-5 n = 121	р
Age, years (IQR)	63.0 (56.5-71)	62.0 (56.0-70.0)	66.0 (59.0-72.0)	.019	61.5 (55.3-67.0)	67.0 (59.0-72.0)	.001
Sex, males, n (%)	209 (83.9)	139 (85.3)	70 (81.4)	.428	107 (83.6)	102 (84.3)	.88
Witnessed CA, n (%)	227 (91.2)	152 (93.3)	75 (87.2)	.11	123 (96.1)	104 (86.0)	.005
Bystander CPR, n (%)	146 (58.6)	92 (56.4)	54 (62.8)	.333	78 (60.9)	68 (56.2)	.448
Shockable rhythm, n (%)	177 (71.1)	128 (78.5)	49 (60.0)	<.001	106 (82.8)	71 (58.7)	<.001
Cardiogenic aetiology of CA, <i>n</i> (%)	199 (79.9)	136 (83.4)	63 (73.3)	.057	110 (85.9)	89 (73.6)	.015
Time to ROSC, min (IQR)	20.0 (13.5-28.0)	17.0 (11.0-23.0)	26.0 (20.0-31.3)	<.001	16.0 (11.0-23.0)	24.0 (19.0-31.0)	<.001
TTM, n (%)	193 (77.5)	126 (77.3)	67 (77.9)	.913	100 (78.1)	93 (76.9)	.811
SAPS II score (IQR)	58.0 (42.0-69.0)	52.0 (36.0-63.0)	67.0 (58.8-73.0)	<.001	47.0 (34.0-60.8)	65.0 (55.5-71.0)	<.001
SOFA score (IQR)	9 (7-11)	8 (6-10)	11 (9-11)	<.001	8 (6-10)	10 (8-11)	.004

Abbreviations: CA, cardiac arrest; CPC, cerebral performance category; CPR, cardiopulmonary resuscitation; IQR, interquartile range; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation; SAPS II, Simplified Acute Physiology Score II; SOFA, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment Score based on first 24 h in the ICU; TTM, targeted temperature management.



FIGURE 2 Concentrations of UCH-L1 in serum at 24 and 48 h after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest for hospital survivors and for non-survivors, and for patients with favourable outcome (CPC 1-2) and for those with unfavourable outcome (CPC 3-5) at 12 months. Each box presents the interquartile range, the line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show the lowest and the highest concentrations and dots show concentrations for each patient. CPC, cerebral performance category; UCH-L1, ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase L1.

For UCH-L1 as a predictor of in-hospital death, the AUROC was 0.69 (0.62–0.76) at 24 h and 0.68 (0.60–0.78) at 48 h.

In the multivariable logistic regression model, UCH-L1 at 24 h was a significant predictor of hospital mortality (OR 1.035 [1.010–1.059], p = .005) and unfavourable 12-month outcome (OR 1.024 [1.000–1.047], p = .047). At 48 h, UCH-L1 predicted hospital mortality (OR 1.020 [1.002–1.038], p = .029) but not unfavourable outcome at 12 months. The ORs for UCH-L1 and clinical variables are presented in Table 2.

3.2 | Comparison with NSE

The AUROCs for NSE as a predictor of unfavourable outcome at 12 months were 0.66 (0.59-0.73) at 24 h and 0.72 (0.65-0.80) at 48 h. There was no difference between the AUROC of NSE at 24 h and that of UCH-L1 at 24 h (p = .82) or 48 h (p = .827). Likewise,

there was no difference between the AUROC of NSE at 48 h and that of UCH-L1 at 24 h (p = .184) or 48 h (p = .230).

To predict death in hospital, the AUROCs for NSE were 0.70 (0.63-0.77) at 24 h and 0.76 (0.68-0.83) at 48 h. These were not statistically significantly different from the corresponding AUROCs of UCH-L1.

3.3 | Cut-off values

We determined cut-off values for UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable outcome at 12 months. For UCH-L1 at 24 h, the Youden-based cut-off value was 9.1 ng/mL, which provided a specificity of 62.9% (95% CI, 54.4–71.4%) and a sensitivity of 66.1% (95% CI, 57.6–74.6%). At 48 h, the Youden-based cut-off value was 12.0 ng/mL, with a specificity of 53.3% (95% CI, 44.4–62.1) and sensitivity of 77.6% (95% CI,
5 Anaesthesiologi

TABLE 2Logistic regression modelfor clinical variables and serum UCH-L1to predict hospital mortality andunfavourable outcome (CPC 3-5) at12 months.		Hospital mortality			12-month CPC 3-5		
	Variable	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	р
	Age (years)	1.037	1.011-1.064	.005	1.050	1.022-1.078	<.001
	Witnessed collapse (NO)	-	-	-	3.574	1.169-10.925	.025
	Shockable rhythm (NO)	3.688	1.946-6.989	<.001	4.609	2.354-9.022	<.001
	ROSC (min)	1.092	1.060-1.126	<.001	1.095	1.062-1.129	<.001
	UCH-L1 24 h	1.035	1.010-1.059	.005	1.024	1.000-1.047	.047
	UCH-L1 48 h	1.020	1.002-1.038	.029	-	-	-

Abbreviations: CPC, cerebral performance category; OR, odd ratios; ROSC, return of spontaneous circulation

TABLE 3 Cut-off values for UCH-L1 to predict unfavourable outcome (CPC 3-5) at 12 months with the Youden method-based cut-off and with high specificities.

		Concentration						
	Cut-off definition	ng/mL	Specificity %	Sensitivity %	PPV %	NPV %	LR+	р
24 h	Youden	9.1	62.9 (54.4-71.4)	66.1 (57.6-74.6)	62.9 (54.4-71.4)	66.1 (57.6-74.6)	1.8 (1.4–2.3)	<.001
	95% specificity	30.5	95.2 (91.4-98.9)	11.9 (6.0–17.7)	70.0 (49.9-90.1)	53.2 (46.6-59.7)	2.5 (1.0-6.2)	.047
	99% specificity	37.2	98.4 (96.2–100)	9.3 (4.1–14.6)	84.6 (65.0-100)	53.3 (46.8-59.7)	5.8 (1.3-25.5	.008
48 h	Youden	12.0	53.3 (44.4-62.1)	77.6 (69.3-85.8)	57.1 (48.7–65.6)	74.7 (65.6-83.8)	1.7 (1.3–2.1)	<.001
	95% specificity	32.1	95.1 (91.2-98.9)	18.4 (10.7–26.0)	75.0 (57.7-92.3)	59.2 (52.3-66.1)	3.7 (1.5–9.0)	.001
	99% specificity	45.5	98.4 (96.1-100)	7.1 (2.0–12.2)	77.8 (50.6–100)	56.9 (50.2-63.6)	4.4 (0.9–20.5)	.041

Abbreviations: CPC, cerebral performance category; LR+, positive likelihood ratio; NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value.

TABLE 4 Cut-off values for UCH-L1 to predict CPC 3-5 at 12 months with high sensitivities.

		Concentration						
	Cut-off definition	ng/mL	Specificity %	Sensitivity %	PPV %	NPV %	LR-	р
24 h	90% sensitivity	5.7	21.0 (13.8-28.1)	90.7 (85.4-95.9)	52.2 (45.4–59.0)	70.3 (55.5-85.0)	0.44 (0.23–0.86)	.012
	95% sensitivity	4.9	13.7 (7.7–19.8)	94.9 (91.0-98.9)	51.1 (44.5–57.8)	73.9 (56.0-91.9)	0.37 (0.15-0.91)	.022
	99% sensitivity	4.1	6.5 (2.1–10.8)	98.3 (96.0-100)	50.0 (43.6-56.4)	80.0 (55.2–100)	0.26 (0.06-1.21)	.063
48 h	90% sensitivity	8.1	17.2 (10.5–23.9)	89.8 (83.8–95.8)	46.6 (39.4-53.7)	67.7 (51.3-84.2)	0.59 (0.29–1.20)	.138
	95% sensitivity	7.0	10.7 (5.2–16.1)	94.9 (90.5-99.3)	46.0 (39.2-52.9)	72.2 (51.5-92.9)	0.48 (0.18–1.30)	.135
	99% sensitivity	6.4	6.6 (2.2-11.0)	99.0 (97.0-100)	46.0 (39.3-52.7)	88.9 (68.4–100)	0.16 (0.02–1.22)	.039

Abbreviations: CPC, cerebral performance category; LR-, negative likelihood ratio; NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value.

69.3-85.8). The cut-off values for UCH-L1 at 24 h and 48 h with corresponding sensitivities, specificities, PPVs, NPVs and LR+s are presented in Table 3.

To evaluate the ability of UCH-L1 to identify patients with a high probability of favourable outcome at 12 months, we determined cutoff values to predict unfavourable outcome with sensitivities of 90%-99%. These high sensitivities resulted in low specificities (Table 4).

DISCUSSION 4

In this post-hoc study on ICU-treated OHCA patients included in the observational FINNRESUSCI study, we found that UCH-L1 concentrations were elevated for patients with unfavourable

outcomes. However, the power of UCH-L1 to discriminate between patients with poor prognosis and those with good prognosis was only moderate, as reflected by AUROCs below 0.7. The prognostic ability of UCH-L1 was not better than that of NSE. Moreover, the sensitivities of UCH-L1 corresponding to high (95%-99%) specificities were lower (9%-18%) compared to those we found for NSE (37%-46%) in our previous study on the same study population.²³ These results do not support the use of UCH-L1 to aid in prognostication and clinical decision-making in patients resuscitated from OHCA.

In some previous studies, the prognostic abilities of UCH-L1 and NSE have been somewhat better than what we found.²⁶ For UCH-L1, AUROCs as high as 0.85–0.87 have been reported.²⁰ For NSE, some previous studies have reported AUROCs of 0.85-0.90.7,27 This is in line with our earlier finding that the prognostic ability of

neurofilament light in FINNRESUSCI study patients²³ was, albeit very good, somewhat poorer than that found in some other studies.^{28,29}

The most likely explanation for these differences is the unselected cohort of patients included in the observational FINNRESUSCI study compared to studies focusing on cardiogenic OHCA with most patients having a shockable initial rhythm. Neuronal biomarkers are quite good in predicting unfavourable outcome caused by HIBI, which is the most common reason of death after CA.³⁰ However, some deaths are the result of extracerebral causes, and neuronal biomarkers may not be able to predict those. We have previously shown that the prognostic ability of NSE is poor in old patients and in those with a short time from collapse to ROSC,¹⁴ and a plausible explanation is that in these patient groups the cause of death may often be another cause than HIBI.

In our study outcome was assessed at 12 months after OHCA, whereas some other studies have assessed outcomes at 6 months.^{20,27} Some of our patients may have initially recovered but later died of causes unrelated to the CA. It is also possible that there may be differences in laboratory methods.³¹

In present-day prognostication after CA, not only identifying imminent unfavourable outcome but also identifying a high likelihood of favourable outcome is an important topic.³²⁻³⁴ There is a need for reliable prognostic tools to detect individuals with good prognosis. In our study, cut-off values of UCH-L1 yielding high sensitivities resulted in low specificities. Thus, UCH-L1 demonstrated only limited value in identifying patients with good prognosis, in accordance with the recent study by Moseby-Knappe et al.³⁵

The timing of blood samples is a relevant issue. In our study, blood samples were drawn at 24 and 48 h after ROSC. In one study, the concentrations of UCH-L1 in CA patients with unfavourable outcome were high already at the time of ICU admission.³⁶ In a study on TBI patients, the mean half-life of UCH-L1 in serum was 13 h and median half-life 9 h.¹⁹ After hypothermic circulatory arrest in canines, serum UCH-L1 at 8 h was able to predict brain damage.³⁷ In a study on hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy in newborns, the highest UCH-L1 concentrations were detected at 0–6 h after delivery, and concentrations decreased during first 24 h.³⁸ As samples for biomarker measurements can be easily taken in the early phase of care, a sensitive biomarker with concentrations increasing rapidly after CA might be useful. The usefulness of UCH-L1 measured from very early samples may be worth investigating.

4.1 | Strengths and limitations

This study has several strengths. It is a multi-centre nationwide study with all five Finnish university hospitals and 14 of the 15 nonuniversity central hospitals participating. The study population was unselected, including patients with shockable and non-shockable initial rhythms and all types of CA. The outcome assessor was blinded for clinical data and biomarker results. However, there are also limitations. First, the blood samples were from patients included in the original study more than 10 years ago, and it is likely that there have been changes in the treatment of resuscitated patients. Second, we have no data on methods used for prognostication when considering withdrawal of life-sustaining treatments.

5 | CONCLUSION

In this post-hoc laboratory study on OHCA patients, UCH-L1 measured at 24 or 48 h after CA had limited ability to predict outcome. UCH-L1 was not superior to NSE.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Writing of the manuscript was funded by Finska Läkaresällskapet and Kuopio University Hospital. The laboratory analyses were funded by Dr. Kaukonen's Clinical Researcher Grant from the Academy of Finland. We thank biostatistician Tuomas Selander, MSc, for his help in statistical analyses. We thank the FINNRESUSCI StudyGroup of conducting the original study that provided the patient data and blood samples to the current study: Satakunta Central Hospital, Dr. Vesa Lund, Päivi Tuominen, Satu Johansson, Pauliina Perkola, Elina Kumpulainen; East Savo Central Hospital, Dr. Markku Suvela, Sari Hirvonen, Sirpa Kauppinen; Central Finland Central Hospital, Dr. Raili Laru-Sompa, Mikko Reilama; South Savo Central Hospital, Dr. Heikki Laine, Pekka Kettunen, Iina Smolander; North Karelia Central Hospital, Dr. Matti Reinikainen, Tero Surakka; Seinäjoki Central Hospital, Dr. Kari Saarinen, Pauliina Lähdeaho, Johanna Soini; South Carelia Central Hospital, Dr. Seppo Hovilehto; Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Dr. Pekka Loisa, Alli Parviainen, Pirjo Tuomi; Vaasa Central Hospital, Dr. Simo-Pekka Koivisto, Dr. Raku Hautamäki; Kanta-Häme Central Hospital, Dr. Ari Alaspää, Tarja Heikkilä; Lappi Central Hospital, Dr. Outi Kiviniemi, Esa Lintula; Keski-Pohjanmaa Central Hospital, Dr. Tadeusz Kaminski, Jane Roiko; Kymenlaakso Central Hospital, Dr. Seija Alila, Dr. Jussi Pentti, Reija Koskinen; Länsi-Pohja Central Hospital, Dr. Jorma Heikkinen; Helsinki University Hospital, Jorvi Hospital, Dr. Jukka Vaahersalo, Dr. Tuomas Oksanen, Dr. Tero Varpula, Anne Eronen, Teemu Hult, Taina Nieminen; Meilahti Hospital Medical ICU, Dr. Tom Bäcklund, Leevi Kauhanen; Meilahti Hospital ICU, Dr. Kirsi-Maija Kaukonen, Dr. Ville Pettilä, Leena Pettilä, Sari Sutinen; Turku University Hospital, Dr. Juha Perttilä, Keijo Leivo; Tampere University Hospital, Dr. Sanna Hoppu, Dr. Jyrki Tenhunen, Dr. Sari Karlsson, Atte Kukkurainen, Simo Varila, Samuli Kortelainen, Minna-Liisa Peltola; Kuopio University Hospital, Dr. Pamela Hiltunen, Dr. Jouni Kurola, Dr. Esko Ruokonen, Elina Halonen, Saija Rissanen, Sari Rahikainen; Oulu University Hospital, Dr. Risto Ahola, Dr. Tero Ala-Kokko, Sinikka Sälkiö. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Lauri Wihersaari D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8916-8907 Ville Pettilä D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3921-4423 Markus B. Skrifvars D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0341-0262

REFERENCES

- Laver S, Farrow C, Turner D, Nolan J. Mode of death after admission to an intensive care unit following cardiac arrest. *Intensive Care Med.* 2004;30(11):2126-2128. doi:10.1007/s00134-004-2425-z
- Nolan JP, Berg RA, Callaway CW, et al. The present and future of cardiac arrest care: International experts reach out to caregivers and healthcare authorities. *Intensive Care Med.* 2018;44(6):823-832. doi: 10.1007/s00134-018-5230-9
- Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Nolan JP. Prognostication after cardiac arrest. Crit Care. 2018;22(1):150. doi:10.1186/s13054-018-2060-7
- Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Böttiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines 2021: Post-resuscitation care. *Intensive Care Med.* 2021;47(4):369-421. doi:10.1007/s00134-021-06368-4
- Lissner Östlund E, Levin H, Nielsen N, Frigyesi A, Lybeck A. Neuronspecific enolase and long-term neurological outcome after OHCA–A validation study. *Resuscitation*. 2021;168:206-213. doi:10.1016/j. resuscitation.2021.09.001
- Moseby-Knappe M, Westhall E, Backman S, et al. Performance of a guideline-recommended algorithm for prognostication of poor neurological outcome after cardiac arrest. *Intensive Care Med.* 2020;46(10): 1852-1862. doi:10.1007/s00134-020-06080-9
- Streitberger KJ, Leithner C, Wattenberg M, et al. Neuron-specific enolase predicts poor outcome after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management: A multicenter study on 1,053 patients. *Crit Care Med.* 2017;45(7):1145-1151. doi:10.1097/CCM.00000000002335
- Pfeifer R, Ferrari M, Börner A, Deufel T, Figulla HR. Serum concentration of NSE and S-100b during LVAD in non-resuscitated patients. *Resuscitation*. 2008;79(1):46-53. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2008.04.016
- Esscher T, Steinholtz L, Bergh J, Nöu E, Nilsson K, Påhlman S. Neurone specific enolase: A useful diagnostic serum marker for small cell carcinoma of the lung. *Thorax*. 1985;40(2):85-90. doi:10.1136/thx.40. 2.85
- Mjønes P, Sagatun L, Nordrum IS, Waldum HL. Neuron-specific enolase as an immunohistochemical marker is better than its reputation. J Histochem Cytochem. 2017;65(12):687-703. doi:10.1369/ 0022155417733676
- Cunningham RT, Young IS, Winder J, et al. Serum neurone specific enolase (NSE) levels as an indicator of neuronal damage in patients with cerebral infarction. *Eur J Clin Investig.* 1991;21(5):497-500. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1991.tb01401.x
- Skogseid IM, Nordby HK, Urdal P, Paus E, Lilleaas F. Increased serum creatine kinase BB and neuron specific enolase following head injury indicates brain damage. Acta Neurochir. 1992;115(3–4):106-111. doi: 10.1007/BF01406367
- Schaarschmidt H, Prange HW, Reiber H. Neuron-specific enolase concentrations in blood as a prognostic parameter in cerebrovascular diseases. *Stroke*. 1994;25(3):558-565. doi:10.1161/01.str.25. 3.558
- Wihersaari L, Tiainen M, Skrifvars MB, et al. Usefulness of neuron specific enolase in prognostication after cardiac arrest: Impact of age and time to ROSC. *Resuscitation*. 2019;139:214-221. doi:10.1016/j. resuscitation.2019.04.021
- Jackson P, Thompson RJ. The demonstration of new human brainspecific proteins by high-resolution two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. J Neurol Sci. 1981;49(3):429-438. doi:10.1016/ 0022-510x(81)90032-0
- Doran JF, Jackson P, Kynoch PA, Thompson RJ. Isolation of PGP 9.5, a new human neurone-specific protein detected by high-resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis. J Neurochem. 1983;40(6):1542-1547. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.1983.tb08124.x
- Mondello S, Linnet A, Buki A, et al. Clinical utility of serum levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase as a biomarker for severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurgery*. 2012;70(3):666-675. doi:10.1227/NEU. 0b013e318236a809

 Biberthaler P, Musaelyan K, Krieg S, et al. Evaluation of acute glial fibrillary acidic protein and ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 plasma levels in traumatic brain injury patients with and without intracranial lesions. *Neurotrauma Rep.* 2021;2(1):617-625. doi:10.1089/neur. 2021.0048

Cta Anaesthesiologica

- Brophy GM, Mondello S, Papa L, et al. Biokinetic analysis of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 (UCH-L1) in severe traumatic brain injury patient biofluids. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28(6):861-870. doi:10.1089/ neu.2010.1564
- Ebner F, Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson-Carlgren N, et al. Serum GFAP and UCH-L1 for the prediction of neurological outcome in comatose cardiac arrest patients. *Resuscitation*. 2020;154:61-68. doi:10.1016/j. resuscitation.2020.05.016
- Vaahersalo J, Hiltunen P, Tiainen M, et al. Therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Finnish intensive care units: The FINNRESUSCI study. *Intensive Care Med.* 2013;39(5):826-837. doi:10. 1007/s00134-013-2868-1
- Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet. 1975;1(7905):480-484. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(75) 92830-5
- Wihersaari L, Reinikainen M, Furlan R, et al. Neurofilament light compared to neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of unfavourable outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation*. 2022;174: 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2022.02.024
- Hanley JA, McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. *Radiology*. 1982;143(1): 29-36. doi:10.1148/radiology.143.1.7063747
- Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer. 1950;3(1): 32-35. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(1950)3:13.0.co;2-3
- Hoiland RL, Rikhraj KJK, Thiara S, et al. Neurologic prognostication after cardiac arrest using brain biomarkers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol. 2022;79(4):390-398. doi:10.1001/ jamaneurol.2021.5598
- Stammet P, Collignon O, Hassager C, et al. Neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of death or poor neurological outcome after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management at 33°C and 36°C. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65(19):2104-2114. doi:10. 1016/j.jacc.2015.03.538 Erratum in: J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015 Aug 25; 66(8):983. Erratum in: J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017 Apr 25:69(16):2104.
- Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson N, Nielsen N, et al. Serum neurofilament light chain for prognosis of outcome after cardiac arrest. JAMA Neurol. 2019;76(1):64-71. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.3223
- Wihersaari L, Ashton NJ, Reinikainen M, et al. Neurofilament light as an outcome predictor after cardiac arrest: a post hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial. *Intensive Care Med.* 2021;47(1):39-48. doi:10. 1007/s00134-020-06218-9
- Sandroni C, Cronberg T, Sekhon M. Brain injury after cardiac arrest: pathophysiology, treatment, and prognosis. *Intensive Care Med*. 2021; 47(12):1393-1414. doi:10.1007/s00134-021-06548-2
- Stern P, Bartos V, Uhrova J, et al. Performance characteristics of seven neuron-specific enolase assays. *Tumour Biol*. 2007;28(2):84-92. doi:10.1097/CCM.00000000002335
- Sandroni C, D'Arrigo S, Cacciola S, et al. Prediction of good neurological outcome in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med. 2022;48(4):389-413. doi:10.1007/ s00134-022-06618-z
- Nakstad ER, Stær-Jensen H, Wimmer H, et al. Late awakening, prognostic factors and long-term outcome in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest—results of the prospective Norwegian Cardio-Respiratory Arrest Study (NORCAST). *Resuscitation*. 2020;149:170-179. doi:10. 1016/j.resuscitation.2019.12.031
- May TL, Ruthazer R, Riker RR, et al. Early withdrawal of life support after resuscitation from cardiac arrest is common and may result in additional deaths. *Resuscitation*. 2019;139:308-313. doi:10.1016/j. resuscitation.2019.02.031

8 Anaesthesiologica

- Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson-Carlgren N, Stammet P, et al. Serum markers of brain injury can predict good neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Intensive Care Med.* 2021;47(9):984-994. doi:10.1007/s00134-021-06481-4
- Huesgen KW, Elmelige YO, Yang Z, et al. Ultra-early serum concentrations of neuronal and astroglial biomarkers predict poor neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest—a pilot neuroprognostic study. *Resusc Plus.* 2021;8(7):100133. doi:10.1016/j.resplu.2021. 100133
- Arnaoutakis GJ, George TJ, Wang KK, et al. Serum levels of neuronspecific ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal esterase-L1 predict brain injury in a canine model of hypothermic circulatory arrest. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;142(4):902-910.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jtcvs.2011.06.027
- Douglas-Escobar MV, Heaton SC, Bennett J, et al. UCH-L1 and GFAP serum levels in neonates with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: a single center pilot study. Front Neurol. 2014;19(5):273. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2014.00273

How to cite this article: Wihersaari L, Reinikainen M, Tiainen M, et al. Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 2023; 1-8. doi:10.1111/aas.14257 Ш

Neurofilament light as an outcome predictor after cardiac arrest: a post hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial

Wihersaari L, Ashton NJ, Reinikainen M, Jakkula P, Pettilä V, Hästbacka J, Tiainen M, Loisa P, Friberg H, Cronberg T, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Skrifvars MB; COMACARE STUDY GROUP.

Intensive Care Med. 2021;47:39-48.

ORIGINAL



Neurofilament light as an outcome predictor after cardiac arrest: a post hoc analysis of the **COMACARE** trial

Lauri Wihersaari¹, Nicholas J. Ashton^{2,3,4,5}, Matti Reinikainen¹, Pekka Jakkula⁶, Ville Pettilä⁶, Johanna Hästbacka⁶, Marjaana Tiainen⁷, Pekka Loisa⁸, Hans Friberg⁹, Tobias Cronberg¹⁰, Kaj Blennow^{2,11}, Henrik Zetterberg^{2,11,12,13}, Markus B. Skrifvars^{14*}[®] and the COMACARE STUDY GROUP

© 2020 The Author(s)

Abstract

Purpose: Neurofilament light (NfL) is a biomarker reflecting neurodegeneration and acute neuronal injury, and an increase is found following hypoxic brain damage. We assessed the ability of plasma NfL to predict outcome in comatose patients after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA). We also compared plasma NfL concentrations between patients treated with two different targets of arterial carbon dioxide tension (PaCO₃), arterial oxygen tension (PaO₃), and mean arterial pressure (MAP).

Methods: We measured NfL concentrations in plasma obtained at intensive care unit admission and at 24, 48, and 72 h after OHCA. We assessed neurological outcome at 6 months and defined a good outcome as Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) 1-2 and poor outcome as CPC 3-5.

Results: Six-month outcome was good in 73/112 (65%) patients. Forty-eight hours after OHCA, the median NfL concentration was 19 (interguartile range [IQR] 11–31) pg/ml in patients with good outcome and 2343 (587–5829) pq/ml in those with poor outcome, p < 0.001. NfL predicted poor outcome with an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) of 0.98 (95% confidence interval [CI] 0.97-1.00) at 24 h, 0.98 (0.97-1.00) at 48 h, and 0.98 (0.95–1.00) at 72 h. NfL concentrations were lower in the higher MAP (80–100 mmHg) group than in the lower MAP (65-75 mmHg) group at 48 h (median, 23 vs. 43 pg/ml, p = 0.04). PaCO₂ and PaO₂ targets did not associate with NfL levels.

Conclusions: NfL demonstrated excellent prognostic accuracy after OHCA. Higher MAP was associated with lower NfL concentrations.

Keywords: Cardiac arrest, Prognostication, Biomarkers, Neurofilament light (NfL)

*Correspondence: markus.skrifvars@hus.fi ¹⁴ Department of Emergency Care and Services, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland Full author information is available at the end of the article

The members of the COMACARE STUDY GROUP are listed in Acknowledgement section.



Introduction

Many patients resuscitated from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) suffer from hypoxic–ischaemic brain injury (HIBI) and die in the intensive care unit (ICU) without regaining consciousness [1, 2]. Accurate prognostication is of paramount importance to prevent prolonged futile intensive care and, on the other hand, to avoid withdrawal of care in those who have a chance to recover [3, 4]. Current guidelines recommend a multimodal approach in the prognostication of cardiac arrest (CA) patients including clinical examination, radiological imaging, neurophysiological assessment, and biomarkers [5]. Unfortunately, some of these methods are not universally available [6, 7] and others can be affected by sedative medication and muscle paralysis often needed with targeted temperature management (TTM) [8].

Blood biomarkers are considered potential tools for prognostication because they are easy to obtain, and the results are not affected by the use of medication. Currently, neuron-specific enolase (NSE) is the most widely used biomarker in cardiac arrest (CA) patients [5]. NSE concentration at 48-72 h after CA has demonstrated moderate accuracy with areas under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUROC) between 0.85 and 0.90 in predicting neurological outcome, but optimal cutoff values vary widely between studies [9-12]. Unfortunately, NSE is sensitive to blood sample haemolysis [13] and its prognostic ability is reduced in the elderly and in patients with shorter CA duration [14]. Therefore, novel biomarkers with superior performance to predict neurological outcome after OHCA are urgently needed to guide clinical management of this group of patients. Neurofilament light (NfL) is a 68 kD cytoskeletal neuron-specific protein showing high promise as a clinically useful biomarker for acute brain conditions such as traumatic brain injury [15]. Recently, serum NfL was also shown to have excellent prognostic accuracy at 24-72 h from CA [16], but further external validation in independent patient cohorts is required before the routine use of NfL can be incorporated into clinical practice.

In the Carbon dioxide, Oxygen and Mean arterial pressure After Cardiac Arrest and REsuscitation (COMACARE) trial, we recently showed that targeting high-normal or low-normal carbon dioxide tension (PaCO₂), normoxia or moderate hyperoxia, and lownormal or high-normal mean arterial pressure (MAP) did not affect NSE concentrations in comatose OHCA patients [17, 18]. Given the possible superior prognostic accuracy of NfL and its different sensitivity to axonal brain injury, we performed a post hoc sensitivity analysis and measured NfL concentrations in patients included in the COMACARE trial. We hypothesised first that compared to NSE, NfL would be an earlier and more accurate

Take-home message

Neurofilament light (NfL) appears to be a very accurate and early marker of long term neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Targeting a higher mean arterial blood pressure is associated with lower NfL levels than a standard blood pressure target.

biomarker of neurological outcome and that targeting high-normal $PaCO_2$, moderate hyperoxia, and, second, high normal MAP would result in lower levels of NfL when compared with the lower targets.

Methods

Study population and research approvals

The COMACARE trial (NCT02698917) was a prospective, randomised pilot study of 120 comatose OHCA patients resuscitated from an initial shockable rhythm. The trial was a 2³ factorial trial exploring the effects of low-normal vs. high-normal arterial carbon dioxide tension (4.5-4.7 vs. 5.8-6.0 kPa), normoxia vs. moderate hyperoxia (arterial oxygen tension 10–15 vs. 20–25 kPa) and low-normal vs. high-normal mean arterial pressure (65-75 vs. 80-100 mmHg) for 36 h post-resuscitation on markers of neurological damage, assessed primarily with neuron-specific enolase (NSE) concentrations in serum at 48 h after cardiac arrest. The study was conducted in seven ICUs in Finland and Denmark between March 2016 and November 2017. Randomisation was stratified according to TTM (33 °C or 36 °C, according to sitespecific protocols). Neurological prognostication was performed according to European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines [19]. The study protocol and the main results have been published previously [17, 18, 20]. In the current post hoc analysis, we measured the NfL concentrations in the blood samples of 112 Finnish patients included in the COMACARE trial. The original COMACARE study protocol was approved by the Ethics committee of Northern Savo Hospital District, Finland (decision no. 295/2015), and an amendment including the plan for the current analysis was approved in December 2017.

Data collection

We obtained blood samples at the time of ICU admission (0 h) and 24, 48, and 72 h after CA. The samples were centrifuged (2000 G, 10 min) and stored at - 70 °C for later analysis. Plasma NfL concentration was measured using the commercially available Single Molecule Array (Simoa) NF-Light immunoassay (Quanterix, Billerica, MA, United States) in the Clinical Neurochemistry Laboratory of the University of Gothenburg (Mölndal, Sweden) in September 2019. Staff who conducted the analysis were blinded to all clinical data. The samples were diluted fourfold, and a single batch of reagents was utilised for all eight analytical runs needed to complete the analyses. For the low-concentration control sample (LCS; 6.9 ng/l), the intra-assay coefficient of variation was 7.4% and the inter-assay coefficient of variation was 8.9%, whilst for the high concentration quality control sample (HCS; 55.1 ng/l), the corresponding coefficients of variation were 7.1% and 10.4%, respectively.

Serum NSE concentration was measured using a COBAS e601 line (Hitachi High Technology Co, Tokyo, Japan) with an electrochemiluminescent immunoassay kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) by ISLAB laboratories (Kuopio, Finland) in January 2018. Because haemolysis can significantly affect NSE results, all samples were tested using the Roche haemolysis index, and the samples with a haemolysis level of more than 500 mg of free haemoglobin per litre were excluded from the analyses [21].

Patient data regarding comorbidities, functional status, and resuscitation-associated factors were collected into an Internet-based database (Absolute Imaginary Software, Helsinki, Finland). A neurologist blinded to the results of the laboratory analysis, study group allocations, and treatment during hospital stay evaluated the neurological outcome using the Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) scale at six months after CA via a telephone interview. We considered CPC 1–2 as good outcome and CPC 3–5 as poor outcome.

Statistical analysis

We present categorical variables as counts and percentages, including 95% confidence intervals (CI) where applicable, and continuous variables as medians and interquartile ranges (IQR). We compared categorical variables with Pearson's Chi squared test or Fisher's exact test. We tested the normality of distribution of continuous variables with the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and then compared normally distributed variables using the independent samples t test, and non-normally distributed variables using the Mann–Whitney U test or the Kruskal–Wallis test.

We assessed the ability of NfL and NSE to predict poor neurological outcome at 6 months by calculating the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC). We compared the discriminative ability of NfL and NSE by comparing their AUROC values at ICU admission and at 24, 48 and 72 h after CA with a bootstrap method. The used bootstrap function is within the roc.test function (R program, https://www. rdocumentation.org). We assessed optimal cutoff values for NfL at 24–72 h after CA from the receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC). Because high specificity is important in prognostication, we assessed cutoff values with a specificity higher than 95%. In addition, we determined cutoff values with the Youden method [22, 23]. We also determined the sensitivity, specificity, positive (PPV) and negative predictive values (NPV), and positive likelihood ratios (LR +) for these cutoff values. We also report cutoff values for the prediction of good functional outcome with high specificity and sensitivity.

To predict poor 6-month neurological outcome, we created a multivariable model, including patient age, receipt of bystander-given basic life support, and the time from collapse to the return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC). We then added NfL concentrations measured at 24, 48, and 72 h into this model and assessed the improvement of prognostic accuracy by comparing the AUROCs between the baseline model and the models after the addition of NfL. We also calculated the Net Reclassification Improvement (NRI) achieved with the addition of NfL into the baseline model. Event NRI (NRIe) is calculated as [(the number of patients with poor outcome for whom the predicted probability of poor outcome increases with addition of NfL to the baseline prediction model) – (the number of patients with poor outcome for whom the predicted probability decreases)]/[the number of all patients with poor outcome]. Similarly, non-event NRI (NRIne) is the net proportion of patients with good outcome given a lower probability of poor outcome after addition of NfL to the baseline prediction model. The overall NRI is the sum of NRIe and NRIne. The theoretical range of values for both NRIe and NRIne is -1 to +1, and the range of values for overall NRI is -2 to +2 [24, 25].

In addition, we determined the integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) that was obtained by adding NfL into the baseline prediction model. Event IDI (IDIe) is calculated for patients with poor outcome as [(mean probability of poor outcome given by the model including NfL) – (mean probability of poor outcome given by the baseline model)] and non-event IDI (IDIne) for patients with good outcome as [(mean probability of poor outcome given by the baseline model) – (mean probability of poor outcome given by the model including NfL)]. IDI is the sum of IDIe and IDIne. The theoretical range of values for both IDIe and IDIne is -1 to +1, and the range of values for IDI is -2 to +2[25, 26].

We conducted all statistical analyses with SPSS (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) version 25.0 and R version 3.5.1. We used two-tailed p values with the level of significance set at a p value less than 0.05, and made no correction to the p value despite the multiple testing.

Results

Blood samples for NfL analysis were available for 112 of the 120 patients included in the COMACARE trial (Fig. 1). The baseline characteristics and resuscitationassociated factors are presented in Table 1. All patients were unconscious on arrival to the ICU and treated with TTM either in 33 °C or 36 °C. The 6-month neurological outcome was poor in 39 (35%) patients, with 37 deaths (33%) and two patients recovering to CPC 3. In 32 (86%) of the deceased, the cause of death was HIBI. The investigations used to determine the prognosis in patients with a poor functional outcome are shown in the Electronic Supplementary Material (ESM) (Tables S1).

Prognostic accuracy of NfL

NfL concentrations were significantly higher in patients with poor outcome than in those with good outcome at all studied time points (Table 2, Fig. 2). The difference in NfL concentration between patients with poor and those with good outcome was at its greatest 48 h after cardiac arrest, when the median (IQR) NfL concentrations were 2343 (587–5829) pg/ml and 19 (11–31) pg/ml, respectively (p < 0.001).

The ability of NfL to discriminate patients with poor outcome from those with good outcome was excellent at 24, 48, and 72 h after CA with AUROC values of 0.98 (95% CI 0.97–1.00), 0.98 (95% CI 0.97–1.00), and 0.98 (95% CI 0.95–1.00), respectively (Fig. 3). The NfL

concentration at ICU admission had a poor prognostic ability with an AUROC of 0.66 (95% CI 0.54–0.77), which was clearly inferior compared to the AUROCs of NfL concentrations at 24, 48 and 72 h after CA (p < 0.001). NfL had an excellent ability to predict death from HIBI (ESM, Fig. S1). There was no difference in the prognostic accuracy of NfL depending on TTM target used during ICU care (ESM, Fig. S2).

NfL compared with NSE and S100B

Compared with NSE, NfL had a markedly better ability to discriminate patients with poor outcome from those with good outcome (p < 0.001 for measurements at 24 and 48 h; p = 0.012 at 72 h]) (Fig. 3). NfL was also better than S100B to discriminate between patients with good outcome and those with poor outcome at 24–72 h (p < 0.001) (Fig. 3). At ICU admission, the prognostic performance of NfL was poor, and the AUROCs were not significantly different between NfL and NSE (p = 0.185) and NfL and S100B (p = 0.767) (Fig. 3).

Cutoff values

The cutoff values at 24, 48 and 72 h after CA for obtaining a specificity of 99% in predicting poor outcome were 127, 263, and 344 pg/ml, respectively. The corresponding sensitivities and positive and negative predictive values are presented in Table 2. Cutoff



Table 1 Baseline characteristics of the study patients

	All patients ($N = 112$)	CPC 1–2 (N=73)	CPC $3-5 (N=39)$	<i>p</i> value
Age, median (IQR) (years)	62 (53–68)	58 (51–66)	66 (58–75)	0.004
Male sex [n (%)]	92 (82.1)	61 (83.6)	31 (79.5)	0.592
Weight [median (IQR), kg]	85 (72.3–93)	85 (72.5–94)	83 (70–90)	0.646
Neurological function before cardiac arrest				
Normal, CPC 1 [<i>n</i> (%)]	103 (92)	67 (91.8)	36 (92.3)	1
Some disability, CPC 2 [n (%)]	9 (8)	6 (8.2)	3 (7.7)	
Medical history				
Hypertension [n (%)]	56 (50)	33 (45.2)	23 (59)	0.165
Chronic heart failure (NYHA 3 or 4) [n (%)] ^a	9 (8)	4 (5.5)	5 (12.8)	0.151
Smoker [<i>n</i> (%)] ^b	35 (31.3)	22 (30.1)	13 (33.3)	0.235
Resuscitation factors				
Bystander life support [n (%)]	93 (83)	66 (90.4)	27 (69.2)	0.004
Time to ROSC [median (IQR), min]	21 (16–26)	17 (15–22)	25 (22–32)	< 0.001
Clinical status on ICU admission				
GCS [median, (IQR)] ^c	3 (3–3)	3 (3–5)	3 (3–3)	< 0.001
APACHE II score, median (IQR)	28 (24–31)	27 (24–29)	31 (26–35)	< 0.001
TTM				
33 °C [n (%)]	75 (67)	56 (76.7)	19 (48.7)	0.003
36 °C [n (%)]	37 (33)	17 (23.3)	20 (51.3)	

CPC Cerebral Performance Category, IQR interquartile range, NYHA New York Heart Association, ROSC return of spontaneous circulation, ICU intensive care unit, GCS Glasgow Coma Scale, SD standard deviation, APACHE II Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation

^a Data missing for two patients

^b Data missing for 13 patients

^c Data missing for nine patients

Table 2 NfL concentrations (medians with IQRs) at ICU admission and 24, 48 and 72 h after cardiac arrest for patients with good outcome (CPC 1–2) and for those with poor outcome (CPC 3–5), and cutoff values with sensitivities, PPVs and NPVs at 24–72 h according to 99% of specificity

NfL concentration pg/ml (IQR)				Cutoff for 99% specificity					
Time	CPC 1–2	CPC 3–5	<i>p</i> value	NfL pg/ml	Sensitivity	PPV (95% CI)	NPV (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value	
ICU admission	10.4 (7.1–16)	13.4 (10.5—23.2)	0.002						
24 h	12.1 (8.3–23.7)	761.9 (217.6–1534.9)	< 0.001	127	0.78 (0.65–0.92)	0.97 (0.90–1.00)	0.90 (0.83–0.96)	< 0.001	
48 h	19.1 (11–30.7)	2342.6 (586.9–5828.8)	< 0.001	263	0.83 (0.71–0.96)	0.97 (0.91–1.00)	0.92 (0.86–0.98)	< 0.001	
72 h	20.5 (13.8–34.8)	1727.9 (643.1–4583.5)	< 0.001	344	0.85 (0.73–0.97)	0.97 (0.90–1.00)	0.93 (0.88–0.99)	< 0.001	

CPC Cerebral Performance Category, NfL neurofilament light, IQR interquartile range, ICU intensive care unit, PPV positive predictive value, NPV negative predictive value, CI confidence interval

values determined according to the Youden method and according to specificities of 95–100%, together with the corresponding sensitivities and positive and negative predictive values are presented in the ESM (Table S2). Cutoff values for identification of patients with good functional outcome are presented in the ESM (Table S3).

NfL and clinical prognostication data

The baseline multivariable model predicted a poor 6-month outcome with an AUROC of 0.86 (95% CI 0.79–0.93) (Table S4). After NfL concentration at 24 h was added to this model, the AUROC improved to 0.98 (0.97–1.00), p < 0.001. After adding NfL concentration at 48 h, the AUROC increased to 0.99 (0.98–1.00) (p < 0.001), and after adding NfL concentration at 72 h, the AUROC was 0.99 (0.98–1.00) (p < 0.001). With the



inclusion of NfL to the baseline model at 24 h, NRI was 1.51 (95% CI 1.24–1.79); at 48 h, NRI was 1.78 (95% CI 1.58–1.97); and at 72 h, NRI was 1.74 (1.53–1.94). The corresponding IDI values were 0.41 at 24 h, 0.45 at 48 h, and 0.45 at 72 h (ESM, Table S4).

Haemolysis

Detectable haemolysis (more than 100 mg of free haemoglobin per litre) was observed in 157 (35%) of all samples. Haemolysis did not increase NfL concentrations, whereas NSE concentrations were markedly higher in samples with haemolysis (ESM, Table S5, Figs. S3 and S4).

NfL concentrations according to carbon dioxide, oxygen, and blood pressure targets

There were no significant differences in NfL concentrations between the groups targeting low-normal or highnormal PaCO₂ and normoxia or moderate hyperoxia at any of the studied time points (ESM Table S7). In patients assigned to the high-normal MAP group, NfL concentrations were lower than in patients in the low-normal MAP group at 48 h (median 23 [IQR 11–251] pg/ml vs. 43 [19– 1066] pg/ml, [p=0.04]) and at 72 h (23 [13–152] pg/ml vs 63 [21–1609] pg/ml [p=0.007]) (ESM Table S6). NfL levels according to outcome in all intervention groups are presented in the ESM (Figs. S5–S7).

Discussion

Our findings provide evidence of the excellent ability of NfL to predict long-term neurological outcomes in a homogenous population of cardiac arrest patients resuscitated from a shockable rhythm and treated with TTM. Moreover, the results of this post hoc analysis offer additional information on the effects of carbon dioxide, oxygen, and blood pressure on the development of neurological injury after OHCA [17, 18]. Using NfL as a marker of neurological injury, we found that a higher MAP target of 80–100 mmHg was associated with lower NfL levels when compared with the conventional target of MAP 65–75 mmHg. We did not observe any significant difference in the NfL concentrations between the groups targeting low-normal and high-normal PaCO₂, or normoxia and moderate hyperoxia.

The predictive accuracy of NfL observed in the current study is well in line with the findings of a previous study based on the TTM trial [16], whereas the cutoff values in our study were much lower. The patient populations in these two studies were different. The TTM trial included patients without any age limit and included patients with a non-shockable initial rhythm, whereas the COMAC-ARE trial only included patients younger than 80 years, with a shockable initial rhythm and patients with time to ROSC less than 45 min. Moreover, in the current study we have used a new commercially available kit for measuring NfL, while the Moseby-Knappe study used a custom-made assay [27, 28].



The AUROC values of NfL are very high at 24 h from CA. This level of accuracy has not been demonstrated for any other neurological biomarker [1], and our results reinforce the superiority of NfL compared to NSE [16]. One possible explanation for this can be the different distribution of these biomarkers in the grey and white matter of the brain. NSE is a neuronal enzyme that is more abundant in the grey matter [29]. NfL, in contrast, is a structural protein that can be found especially in large axons in the white matter [30]. Interestingly, radiological studies have suggested that white matter is particularly susceptible to ischaemic damage and that the extent of white matter injury seems to be associated with CA

outcome [31]. In addition, it needs to be recognized that NSE, S100B and NfL have very different half-lives and this will influence the time trajectory of these biomarkers in brain injury patients [15]. The very long half-life of NfL may explain why it appeared, in contrast with NSE, to rise in the patients with good functional outcome as well.

Thus far, no biomarkers can reliably predict the outcome of OHCA patients at the time of hospital admission [1]. In the current study, we observed that the NfL levels at the time of admission were slightly higher in patients with poor outcome, but because of considerable overlap, this is not likely to be useful in clinical practice. At later time points, high NfL concentrations were predictive of poor outcome: no patients with concentrations higher than 390 pg/ml at any time point had a good outcome. However, our study population is too small to enable a threshold value to be proposed for prognostication.

One of the known limitations of NSE is that even mild haemolysis in the sample can result in erroneously elevated NSE levels [13]. Haemolysis is especially common in patients receiving continuous renal replacement therapy, intra-arterial balloon pump support, or extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, which are not uncommon interventions after OHCA. Importantly, the study by Moseby-Knappe et al. did not show any association between the level of haemolysis and NfL concentrations [16]. Our study also suggests that haemolysis does not influence NfL concentrations. Other conditions such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, HIV-associated dementia, and extensive traumatic brain injury (TBI) can affect NfL levels, but they are very uncommon in OHCA patients [16].

This additional analysis of the COMACARE trial shows an association between higher MAP and lower NfL concentrations, which may reflect the degree of brain injury. Given the small sample size and the post hoc design of the current study, this finding should be interpreted with caution and considered as hypothesis generating. Moreover, the absolute difference in NfL concentrations between the different MAP groups was small when compared with the 100-fold difference between the patients with good and poor outcomes. The possible beneficial effect of the higher MAP on clinical outcomes may be small compared to other factors, such as age, delay in resuscitation, and ROSC, and larger randomised trials are needed before the optimal blood pressure target after OHCA can be defined. Regarding carbon dioxide and oxygen, the results of the additional NfL analyses of the current study support the neutral results of the COMAC-ARE trial on NSE.

Strengths and limitations

The current study has several strengths. First, the NfL results were not available to clinicians during patient care and could thus not have influenced treatment decisions. Second, the NfL concentrations were measured concurrently by the same laboratory. Third, we studied patients treated in multiple centres with TTM at both 33 $^{\circ}$ C and 36 $^{\circ}$ C.

A major limitation of the current study is the relatively small sample size. Moreover, our patient cohort was rather selected, including only patients with witnessed cardiac arrest with a shockable initial rhythm from a presumed cardiac origin and with time from collapse to ROSC between 15 and 45 min. Future studies are needed to clarify the accuracy of NfL in unselected patient populations. The analysis was conducted in frozen samples, but the evidence suggests the stability of NfL in freeze-thaw samples [32]. Regarding the effect of carbon dioxide, oxygen, and MAP on NfL levels after OHCA, we acknowledge that the current study was designed post hoc, increasing the possibility of chance findings.

Conclusions

In unconscious OHCA patients treated with TTM, NfL had excellent prognostic accuracy already at 24 h. Compared to NSE, NfL seems to be a more accurate biomarker for prognostication after CA, and if validated in further samples, it has potential to replace NSE in the multimodal prognostication algorithms. Targeting a higher MAP of 80–100 mmHg was associated with lower levels of NfL, generating a hypothesis that higher blood pressure after CA could attenuate brain injury.

Electronic supplementary material

The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-020-06218-9) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Author details

¹ Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland.² Department of Psychiatry and Neurochemistry, Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology, The Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg, Mölndal, Sweden.³ Wallenberg Centre for Molecular and Translational Medicine, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden. ⁴ Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK, ⁵ NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health and Biomedical Research Unit for Dementia at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation, London, UK.⁶ Department of Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Medicine, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland.⁷ Department of Neurology, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland.⁸ Department of Intensive Care, Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Lahti, Finland. 9 Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden.¹⁰ Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Neurology, Lund University, Skane University Hospital, Lund, Sweden.¹¹ Clinical Neurochemistry Laboratory, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Mölndal, Sweden.¹² UK Dementia Research Institute at UCL, London, UK.¹³ Department of Neurodegenerative Disease, UCL Institute of Neurology, London, UK.¹⁴ Department of Emergency Care and Services, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland,

Acknowledgements

The authors thank biostatistician Tuomas Selander, MSc, for help with the statistical analyses. COMACARE STUDY GROUP: Central Finland Central Hospital: Raili Laru-Sompa, Anni Pulkkinen, Mikko Reilama, Sinikka Tolmunen; Helsinki University Hospital: Minna Bäcklund, Jonna Heinonen, Johanna Hästbacka, Pekka Jakkula, Nina Lundbom, Marcus Norrgård, Marjatta Okkonen, Ville Pettilä, Markus B Skrifvars, Tarja Suhonen, Marjaana Tiainen, Tuukka Tikka, Marjut Timonen, Jussi Toppila, Miia Valkonen, Erika Wilkman; Jorvi Hospital: Teemu Hult, Tuomas Oksanen; Kuopio University Hospital: Stepani Bendel, Elina Halonen, Sari Rahikainen, Saija Rissanen, Eija Vaskelainen; North Karelia Central Hospital: Tanja Eiserbeck, Sirkku Heino, Helena Jyrkönen, Matti Reinikainen, Johanna Räsänen, Tero Surakka; Päijät-Häme Central Hospital: Talvikki Koskue, Petteri Kujala, Pekka Loisa, Marika Lähde; Tampere University Hospital: Jari Kalliomäki, Sari Karlsson, Atte Kukkurainen, Sirao Varila.

Funding

Independent funding support has been received from Helsinki University; Helsinki University Hospital (State funding, Finland) (Grant no. TYH2018227); Stiftelsen Dorothea Olivia, Karl Walter och Jarl Walter Perkléns minne (Grant no. 2018, 2019); the Laerdal Foundation for Acute Medicine: Medicinska Understödsföreningen Liv och Hälsa (Grant no. 2018, 2019); Finska Läkaresällskapet; the Finnish Society of Anaesthesiologists; Orion Research Foundation, Sigrid Juselius Stiftelse and Svenska kulturfonden. The funding bodies had no input regarding the design, management, or reporting of the trial. Kaj Blennow is supported by the Swedish Research Council (#2017-00915), the Alzheimer Drug Discovery Foundation (ADDF), USA (#RDAPB-201809-2016615), the Swedish Alzheimer Foundation (#AF-742881), Hjärnfonden, Sweden (#FO2017-0243), the Swedish state under the agreement between the Swedish government and the County Councils, the ALF-agreement (#ALFGBG-715986), and European Union Joint Program for Neurodegenerative Disorders (JPND2019-466-236). Henrik Zetterberg is a Wallenberg Scholar supported by grants from the Swedish Research Council (#2018-02532), the European Research Council (#681712), Swedish State Support for Clinical Research (#ALFGBG-720931), the Alzheimer Drug Discovery Foundation (ADDF), USA (#201809-2016862), and the UK Dementia Research Institute at UCL. Open access funding provided by University of Helsinki including Helsinki University Central Hospital.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflicts of interest

Markus Skrifvars reports speakers' fees and travel grants from BARD Medical (Ireland) and a research grant from GE Healthcare. Kaj Blennow has served as a consultant, at advisory boards, or at data monitoring committees for Abcam, Axon, Biogen, Julius Clinical, Lilly, MagQu, Novartis, Roche Diagnostics, and Siemens Healthineers, and is a co-founder of Brain Biomarker Solutions in Gothenburg AB (BBS), which is a part of the GU Ventures Incubator Program. Henrik Zetterberg has served at scientific advisory boards for Denali, Roche Diagnostics, Wave, Samumed and CogRx, has given lectures in symposia sponsored by Fujirebio, Alzecure and Biogen, and is a co-founder of Brain Biomarker Solutions in Gothenburg AB (BBS), which is a part of the GU Ventures Incubator Program.

Protocol

The protocol of the COMACARE study has been previously published [20].

Open Access

This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License, which permits any non-commercial use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licen ses/by-nc/4.0/.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Received: 12 May 2020 Accepted: 14 August 2020 Published online: 27 August 2020

References

- Nolan JP, Berg RA, Callaway CW, Morrison LJ, Nadkarni V, Perkins GD, Sandroni C, Skrifvars MB, Soar J, Sunde K, Cariou A (2018) The present and future of cardiac arrest care: international experts reach out to caregivers and healthcare authorities. Intensive Care Med 44:823–832
- Sandroni C, Combes A, Nolan JP (2019) Focus on post-resuscitation care. Intensive Care Med 45:1283–1287
- Efendijev I, Folger D, Raj R, Reinikainen M, Pekkarinen PT, Litonius E, Skrifvars MB (2018) Outcomes and healthcare-associated costs 1 year after intensive care-treated cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 131:128–134

- Sandroni C, Soar J, Friberg H (2016) Does this comatose survivor of cardiac arrest have a poor prognosis? Intensive Care Med 42:104–106
- Nolan JP, Soar J, Cariou A, Cronberg T, Moulaert VR, Deakin CD, Bottiger BW, Friberg H, Sunde K, Sandroni C, European Resuscitation C, European Society of Intensive Care M (2015) European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine 2015 guidelines for postresuscitation care. Intensive Care Med 41:2039–2056
- Storm C, Nee J, Sunde K, Holzer M, Hubner P, Taccone FS, Friberg H, Lopez-de-Sa E, Cariou A, Schefold JC, Ristagno G, Noc M, Donker DW, Andres J, Krawczyk P, Skrifvars MB, Penketh J, Krannich A, Fries M (2017) A survey on general and temperature management of post cardiac arrest patients in large teaching and university hospitals in 14 European countries—the SPAME trial results. Resuscitation 116:84–90
- Nolan JP, Berg RA, Bernard S, Bobrow BJ, Callaway CW, Cronberg T, Koster RW, Kudenchuk PJ, Nichol G, Perkins GD, Rea TD, Sandroni C, Soar J, Sunde K, Cariou A (2017) Intensive care medicine research agenda on cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 43:1282–1293
- Kirkegaard H, Taccone FS, Skrifvars M, Soreide E (2019) Postresuscitation care after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: clinical update and focus on targeted temperature management. Anesthesiology 131:186–208
- Steffen IG, Hasper D, Ploner ČJ, Schefold JC, Dietz E, Martens F, Nee J, Krueger A, Jorres A, Storm C (2010) Mild therapeutic hypothermia alters neuron specific enolase as an outcome predictor after resuscitation: 97 prospective hypothermia patients compared to 133 historical non-hypothermia patients. Crit Care 14:R69
- Storm C, Nee J, Jorres A, Leithner C, Hasper D, Ploner CJ (2012) Serial measurement of neuron specific enolase improves prognostication in cardiac arrest patients treated with hypothermia: a prospective study. Scand J Trauma Resuse Emerg Med 20:6
- Streitberger KJ, Leithner C, Wattenberg M, Tonner PH, Hasslacher J, Joannidis M, Pellis T, Di Luca E, Fodisch M, Krannich A, Ploner CJ, Storm C (2017) Neuron-specific enolase perdicts poor outcome after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management: a multicenter study on 1053 patients. Crit Care Med 45:1145–1151
- Stammet P, Collignon O, Hassager C, Wise MP, Hovdenes J, Aneman A, Horn J, Devaux Y, Erlinge D, Kjaergaard J, Gasche Y, Wanscher M, Cronberg T, Friberg H, Wetterslev J, Pellis T, Kuiper M, Gilson G, Nielsen N, Investigators TT-T (2015) Neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of death or poor neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management at 33 °C and 36 °C. J Am Coll Cardiol 65:2104–2114
- Nielsen N, Cariou A, Hassager C (2019) Physiological interventions in cardiac arrest: passing the pilot phase. Intensive Care Med 45:287–289
- Wihersaari L, Tiainen M, Skrifvars MB, Bendel S, Kaukonen KM, Vaahersalo J, Romppanen J, Pettila V, Reinikainen M, FINNRESUSCI study group (2019) Usefulness of neuron specific enolase in prognostication after cardiac arrest: impact of age and time to ROSC. Resuscitation 139:214–221
- Thelin EP, Zeiler FA, Ercole A, Mondello S, Buki A, Bellander BM, Helmy A, Menon DK, Nelson DW (2017) Serial sampling of serum protein biomarkers for monitoring human traumatic brain injury dynamics: a systematic review. Front Neurol 8:300
- Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson N, Nielsen N, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Dankiewicz J, Dragancea I, Friberg H, Lilja G, Insel PS, Rylander C, Westhall E, Kjaergaard J, Wise MP, Hassager C, Kuiper MA, Stammet P, Wanscher MCJ, Wetterslev J, Erlinge D, Horn J, Pellis T, Cronberg T (2019) Serum neurofilament light chain for prognosis of outcome after cardiac arrest. JAMA Neurol 76:64–71
- Jakkula P, Pettila V, Skrifvars MB, Hastbacka J, Loisa P, Tiainen M, Wilkman E, Toppila J, Koskue T, Bendel S, Birkelund T, Laru-Sompa R, Valkonen M, Reinikainen M, COMACARE Study Group (2018) Targeting low-normal or high-normal mean arterial pressure after cardiac arrest and resuscitation: a randomised pilot trial. Intensive Care Med 44:2091–2101
- Jakkula P, Reinikainen M, Hastbacka J, Loisa P, Tiainen M, Pettila V, Toppila J, Lahde M, Backlund M, Okkonen M, Bendel S, Birkelund T, Pulkkinen A, Heinonen J, Tikka T, Skrifvars MB, COMACARE Study Group (2018) Targeting two different levels of both arterial carbon dioxide and arterial oxygen after cardiac arrest and resuscitation: a randomised pilot trial. Intensive Care Med 44:2112–2121
- Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, Cronberg T, Friberg H, Hoedemaekers C, Horn J, Nolan JP, Rossetti AO, Soar J (2014) Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European

Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med 40:1816–1831

- Jakkula P, Reinikainen M, Hastbacka J, Pettila V, Loisa P, Karlsson S, Laru-Sompa R, Bendel S, Oksanen T, Birkelund T, Tiainen M, Toppila J, Hakkarainen A, Skrifvars MB, COMACARE Study Group (2017) Targeting low- or high normal Carbon dioxide, Oxygen, and Mean arterial pressure After Cardiac Arrest and REsuscitation: study protocol for a randomized pilot trial. Trials 18:507
- 21. Wiberg S, Hassager C, Stammet P, Winther-Jensen M, Thomsen JH, Erlinge D, Wanscher M, Nielsen N, Pellis T, Aneman A, Friberg H, Hovdenes J, Horn J, Wetterslev J, Bro-Jeppesen J, Wise MP, Kuiper M, Cronberg T, Gasche Y, Devaux Y, Kjaergaard J (2017) Single versus serial measurements of neuron-specific enolase and prediction of poor neurological outcome in persistently unconscious patients after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest—a TTM-trial substudy. PLoS ONE 12:e0168894
- 22. Youden WJ (1950) Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer 3:32–35
- Greiner M, Pfeiffer D, Smith RD (2000) Principles and practical application of the receiver-operating characteristic analysis for diagnostic tests. Prev Vet Med 45:23–41
- Leening MJ, Vedder MM, Witteman JC, Pencina MJ, Steyerberg EW (2014) Net reclassification improvement: computation, interpretation, and controversies: a literature review and clinician's guide. Ann Intern Med 160:122–131
- Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB Sr, D'Agostino RB Jr, Vasan RS (2008) Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 27:157–172

- Pickering JW, Endre ZH (2012) New metrics for assessing diagnostic potential of candidate biomarkers. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 7:1355–1364
- Hviid CVB, Knudsen CS, Parkner T (2020) Reference interval and preanalytical properties of serum neurofilament light chain in Scandinavian adults. Scand J Clin Lab Investig 80:291–295
- Moseby-Knappe M, Pellis T, Dragancea I, Friberg H, Nielsen N, Horn J, Kuiper M, Roncarati A, Siemund R, Unden J, Cronberg T, Investigators TT-T (2017) Head computed tomography for prognostication of poor outcome in comatose patients after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management. Resuscitation 119:89–94
- Haque A, Polcyn R, Matzelle D, Banik NL (2018) New insights into the role of neuron-specific enolase in neuro-inflammation, neurodegeneration, and neuroprotection. Brain Sci 8(2):33. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci80 20033
- Gaetani L, Blennow K, Calabresi P, Di Filippo M, Parnetti L, Zetterberg H (2019) Neurofilament light chain as a biomarker in neurological disorders. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 90:870–881
- 31. Luyt CE, Galanaud D, Perlbarg V, Vanhaudenhuyse A, Stevens RD, Gupta R, Besancenot H, Krainik A, Audibert G, Combes A, Chastre J, Benali H, Laureys S, Puybasset L, Neuro Imaging for Coma E, Recovery C (2012) Diffusion tensor imaging to predict long-term outcome after cardiac arrest: a bicentric pilot study. Anesthesiology 117:1311–1321
- Keshavan A, Heslegrave A, Zetterberg H, Schott JM (2018) Stability of blood-based biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease over multiple freeze-thaw cycles. Alzheimers Dement (Amst) 10:448–451

IV

Neurofilament light compared to neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of unfavourable outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest

Wihersaari L, Reinikainen M, Furlan R, Mandelli A, Vaahersalo J, Kurola J, Tiainen M, Pettilä V, Bendel S, Varpula T, Latini R, Ristagno G, Skrifvars MB.

Resuscitation. 2022;174:1-8.



Available online at ScienceDirect

Resuscitation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/resuscitation



EUROPEAN

RESUSCITATION

Clinical paper

Neurofilament light compared to neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of unfavourable outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest $\stackrel{\wedge}{\sim}$

L. Wihersaari^{a,*}, M. Reinikainen^a, R. Furlan^b, A. Mandelli^b, J. Vaahersalo^c, J. Kurola^d, M. Tiainen^e, V. Pettilä^c, S. Bendel^a, T. Varpula^c, R. Latini^f, G. Ristagno^{g,h}, MB. Skrifvars^{c,i}

^a Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Kuopio University Hospital and University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

^b Clinical Neuroimmunology Unit, Institute of Experimental Neurology, Division of Neuroscience, IRCCS Ospedale San Raffaele, Milan, Italy

^c Department of Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Medicine, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

- ^d Centre for Prehospital Emergency Care, Kuopio University Hospital and University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland
- ^e University of Helsinki and Department of Neurology, Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

^f Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri IRCCS, Milan, Italy

⁹ Department of Pathophysiology and Transplantation, University of Milan, Italy

^h Department of Anesthesiology, Intensive Care and Emergency, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy

¹ Department of Emergency Care and Services, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Abstract

Aim: We compared the prognostic abilities of neurofilament light (NfL) and neuron-specific enolase (NSE) in patients resuscitated from out-ofhospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) of various aetiologies.

Methods: We analysed frozen blood samples obtained at 24 and 48 hours from OHCA patients treated in 21 Finnish intensive care units in 2010 and 2011. We defined unfavourable outcome as Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) 3–5 at 12 months after OHCA. We evaluated the prognostic ability of the biomarkers by calculating the area under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUROCs [95% confidence intervals]) and compared these with a bootstrap method.

Results: Out of 248 adult patients, 12-month outcome was unfavourable in 120 (48.4%). The median (interquartile range) NfL concentrations for patients with unfavourable and those with favourable outcome, respectively, were 689 (146–1804) pg/mL vs. 31 (17–61) pg/mL at 24 h and 1162 (147–4360) pg/mL vs. 36 (21–87) pg/mL at 48 h, p < 0.001 for both. The corresponding NSE concentrations were 13.3 (7.2–27.3) µg/L vs. 8.5 (5.8–13.2) µg/L at 24 h and 20.4 (8.1–56.6) µg/L vs. 8.2 (5.9–12.1) µg/L at 48 h, p < 0.001 for both. The AUROCs to predict an unfavourable outcome were 0.90 (0.86–0.94) for NfL vs. 0.65 (0.58–0.72) for NSE at 24 h, p < 0.001 and 0.88 (0.83–0.93) for NfL and 0.73 (0.66–0.81) for NSE at 48 h, p < 0.001. **Conclusion**: Compared to NSE, NfL demonstrated superior accuracy in predicting long-term unfavourable outcome after OHCA.

Keywords: Neurofilament light (NfL), Neuron-Specific Enolase (NSE), Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, OHCA, Resuscitation, Cardiac arrest, Neurological outcome, Biomarkers

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: lauri.wihersaari@kuh.fi (L. Wihersaari).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2022.02.024

Received 13 January 2022; Received in Revised form 22 February 2022; Accepted 24 February 2022

[☆] Some results were presented as abstracts at the 34th ESICM LIVES Digital Annual Congress, 3–6 October 2021 and at Operatiiviset Päivät 17–19 November 2021, Helsinki, Finland.

^{0300-9572/© 2022} The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/ by/4.0/).

Introduction

Prognostication after cardiac arrest (CA) should be performed using a multimodal approach, including clinical assessment, neurophysiology, radiological investigations and biomarkers.^{1–3} The updated European Resuscitation Council (ERC)-European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) guidelines recommend using neuronspecific enolase (NSE) as one component of multimodal prognostication.¹ However, the recommended high NSE cut-off values that are necessary to achieve high specificity may result in low sensitivity in detecting patients with poor prognosis.^{4,5} One example is the decreased prognostic accuracy in elderly patients and patients with a short time from collapse to return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC).⁶ NSE also has well-known sources of error, resulting in falsely elevated levels further weakening its prognostic accuracy.^{7–12}

A novel axonal biomarker, neurofilament light (NfL), can be measured in plasma with an ultrasensitive novel single molecule array (SIMOA) method.¹³ NfL demonstrated a very high capacity to predict unfavourable six-month outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) with a presumed cardiac cause.^{14,15} NfL also appeared to have the best ability among a group of neurobiomarkers, including NSE, to find patients with a favourable outcome despite the indeterminate prognosis given by examinations recommended in the ERC-ESICM guidelines.¹⁶ Before wider adoption, the utility and presumed superiority of NfL over NSE should be validated also in unselected CA populations. Accordingly, we analysed NfL concentrations and its prognostic capacity in an unselected OHCA population, including patients with shockable and non-shockable initial rhythms and resuscitated from different CA aetiologies. We hypothesised that NfL would be superior to NSE in predicting unfavourable long-term outcome in patients treated in the intensive care unit (ICU) following OHCA. The secondary hypothesis was that NfL would have better prognostic value in those patient subgroups (high age, short time from collapse to ROSC) where NSE has demonstrated poor prognostic accuracy.

Methods

Study population and definitions

This was a post hoc analysis of the prospective multicentre FINNRE-SUSCI study of 548 adult patients resuscitated after OHCA and treated in 21 Finnish ICUs between 2010 and 2011.¹⁷ All five university hospitals and 14 out of 15 non-university central hospitals participated in FINNRESUSCI. Over 98% of the Finnish population live in the referral areas of these hospitals. The FINNRESUSCI study protocol was approved by the Helsinki University Hospital Ethics Committee and by each participating hospital. A post-hoc substudy of NSE values was published earlier.⁶ In this post-hoc study, we included 248 patients whose blood samples were stored (Fig. 1). We defined outcome according to the Cerebral Performance Category (CPC)¹⁸ at 12 months after CA: CPC 1–2 indicates favourable outcome and CPC 3–5 indicates unfavourable outcome. The CA cause was defined with clinical criteria.

Data collection

The patient data were collected using Internet-based forms. Data on previous health status were collected from the patients' medical history and mortality data from Statistics Finland. The outcome according to CPC classification was assessed 12 months after CA with phone interviews conducted by a neurology specialist blinded to the hospital treatment and the laboratory analysis.

Blood samples

The blood samples were from patients in the FINNRESUSCI study for whom the next of kin had provided written informed consent. The plasma samples were collected at 24 and 48 hours from OHCA. stored at -80 °C and thawed for this analysis. We measured the NfL levels quantitatively using a commercially available two-step digital immunoassay using the single molecule array Quanterix SIMOA™ NF-light[®] Kit and SIMOA[™] HD-1 Analyzer (SIMOA[™], Quanterix Corporation, Lexington, MA, USA). The plasma NfL concentrations were expressed in picograms per millilitre (pg/mL). For comparison, we used NSE samples from the same time points determined according to previously described methods.⁶ The obtained serum samples were stored at -70 °C during the original study and analysed with a commercially available electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) in April 2015. We excluded all NSE samples with significant haemolysis, \geq 500 mg/L.19

Statistical analysis

We present categorical data as absolute numbers with percentages (95% confidence intervals [CIs]) and continuous data as medians with interquartile ranges (IQRs). For continuous data, we used Student's t test (normal distribution) and the Mann-Whitney U test or the Kruskal-Wallis test (skewed distribution) for comparison. We compared the categorical variables with the Chi square test or Fisher's exact test. We divided the study population into quartiles according to patients' age and time to ROSC⁶ to detect differences in prognostic values between NfL and NSE.

We calculated the areas under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUROCs) with 95% CIs to assess the ability of NfL and NSE to discriminate between patients in favourable (CPC 1–2) and those in unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcome groups. We compared the AUROCs of NfL to NSE at 24 and 48 h after CA using the bootstrap method. We constructed a multivariable model with clinical factors such as age, initial rhythm, delay to ROSC and witnessed collapse for the prediction of poor functional outcome. Into this model, with a backward stepwise approach, we subsequently inserted NfL and NSE and report results with odds ratios and 95% CIs.

We defined the NfL cut-off values to predict unfavourable outcome at 24 and 48 h after CA from the receiver operating characteristic curve and for NSE at 48 h, accordingly. The cut-off values for NSE at 24 h were not calculated because of its poor prognostic accuracy.⁶ We determined biomarker concentrations for high specificity (low false positive rate, [FPR]) to detect patients with a high probability for unfavourable outcome and concentrations for high sensitivity to detect those with a high probability for favourable outcome (low false negative rate). We calculated the Youden-based^{20,21} cut-off values to assess the concentrations that simultaneously have as high specificity and sensitivity as possible, to promote their comparability. Furthermore, we defined cut-offs for high sensitivity (95% and 99%) and used normal levels of NfL to detect patients with favourable outcome. We used concentrations of 55 pg/mL for NfL¹⁶ and 17 µg/mL for NSE⁷ as the highest normal value. We also calculated the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative



Fig. 1 - Flowchart of the study population. Abbreviations: NfL: neurofilament light. NSE: neuron-specific enolase.

predictive value (NPV), positive likelihood ratio (LR+) or negative likelihood ratio (LR-), if suitable, for these cut-off values. We considered p values < 0.05 as significant. We performed statistical analyses with SPSS version 27 (SPSS, II, Chicago, USA) and R program, version 4.0.0.

Results

The 12-month outcome was unfavourable in 120/248 (48.4%) of the patients. Of these patients, 177 (71.4%) had a shockable initial rhythm. Blood samples enabled NfL analysis in 243 patients and NSE analysis in 248 patients (Fig. 1). Table 1 shows the outcome data and patient characteristics. The comparison of the study patients to the FINNRESUSCI patients in whom blood samples were unavailable are shown in Table S1.

NfL and NSE concentrations and prognostic ability

The NfL concentrations were significantly higher for the patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome at all time points. At 24 h, the median concentrations (IQR) were 688.9 pg/mL (146.1–1803.8) for the patients with unfavourable outcome vs. 30.9 pg/mL (16.9–61.2) pg/mL for those with favourable outcome (p < 0.001). Accordingly, the concentrations at 48 h were 1162.4 pg/mL (146.8–4360.5) vs. 35.6 pg/mL (21.3–86.7), p < 0.001. Fig. 2 shows the concentrations indexed by outcome.

The NSE concentrations were higher for the patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome; at 24 h, the concentrations were 13.3 µg/L (7.2–27.3) for the patients with unfavourable outcome vs. 8.5 µg/L (5.8–13.2) for those with favourable outcome, p < 0.001. At 48 h, the concentrations were 20.4 µg/L (8.1–56.6) vs. 8.2 µg/L (5.9–12.1), respectively (p < 0.001) (Fig. 2). The NfL and NSE concentrations were not different for the patients with a cardiac aetiology of arrest compared to those with a noncardiac aetiology, according to outcome Table S2.

The prognostic ability assessed with AUROC (with 95% CI) was significantly higher at 24 h after CA to predict unfavourable outcome for NfL (0.90 [0.86–0.94]) than NSE (0.65 [0.58–0.72]), p < 0.001. At 48 h, the AUROC was higher for NfL (0.88 [0.83–0.94]) than NSE (0.72 [0.66–0.81]), p < 0.001. The AUROC for NfL at 24 h was also higher than NSE at 48 h, p < 0.001. NfL at 24 h was a significant predictor of unfavourable outcome in the multivariable model, whereas NSE at 48 h was not (Table S3). The AUROCs for NfL and NSE according to the CA aetiology are presented in Table S2.

Cut-off values

The NfL cut-off values to predict unfavourable outcome using the Youden method (maximising sensitivity and specificity) were 97 pg/ mL at 24 h and 231 pg/mL at 48 h. For those cut-offs, the specificities (with 95% Cls) were 86.8% (80.6–93.0) and 92.1% (86.8–97.3), and the sensitivities were 81.8% (74.2–88.6) and 72.2 (62.3–82.0), respectively. For 99% specificity, the cut-offs were 589 pg/mL and

		CPC 1-2	CPC 3-5
Number of patients, n (%)		128 (51.6)	120 (48.4)
Initial rhythm ^a			
Shockable rhythms, n (%)	VF	104 (81.3)	70 (58.3)
	VT	2 (1.6)	1 (0.8)
Non-shockable rhythms, n (%)	PEA	9 (7.0)	23 (19.2)
	ASY	13 (10.2)	25 (20.8)
Witnessed, n (%)		123 (96.1)	103 (85.8)
Bystander CPR, n (%)		78 (60.9)	67 (55.8)
ROSC, min (IQR)		16 (11–23)	24 (19–31)
CA aetiology, n (%)			
	Cardiogenic	106 (82.8)	90 (75.0)
	Hypoxia	4 (3.1)	7 (5.8)
	Drowning	2 (1.6)	3 (2.5)
	Hypothermia	1 (0.8)	0 (0)
	Intoxication	3 (2.3)	3 (2.5)
	Trauma	1 (0.8)	0 (0)
	Other etiologies	2 (1.6)	6 (5.0)
	Unknown	5 (3.9)	4 (3.3)
	Missing	4 (3.1)	7 (5.8)
SAPS II, points (IQR)		47 (34–60.8)	64.5 (55.3-71)
Male gender, n (%)		107 (89.2)	101 (84.2)
TTM, n (%)		100 (78.1)	92 (76.7)

Table 1 - Characteristics of the study patients according to Cerebral Performance Category classification.

Abbreviations: ASY: asystole. CA: cardiac arrest. CPC: Cerebral Performance Category. CPR: cardiopulmonary resuscitation. IQR: interquartile range. PEA: pulseless electrical activity. ROSC: return of spontaneous circulation. SAPS II: Simplified acute physiology score. TTM: targeted temperature management. VF: ventricular fibrillation. VT: ventricular tachycardia.

^a Data missing in 1 (0.8%) of the patients with CPC 3-5.



Fig. 2 – Boxplots for NfL (A) and NSE (B) concentrations at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest for patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcomes with a 10-based logarithmic scale. Each box presents the interquartile range. The line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show the lowest and the highest concentrations, and the dots show the concentrations for each individual. Abbreviations: CPC: Cerebral Performance Category. NfL: neurofilament light. NSE: neuron-specific enolase.

721 pg/mL, respectively with sensitivities of 54.0% (44.8-63.2) and 59.5% (48.7-70.3), respectively (Table 2).

Regarding NSE at 48 h, using a 35 μ g/L cut-off value with 99% specificity resulted in a 37.1% (27.5–46.7) sensitivity. Table 2 shows the cut-off values with corresponding characteristics for NfL at 24 h

and 48 h and for NSE at 48 h using the Youden method and 95% and 99% specificity. The cut-off values for NfL and NSE to predict favourable outcome are presented in Table S4.

Combining NfL and NSE, 0.3% of the patients who exceeded the cut-offs for 95% specificity had a favourable outcome (Table S5).

Table 2 - Characteristics (with 95% CIs) of cut-off values for NfL at 24 h and 48 h and for NSE at 48 h after cardiac arrest for high demand of specificities to predict unfavourable outcome.

	Basis for cut-off setting	Cut-off	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	LR+	р
NfL 24 h	Youden	97 pg/mL	86.8 (80.6–93.0)	81.8 (74.2-88.6)	86.0 (79.4–92.6)	82.5 (75.7-89.3)	6.2 (3.8–10.0)	<0.001
	95% specificity	232 pg/mL	95.6 (91.9-99.4)	65.5 (56.7-74.3)	93.7 (88.3-99.0)	73.6 (66.6-80.7)	14.9 (6.3–35.5)	<0.001
	99% specificity	589 pg/mL	99.1 (97.4–100)	54.0 (44.8-63.2)	98.4 (95.3-100)	68.5 (61.4-75.6)	61.5 (8.7-436.4)	< 0.001
NfL 48 h	Youden	231 pg/mL	92.1 (86.8-97.3)	72.2 (62.3-82.0)	87.7 (79.7-95.7)	80.9 (73.7-88.1)	9.1 (5.6-18.0)	< 0.001
	95% specificity	445 pg/mL	95.1 (90.8-99.3)	65.8 (55.4-76.3)	91.2 (83.9-98.6)	78.0 (70.7-85.4)	13.3 (5.6–31.7)	<0.001
	99% specificity	721 pg/mL	99.0 (97.1-100)	59.5 (48.7-70.3)	97.9 (93.9-100)	75.8 (68.4-83.1)	60.1 (8.5-426.0)	< 0.001
NSE 48 h	Youden	20 μg/L	94.2 (90.0-98.4)	50.5 (40.6-60.5)	87.5 (78.8-96.2)	70.2 (63.1-77.3)	8.7 (4.1–18.2)	< 0.001
	95% specificity	22 μg/L	95.0 (91.1-98.9)	46.4 (36.5-56.3)	88.2 (79.4-97.1)	68.7 (61.6-75.7)	9.3 (4.1–20.8)	< 0.001
	99% specificity	35 μg/L	99.2 (97.5-100)	37.1 (27.5-46.7)	97.3 (92.1–100)	66.1 (59.2-73.0)	44.5 (6.2-319.0)	< 0.001
bbreviations: CI: confidence interval. LR+: positive likelihood ratio. NfL: neurofilament light. NPV: negative predictive value. NSE: neuron-specific enolase. PPV: ositive predictive value.								

NfL in different subgroups

Age quartiles

In all age groups, the NfL concentrations were significantly higher for the patients with unfavourable outcome than for those with favourable outcome at 24 h and 48 h after CA (Fig. 3). The prognostic ability of NfL was significantly better at 24 h than that of NSE in all age subgroups (Table S6). At 48 h, the prognostic ability of NfL was better than that of NSE in the patients aged 57–63 years (p = 0.005) and in the oldest subgroup, \geq 72 years (p = 0.020) (Table S6). The AUROC for NfL to predict unfavourable outcome was lower in the oldest quartile compared to the youngest quartile (18–56 years) both at 24 h (p = 0.016) and 48 h (p = 0.032). The AUROC was also lower in the fourth quartile (\geq 72 years) at 48 h than in the second quartile (57–63 years), p = 0.020. The NfL concentrations in the patients with

favourable outcome were significantly different according to age group at 24 h (p < 0.001) and at 48 h (p = 0.001).

ROSC quartiles

The NfL concentrations were significantly higher for the patients with unfavourable outcome compared to those with favourable outcome at all times from collapse to ROSC quartiles at 24 h and 48 h (Fig. 4). The prognostic ability of NfL was also better than that of NSE in all ROSC subgroups at 24 h and 48 h after CA (Table S7). The AUROC for NfL to predict unfavourable outcome was lower in the quartile with the shortest time from collapse to ROSC (1-13 min) than in the quartile with the longest time to ROSC (\geq 29 min) at 24 h (p = 0.014) and at 48 h (p = 0.019). The AUROC was also lower for the patients in the second quartile (ROSC 14-



Fig. 3 – Boxplots for NfL concentrations at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest for patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcomes with a 10-based logarithmic scale, according to different age quartiles. Each box presents the interquartile range. The line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show the lowest and the highest concentrations, and the dots show the concentrations for each individual. Age intervals (years) with p values (for differences in concentrations for patients with favourable [CPC 1–2] and unfavourable [CPC 3–5] outcomes in each quartile) are presented above each figure. Abbreviations: CPC: Cerebral Performance Category. NfL: neurofilament light.



Fig. 4 – Boxplots for NfL concentrations at 24 h and 48 h after cardiac arrest for patients with favourable (CPC 1–2) and unfavourable (CPC 3–5) outcomes with a 10-based logarithmic scale, according to different ROSC quartiles. Each box presents the interquartile range. The line inside the box shows the median value, the whiskers show the lowest and the highest concentrations, and the dots show the concentrations for each individual. ROSC intervals (minutes) with p values (for differences in concentrations for patients with favourable [CPC 1–2] and unfavourable [CPC 3–5] outcomes in each quartile) are presented above each figure. Abbreviations: CPC: Cerebral Performance Category. NfL: neurofilament light. ROSC: return of spontaneous circulation.

20 min) than for those in the fourth quartile (\geq 29 min) at 48 h, p = 0.032. The distributions of NfL concentrations were significantly different according to outcome in the ROSC subgroups: for the patients with favourable outcome (at 24 h p = 0.034; at 48 h p = 0.004) and for those with an unfavourable outcome (p < 0.001 at 24 h and 48 h).

Discussion

In this post-hoc analysis of OHCA patients resuscitated from various arrest aetiologies, NfL was significantly more accurate than NSE in predicting unfavourable 12-month outcome. The prognostic ability of NfL was already excellent at 24 hours after CA. The median concentrations for the patients with unfavourable outcome were about 20-fold greater than for those with favourable outcome. Importantly, NfL was also accurate in the patients resuscitated from a likely non-cardiac cause of arrest. We also found a less clear association between age and time to ROSC and predictive accuracy than we previously showed with NSE.⁶ As our sample presents heterogeneous OHCA patients, our findings support wider utilisation of NfL in clinical prognostication after CA.

The lack of wider adoption of NfL thus far may have been due to the unavailability of a commercial assay, but given the introduction of the ultrasensitive SIMOA method, this is likely to change.

However, few studies exist about prognostication after CA using the ultrasensitive SIMOA method. NfL measurement within the first 24 h after ROSC demonstrated an AUROC of 0.82 to predict inhospital death.²² In a Targeted Temperature Management (TTM) substudy including 782 OHCA patients with a likely cardiac aetiology of arrest, the AUROCs at 24–72 h to predict poor six-month outcome were 0.94-0.95.¹⁴ In our study of OHCA patients with VF as the initial rhythm, the AUROCs were very high at 0.98.¹⁵ The present study, including an unselected population with both shockable and nonshockable rhythms, found AUROCs to predict CPC 3-5 at 12 months of 0.88-0.90, demonstrating slightly worse but still excellent discriminative ability. Pouplet et al demonstrated AUROC of 0.87 to predict CPC 3-5 at 90 days after CA in patients with shockable rhythms using different but comparable commercial laboratory method.²³ In Stammet et al.'s TTM substudy,¹⁹ NSE had an AUROC of 0.85-0.86 at 48-72 h, and Streitberger et al. found an AUROC of 0.85-0.90 at 72 h.7 In summary, studies conducted to date suggest better accuracy for NfL compared to NSE.14,15 We found a slightly lower discriminative ability, especially for NSE, than previously reported. The likeliest explanation is the inclusion of different types of CA patients in whom the reason for the unfavourable outcome may not only be due to post-cardiac arrest brain injury (PCABI), which is the most common cause of death after CA.²⁴ Clearly, NfL and NSE can only work for predicting death or poor outcome related to brain injury.

The levels of NSE for patients with unfavourable outcome were somewhat lower in this study compared to some previous studies. There are several possible explanations for this. Firstly, the laboratory methods used may be important.²⁵ Secondly, it is possible that the lower levels and prognostic ability of NSE seen in the present study compared to previous studies are related to differences in the definition of unfavourable outcome⁷ and follow-up time.^{7,19}

Our secondary finding was that NfL's prognostic ability was better than NSE in subgroups where the prognostic value of NSE was poor, such as the elderly and those with a shorter arrest duration. In our study, the NfL levels were higher in those with longer time from collapse to ROSC, and the accuracy was highest in those with the longest time to ROSC. However, even in the group with a short time to ROSC, the discriminative ability was satisfactory. This may suggest that NfL is more sensitive even in detecting milder hypoxic brain injury. Importantly, for patients with a short time from collapse to ROSC and patients aged \geq 72 years, the prognostic value of NfL was superior to NSE. Increasing age is one confounding factor of NfL; the concentrations increase about 2% per year,^{26,27} and for individuals over 60 years of age, the variability of NfL levels increases.²⁸ We also found a rising trend of NfL levels in CPC 1–2 patients with increasing age. This finding may provide an additional explanation for the worse discriminative ability of NfL in the oldest patient group.

The ERC-ESICM guidelines recommend a 60 μ g/L NSE cut-off.¹ In this study, the 35 μ g/L NSE cut-off at 48 h yielded 99% specificity but 37% sensitivity. Generally, demanding a very high specificity results in low sensitivity if the diagnostic method's performance is insufficient.

Targeting specificities of 95% and 99%, the cut-off values for NfL at 24 h were 232 pg/mL and 589 pg/mL, respectively; the cut-off values for NfL at 48 h were 445 pg/mL and 721 pg/mL, respectively.

Those cut-off concentrations are comparable to corresponding values in a TTM substudy.¹⁴ Lower NfL cut-off values with higher sensitivities were presented in our study of a highly selected population with shockable rhythms.¹⁵ The Youden-based NfL cut-offs showed 72–82% sensitivities and 87–91% specificities. In this study population, NfL presented better sensitivity than NSE, even with clinically useful specificities. The combination of cut-offs of NfL and NSE for 95% specificity resulted in a 0.3% FPR.

Recent studies have raised the concern that there might be CA patients with potentially favourable outcome despite poor prognosis given by prognostic methods.^{29,30} Targeting 95% and 99% specificity to find patients with favourable outcome, the NfL cut-offs were 14–29 pg/mL, which are in the normal range. NSE demonstrated insufficient capacity to detect patients with favourable outcome. NfL has a better ability than NSE to find patients with favourable outcome using normal or lower values.

Strengths and limitations

Our study has several strengths. It was a nationwide multicentre study with a large patient sample from many ICUs. Importantly, we included CA patients of various arrest aetiologies. The treating clinicians were blinded to the NfL results. Neurological outcome was defined by an experienced neurologist blinded to the biomarker results. However, some limitations exist. First, the original study is 10 years old, and prognostication and clinical care of resuscitated patients are likely to have changed. Second, our study population was selected by consent availability, and, consequently, the proportion of patients with bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation, shockable rhythm and TTM was significantly higher in those included than those excluded. Third, we do not have conclusive data on the patients' cause of death or prognostication; the patients were managed according to protocols available at the time. Fourth, the numbers of patients in the subgroups were small.

Conclusion

NfL is more valuable than NSE in prognostication of unfavourable outcome after OHCA, also in cases with non-cardiac aetiologies. Contrary to NSE, NfL retained its accuracy in the elderly and those with a short delay to ROSC, suggesting the ability of NfL to also identify milder forms of hypoxic brain injury.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

L. Wihersaari: Writing – original draft, Formal analysis, Visualization, Software, Data curation. M. Reinikainen: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Supervision. R. Furlan: Resources, Validation. A. Mandelli: Resources, Validation. J. Vaahersalo: Validation, Investigation. J. Kurola: Validation, Conceptualization. M. Tiainen: Validation, Investigation. V. Pettilä: Validation, Supervision. S. Bendel: Validation, Supervision. T. Varpula: Validation, Conceptualization. R. Latini: Resources, Validation. G. Ristagno: Resources, Validation. MB. Skrifvars: Writing – original draft, Conceptualization, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision.

Acknowledgements

The manuscript writing was funded by a grant from Finska Läkaresällskapet. The authors thank biostatistician Tuomas Selander, MSc, for helping with the statistical analyses.

The FINNRESUSCI Study Group: Satakunta Central Hospital, Dr. Vesa Lund, Päivi Tuominen, Satu Johansson, Pauliina Perkola, Elina Kumpulainen; East Savo Central Hospital, Dr. Markku Suvela, Sari Hirvonen, Sirpa Kauppinen; Central Finland Central Hospital, Dr. Raili Laru-Sompa, Mikko Reilama; South Savo Central Hospital, Dr. Heikki Laine, Pekka Kettunen, lina Smolander; North Karelia Central Hospital, Dr. Matti Reinikainen, Tero Surakka; Seinäjoki Central Hospital, Dr. Kari Saarinen, Pauliina Lähdeaho, Johanna Soini; South Carelia Central Hospital, Dr. Seppo Hovilehto; Päijät-Häme Central Hospital, Dr. Pekka Loisa, Alli Parviainen, Pirjo Tuomi; Vaasa Central Hospital, Dr. Simo-Pekka Koivisto, Dr. Raku Hautamäki; Kanta-Häme Central Hospital, Dr. Ari Alaspää, Tarja Heikkilä; Lappi Central Hospital, Dr. Outi Kiviniemi, Esa Lintula; Keski-Pohjanmaa Central Hospital, Dr. Tadeusz Kaminski, Jane Roiko; Kymenlaakso Central Hospital, Dr. Seija Alila, Dr. Jussi Pentti, Reija Koskinen; Länsi-Pohja Central Hospital, Dr. Jorma Heikkinen; Helsinki University Hospital, Jorvi Hospital, Dr. Jukka Vaahersalo, Dr. Tuomas Oksanen, Dr. Tero Varpula, Anne Eronen, Teemu Hult, Taina Nieminen; Meilahti Hospital Medical ICU, Dr. Tom Bäcklund, Leevi Kauhanen; Meilahti Hospital ICU, Dr. Kirsi-Maija Kaukonen, Dr. Ville Pettilä, Leena Pettilä, Sari Sutinen; Turku University Hospital, Dr. Juha Perttilä, Keijo Leivo; Tampere University Hospital, Dr. Sanna Hoppu, Dr. Jyrki Tenhunen, Dr. Sari Karlsson, Atte Kukkurainen, Simo Varila, Samuli Kortelainen, Minna-Liisa Peltola; Kuopio University Hospital, Dr. Pamela Hiltunen, Dr. Jouni Kurola, Dr. Esko Ruokonen, Elina Halonen, Saija Rissanen, Sari Rahikainen; Oulu University Hospital, Dr. Risto Ahola, Dr. Tero Ala-Kokko, Sinikka Sälkiö.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2022.02.024.

REFERENCES

- Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Bottiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine guidelines 2021: post-resuscitation care. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:369–421.
- Booth CM, Boone RH, Tomlinson G, Detsky AS. Is this patient dead, vegetative, or severely neurologically impaired? Assessing outcome for comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. JAMA 2004;291:870–9.
- Oddo M, Rossetti AO. Early multimodal outcome prediction after cardiac arrest in patients treated with hypothermia. Crit Care Med 2014;42:1340–7.
- Lissner Östlund E, Levin H, Nielsen N, Frigyesi A, Lybeck A. Neuronspecific enolase and long-term neurological outcome after OHCA - a validation study. Resuscitation 2021;168:206–13.
- 5. Leithner C. Neuron specific enolase after cardiac arrest: from 33 to 60 to 100 to NFL? Resuscitation 2021;168:234–6.
- Wihersaari L, Tiainen M, Skrifvars MB, et al. FINNRESUSCI study group. Usefulness of neuron specific enolase in prognostication after cardiac arrest: impact of age and time to ROSC. Resuscitation 2019;139:214–21.
- Streitberger KJ, Leithner C, Wattenberg M, et al. Neuron-specific enolase predicts poor outcome after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management: a multicenter study on 1,053 pPatients. Crit Care Med 2017;45:1145–51.
- Esscher T, Steinholtz L, Bergh J, Nöu E, Nilsson K, Påhlman S. Neurone specific enolase: a useful diagnostic serum marker for small cell carcinoma of the lung. Thorax 1985;40:85–90.
- Pfeifer R, Ferrari M, Börner A, Deufel T, Figulla HR. Serum concentration of NSE and S-100b during LVAD in non-resuscitated patients. Resuscitation 2008;79:46–53.
- Cunningham RT, Young IS, Winder J, et al. Serum neurone specific enolase (NSE) levels as an indicator of neuronal damage in patients with cerebral infarction. Eur J Clin Invest 1991;21:497–500.
- Skogseid IM, Nordby HK, Urdal P, Paus E, Lilleaas F. Increased serum creatine kinase BB and neuron specific enolase following head injury indicates brain damage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1992;115:106–11.
- Schaarschmidt H, Prange HW, Reiber H. Neuron-specific enolase concentrations in blood as a prognostic parameter in cerebrovascular diseases. Stroke 1994;25:558–65.
- Kuhle J, Barro C, Andreasson U, et al. Comparison of three analytical platforms for quantification of the neurofilament light chain in blood samples: ELISA, electrochemiluminescence immunoassay and Simoa. Clin Chem Lab Med 2016;54:1655–61.
- Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson N, Nielsen N, et al. Serum neurofilament light chain for prognosis of outcome after cardiac arrest. JAMANeurol 2019;76:64–71.
- Wihersaari L, Ashton NJ, Reinikainen M, et al. COMACARE Study Group. Neurofilament light as an outcome predictor after cardiac arrest: a post hoc analysis of the COMACARE trial. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:39–48.

- Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson-Carlgren N, Stammet P, et al. Serum markers of brain injury can predict good neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:984–94.
- Vaahersalo J, Hiltunen P, Tiainen M, et al. FINNRESUSCI Study Group. Therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Finnish intensive care units: the FINNRESUSCI study. Intensive Care Med 2013;39:826–37.
- Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 1975;1:480–4.
- Stammet P, Collignon O, Hassager C, et al. TTM-Trial Investigators. Neuron-specific enolase as a predictor of death or poor neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management at 33°C and 36°C. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65:2104–14.
- 20. Yuoden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer 1950;3:32-5.
- Greiner M, Pfeiffer D, Smith RD. Principles and practical application of the receiver-operating characteristic analysis for diagnostic tests. Prev Vet Med 2000;45:23–41.
- Hunziker S, Quinto A, Ramin-Wright M, et al. Serum neurofilament measurement improves clinical risk scores for outcome prediction after cardiac arrest: results of a prospective study. Crit Care 2021;25:32.
- 23. Pouplet C, Colin G, Guichard E, et al. AfterROSC network. The accuracy of various neuro-prognostication algorithms and the added value of neurofilament light chain dosage for patients resuscitated from shockable cardiac arrest: an ancillary analysis of the ISOCRATE study. Resuscitation 2021:S0300-9572(21)00517-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.12.009. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34915084.
- Sandroni C, Cronberg T, Sekhon M. Brain injury after cardiac arrest: pathophysiology, treatment, and prognosis. Intensive Care Med 2021;47:1393–414.
- Stern P, Bartos V, Uhrova J, et al. Performance characteristics of seven neuron-specific enolase assays. Tumour Biol 2007;28:84–92.
- Disanto G, Barro C, Benkert P, et al. Swiss Multiple Sclerosis Cohort Study Group. Serum neurofilament light: a biomarker of neuronal damage in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 2017;81:857–70.
- Barro C, Benkert P, Disanto G, et al. Serum neurofilament as a predictor of disease worsening and brain and spinal cord atrophy in multiple sclerosis. Brain 2018;141:2382–91.
- Khalil M, Pirpamer L, Hofer E, et al. Serum neurofilament light levels in normal aging and their association with morphologic brain changes. Nat Commun 2020;11:812.
- Nakstad ER, Stær-Jensen H, Wimmer H, et al. Late awakening, prognostic factors and long-term outcome in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest - results of the prospective Norwegian Cardio-Respiratory Arrest Study (NORCAST). Resuscitation 2020;149:170–9.
- Moseby-Knappe M, Westhall E, Backman S, et al. Performance of a guideline-recommended algorithm for prognostication of poor neurological outcome after cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med 2020;46:1852–62.

LAURI WIHERSAARI

Neurobiomarkers are a part of multimodal prognostication after cardiac arrest. This dissertation assessed the prognostic value of three biomarkers, neuron-specific enolase (NSE), ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) and neurofilament light (NfL), to predict outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. NSE demonstrated weak prognostic ability in the oldest patients and in those with a short resuscitation time. NfL had excellent prognostic ability, which was better than that of NSE and UCH-L1. Higher blood pressure target resulted in lower NfL concentrations.



uef.fi

PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND Dissertations in Health Sciences

> ISBN 978-952-61-5020-8 ISSN 1798-5706